
EXECUTIVE

Date: Tuesday 10 December 2019
Time: 5.30 pm
Venue: Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business. 

If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact John Street, Corporate 
Manager Democratic & Civic Support on 01392 265106.

Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street.

Membership -
Councillors Bialyk (Chair), Sutton (Deputy Chair), Foale, Ghusain, Harvey, Morse, Pearson, Williams, 
Wright and Wood

Agenda

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present

1   Apologies

To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.

2   Minutes

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2019. (Pages 5 - 
14)

3   Declarations of Interest

Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.  
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting.

4   Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press 
and Public

RESOLVED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 



press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of items 15 
and 16 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Part I, Schedule 12A of the 
Act. 

5   Public Questions

Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and 
Civic Support at least three working days prior to the meeting. Further information 
and a copy of the procedure are available from Democratic Services 
(Committees) (Tel: 01392 265115) and also on the Council web site - 
https://exeter.gov.uk/councillorsfaq/

6   Move More Physical Activity Strategy: Built Facilities Outline Business 
Case Wonford Health and Wellbeing Centre

To consider the report of the Director (JY). (Pages 15 
- 192)

7   Exeter Grants Programme Changes to the Scheme of Delegation

To consider the report of the Director (JY). (Pages 
193 - 204)

8   Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium 2020/21 and 2021/22

To consider the report of the Director (BA). (Pages 
205 - 214)

9   Council Tax Support Scheme 2020-21

To consider the report of the Director (BA). (Pages 
215 - 234)

10   Approval of Procurement Strategy

To consider the report of the Service Lead for Commercial and Procurement. (Pages 
235 - 260)

11   General Fund Capital Monitoring

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
261 - 274)

12   Overview of Revenue Budget

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
275 - 292)

13   HRA Budget Monitoring

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
293 - 308)

https://exeter.gov.uk/councillorsfaq/


14   Treasury Management

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
309 - 316)

15   Revised Local Development Scheme

To consider the report of the Director (BA). (Pages 
317 - 330)

Part II: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public excluded

No representations have been received in respect of the following items in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012.    

16   Business Case for the Review of Staff Structure in Housing Assets

To consider the report of the Director (BA). (Pages 
331 - 358)

17   Exeter Science Park Guarantee

To consider the report of the Chief Finance Officer. (Pages 
359 - 362)

18   Communications, Marketing & Culture Restructure

To consider the report of the Director (J-PH). (Pages 
363 - 380)

Date of Next Meeting

The next scheduled meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 14 January 2020 at 5.30 pm 
in the Civic Centre.

A statement of the executive decisions taken at this meeting will be produced and published 
on the Council website as soon as reasonably practicable.

Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

Follow us:
www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265275.

http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil


This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE

Tuesday 8 October 2019

Present:

Councillor Bialyk (Chair)
Councillors Foale, Ghusain, Harvey, Morse, Pearson and Wright

Councillors in attendance under Standing Order 44

Councillor D Moore speaking on items 5, 7 and 13 (minutes 92, 94 and 100 below)
Councillor Hannaford speaking on item 13 (minutes 100 below)

Apologies:

Councillors Sutton, Leadbetter and Mitchell, K

Also present:

Chief Executive & Growth Director, Director (BA), Director (DB), Director (J-PH), Chief 
Finance Officer, City Solicitor & Head of HR, Cleansing & Fleet Manager, Corporate 
Manager Democratic and Civic Support and Democratic Services Officer (MD)

90  MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2019, were taken as read, 
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

91  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made.

92  COUNCIL HOUSE BUILDING PROGRAMME

The Executive received the report on the Council House Building Programme which 
informed Members that following the lifting of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
borrowing cap, an opportunity had arisen to increase the number of properties held 
within the Housing Revenue Account to help meet the City’s’ housing needs. The 
programme included the acquisition of properties in a scheme being developed by 
Exeter City Living, with three additional schemes to deliver 100 new homes by 
2022.

Particular reference was made to the sites identified for use for Council Housing 
and that it was proposed that 500 new homes could be developed over a 10 year 
period, which would be funded through HRA borrowing. A housing needs and 
viability survey on Council stock would be undertaken and work to address 
retrofitting low energy properties was also underway.

Councillor D Moore, having given notice under Standing Order No.44, spoke on this 
item, commenting on the likely impact the Exeter City Living business plan would 
have by moving sites to the HRA and the proportion of the £18 million that would be 
funded from borrowing.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



During discussion, Members welcomed the scheme and the following points were 
raised:-

 Working with Exeter City Living to build housing and borrowing through HRA 
was beneficial in continuing to develop new properties;

 The right to buy scheme had led to a loss of 95% of houses to private 
landowners;

 The development of 100 new homes was considered to be a good start and 
would increase Council stock, with more work and consultations being 
undertaken, with levels of borrowing being monitored. 

RECOMMENDED that Council:-

(1) Note the sites referred to in the report presented to the meeting, together 
with the timescales for delivery and the costs to complete each of the 
schemes;

(2) Approve a budget totalling £18million to deliver the sites detailed in this 
Report, which will deliver 100 new homes into the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA); and

(3) Note that approval of future years’ development activity will be via an Annual 
Council House Building Development Plan and the annual capital 
programme budget report.

93  OPTIONS FOR INVESTMENT IN EXETER KERB SIDE RECYCLING SERVICE

The Executive considered a report, which had already been presented to Place 
Scrutiny Committee on 12 September 2019 (Min. No. 48 refers) setting out 
investment options for the Council’s Materials Reclamation Facility (MRF) and 
kerbside recycling service. The scheme would ensure that food waste and glass 
was collected as part of the kerbside recycling service, meeting the expectations of 
both the Government and City residents, whilst reducing carbon emissions.

Particular reference was made to the ongoing Government consultation on a new 
waste strategy and its findings would be included in the scheme. Emphasis on the 
work undertaken by officers was made and that Members had been given the 
opportunity to inspect one of the potential new recycling vehicles and consider 
potential issues before the fleet was rolled out. Other authorities had also been 
consulted to learn from their experiences of adopting a similar style service.

During discussion, the following points were raised:-

 The new recycling vehicles contained food waste storage, which during 
inspection contained four day old waste, with very little odour;

 The work for the recycling scheme had faced several obstacles, but challenges 
had been overcome and the work of all staff involved was acknowledged;

 The work of the MRF team had been recognised at the recent staff awards; 
 The Ocean Recovery Project (a partnership between Keep Britain Tidy, Exeter 

City Council and Odyssey Innovations) had produced a series of kayaks using 
recycled plastics and contributed to the building of the Shangri-La stage from 
entirely recycled marine plastic at the Glastonbury Festival, earlier this year;

 Following the roll out of the new recycling bins, the previous bins could be 
recycled into the Council’s new bins or offered to allotment holders for storing 
water and this would be suggested to the Allotment Forum. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve:-

Page 6



(1) The adoption of Option 4 (weekly kerbside-sort recycling collection, incorporating 
glass and food waste collection, with three weekly rubbish collection) and 
associated investment in the Materials Reclamations Facility; and

(2) To implement the chosen service Option 4, Council approve budgets of:- 

 £200,000 is set aside from General Fund revenue reserves to provide the 
project management and assistance with roll out;

 A capital budget of £2,105,000 is provided for the improved recycling 
containers; and

 A capital budget of £1,500,000 to enhance the MRF.

94  CARBON 2030 ROADMAP

The Executive considered the report on the Carbon 2030 Roadmap which sought 
funding to support the delivery of a series of events and engagement activities to 
address the challenges and provide solutions, ensuring that the Council could 
deliver its aspiration to become carbon neutral by 2030. There had been a vast 
amount of progress made, but the next step would be to consult and engage with 
organisations, communities and individuals across the city to ensure the best 
chance of success to achieve this goal. 

Particular reference was made for additional funding to support Exeter City Council 
in producing activities and meaningful engagement across the city to address the 
challenges and aspirations for achieving the carbon neutral goal. The Council could 
not achieve this goal on its own and the more engagement it received the better the 
chance of success.

Councillor D Moore, having given notice under Standing Order No.44, spoke on this 
item. She wanted to ensure that the purpose of the engagement was explained to 
participants, maximising participation in the consultation and she also referred to the 
potential risk of Exeter City Futures CIC or other partners not supporting the road 
map. 

During discussion, the following points were raised:-

 The events and engagement activities would include highlighting the realities of 
the climate change emergency to a wider audience, looking at the work 
undertaken in other areas and receiving ideas through the consultation;

 The need to look at the city infrastructure and build more cycling routes to 
tackle congestion issues;

 Following the issue of the first tenders the consultation could also look at 
previous steps taken to support the roadmap;

 The subject of climate change was important, and the Council was working to 
be carbon neutral, ahead of the 2030 deadline. More work was still required to 
effect change in the city and getting additional information, promoting active 
lifestyles and green travel from across the city was vital.

RECOMMENDED that Council approve a budget of up to £30,000 for the project to 
be completed.

Page 7



95  ANNUAL HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT

The Executive considered a report, which had already been presented to Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 26 September 2019 (Min. No. 35 refers) and set 
out the Council’s activities and performance in relation to health and safety at work 
during 2018. Particular reference was made to the 50% reduction of reportable 
accidents since 2017. During discussion, the following points were raised:-

 There had been a greater emphasis on health and safety made between 2017 
and 2018, with the inclusion of the Health and Safety Committee and the focus 
on job safety;

 Staff going through the agile and flexible working scheme were being supported 
through workshops and managers working to reduce potential of work place 
stress. Although there was no confirmed connection to work place stress form 
the agile and flexible working, work place stress had increased. The Chief 
Finance Officer had detailed information which would be provided to Members.

RESOLVED that:-

(1)The Executive notes the content of the Annual Health and Safety report; and

(2)The Chief Executive & Growth Director and the Leader of the Council be named 
as the joint owners of the report.

96  OVERVIEW OF THE GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET

The Executive considered a report, which had already been presented to Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 26 September 2019 (Min. No. 32 refers) which 
advised Members of the overall projected financial position of the General Fund 
Revenue Budgets for the 2019/20 financial year after three months.

Particular reference was made on the budget being on target, with no significant 
issues to report during the first quarter. Reference was made to the request for the 
supplementary budget of £493,930, which £78,500 would be financed General Fund 
working balance and the remainder financed from the Neighbourhood CIL and 
earmarked reserves.

RECOMMENDED that Council approve:-

(1)The General Fund forecast financial position for the 2019/20 financial year;
(2)The supplementary budgets of £493,930 and budget virements as detailed in 
paragraph 9.10 of the report presented to the meeting;
(3)The outstanding Sundry Debt position as at June 2019; 
(4)The creditors’ payments performance;
(5)Consideration to be made in relation to paragraph 9.7 of the report, subject to 
consultation with Human Resources and the Trade Union; and
(6)To remove the shop attached to the Guildhall in relation to paragraph 9.5 of the 
report.

97  GENERAL FUND CAPITAL MONITORING

The Executive considered a report, which had already been presented to Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 26 September 2019 (Min. No. 33 refers) which 

Page 8



reported on the current position of the Council’s revised annual capital programme 
and the expected level of deferred expenditure into future years. 

Particular reference was made to the £42.5 million budget of the General Fund 
Capital Programme, of which, £5.5million had been spent in first quarter. Although 
significant projects were being delivered there was a further funding request for 
£600,000 for the agile and flexible working programme, funded from the 
Transformation fund, which required Council approval. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve:-

(1)The revision of the annual capital programme to reflect the reported variations 
detailed in paragraph 9.1 and Appendix 1 of the report presented to the meeting; 
and
(2)The additional budget request detailed in paragraph 9.7 of the report.

98  HRA BUDGET MONITORING REPORT – QUARTER 1

The Executive considered a report, which had already been presented to People 
Scrutiny Committee on 5 September 2019 (Min. No. 32 refers) and to Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 26 September 2019 (Min. No. 34 refers). The 
report advised Members of the overall financial position of the HRA Revenue and 
Capital Budgets for the 2019/20 financial year after three months. 

Particular reference was made to the revenue position and HRA Capital Programme 
which were on target for the first quarter. The only significant variances were the 
increase to the capital charges and that money had been set aside for spending as 
Capital expenditure for enhancing existing properties. There was an additional 
request for tree planting, following the appointment of a tree officer in the HRA and 
work was being undertaken with public realm to action this. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve:-

(1) The HRA forecast financial position for 2019/20 financial year; 
(2) The revision of the HRA Capital Programme to reflect the reported variations 

detailed in Appendix 4 of the report presented to the meeting; and
(3) The HRA Budget recognise the importance of re-planting trees and an 

allocation for tree planting be included in the budget.

99  STATUTORY REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND PLACES

The Executive considered the report which informed that the last statutory review in 
the City had been undertaken in 2014 and it was a statutory requirement to review 
the polling districts and places every four years ensuring the population density 
across city corresponded with the number of available polling areas and that there 
was enough polling stations available. 

Particular reference was made to the consultation undertaken, which had received 
two responses as detailed in the report. Although the use of schools’ for polling 
stations was avoided if possible, if there were no alternative locations available, 
then the use of schools could not be avoided. It was noted that it was the schools 
decision to close on polling day, however 85% of schools chose to remain open.

Page 9



RECOMMENDED that Council:-

(1) Adopt the proposals as set out at paragraphs 8.4 – 8.13 of the report presented 
to the meeting, for implementation from a revised register of electors to be 
published on 1 December 2019;

(2) Formally publish its final report on the Review of Parliamentary Polling Districts  
and Places within the Exeter Constituency by 1 November 2019, as required by the 
Representation of the People Act 1983 (RPA 1983); and
  (3)  Complete a further review by 31 January 2025, as required by the RPA1983;   
or as necessary, in relation to the 2018 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies.

100  UPDATE ON THE REVIEW OF THE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The Executive considered the report on the review of the Council's Governance 
Arrangements, which set out the recommendations from the cross party Working 
Group established at the Executive Committee meeting in June 2019 (Min. No. 56 
refers). The cross party working group had proposed changes to the Constitution 
and the Committee process, as outlined in the report. The changes would make 
improvements to and accelerate the decision making process, enhance 
transparency and encourage more public engagement and participation at 
committee meetings.

Councillor D Moore, having given notice under Standing Order No.44, spoke on this 
item. She enquired about the effectiveness of the new governance arrangements in 
holding the Executive to account, partner bodies for scrutiny and the 50 word 
limitation for questions.

Councillor R Hannaford, having given notice under Standing Order No.44, spoke on 
this item as the Chair of the Governance Review Group. Reference was made to 
the changes to Executive Committee becoming a one party committee but allowed 
leaders from opposition groups to speak, enabling a more focussed approach to 
Scrutiny arrangements and bringing value to the Council. The new Scrutiny 
arrangements would ensure that the role of Deputy Chair would be more active and 
allow for policies to be reviewed and scrutinised and making processes more 
robust. Particular reference was made to the improvements to public engagement 
which would be reviewed again in six months. He highlighted that the process would 
be Member led and improve the balance between Members and the Council.

During the discussion, the following points were raised:-

 The Executive would move to a single party committee with up to 10 Members;
 All reports would go directly to the Executive, removing the pre scrutiny system;
 The changes would enhance public engagement at meetings;
 The Independent Remuneration Panel had convened and made 

recommendations which were included in the recommendations to Council;
 The new arrangements would come into effect from 16 October 2019, and 

would be reviewed again in September 2020;
 The agreed budget for additional responsibility allowance was £14,000;
 A draft revised calendar of meetings would be provided to Members ahead of 

the Council meeting on 15 October 2019;
 Questions within 50 words was normal procedure and consistent with 

processes at other local authorities. The process would be supportive and 
inclusive for all members of the public.

The Leader of the Council commented on the important work that had been 
undertaken, noting the Council would want to help and support the public and 

Page 10



prevent any form of exclusion. He expressed his thanks for the support from group 
leaders to help ensure the Council continued to be a professional and well run 
authority. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve the following changes to Exeter City 
Council's constitution with effect from the 16 October 2019:-

In relation to the Executive Council to agree:

(1) The deletion of the Exeter convention requiring the Leader to allocate a seat 
on the Executive to a member from each political group;

(2) That the opposition group leaders shall not be required to give notice under 
Standing Order 44 to speak on any item on the Executive Agenda;

In relation to the Council's Scrutiny arrangements, Council to agree:

(3) The reduction to the number of scrutiny committees from three in number to 
two to be known as Strategic Scrutiny Committee and Customer Focus 
Scrutiny Committee;

(4) To agree the terms of reference for these two Scrutiny Committees as set 
out in the appendix attached to the  report presented to the meeting;

(5) To increase the membership of both scrutiny committees from 10 to 14 
members;

(6) For the avoidance of doubt, members of the Executive may not serve on 
either the Scrutiny Committees or the Scrutiny Programme Board;

(7) To set up a Scrutiny Programme Board (“SPB”) to be made up of one 
member appointed by the Leader together with the Chairs and Deputy 
Chairs of each of the two Scrutiny Committees;

(8) To agree the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Programme Board as set 
out in the appendix to the report;

(9) To cease the current practice of pre-scrutinising reports destined for the 
Executive;

In relation to enhancing public participation at Council meetings, Council 
agrees 

(10) To encourage public participation in city council meetings by agreeing 
public questions at Council meetings, the Executive and Scrutiny 
Committees as set out in the terms of reference attached In the Appendix to 
this report;

(11) For the avoidance of doubt members of the public may not ask questions 
at Annual Council or special meetings;

(12) The Monitoring officer be authorised to amend Exeter City Council's 
constitution to give effect to these recommendations.

In relation to Members allowances as a result of these changes, following 
consideration from the Independent Remuneration Panel, the Council agrees 
that:

(13) A new allowance be payable to Opposition Group Leaders as follows:-

 A Group of two to receive an allowance equivalent to 20% of the basic 
allowance;

 A Group of between three and five to receive an allowance equivalent to 
50% of the basic allowance; and 

Page 11



 A Group of six or more, to receive an allowance equivalent to 60% of the 
basic allowance;

(14) The Leader of the largest political group will be appointed as the Leader of 
the Council;

(15) The Deputy Chairs of the two Scrutiny Committees and of the Planning 
Committee, to receive a Special Responsibility Allowance equivalent to 50% 
of the basic allowance;

(16) To note that if all of the posts eligible for the payment of a Special 
Responsibility Allowance (SRA) were paid to individuals, then this would 
amount to a total of 23 SRAs being payable, which is above the 50% 
threshold as being good practice. A review of the SRA and the operation of 
the new governance system, to be undertaken in September 2020, and 
include interviews with a cross-section of councillors and SRA recipients;

(17) To welcome the adoption of the parental leave scheme;
(18) That as a consequence of the above, to agree a budget of up to £14,000 

for the additional responsibility allowances created as a result of these 
changes.

In the event that recommendations above are agreed, that Council agrees;

(19) The appointment of 14 members to each of the two Scrutiny Committees;
(20) The appointment of the Chair and Deputy Chair for the Strategic Scrutiny 

Committee;
(21) The Appointment of the Chair and Deputy Chair for the Customer Focus 

Scrutiny Committee;
(22) The appointment of Members to the Scrutiny Programme Board; and
(23) The appointment of the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Scrutiny Programme 

Board.

101  HOTSW JOINT COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The Executive considered the report on the Heart of the South West (HoTSW) Joint 
Committee Governance arrangements which updated Members on the Joint 
Committee’s governance arrangements and budgetary position for 2019/20. The 
Joint Committee had undertaken a review to update its governance arrangements, 
for the first time, since it was established in 2018 and in response to Government 
policy changes and local circumstances. 

Particular reference was made to the proposal outlined in the report which showed 
the status of the joint committee and the local enterprise partnership submission to 
the Whitehall Local Investor Strategy. If successful it would put Councils in a better 
position to move projects forward and respond to Government proposals. There 
would also be an increase to the costs of Membership of the joint committee, 
increasing Exeter City Councils contribution to £2,800 which would be shown in this 
year’s budget.

RESOLVED that Members:-

(1) Approve the proposed amendments to the Joint Committee’s list of functions; 
and

(2)Note the updated budget position for 2019/20.

Page 12



102  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AMENDMENT

The Chief Finance Officer presented the report which sought Member approval to 
amend the Treasury Management Strategy to increase the monetary limit that can 
be invested in the money market funds from £5 million each to £10 million each and 
to increase the money that can be invested in Lower Tier Local Authorities from £3 
million to £5million.

Particular reference was made to the decision to borrow £49.45 million from the 
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB), to take advantage of the current low borrowing 
rates. The borrowed money would be invested in the short term and that it had been 
proposed that the Treasury Management Strategy required amending.

During the discussion, it was explained that an Upper Tier authority was a Unitary or 
County Council, which included social care where a Lower Tier was District or City 
Council level.

RECOMMENDED that Council approve the revision of the Treasury Management 
Strategy.

103  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - EXCLUSION 
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Act.  

104  RAMM LIFT - PART 2

The Executive considered the report for additional funding for the Queen Street lift 
at Royal Albert Memorial Museum (RAMM), following a recent procurement 
process. The replacement of the lift would support residents with mobility issues 
and for pushchairs to gain access to the museum. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve the budget as indicated at the meeting for 
the project to be completed. The budget and associated work will be overseen by 
the Corporate Property Assets team.

(The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 7.00 pm)

Chair
The decisions indicated will normally come into force 5 working days after 
publication of the Statement of Decisions unless called in by a Scrutiny 
Committee.  Where the matter in question is urgent, the decision will come 
into force immediately.  Decisions regarding the policy framework or 
corporate objectives or otherwise outside the remit of the Executive will be 
considered by Council on 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019
Report of: Director
Title: Move More Physical Activity Strategy: Built Facilities

Outline Business Case Wonford Health and Wellbeing Centre

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function: Executive

1. What is the report about?

1.1 This report sets out the recommendations from the completion of the first phase co-
design process for a potential flagship Health & Wellbeing Centre in Wonford. 

1.2 This report brings together the results of stakeholder engagement projects funded as 
part of the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot. 

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive give approval to the Director for progressing 
the outline business case for a new Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford to the 
Design Brief Stage to include:

a) On-going co-design with residents, the community and key stakeholders 
developing the ideas set out in this report into indicative sketches, layouts, 
designs and building and running costs. 

b) Development of a Wonford area recreational cycle investment plan. 

c) Further work with Wonford Green Surgery Partners to establish options for 
generating a suitable capital receipt for the current Wonford Green Surgery site 
and principles around a long-term affordable rent commitment and 
reimbursement from the NHSE. 

d) Improvements to the Wonford playing pitches utilising the Section 106 money set 
aside for this purpose ensuring that these developments are aligned with the 
emerging priorities within the Playing Pitch Strategy and Football Association 
Local Plan. 

2.2 It is recommended that the Executive endorse the inclusion of Wonford Village in the 
Liveable Exeter Garden City Programme. 

. 
2.3       It is recommended that the Executive notes the continued financial and professional 

support from Sport England through the Local Delivery Pilot for the engagement and 
co-design process.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 
3.1 In July 2019 Council adopted the revised Exeter Live Better and Move More Built 

Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Green Spaces Strategy.  A key 
priority is to co-design a business case for a flagship Community Health and Wellbeing 
Centre in Wonford.

3.2 The aim is to co-design a facility that will be a positive focal point in the community and 
help to promote access to, and participation in, community based health and wellbeing 
activities and services provided at the site.  Ideally the redevelopment will better connect 
with the green space behind the current building and better meet the needs of the local 
community. 

3.3 Based on previous community engagement work (WISH Project) a redeveloped centre 
could include:

 Community leisure centre with sports hall; exercise studios, and outdoor facilities
 Primary care centre in partnership with the local NHS
 Flexible community spaces linking indoor and outdoor spaces to promote 

healthy, active lifestyles such as community kitchen, gardens, allotments, etc.
 Potentially be part of a housing mix

3.4 The first stage of the project was launched in June 2019 (Community and Stakeholder 
Engagement June to October 2019) as part of the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot. 
The aim of this engagement process is to better understand the thoughts, opinions, 
concerns and aspirations of the local community and stakeholders to inform the creation 
of proposals for the future redevelopment of the Wonford Sports and Community Centre 
site.  

3.5 Three interconnected engagement projects have been completed with funding 
contributions from the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot.   Independent experts were 
commissioned to undertake the projects and provide detailed reports on the feasibility 
of the concept of a flagship Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford. These projects 
enabled detailed engagement with residents, community leaders and key stakeholders 
on the high level concepts and the authors report that there is considerable buy-in and 
appetite for developing the concepts explored to the next stage.  Further details are in 
section 8 and the full reports from the independent experts are appended to this 
document.

3.6 It is proposed to move onto the next stage in the process based on the positive feedback 
received to date.  The next stage is the completion of a Design Brief by July 2020. The 
aim of this stage is to continue to work with the community, health and wider 
stakeholders to develop the Outline Business Case into a more detailed proposal.   
Exeter City Living, the Councils Development Company, will co-ordinate this stage of 
the process. This stage will build on the on-going community engagement with the 
development of ideas into indicative sketches, layouts, designs and building and running 
costs and further work with the Wonford Green Surgery partner and NHS England.

3.7 During the stakeholder engagement process an assessment of recreational cycling 
opportunities was undertaken which highlighted several barriers to local people 
accessing local cycling opportunities and positive proposals for improvements. 
Therefore it is proposed that the Design Stage includes the design of recreational cycling 
plan for Wonford.

3.8 It is also proposed to include a project that will deliver improvements to the playing 
pitches utilising existing section 106 funding previously earmarked for this purpose. The 

Page 16



 
Council’s emergent Playing Pitch Strategy and the Football Association Local 
Investment Plan, both highlight Wonford as a priority area for investment. This presents 
a good opportunity to demonstrate our commitment to the development of the area by 
undertaking much needed improvements in existing facilities which could help to 
increase use by local people.  If agreed this project will deliver pitch improvements in 
2020 taking into account existing user, residents, community groups and sport providers 
views.

3.9 Once completed the Design Brief will be used to create a Full Business Case. This will 
bring everything together into a detailed proposal and throughout the whole process 
there will be further community engagement to sense check the emerging proposals. 
The aim is to bring the Full Business Case to Council by December 2020. This will set 
out the overall strategic benefits and importance of the redevelopment, development 
costs and risks, likely building and running costs with proposals for where the money 
could come from and the options and timeframes for implementing the development 
proposals. 

3.10 The community engagement and work undertaken to date have identified the potential 
for other participants and opportunities for collaboration in a community based 
development.   These potential opportunities are in addition to the original ideas put 
forward for inclusion in a potential Health and Wellbeing Centre considered in the initial 
engagement exercise and – if possible – could have the potential to improve the overall 
scheme.

3.11 Given the importance of the project within the community, it would be beneficial to 
explore the possibility of these other collaboration opportunities, to understand if they 
are viable, deliverable and would provide benefit.  However, it is important that any 
further works to consider a wider project brief and other collaboration opportunities are 
undertaken in a timely manner so as to avoid delay to the progress of the Health and 
Wellbeing Centre.  The delivery of the new Health and Wellbeing Centre is of vital 
importance to the community and it is important project momentum is maintained.  
Therefore it is proposed to include Wonford Village within the Liveable Exeter 
Programme so that further parallel work can be undertaken during the next stage of the 
project and if relevant the design brief and facility mix can be expanded to include these 
other aspects.  

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

4.1 Due to the funding made available through existing resources and the Sport England Local 
Delivery Pilot additional funding is not required this point

4.2 There is already Section 106 funding set aside for Wonford: £206,698 for Wonford playing 
fields and a further £78,773 for the changing rooms. 

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no financial implications for Council contained in the recommendations of 
this report.  It is expected that the further work will address affordability and funding as 
these will be critical to Council decision making given the continuing financial 
challenges that face the Council over the medium term. 

6. What are the legal aspects?

Page 17



 
6.1 Architectural design expertise will be required which will be procured in line with the 

Councils Procurement Policy.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report details:

8.1 In July 2019 Council adopted the revised Exeter Live Better and Move More Built 
Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Green Spaces Strategy.

8.2 A key recommendation was for the Council to continue to work with local residents, 
community groups, Sport England and other stakeholders to co-design a blue print and 
outline business case for a flagship Community Health and Wellbeing Centre in 
Wonford.

 
8.3 The Council launched the first phase of the project as part of the Sport England Local 

Delivery Pilot to fully understand the thoughts, opinions, concerns and aspirations of the 
local community and stakeholders to inform the creation of proposals for the future 
redevelopment of the Wonford Sports and Community Centre site.  

8.4 The aim is to co-design a facility that will be a positive focal point in the community and 
help to promote access to and participation in community based health and wellbeing 
activities and services provided at the site.  Ideally the redevelopment will better connect 
with the green space behind the current building and better meet the needs of the local 
community. 

8.5 Based on previous community engagement work (WISH Project) a redeveloped centre 
could include:

 Community leisure centre with sports hall; exercise studios, and outdoor facilities
 Primary care centre in partnership with the local NHS
 Flexible community spaces linking indoor and outdoor spaces to promote 

healthy, active lifestyles such as community kitchen, gardens, allotments, etc.
 Potentially be part of a housing mix
 Enhancement of the playing pitch provision through existing specific Section 106 

funding for Wonford Playing Fields

8.6 Three interconnected engagement projects have been completed with funding 
contributions from the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot.   Independent experts were 
commissioned to undertake the projects and provide detailed reports on the feasibility 
of the concept of a flagship Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford. 

8.7 CAG: Community Engagement: Independent community engagement experts CAG 
Consultants were appointed to identify formal and informal community leaders and 
work with them to find out people’s ideas and aspirations for the future re-development 
of the centre.  CAG were asked to gather information and feed this back to the Council.

8.8 KYMA/ETL: Clinical Design: Expert clinical design and planning experts KYMA/ETL 
were appointed to work with Wonford Green Surgery partners and NHS commissioners 
to identify the appetite for a community health hub and to put forward initial ideas for 
what it could look like as part of the re-development of the site.

Page 18



 
8.9 Max Associates: Sport and Leisure Consultants: Max Associations are working 

with the council on the future development of all the sport and leisure sites and they 
have undertaken a needs assessment on the possible mix of sporting facilities that 
could be part of the future development of the site in Wonford.

8.10 These projects enabled detailed engagement with residents, community leaders and 
key stakeholders on the high level concepts and the authors report that there is 
considerable buy-in and appetite for developing the concepts explored to the next 
stage.  

8.11 CAG Consultants were engaged to work with the Wonford community to find out what 
would improve health and wellbeing in Wonford and explore the proposal for the Health 
and Wellbeing Centre.  Meaningful engagement with local residents and stakeholders 
is central to this project. CAG used a co-production method which entails working 
closely with the local community to design and deliver the engagement and agree the 
final report. To do this they worked with a group of individuals reflecting the interests 
of different parts of the Wonford Community, called the Sounding Board.

8.12 Over 600 people were engaged through meetings with local groups, a survey, a 
roadshow which visited 15 locations in Wonford, and a community feedback event. 
CAG also set up Facebook and Instagram accounts which reached an estimated 
14,000 people in total.

8.13 The engagement process focussed on a conversation about health and wellbeing with 
the residents of Wonford, and users of the existing Community Centre and Sports 
Centre.  The proposal for a new Centre was discussed in this context.

8.14 The role of the Sounding Board was crucial in designing an effective process and 
gaining community trust and buy in. 

8.15 Walking, dog walking, using the local parks and cycling were the top four activities that 
people partake in for their health and well-being, with local parks being used for both 
walking and cycling. 

Page 19



 
8.16 Ludwell Valley Park and the playing fields are widely used by those we engaged with 

and highly valued.  For those that don’t use those key issues relate to concerns about 
safety and the quality of the environment.

8.17 The Community Centre is highly valued by those that use it, and it provides valuable 
services, particularly its youth provision. However, 64% of Wonford residents who 
engaged with CAG don’t use it at all.  Not knowing what happens there, not being 
interested in what is provided, finding the building off-putting and being too busy were 
key reasons given for not using it.  

8.18 Likewise, the Sports Centre is valued by its users, but 70% of Wonford residents who 
engaged with CAG don’t use it at all.  Reasons given by those that don’t use it included 
not being interested in sports activities, wanting gentler exercise, or outdoor exercise, 
or exercise appropriate for disabled people, the building not looking inviting, and 
practical barriers such as cost, or opening times. 

8.19 Despite initial reservations, the response to the engagement was very positive with a 
strong interest in improving health and wellbeing in Wonford.   A wide range of 
comments were made which suggested services that are needed.  Key themes were 
provision for young people and children, addressing mental health needs and the 
needs of specific groups of people as well as providing a range of sports and non-
sports classes and activities.  Clearly these services would require ongoing revenue 
funding.

8.20 There was enthusiasm for providing new spaces including a café, gardens or 
allotments, a performance space, a library, a bigger kitchen, and spaces for physical 
and mental health provision.

8.21 There are early wins that can be delivered. Some of these are already being 
addressed, but there are others such as a more frequent community café and a 
community noticeboard which are easily achievable with relatively minimal funding.

8.22 CAG strongly recommend that the Council continues to work closely with the local 
community, in order to build on the good will that has been developed in this 
engagement process. Ongoing clear communication is crucial, and the Sounding 
Board is one avenue for this, as is the Facebook page created for this project

8.23 Max Associates, were engaged to provide specific detail for the sport & leisure element 
of the proposed Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Centre. Their work focuses 
on the current facility mix, usage/membership, profiling of users, latent demand, 
competition analysis, and strategic Sport National Governing Body (NGB) 
opportunities.

8.24 Some of the themes identified through the community engagement work of CAG 
Consultants was reflected in the objective needs assessment undertaken by Max 
Associates particularly about usage of the centre by local people. The membership 
and usage analysis shows that 25% of Centre users live within Priory Ward and 75% 
live outside the ward with about 20% of all users living outside of Exeter.  The analysis 
shows that some key groups are underrepresented in the user profile which is also 
reflected in the qualitative feedback from the community engagement.

8.25 The competition analysis shows that there is a reduced need for traditional leisure 
centre commercial activity due to local competition which confirm the proposed direct 
of travel towards a wider health and wellbeing model is appropriate for this area.

Page 20



 

8.26 The Council’s Local Delivery Pilot team have been working with Max Associates and 
have undertaken a high level assessment of local recreational cycling facilities and 
have identified that including improved recreational cycling facilities within the 
redevelopment of the Wonford site offers the council a great opportunity to inspire and 
enable more residents of Wonford to walk and cycle from their neighbourhood to the 
playing fields and Ludwell Valley Park.

8.27 Wonford is a priority within the Football Foundation / Devon County Football 
Association – Exeter Local Football Facility Plan and this creates an opportunity to 
align local resources with national Football Foundation investment for improved grass 
pitches, changing rooms and small sided facility at Wonford.  There is potential to 
undertake formal feasibility to identify a business case for a 3G Football Turf Pitch.

8.28 Max Associates note that is a significant strategic opportunity to work with Sport 
England through the Local Delivery Pilot and undertake the Strategic Outcomes 
Planning Model process to access expertise and potential future facility funding.  

.  
8.29 The Max Associates report concludes:

 The delivery model for this future facility must not replicate the traditional sport 
and leisure centre environment. 

 The city centre is well catered for, providing a range of facilities (particularly with 
the construction of SSP and the potential facility developments at Exeter Arena 
as proposed in the Council’s facility strategy. 

 Wonford Community Health and Well-being Centre must therefore be focussed 
upon:
a. Providing relevant, accessible and appropriate provision for the local 

community
b. Meeting the need for integration with health partners
c. Developing the opportunity for wider local community arts, music and cultural 

provision
d. Not “competing” with city centre public and private (commercial) sport and 

leisure. 

 It is essential that the Council continues to provide engagement opportunities for 
residents, communities and stakeholders to input into future built facility 
development plans, to ensure that the local community is appropriately 
represented and the facility meets the needs of all sections of the community to 
encourage them to participate; in particular those who do not currently use the 
existing facility. The uses for the community spaces, in particular, identified within 
the facility mix should be worked up through further engagement with the local 
community and stakeholders.

8.30 On the basis of the information and evidence analysed, Max Associates propose that 
the following facility mix is taken forward for full business case feasibility and further 
engagement with the local community and stakeholders:

Facility Comments

Page 21



 
Re-provision of a 
sports hall, group 
exercise space and 
fitness

4 courts, this should be constructed as flexible spaces to allow 
different activities and classes to be delivered, including health 
related programmes.

Group exercise 
space and fitness

Gym – 40 stations
1 x studio
1 x spin studio

Flexible 
Community Space

Community rooms – to be available for hire to local groups and 
businesses, can also be used for health consultations and one to 
one sessions.
Flexible activity room with community kitchen facilities – suitable for 
hire by community groups for sports and non-sporting activities, can 
be used to deliver health initiatives and programmes.
Wider use other than sport and leisure should also be encouraged. 
There are opportunities for the local community to use of community 
spaces for making music, facilitating arts events and cultural 
activities for a range of ages.

Soft Play Soft play provision for early year’s children which would be 
supported by the catering offer.

Cycling provision There is the opportunity to develop new recreational cycling activities 
and an all ability cycling hub – to be developed further with the local 
community.

Playing pitches Retain existing and refresh (if required) Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) 
Reconfigure and enhance pitches and pavilion facilities for multi club 
use.

Other activities There is an opportunity to discuss further with the local community 
other activities to engage young people – for example:

 Virtual climbing and trampolining
 Interactive cardio exercises classes using the best of 

technology to provide alternative ways of using fitness 
equipment.

 Outdoor adventure tower.

8.31 Engagement, by KYMA and ETL Consulting with a range of stakeholders (including 
NHS commissioners and providers) across the local health and care economy 
indicates that there is considerable support, in principle, for the proposed development 
of a Wonford Health and Wellbeing Centre.

8.32 KYMA and ETL have identified that the Health and Wellbeing Centre could provide the 
opportunity to co-locate primary and community physical and mental health services 
alongside a wider wellbeing offer that supports the ‘prevention’ agenda, through 
leisure, community and advice and support services, recognising that many patients 
presenting with health related issues have non-health causes at the root of their 
condition (e.g. anxiety about debt and finances leading to depression or stress).

8.33 The detailed report shows that Wonford Green Surgery partners and other NHS 
stakeholders are very enthusiastic about the potential redevelopment of Wonford 
Community and Sports Centre as an integrated Community Health and Wellbeing 
Centre, bringing together leisure provision, community-led programmes and activities 
with their GP-led wider health and wellbeing provision.

8.34 The report confirms the Wonford Green GP Practice partners’ desire and interest in 
potentially relocating from their existing premises to a new facility as part of an 

Page 22



 
integrated (the Health and Wellbeing Centre. The engagement with stakeholders 
indicates that the partners are strongly committed to addressing the health and 
wellbeing needs of their community through a social model of health, recognising the 
importance of addressing the wider determinants of health and supporting 
opportunities to enable them to flourish.   They are therefore very enthusiastic about 
the potential redevelopment of Wonford Community and Sports Centre as an 
integrated Community Health and Wellbeing Centre, bringing together leisure 
provision, community-led programmes and activities with their GP-led wider health and 
wellbeing provision.

8.35 The report highlights further focused work that will need to be undertaken should the 
project move onto the next stage which includes: 
 Partners obtaining a suitable capital receipt for the current Wonford Green 

Surgery site. 
 A long-term commitment from the NHS Executive regarding future rent 

reimbursement, and a long-term affordable rent commitment.
 Validation and confirmation of the assumptions around future activity projections, 

models of care, hours of operation for the GP service, and the potential 
workforce and lifestyle implications associated with the proposed model.

 Further detailed engagement with GP partners to review financial modelling 
assumptions. 

 Consideration about the potential inclusion of additional services which would 
augment the Primary Care Centre, consistent with the NHS Long Term Plan.

8.36 The outcome of this detailed and expert engagement and consultation process 
shows a clear appetite from a wide range of stakeholders to continue to develop and 
co-design a new facility for Wonford.  The detailed reports that support this paper and 
set out the Outline Business Case are attached.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The report and its recommends contribute to the three Corporate Plan objectives of 
promoting active & healthy lifestyles; building great neighbourhoods and tackling 
congestion & accessibility.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The key risk is that stakeholder expectations are raised and the Council’s reputation is 
damaged should we fail to reach agreement or deliver against our promises.  This is 
being mitigated through taking a staged approach with key gateways for iterative 
decision making.  The process is set out in the diagram below.

10.2   There are other operational risk and these will be set out in a project register and 
mitigation actions identified as part of the project planning for the next phase. 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 
consider the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

Page 23



 
 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 

account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality 
of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority from 
reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that 
consider the impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant 
women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in 
coming to a decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because it is too early in the project 
to make any assessment of impact. Efforts have already been made to ensure 
community engagement is open and accessible to as many people as possible and 
efforts to ensue those with protected characteristics under the Act will continue as the 
project progresses. 

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 There are no other options being considered at this time. 

Jo Yelland, Director

Author: Jo Yelland

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-

CAG Consultants: Health and Wellbeing in Wonford, Report of engagement process
Max Associates: Community Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford
ETL/KYMA: Primary Care Centre in the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub End of Stage Report 

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.9
01392 265275

Page 24



 i 

 

  

Health and wellbeing in 
Wonford 

REPORT ON ENGAGEMENT 

Page 25



 ii 

Exeter City Council 
 

Health and wellbeing in Wonford  

 

Report of engagement process 

 

VERSION DATE VERSION SUMMARY APPROVALS 

RO 20/09/2019 V1 Principal authors: Gerard 

Couper 

Approved by: Anna Bullen 

R1 27/09/19 V2 responding to 

comments from the 

Sounding Board and 

Exeter City Council 

Approved by: Anna Bullen 

R2   Approved by: 

R3   Approved by: 

 

FOR DIRECT ENQUIRIES ABOUT THIS PROPOSAL: 

Gerard Couper 

Partner 

CAG CONSULTANTS 

 

Email:  gc@cagconsult.co.uk 

 
TO CONTACT CAG CONSULTANTS: 

CAG CONSULTANTS 

150 Minories 

London EC3N 1LS 

 

Tel: 020 8555 6126 

Fax: 020 7900 1868 

 

hq@cagconsult.co.uk 

www.cagconsultants.co.uk 

Page 26

mailto:hq@cagconsult.co.uk
mailto:hq@cagconsult.co.uk
http://www.cagconsultants.co.uk/
http://www.cagconsultants.co.uk/


 iii 

CONTENTS 

Summary ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 1 

What we did ................................................................................................................................... 1 

Findings  ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Purpose of this report .................................................................................................. 3 

1.2 Our approach– co-production .................................................................................... 3 

1.3 Proposed Health and Wellbeing Centre .................................................................... 4 

1.4 Policy background ........................................................................................................ 4 

1.5 Previous consultations ................................................................................................. 5 

2 Engagement method ........................................................................................................ 7 

2.1 Sounding Board ............................................................................................................ 7 

2.2 Engagement questions ................................................................................................ 7 

2.3 Engagement activities .................................................................................................. 8 

2.4 Who we engaged ........................................................................................................ 10 

3 What do you do at the moment for health and wellbeing? ..................................... 13 

3.1 Overview ...................................................................................................................... 13 

3.2 Outdoor spaces ........................................................................................................... 17 

3.3 Community Centre ..................................................................................................... 20 

3.4 The Phoenix Suite ....................................................................................................... 23 

3.5 Sports Centre .............................................................................................................. 23 

4 What do you want to see for Health and Wellbeing in Wonford? ........................... 26 

4.1 Overview ...................................................................................................................... 26 

4.2 Key themes .................................................................................................................. 27 

4.3 Young people and children ....................................................................................... 27 

4.4 Types of spaces ........................................................................................................... 28 

4.5 Outdoor spaces, walking and cycling ...................................................................... 29 

4.6 Advice and support .................................................................................................... 30 

Page 27



 iv 

4.7 Sport and fitness ......................................................................................................... 31 

4.8 Non-sports classes and activities ............................................................................. 31 

4.9 Health provision .......................................................................................................... 31 

4.10 Communications ......................................................................................................... 31 

5 Conclusions ...................................................................................................................... 33 

Appendix 1 ................................................................................................................................... 35 

Sounding Board Terms of reference ........................................................................................ 35 

Membership ................................................................................................................................. 36 

Appendix 2 ................................................................................................................................... 38 

Summary of responses .............................................................................................................. 38 

Page 28



 

 

1 

Summary 

Introduction 

The Council has employed CAG Consultants to work with the Wonford community to 

find out what would improve health and wellbeing in Wonford and explore the proposal 

for a Health and Wellbeing Centre.  In this report we describe what we did and the 

results of the engagement process. 

Meaningful engagement with local residents and stakeholders has been central to this 

project. We used a co-production method which entails working closely with the local 

community to design and deliver the engagement and agree the final report. To do this 

we worked with a group of individuals reflecting the interests of different parts of the 

Wonford Community, called the Sounding Board. 

What we did 

We engaged with over 600 people through 

meetings with local groups, a survey, a 

roadshow which visited 15 locations in 

Wonford, and a community feedback event. 

We also set up Facebook and Instagram 

accounts which reached an estimated 14,000 

people in total. 

 

 

Findings 

The engagement process focussed on a conversation about health and wellbeing with 

the residents of Wonford, and users of the existing Community Centre and Sports 

Centre.  The proposal for a new Centre was discussed in this context. 

The role of the Sounding Board was crucial in designing an effective process and gaining 

community trust and buy in.  

Walking, dog walking, using the local parks and cycling were the top four activities that 

people partake in for their health and well-being, with local parks being used for both 

walking and cycling.  

Ludwell Valley Park and the playing fields are widely used by those we engaged with 

and highly valued.  For those that don’t use them key issues relate to concerns about 

safety and the quality of the environment. 

Page 29



 

 

2 

The Community Centre is highly valued by those that use it, and it provides valuable 

services, particularly its youth provision. However, 64% of Wonford residents we 

engaged with don’t use it at all.  Not knowing what happens there, not being interested 

in what is provided, finding the building off-putting and being too busy were key 

reasons given for not using it.   

Likewise, the Sports Centre is valued by its users, but 70% of Wonford residents we 

engaged with don’t use it at all.  Reasons given by those that don’t use it included not 

being interested in sports activities, wanting gentler exercise, or outdoor exercise, or 

exercise appropriate for disabled people, the building not looking inviting, and practical 

barriers such as cost, or opening times.  

Despite initial reservations, the response to the engagement was very positive with a 

strong interest in improving health and wellbeing in Wonford.   A wide range of 

comments were made which suggested services that are needed.  Key themes were 

provision for young people and children, addressing mental health needs and the 

needs of specific groups of people as well as providing a range of sports and non-sports 

classes and activities.  Clearly these services would require ongoing revenue funding. 

There was enthusiasm for providing new spaces including a café, gardens or allotments, 

a performance space, a library, a bigger kitchen, and spaces for physical and mental 

health provision. 

There are early wins that can be delivered. Some of these are already being addressed, 

but there are others such as a more frequent community café and a community 

noticeboard which are easily achievable with relatively minimal funding. 

We strongly recommend that the Council continues to work closely with the local 

community, in order to build on the good will that has been developed in this 

engagement process. Ongoing clear communication is crucial, and the Sounding Board 

is one avenue for this, as is the Facebook page created for this project. 

 

Page 30



 

 

3 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose of this report 

The Council has employed CAG Consultants to work with the Wonford community to 

find out what would improve health and wellbeing in Wonford and explore the proposal 

for a Health and Wellbeing Centre.  This work is part of the Sport England Local Delivery 

Pilot (see 2.4 below). 

In this report we describe what we did and the results of the engagement process. 

1.2 Our approach– co-production 

Meaningful engagement with local residents and stakeholders has been central to this 

project. We used a co-production method which entails working closely with the local 

community to design and deliver the engagement and agree the final report.  

Co-production is a form of open policy, strategy or product development where those 

implicated by the outcome are directly involved in its creation. It draws on a range of 

perspectives of key stakeholders in order to inform the process, and ultimately design 

and create the ‘product’. It focusses on stakeholder experience and interactive 

relationships and allows for a more active involvement of key stakeholders, with a view 

to reaching a mutually valued outcome.  

In the context of public services and civic life: co-production is an asset-based approach 

that enables people providing and people receiving services to share power and 

responsibility, and to work together in equal, reciprocal and caring relationships1. 

Important elements of the proposed co-production approach were: 

• An initial stakeholder audit that clearly identified key stakeholders – individuals 

and organisations; 

• Establishment of a Sounding Board of individuals reflecting the interests of 

different parts of the Wonford Community to discuss and agree the 

engagement process; 

• An engagement programme developed with the Sounding Board (see 3.1) 

which included visits to events and classes, a roadshow and online and paper 

survey; 

• An effective communication process using social media, the This is Wonford 

website and paper flyers; 

                                                   
1 Co-production network for Wales 

Page 31



 

 

4 

• A process for reporting-back to the community including a public event to 

feedback initial responses, and involvement of the Sounding Board in agreeing 

this report.  

1.3 Proposed Health and Wellbeing Centre 

A key aspect of our discussions about health and wellbeing was Exeter City Council’s 

aspiration to develop an innovative, new integrated Community Health & Wellbeing 

Centre at the site of the existing Wonford sports and community centres.  There are no 

fixed plans for the Centre, but there is an opportunity to include: 

• Community Leisure centre with sports hall, exercise studios, and outdoor 

facilities; 

• Primary care centre in partnership with the local NHS; 

• Flexible community spaces linking indoor and outdoor spaces to promote 

healthy, active lifestyles such as community kitchen, gardens, allotments, etc. 

The Council has made it clear that it wants to work in partnership with the local 

community to explore and develop this possibility. 

1.4 Policy background 

Sport England Local Delivery Pilot (LDP) 

Exeter is one of 12 national Sport England Local Delivery Pilots (LDP). Sport England is 

investing around £100 million over 4 years to create innovative solutions that make it 

easier for people to become physically active for life.   In Exeter the vision of the City 

Council is to become the most active city in England by encouraging those most at risk of 

inactivity to become active.  The local pilot will test out bold new approaches within local 

communities who have the most to gain from becoming active for life but often face the 

most challenges.  The aim is to work closely with local communities in the target areas to 

test out how to overcome the barriers to becoming active for life.   

 

Wonford is one of the target areas identified for the community development work as 

part of the LDP and the Council is keen to use the opportunity to work with residents and 

other stakeholders to design a blueprint for the future development of the existing 

community and sports centre buildings. The aim is to see if we can design a building that 

is a connecting point for community activity alongside wider health and wellbeing 

services that can act as a focal point for supporting active and healthy lifestyles.    

 

Wellbeing Exeter 

A key programme in the city is Wellbeing Exeter https://www.wellbeingexeter.co.uk. This 

is a partnership of public, voluntary and community sector organisations who have come 

together to explore better ways of supporting organisations to build on the assets within 

Page 32



 

 

5 

communities, to foster community resilience and enable individuals and communities to 

take more control over their health and lives as part of efforts to improve health and 

reduce inequalities.  This approach offers social prescribing in combination with asset-

based community development to provide firm foundations to enable individuals and 

communities to improve and promote their own health and wellbeing. The asset-based 

community development (ABCD) approach uses local strengths, organisations and 

passions as a starting point for enabling greater connectivity, activity and collective 

support.  

 

As a key partner in Wellbeing Exeter, Wonford Green Medical Centre is keen to explore 

the potential of relocating the existing GP centre in a new Health and Wellbeing Centre, 

with a strong focus on linking with the wider community activities that could take place 

at the Centre. 

1.5 Previous consultations 

The WISH report – completed May 20152 was commissioned by Exeter City Council to 

explore opportunities for health and wellbeing linked to the leisure and green spaces in 

Wonford. WISH stands for Wonford Inclusive Sports Hub. The consultants had engaged 

with local stakeholders to explore options for using Section 106 funding from the St 

Loye’s development for improvements to the playing fields. They also explored 

proposals for changes and improvements to the existing buildings.  

In the current engagement process, there was clearly a perception from some local 

stakeholders that “nothing had happened” as a result of the WISH consultation.  A key 

reason for this was the lack of clear feedback to the community about what would 

happen next. In fact, this consultation laid some of the groundwork and was a starting 

point for the current engagement process with the local community on the potential for 

a new Health & Wellbeing Centre that could combine community, health, sports and 

activity provision. This process is being supported by Sport England.  

 

Riverside and Ludwell Valley Parks Masterplan3 was consulted on in 2015 through a 

Visitor Survey and public event.  Comments made on Ludwell Valley Park4 reflect and 

provide additional detail to those made in our consultation.  

Draft Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces Report5. 

The report included proposals for a Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford. The City 

                                                   
2 Scoping Study Report,  Next Field Ltd for Exeter City Council, May 2015 
3 Footprint Ecology and Exterior Architecture for Exeter City Council, November 2015 
4 Appendix E, Public Consultation, September 2015 
5 Exeter Live Better and Move More, Exeter City Council January 2019 

Page 33



 

 

6 

Council consulted on this report between March and May 2019. There was an online 

survey and some consultation events, but not in Wonford.  Wonford was not included at 

that stage, because this current engagement process was being planned. 

Other smaller recent consultations include: 

• Exeter Youth Voice Consultation. The final event was held in March this year, and 

comments have been referenced in this report. 

• Discussion with Wonford COGs, 27th February this year.  A wide range of ideas 

for a new Health and Wellbeing Centre were discussed and recorded. 

Page 34



 

 

7 

2 Engagement method 

2.1 Sounding Board 

As described above, the engagement used a co-production process. A key element of 

this was establishing the Sounding Board.  

The Sounding Board was developed at the beginning of the process through discussion 

and networking.  We aimed to:  

provide a reflection of the primary interests within the area through the inclusion of 

individuals and organisations that are likely to benefit   from the results of the 

engagement process. 

In practice we tried to identify appropriate people who were interested and available to 

participate, and to reach consensus with the developing Sounding Board about the 

membership. 

The total membership of the Sounding Board is 11 people. After some discussion with 

existing Sounding Board members, it was agreed that two City Councillors should join 

the group. One of these was the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Physical Activity, but 

unfortunately he was not able to attend any of the meetings.  

Whether or not they were able to attend meetings, everyone was kept informed of the 

process via email and had an opportunity to respond.  A total of 9 meetings or working 

groups have been held with the Sounding Board to plan the engagement process. 

Information was circulated to the group throughout the process to enable comment 

where people were not able to come to meetings. 

The list of members and the Terms of Reference is shown in the Appendix. 

2.2  Engagement questions 

We worked closely with the Sounding Board to identify the most helpful questions to 

encourage open and transparent conversations with the local community.  These 

questions needed to support an open discussion about health and wellbeing and 

aspirations for Wonford and also reflect the aspiration of the City Council to develop a 

Health and Wellbeing Centre. After testing variations of questions, we arrived at the 

following questions: 

• What kind of things do you and your family do at the moment for your health 

and wellbeing? 

• What places do you go to help with that?  (including use of outside spaces, the 

Community Centre, the Sports Centre and other spaces and facilities). 

• What would you like to see locally to help you feel healthier and happier? 

Page 35



 

 

8 

• What specific things would you like to see included in a new Health and 

Wellbeing centre? 

2.3 Engagement activities 

Overview 

In total we have discussed the engagement questions with over 600 people in the 

engagement activities described below. This excludes contact through our Facebook 

and Instagram pages.  Breakdown by age and gender is shown below.   

Local groups and stakeholders 

Over 100 individuals have been engaged through attending classes and events. This 

includes events at the Community Centre, the Sports Centre, the Methodist Church and 

Amersham Court.  We have aimed to engage with older and younger people as with 

families and people with disabilities. In terms of engaging with young people we 

attended the youth group at the Phoenix Suite Beanies at the Community Centre and 

Isca Academy.  

Roadshow 

The Sounding Board was instrumental in 

proposing and designing a roadshow as a key 

method of engagement. The key principle has 

been to “go to where people are”. This involved 

CAG Consultants facilitators setting up “pop-

ups” at public locations, where we engaged 

with members of the public. The roadshow has 

been effective in creating awareness and a 

“buzz” around the engagement process.  The 

use of the distinctive flags and display has 

proved to be helpful in drawing attention and 

creating interest.  We have had word of mouth 

comments reporting the impact of the 

roadshow and an increased awareness of 

proposals for a Health and Wellbeing Centre.  

Over 200 individuals have been engaged by pop-up consultations at 15 separate 

locations  in Wonford, including at the Community Centre and Sports Centre, outside 

Lidl and other shops, outside pubs and takeaways and in parks and playing fields.  We 

spoke to a wide range of people including older people and young people, and those 

from different nationalities and with disabilities. Comments from each person were 

noted down and have been analysed and reflected in this report. 

Page 36



 

 

9 

Survey 

An online survey was developed and paper copies also made available at three 

locations.  In total 149 people completed the online survey.  The survey was promoted 

through Facebook and the distribution of paper flyers. 

Social media 

Facebook and Instagram accounts were set up. They have been used to promote the 

roadshow and the survey. The box below gives some estimates of how many people 

our Facebook page reached (which included the use of Facebook advertising to 

promote the survey and final event). The reason that the figures for organic posts (i.e. 

not paid for) are high is because of posts being shared by users such as Exeter City 

Council.  

Figure 1: Facebook reach 

• 14,367: The total unique users / individuals who had any content from the 

Wonford Page or about the Page appear on their screen. This includes posts, 

check-ins, ads, social information from people who interact with your Page and 

more.  

• 7,729: The total unique users / individuals who had Wonford's organic post (i.e. 

not paid for) appear on their screen.  

• 6,638: The total unique users / individuals who had Wonford's paid for content 

appear on their screen (sent to people within 1 mile radius of the Community 

Centre).  

  

Community feedback event 

Public events were held on Friday 6th September 3-6pm and Saturday 7th September 10-

12 noon. They were held at the community centre, and pizza and other free 

refreshments were offered to encourage support.  They were promoted on social media 

through paper flyers distributed at various locations, and in an email to parents from 

Wynstream Primary School.  

Page 37



 

 

10 

At the event comments received from the 

engagement were displayed and attendees 

were asked to add additional ideas and say 

what was most important to them.  

Approximately 80-100 people were engaged in 

the two events, including a large number of 

young people and families.  Comments from 

the event are included in section 5 below. 

 

 

 

 

2.4 Who we engaged 

By age 

The chart below shows the breakdown by age.  Age data was not generally collected 

when we attended events, or at the feedback event. 

Figure 2: Age of participants 

 

 

By gender 

The chart below shows the breakdown by gender.  Gender data was not generally 

collected when we attended events, or at the feedback event.  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ Not
specified

Age of those responding

Page 38



 

 

11 

Figure 3: Gender of participants 

 

By residence 

In the online survey, 75% of the respondents lived in Wonford (EX2 5 and EX2 6 

postcodes). In the Roadshow, we asked participants to put a dot on the map for where 

they live.  Not everyone did so, but many did and the photo below gives an impression 

of the spread across Wonford.  

31%

69%

Gender of those responding

Male Female

Page 39



 

 

12 

Figure 4:  Where roadshow respondents live 

 

 

Page 40



 

 

13 

3 What do you do at the moment for health and wellbeing? 

3.1 Overview 

We asked people what they currently do to look after their health and well-being. Figure 

5 shows a breakdown of the types of activities that people participate in and table 1 

provides a breakdown of the specific activities included in those types of activities, 

where we have grouped activities for the sake of communicating the analysis and being 

able to demonstrate key types of activity. Figure 4 shows the detailed responses in a 

word cloud, whereby the biggest words illustrate the activities most undertaken.  

Figure 5: Most frequent health and wellbeing activities 

 

  

Page 41



 

 

14 

Figure 6: Breakdown of activities that people currently undertake for their health and 

well-being 

 

Table 1 Activities in more detail 

Term Includes 

Sports   Football 

  Netball 

  Basketball 

Badminton 

Tennis 

Cricket 

Exercise classes   Dance 

  Gymnastics 

  Trampolining 

  Martial Arts 

Aerobics 

Spinning Class 

Pilates 

Yoga 

Outdoor activities   Climbing 

  Skating  

  Scootering 

  Canoeing 

Fishing 

Golf 

Beach 

Playing on the 

streets 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

WHAT DO YOU CURRENTLY DO FOR YOUR 
HEALTH AND WELL-BEING?

Page 42



 

 

15 

Culture & Arts   Cinema 

  Creative activities 

  Museums 

Music events 

Playing music 

Singing 

Literature   Reading Going to the library 

Gardening   Private garden 

  Community garden 

Allotments 

Community groups & 

activities 

  Parent & carer’s café 

  Community meals 

  Clubs 

Societies 

Classes 

 

Walking, dog walking, using the local parks and cycling were the top four activities that 

people partake in for their health and well-being, with local parks being used for both 

walking and cycling.  

“Green spaces - love them – I walk the dog daily.” 

“Ludwell Park 3 times a week, I would like a more forested and wild area within 

Ludwell, they need to improve the pathways. I walk along the River Exe and the 

canal at least 3 times a week.” 

“Cycling to work and using my bike every time I go out, instead of the car. I’ve lost 

a stone, feel fitter and I’m so much happier. I’m enjoying the challenge of shopping 

or running errands by bike, with panniers and baskets to carry things, even the 

dog! (He’s much fitter and happier too).” 

Using the gym, exercise classes, swimming, running and outdoor activities formed the 

next group of most popular activities, alongside spending time with friends and family 

and followed by community groups and activities, gardening and healthy eating and 

drinking.  

“Me and my family use Wonford sports centre. We use the parks and fields and 

also walk our dog. We use the trampolining sessions at the sports centre but 

they're so busy often the sessions for kids are fully booked.” 

“Me and mum go for walks and bike rides by the river.  Me and mum and me and 

dad have good chats. We read together before bed. Play board games. Go out in 

the garden with family. We usually go to Bury meadow. I play on the streets with 

my cousin in Perryam Crescent.”  

 “We eat fresh food and avoid processed food as much as possible. We also try to 

support local growers and business by shopping locally. We get out and about 

Page 43



 

 

16 

walking the dog, Ludwell Valley park is used for this purpose quite frequently. 

Being in nature is important to us.” 

Several participants mentioned cost as being prohibitive to them engaging in activities.  

“I’m on a low income, so it's difficult - everything costs money.” 

“Enjoy being a family as too expensive to go out.” 

“Walk mostly as I can’t afford gym fees.” 

Whilst some described physical constraints as a barrier to using the green spaces.  

“I don't use green spaces (Ludwell Park/playing fields/Panny Stream/Wonford 

field) as I have a walker and can't walk far without sitting down.  I need benches at 

regular intervals.” 

And some are concerned about safety.  

“Cycle to school - St Peters - but struggle to go uphill because path they have made 

is too steep.  Also, there’s a problem with cars and parking and not looking out for 

cyclists.  Cars park on bike lane and block it. A couple of people have been 

knocked off their bikes recently.” 

There was also a sense that there used to be much more to do in Wonford than there is 

now.  

“I grew up in Wonford – there used to be a lot to do but it’s all gone now.” 

Several participants talked about the importance of community/social activities.  

“Bingo 3 x week – it’s affordable – I’d be gutted if it wasn't here – it gives us 

somewhere to go - it's our social life.” 

“Sports and walking, gardening, art and music, taking part in civic and community 

organisations, eating healthily.” 

Mental health was mentioned several times, with some talking about their own mental 

health circumstances and others commenting on the need for more mental health 

support.  

 

“I keep cleaning – it’s good exercise and also fights anxiety and depression.  I often 

feel lonely, and sit and think about things - I shouldn't - negative things.” 

Page 44



 

 

17 

3.2 Outdoor spaces 

The figure below shows how many respondents use the outdoor spaces. 

Figure 7: use of outdoor spaces 

 

48% of respondents said they used Ludwell Valley Park, 34% said they use Wonford 

playing fields, 12% the play parks and 6% said ‘other’. ‘Other’ included St Georges, 

Heavitree Park, the canal and quay areas, Northbrook, Bury Meadow and Well Oak 

green space (known as Mushroom Park).  

  

Wonford playing 
fields

Play parks

Ludwell Valley 
Park

Other (please 
specify)

DO YOU USE THE PARKS AND PLAYING FIELDS 
AND LUDWELL VALLEY PARK? 

Page 45



 

 

18 

Figure 8:  What the outdoor spaces are used for 

 

 

44% of respondents said they use the spaces for 

walking, whilst 18% use them for cycling and 14% to get 

from A to B, whilst social activities accounted for 10% of 

responses. ‘Other’ included walking the dog, family 

games, wildlife spotting, picnics, playing and outdoor 

fitness and yoga.  

“Love Ludwell Valley - good to have an open green space 

here. Not that well known - needs a higher profile. Keep 

it as it is, don't develop it, keep it wild, great for people's 

mental health!” 

“I love living here Ludwell valley is a beautiful place 

walking my dogs up there at the end of the day” (Facebook comment and photo)  

 

When asked why they don’t use these spaces responses included the following reasons:  

• Not aware of the spaces 

• No use for them (no children and doesn’t play sports) 

• Fear – of being attacked by either dogs or humans 

• Too much dog fouling 

Walking

Cycling

To get from A to B

Social activities

Running

Other (please 
specify)

Team sports

IF SO, WHAT DO YOU USE THEM FOR?

Page 46



 

 

19 

• Too much litter 

• Other more preferable places 

“I try and avoid roads where the cycling feels scary, and the traffic heavy or 

aggressive. It’s feels stressful, tiring, time consuming, and dangerous.  I can’t 

afford to have an accident, people depend on me. Often it feels like the Wonford 

section of my journey is the worst bit, to be endured and hope I can get through in 

one piece. It takes longer than the rest of my journey sometimes because it’s 

disjointed, up and down on uneven broken potholes, drain covered, on 

pavements or stuck behind choking traffic, it’d be so wonderful to cycle straight 

through.” 

“I love to walk in Ludwell and the playing fields but I was attacked by a dog and 

bitten when protecting my chihuahua that It stopped me walking there for two 

years. I am only just gathering the courage to return. I walk my dog alone and feel 

very anxious about being attacked by another dog or a man. A lot of the time I 

don't have the courage to walk freely through Ludwell.” 

“[I’m] put off by broken glass, litter and broken equipment in play areas. Dog mess 

is not picked up and some areas feel isolated.” 

When asked what would encourage respondents to use the spaces more, their 

responses included the following:  

• More benches 

• A café 

• Less litter and dog poo 

• Better lighting 

• More policing 

• More play and sports facilities 

• Outdoor exercise classes, such as yoga and Zumba 

• Better cycle paths 

These answers were included in the overall analysis of what people want (section 5). 

“More places to sit. Better lighting. Better security. No Gangs of kids smoking and 

drinking etc.” 

 “Safer cycling, where I can have priority, it’s hard work having to keep stopping for 

traffic, especially on hills. I’d like a wide smooth path that’s clearly marked, so that 

my journey is clear and it’s easy to see ahead. I’d like traffic to stop for me, and all 

path users, pedestrians too, so we’re all safe, it’d be an amazing dream come 

true.” 

Page 47



 

 

20 

“It's quite easy to get lost in the park, up over the hills, if you don't know your way 

around so signage like found on Halden Hill giving designated walks that are 

identified by coloured arrows on posts might help. I think it would encourage 

more people to go up and at least have a look. A walk aimed at children with 

physical activities along the way perhaps... simple things like stepping stones, 

balance bridges, tunnels etc.” 

“Clean play areas with equipment for younger children as well as older ones. More 

people around and using them too. More cycle lanes with wider areas for cyclists, 

runners and walkers to pass one and other. Better lit cycle /running routes. 

Somewhere safe to leave bikes. More community groups and classes would be 

amazing (e.g. Yoga in the park at Heavitree, mums and buggies exercise groups). 

Preschool gymnastics classes like at Riverside. The Chestnut centre no longer run 

stay and play sessions so there's very little for young families and it would be great 

to have groups for local children and parents to meet.” 

“Have outdoor Zumba classes or more information about social things going on 

that I can join in with. Perhaps have a free bring a buy event so you can sell 

unwanted items whilst meeting new people in your local area.” 

“More benches and toilets and a café open every day.” 

Section 5 goes into more detail about what people would like to see in the outdoor 

spaces.  

3.3 Community Centre 

The Community Centre is run by a community-led organisation, Wonford Community 

and Learning Centre Ltd.  It delivers a programme of activities at the Centre, including a 

weekly Community Café, an Over 50s group and a Parent Carers group. It also hires the 

space to community groups, charities and statutory/commercial organisations. In the 

engagement process we asked how often people use the Centre. The answers are 

shown below.  

  

Page 48



 

 

21 

Figure 9: Use of the Community Centre 

 

 

A significant majority of respondents in the online survey and roadshow (66%) said they 

did not use the community centre at all, whilst 18% of respondents said they used it at 

least once a week. For Wonford residents who responded to the survey, 64% don’t use it 

at all and only 4% use it at least once a week. 

 

When asked what people do at the community centre, responses included the 

following:  

• Community events and activities 

• Regular classes/events (e.g. bingo, singing, dance, weightwatchers, parent and 

carers café) 

• Occasional activities (e.g. fun days, carol service, fundraising events, meetings, 

training) 

• Children’s parties and activities 

In the engagement process we had direct meetings with groups which do use the 

Community Centre, as well as meeting the Trustees and having regular contact with 

staff and volunteers. We also attended two COGs meetings.  (COGs stands for 

Community Organisations and Groups and it is an opportunity for different groups to 

meet).  Issues relating to the Centre which arose in these conversations are discussed 

below. 

 

At least once a 
week

Once or twice a 
month

Several times a 
year

Once or twice a 
yearNot at all

HOW OFTEN DO YOU USE THE 
COMMUNITY CENTRE?

Page 49



 

 

22 

Current users really value the centre and don’t want to lose it.  Aspects which were 

identified as important were: 

• The fact that it is community run which allows it to provide affordable rental to 

users and also to provide free activities to benefit those in need.  This includes 

for example the community meal. There was significant concern that the 

community ethos and these benefits would be lost if a Health and Wellbeing 

Centre was built.   

• The regular groups provide an important social focus for those that do attend. 

• There was significant concern about interim arrangements if there is a decision 

to demolish the current building. 

• The size of the main hall and the fact that there is a wooden floor was identified 

as important for specific activities including dancing and short mat bowls. 

• It could be more cost effective to refurbish the existing buildings rather than 

rebuild. 

“It’s a really strong building with no damp or deterioration.  I find it upsetting that 

huge sums of money are to be thrown at it when it seems to be very popular and 

well subscribed and for all ages.  It’s accessible for all being built on the level.” 

“No, I don’t think this is a good idea as the current layout is fine the building just 

needs improvement and repairs.” 

“I’d be crying if there was a new centre, I love this place. There’d be a funeral for it. 

This is my life, I’ve been coming here for 10 years. I would be angry and want to 

punch people.” 

“I’m concerned about losing facilities, particularly day time for retired over 50s 

with free parking. I want to maintain established friendship groups.” 

However, there were significant criticisms from those who don’t use it. When asked why 

respondents don’t use the community centre, key themes were:  

• Unaware of what happens there 

• Nothing of interest there 

• Too busy 

• Find it off-putting 

• Don’t live in Wonford  

Issues about communication are discussed further in section 5. 

 

Page 50



 

 

23 

 “I don’t know anything about what it despite living here for quite a few years now. 

I’ve just asked my partner about which one it is and now I know which building it is 

I’d say it isn’t very inviting from the outside so I have never just walked in to see 

what goes on in there.” 

“It’s very run down not sure what’s available there what’s on it’s not in social media 

as far as I know and that’s what I use to know what’s on. I’d love a yoga or Pilates 

or meditation class.” 

 

3.4 The Phoenix Suite 

We also asked about the use of the Phoenix Suite.  

After Devon County closed down the Phoenix Youth Club in 2016 Wonford Community 

and Learning Centre leased the building and following alteration and refurbishment 

opened it as the Phoenix Suite. Wonford Community and Learning Centre deliver a 

Youth Cafe and support the Beanies Club for younger children and KICKS youth 

sessions here and the space is also hired out. 

Of those who responded 57% said they didn’t use it, 19% said once or twice a year and 

12% at least once a week.  It is not well understood that the Phoenix Suite is run by the 

Centre.  A number commented that they didn’t know what happened there, or weren’t 

sure what it was. 

“What is the difference between the phoenix centre and the community centre?” 

3.5 Sports Centre 

The Sports Centre is operated by Legacy Leisure, under contract to Exeter City Council. 

It includes a gym, dedicated free weights pump room, sports hall, and sauna as well as 

an all-weather AstroTurf pitch and an indoor cycling studio.  Around 30 classes a week 

are run there. In the engagement process we asked how often people use the Centre. 

The answers are shown below.  

When asked how often they use the Sports Centre, 69% said not at all, 20% said once a 

week and 8% once or twice a year.  For Wonford residents who responded to the 

survey, 70% said not at all, 9% said once a week, and 13% said once or twice a year. 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

24 

Figure 10: use of Sports Centre 

 

 

When asked what people do use the sport centre for, responses included the following:  

• Exercise classes (including spin, badminton, yoga, karate) 

• Football 

• Netball 

• Circuits 

• The gym (including body pump and weight lifting) 

• Parties 

Those that do use it clearly value it. One of the roadshow events was held at the Sports 

Centre, and we also attended a meeting with staff.  The Centre has provided a more 

affordable membership offer of £25 a month, the gym has been refurbished with new 

equipment and there is a new spin studio.  However, it was acknowledged that the 

building is tired and can be very cold. In addition, the Centre does not keep any 

information on how many local residents use the Sports Centre, and they do not target 

local users in their promotions. 

 

We spoke to users who were pleased with what was offered and a number of 

comments in the survey and roadshow attested to its value. 

 

Not at all 

At least once a 
week

Once or twice a 
year

Once or twice a 
month

Several times a 
year

HOW OFTEN DO YOU USE THE SPORTS CENTRE?

Page 52



 

 

25 

“I like the gym as it is, feel good when I come. Like the equipment there, ok being able to 

use all council gyms for £25 pcm, £17 for teens”. 

 

“I (and many others) use the Sports Centre a lot, and would like to see the sports hall 

retained”. 

 

A specific advantage of the Sports Centre is that it is easily accessible by bike. 

I chose the gym at Wonford because I could cycle to it – if people feel safe to use their 

bikes, they get positive physical health and mental health benefits – priority for me is to 

have access to a good gym with well-maintained cycle route. 

 

In addition, a wide range of suggestions were made about additional sport and fitness 

services that could be provided, and these are discussed in section 5.   

 

There were also criticisms from those that did not use the Sports Centre. When asked 

why they did not use the sport centre, responses included the following:  

• Don’t play sports.  

• Nothing of interest there.  

• Need gentler exercise than what is on offer there.  

• Prefer outdoor exercise.  

• Too expensive. 

• People see their disability as preventing them from using it. 

• Don’t like it.  

 “I use the gym but it opens quite late in the morning so it's a rush to get to work.” 

 “(Used to be member) Lack of swimming facilities and doesn’t open until late. Start 

work at 7:30 at hospital on Long shifts would be nice to go pre-work. Only managing 

once a week makes it very expensive even with the new price structure.” 

“I prefer to get exercise outside by walking and cycling. Again, if I did want to go to a 

sports centre I’d want to go someone that feels really inviting and safe which the Sports 

Centre doesn’t look like from the outside.” 

“There is very little for my 14-year-old and me. Cheap table tennis club would be great; a 

roller disco for teenagers and trampolining. There is very little that is exciting and for all. 

I have a bad back so high impact crazy aerobics is out of the question; I need supported 

excessive to lose weight and get fit with a physio trained person.” 

“I am disabled and unable to use the equipment there” 

Page 53



 

 

26 

4 What do you want to see for Health and Wellbeing in Wonford?  

4.1 Overview 

In our conversations in the roadshow and at events, and through the survey we asked: 

• What would you like to see locally to help you feel healthier and happier? 

• What specific things would you like to see included in a new Health and 

Wellbeing centre? 

A wide range of comments were made which we have grouped together. They are 

shown visually in the word cloud below, where the most frequent answers are shown in 

the biggest text (does not include feedback event comments). 

Figure 11: What do you want to see for health and wellbeing in Wonford? 

 

More detail is shown in the bar chart below. It also includes the comments made at the 

feedback event, and, where relevant, answers to questions about specific spaces 

discussed in section 4. The detailed results are included in the Appendix 2. The 

following sections discuss the key themes that arose in the consultation, which are 

reflected in the chart. 

  

Page 54



 

 

27 

Figure 12: Detailed breakdown on what is wanted for health and wellbeing in Wonford  

 

 

4.2 Key themes 

We have grouped the comments into the following themes: 

• Young people and children 

• Types of space 

• Outdoor spaces, walking and cycling 

• Advice and support 

• Sport and fitness 

• Non-sports classes and activities 

• Health provision 

• Communication 

Each of these is discussed in the sections that follow. 

4.3 Young people and children 

There are three nights of youth provision a week at the Phoenix in term time and 

summer holiday programmes run by the Community Centre and the WASP 

project.  Despite this, the need for more youth provision was the most frequent single 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

What is wanted for health and wellbeing in Wonford? 

Page 55



 

 

28 

comment made (58 mentions). This was generally made by older people who referred 

to the reduction in provision compared to what was previously available, and the lack of 

things to do for young people. There was also a strain of commentary along the lines of 

‘keep them out of trouble.’  

Young people themselves generally made more specific comments on facilities and 

activities that they would like such as; a scooter or skate park, basketball, table tennis, 

trampolines,  bike fixing, cycling courses and better football pitches or free access to the 

artificial pitch.  These comments reflect comments made in the Exeter Youth Voice 

consultation in Wonford in March this year, where participants said that they would like 

to have the following activities for young people in Wonford; football, badminton, 

netball, dodgeball and tennis. 

Other specific ideas mentioned relating to young people included adventure equipment 

or wild play, a Forest School and environmental education. 

Although we engaged with a significant number of young people, the timing of the 

engagement process meant that there was limited engagement through the local 

schools. We did however meet with students at Isca, and had a good attendance of 

young people at the feedback events as a result of the parents’ email from Wynstream. 

We recommend that if a decision is made to proceed, more direct engagement be held 

with local schools on how they would like to engage with a new Centre. 

The need to provide ‘more for kids’ was also frequently mentioned (55 mentions). In 

addition, other specific comments referred to suggestions for an indoor play area 

(including soft play), a water play area, and for a creche or holiday care.  These 

comments of course came from parents or carers, and reflect the challenges faced by 

parents in taking care of themselves while bringing up their children.   

“A creche at the sports centre so I could use the gym, do yoga, Pilates etc. But I 

need to see my child at the same time. A glass wall would enable that. I need to do 

more exercise, strengthen bones and core and help my heart.” 

4.4 Types of spaces 

There was a lot of enthusiasm about suggestions for a café (48 mentions).  The 

Community Centre already runs a community café once a week, but many respondents 

commented on the potential benefits of a space dedicated as a café open more 

frequently.   

 

“Community run cafe open regularly with low key activities alongside - board 

games, colouring, bring your own craft - to reduce social isolation and loneliness; 

licenced - open evenings and weekends.” 

Page 56



 

 

29 

There were there many comments about the potential for a café overlooking the 

playing fields and Ludwell Valley Park. This was demonstrated by the atmosphere and 

networking opportunities created at the Saturday morning feedback event. 

.  

 

“Love this café it has made a 

difference to my day” 

(Feedback event comment) 

 

Another very popular 

suggestion was for allotments 

or gardens (39 mentions) 

“An urban garden where you 

get people involved in growing 

fresh produce that supports 

healthy eating.” 

Other specific spaces which received a significant number of mentions were: 

• performance/rehearsal space  

• library 

• a bigger kitchen to allow for cooking classes. 

“A big enough kitchen to run a small group cookery school that is free for people 

to sign up for to help them find creative ways to use basic foods (i.e. those grown 

in your urban allotment and bought at Lidl) without making them feel like second 

class citizens.” 

 

4.5 Outdoor spaces, walking and cycling 

As discussed earlier, a strong thread of commentary in our conversations and the 

survey was the need for a safe, clean outdoor environment (including improved cycle 

paths and walkways – 37 mentions in total). It was felt that this would support and 

promote people to do more walking and cycling and generally spend more time 

outdoors.  

“I feel that physical exercise to support health and well-being is best when it is 

built into everyday life rather than an add-on (“oh I’ve still got to go to the gym). 

Therefore, I’d like to see more facilities to enable cycling and walking around 

Wonford and connecting Wonford directly to the city centre. Everywhere you turn 

Page 57



 

 

30 

there are vehicles. Let’s make it feel safe for parents to allow their kids to travel 

alone to the new centre.” 

Specific elements of this perspective included: 

• Improved cycle paths 

• Support active travel including cycle hire and repair 

• Separating cycle and pedestrian paths 

" I find the shared cycle/walking paths a hazard so tend not to use them. I would 

use them more if the paths were split giving the cyclists their own half! " 

• Cycling for the less able through ‘Ride On Exeter’ or ‘Wheels for All’ (adaptive 

cycles)  

“Team up with Ride On to get regular rickshaw rides starting at the centre that 

tour around Wonford for older people who can’t cycle." 

• Getting rid of dog poo 

• Providing lighting in the park 

• Reducing anti-social behaviour. 

Other suggestions for promoting use of outdoor spaces included community events 

and outside activities, provision of more benches, and provision of toilets in the park. 

4.6 Advice and support 

The need for mental health support was a strong concern from many respondents (40 

mentions). Some spoke movingly of their own particular struggles. Many specific 

suggestions were made, including access to counselling, clinics, support groups for 

specific health conditions, such as giving up smoking, addiction, dementia.  Other 

comments related to the needs of specific groups of people such as women, older 

people, parents and the disabled.  Social events were also identified as important to 

provide the opportunity for social contact (28 mentions). The links between physical and 

mental health were also noted. 

“Having well documented circular walking and walking groups will get more 

people out into the open air – with attaching mental health benefits” (Feedback 

event comment). 

The need for drop in advice and support was a significant concern, including for health 

and mental health and for wider issues (for example through Citizens Advice).  

However, it was noted that all these support activities require funded individuals to 

facilitate and make them happen.  

Page 58



 

 

31 

“Need to have someone locally beyond community builder – no one is funded to 

provide that service to deliver – need community development to work with 

people to deliver projects” 

4.7 Sport and fitness 

As discussed above, the Sports Centre is valued for the services it already provides. A 

number of additional services and facilities were suggested in the engagement process. 

The most popular suggestions were: 

• Swimming pool (received 39 mentions, but is not a practical option) 

• Better football pitches/artificial pitch 

• Scooter/skate park 

• Trampolines  

• Fitness classes in general 

• Exercise for people with specific needs 

4.8 Non-sports classes and activities 

As a general category, courses, classes and groups were mentioned by a large number 

of people (57).  Suggestions included crafts, music, flower arranging, model making, 

bridge club, scrabble club, woodworking/DIY, art, local history, pottery, classes to fix 

things, book club, knitting group, English lessons, sewing, bat walks, dog training and 

agility and computer classes. 

Yoga and Pilates received a large number of additional mentions (48, including tai chi) 

“I work full time and find a lot of classes are in the daytime and I would love for 

some art, yoga and craft classes to be held in the evenings”. (Comment posted on 

Facebook) 

There was also a strong interest in walking groups, dance, singing, meditation and being 

able to attend music theatre and film performances in Wonford. 

4.9 Health provision 

Interest was expressed in having easily accessible doctors, as well as a dentist and other 

services such as NHS outreach clinics, physio therapist.  Stress and relaxation therapies 

were also suggested, including providing affordable rooms for practitioners. 

4.10 Communications 

A number of comments were made about enhancing communications about activities. 

This links with comments discussed earlier from those unaware of activities happening 

in the Community Centre and Sports Centre. 

Page 59



 

 

32 

These included a Wonford newsletter, a community noticeboard and better signage to 

the Community Centre.  Social media and a website were also mentioned, although the 

Centre already has an online presence through its Facebook page and 

thisiswonford.co.uk. 

“Important to have good communication about events and activities need to be 

places where can collect info such as noticeboards – not everyone uses Facebook” 

Page 60



 

 

33 

5 Conclusions 
The engagement process focussed on a conversation about health and wellbeing with 

the residents of Wonford, and users of the existing Community Centre and Sports 

Centre.  The proposal for a new Centre was discussed in this context. 

The role of the Sounding Board was crucial in designing an effective process and gaining 

community trust and buy in.  

Walking, dog walking, using the local parks and cycling were the top four activities that 

people partake in for their health and well-being, with local parks being used for both 

walking and cycling.  

Ludwell Valley Park and the playing fields are widely used by those we engaged with 

and highly valued.  For those that don’t use them key issues relate to concerns about 

safety and the quality of the environment. 

The Community Centre is highly valued by those that use it, and it provides valuable 

services, particularly its youth provision. However, 64% of Wonford residents we 

engaged with don’t use it at all.  Not knowing what happens there, not being interested 

in what is provided, finding the building off-putting and being too busy were key 

reasons given for not using it.   

Likewise, the Sports Centre is valued by its users, but 70% of Wonford residents we 

engaged with don’t use it at all.  Reasons given by those that don’t use it included not 

being interested in sports activities, wanting gentler exercise, or outdoor exercise, or 

exercise appropriate for disabled people, the building not looking inviting, and practical 

barriers such as cost, or opening times.  

Despite initial reservations, the response to the engagement was very positive with a 

strong interest in improving health and wellbeing in Wonford.   A wide range of 

comments were made which suggested services that are needed.  Key themes were 

provision for young people and children, addressing mental health needs and the 

needs of specific groups of people as well as providing a range of sports and non-sports 

classes and activities.  Clearly these services would require ongoing revenue funding. 

There was enthusiasm for providing new spaces including a café, gardens or allotments, 

a performance space, a library, a bigger kitchen, and spaces for physical and mental 

health provision. 

There are early wins that can be delivered. Some of these are already being addressed, 

but there are others such as a more frequent community café and a community 

noticeboard which are easily achievable with relatively minimal funding. 

Page 61



 

 

34 

We strongly recommend that the Council continues to work closely with the local 

community, in order to build on the good will that has been developed in this 

engagement process. Ongoing clear communication is crucial, and the Sounding Board 

is one avenue for this, as is the Facebook page created for this project. 

Page 62



 

 

35 

Appendix 1 

Sounding Board Terms of reference 
 

The purpose of the Sounding Board is to work with CAG Consultants to co-produce the 

community engagement process on the proposed new Wonford Health and Wellbeing 

Centre.  

 

Co-production is an asset-based approach that enables people providing ad people 

receiving services to share power and responsibility, and to work together in equal, 

reciprocal and caring relationships.  

 

The group will: 

 

 work with CAG Consultants and Exeter City Council to discuss and agree the 
methods to be used in this engagement process 

 help with the engagement process by promoting and communicating the process 
to local residents  

 comment on draft reports of the engagement process and work with CAG 
consultants to produce a final report for Exeter City Council.   

 provide a reflection of the primary interests within the area through the inclusion of 
individuals and organisations that are likely to benefit   from the results of the 
engagement process  

 exist initially for the duration of the initial engagement process with the potential to 
continue into the future if appropriate.  

 

The Sounding Board is about creating and running the best engagement process. Everyone 

in this group can also have their say once this process is in place.  

 

Ground rules for the group 
 

Consensus building approach 

In order to achieve these aims, a consensus building approach will be used. Consensus 

is a process that uses a facilitator to enable members to listen to each other’s perspectives 

and share their own.  Through doing so group members commit to working together to find 

points of agreement which can be built into the plans.  The aim of this joint working is to 

achieve overwhelming, though not necessarily unanimous agreement. To do this, we ask 

that all group members bring a spirit of co-operation to meetings.  

 

Feedback 

Although not all participants in the group will be formal ‘representatives’ of specific groups, 

all will be asked to seek views and feedback progress to their interest groups and 

organisations to keep them informed of the engagement process.   

 

Page 63



 

 

36 

Confidentiality 

To build trust a level of confidentiality is needed. Views expressed by people at meetings are 

to be considered confidential and discussed only within the meeting. We ask that all 

Sounding Board members agree to only feedback jointly agreed outcomes of the meeting.  

Members specifically are asked to agree not to talk to the press about the discussions of the 

group and about views expressed by other members at group meetings.  This does not 

preclude their right to talk to the press to express their own views and represent their 

interests and those of any group they represent. 

 

Reaching Agreements  

The client for the engagement process is Exeter City Council and as the Programme Lead 

they are a key part of the co-production process. This means that formal proposals for the 

engagement process from the Sounding Board need to be agreed by the Council.   As the 

sponsors of the project they will have the final say on the content of the engagement report, 

and will engage with CAG Consultants to reach consensus.  

It is intended that the group will use a consensus building approach. Participants are asked 

to contribute to a good-faith effort to meet the interests of all the stakeholders.  

Participants are encouraged to express the interests that they reflect or represent rather 

than their own, while working together to agree an approach and a report that meets the 

interests of all. 

 

Disagreement without being disagreeable 

Participants in the group are encouraged to express their views frankly and specifically to 

identify areas of disagreement with any element of the proposal. All are asked to do so in a 

way that respects the other members.  

 

Practicalities 

Communication will be primarily by group email. It is not envisaged that there will be more 

than four meetings of the Sounding Board and these will be arranged at times to suit all. 

In between meetings participants may be asked to comment by email on suggestions or 

documents. 

 

Membership 

Interest group Status Name 

Wonford Community and Learning 

Centre 

(also Wonford Methodist Church) 

Designated rep, WCLC 

trustee 

Helen Moore 

Wonford Planters Volunteer Jenny Mitchelmore 

Local resident and active travel Volunteer Will Page 

Page 64



 

 

37 

Local resident Volunteer Sue Bulled 

Beanies Volunteer Zoe Parks 

Local resident Community Builder Barbara Beames 

WASP  project/Young people Youth worker Andy Shiach 

Wynstream Primary/young people Youth worker Sarah Pope 

Exeter City Councillor Councillor for Priory Ward Cllr Alys Quance 

Exeter City Councillor Portfolio Holder for 

Leisure and Physical 

Activity 

Cllr Ollie Pearson 

 

Page 65



 

 

38 

Appendix 2 

Summary of responses 

The following table summarises comments made in the online survey, the roadshow, on 

Facebook and in interviews undertaken at meetings with groups. 

Comment made Mentions Includes  

Communication 26 Noticeboard, social media, newsletter, ads, 

website signage 

Types of spaces 

café 48 

 

allotments/gardens/community 

gardens 

39 

 

performing arts/dance/  space 11 

 

Kitchen, cooking classes 14 

 

library 18 

 

keep provision we have 7 

 

Bigger community hall  6 

 

Affordable rooms for groups 3 

 

Refurbish, don’t pull it down 3 Does not include comments made in discussions 

What about interim space? 1 Does not include comments made in discussions 

Outdoor spaces, walking and cycling6 

 

Safe, clean outdoor environment 

(including for cycling and walking) 

26 

 

  

Support for active travel and 

cycling 

7 

 

  

improve cycle paths 18 

 
  

benches 14 

 
  

Deal with dog poo 11 

 
  

lighting in the park  8 

 
  

Toilets in the park 8 

 
  

community events and outside 

activities 

18 e.g. fete, bonfire   

Children and Young People   

indoor play area 11 Including soft play   

                                                   
6 Includes comments made in response to the question “what would encourage you to use the outdoor 

spaces?” 

Page 66



 

 

39 

water play area 11 

 
  

adventure equipment/wild play 5 trail in the woods, climbing frames etc, spider 

web 
  

Forest school/environmental 

education 

8 

 

  

more for kids 55 toddlers, 7-13 age   

creche/ holiday care 8 including holiday care, homework club   

Teenage/youth provision 58 

 
  

Sport and fitness   

Better football pitches/MUGA 13 better outside football pitches including all 

weather 
  

swimming pool 39 

 
  

squash courts 5 including outside   

tennis courts 7 

 
  

scooter/skate park 13 

 
  

trampolines 11 

 
  

outdoor gym 5 

 
  

climbing walls 7 

 
  

sauna and steam room, jacuzzi 3 

 
  

fitness classes 11 

 
  

 zumba class 4 

 
  

exercise  for specific groups/ 

people with specific needs 

6 e.g. back problems, pain, for all ages and 

abilities, low impact activities, aimed at older 

people, seated exercise for those with disabilities 

  

fitness activities for older people 10 e.g. yoga, dodge ball, netball, outdoor gym   

Basketball 9 mixed gender   

badminton 7 needs proper nets; needs dedicated space or to 

share space with quieter activity 
  

other sports 4 table tennis, volley ball, ice skating, martial arts   

boxing  5 

 
  

running club 3 

 
  

Advice and support   

drop in advice centre  10 includes drop-in counselling, wellbeing advice as 

well as wider 
  

citizens advice 8 

 
  

Page 67



 

 

40 

life skills support 9 

 
  

mental health support  40 groups, clinics, counselling self-help groups, 

addiction clinics, support groups for giving up 

smoking, dementia group, for children 

  

support for various groups 21 men (men's shed), women, older people, 

parents, adults with special needs, young carers, 

parents when child in CAMHS, young parents, 

etc. Including lunch clubs, health and well-being 

classes, space to get together etc ,single people 

to make contact with others 

  

more for disabled 7 health/wellbeing classes   

food bank 7 

 
  

social events 28 coffee mornings, lunch clubs, bingo, quiz, games 

night.  
  

other specific support 3 support into work, sex/relationship   

Non-sports classes and activities   

Walking groups 12 At evenings and weekends for working people    

yoga, tai chi, pilates 48 Most comments are yoga and pilates   

meditation 10 

 
  

Singing  10 karaoke, choir   

dance 18 dance classes including contemporary and street 

dancing, caroc (Latin jive),tea dances, discos, folk 

dancing,  - concerned about retaining the 

wooden floor 

  

courses, classes, groups and 

taster sessions 

48 e.g. crafts, music, flower arranging, model 

making, bridge club, scrabble club, 

woodworking/DIY, art, local history, pottery, 

classes to fix things, book club, knitting group, 

English lessons, sewing, bat walks 

  

dog agility classes and dog 

training 

3 

 

  

performances- 

music/theatre/film 

11 alcohol free, live music performance   

computer classes 6 

 
  

Health provision   

Good to have doctors there 7 

 
  

dentist 6 

 
  

physio/osteopathy 6 

 
  

Page 68



 

 

41 

NHS outreach clinics 6 including nurse provision, sexual health, 

chiropody 
  

stress and relaxation therapies 8 including affordable rooms for practitioners   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Max Associates – Private & Confidential  1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wonford Community Health and  

Wellbeing Centre  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OCTOBER 2019

Page 71



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   2 
 

 
 

CONTENTS 

 

 Introduction .................................................................................................................. 3 

 Summary of current usage/membership .................................................................... 3 

 Under-Represented Mosaic Groups ........................................................................... 5 

 Latent Demand for Health and Fitness ....................................................................... 6 

 Competition Analysis ................................................................................................... 6 

 Health and Fitness Competition .................................................................................. 6 

 Sport England and National Governing Bodies ......................................................... 7 

 Recreational Cycling Provision in Wonford ............................................................... 8 

 Proposed facility mix ................................................................................................. 10 

 Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Model ............................................... 12 

 

 

Figure 1 – Wonford Sports Centre: Users & Members Dot Map ...................................... 4 
Figure 2 – Wonford Sports Centre: Users & Population .................................................. 5 
Figure 3 – Health & Fitness Competition Map ................................................................... 7 
Figure 4 – Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Model .................................... 12 

  

 

  

Page 72



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   3 
 

 
 

 Introduction 
  

1.1 The Council has set out its key strategic priorities for the vision of Exeter to be the most 

active city through: 

 Exeter Live Better & Move More: Physical Activity Strategy 

 Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, 

Play Areas, Park & Green Spaces Strategy.  

1.2 Proposals for the Council’s future built sport and leisure facilities take into account the 

facilities the Council own and lease to others and were agreed by the Council in 

published in July 2019 following a wide-ranging public consultation.  

1.3 The Council has commissioned a further programme of engagement with local 

residents and community groups on the concept of developing a Community Health 

and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford to replace the current community centre and sports 

centre.  CAG Consulting has undertaken the community engagement programme 

which complements this report.  

1.4 The Council also independent health sector experts KYMA/ELT to engage with primary 

care, and wider NHS  to understand appetite for co-locating a primary care centre within 

the  Community Health & Wellbeing Centre .   

1.5 Max Associates, has been engaged to provide specific detail for the sport & leisure 

element of the proposed Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing  Centre which is the 

focus of this report. 

1.6 To date Max Associates has focused on and provided detail on the current facility mix, 

current usage/membership, profiling of users, latent demand, competition analysis, and 

strategic Sport National Governing Body  (NGB)  opportunities. 

 
 Summary of current usage/membership 

 
2.1.1 Wonford Sports Centre has around 5,130 active users (this figure includes approx. 

1,020 members). The centre is managed by Parkwood Leisure on behalf of Exeter City 

Council. Analysis of the user data showed that almost 40% of records have either no 

postcode or an incomplete postcode.  

 

2.1.2 Our analysis is therefore based on the 60% of users (equivalent to c. 3,100 people) 

where a correct postcode has been provided.  

 

2.1.3 The current users have been mapped, 82% of the total live within the Exeter City 

Council  area. A dot map has been provided below which shows the Exeter boundary, 

Wonford Sports Centre, active members and all users. The 18% of users that live 

outside Exeter are scattered around and include clusters in Broadclyst, Cranbrook and 

Silverton. There are also clusters coming from Exminster and Exmouth, to the south. 

(Figure 1 below). 

Page 73



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   4 
 

 Figure 1 – Wonford Sports Centre: Users & Members Dot Map 

 

 

 
2.1.4 Using Mosaic, a detailed geo-segmentation system, each postcode was assigned a 

Mosaic code. To ensure we are comparing like with like, we have cut down the users 
to just those that live within Exeter and compared them to the total population in the 
same area. This gives us a demographic profile of users and the local population 
showing how well the centre is penetrating the market. All the tables and figures below 
are therefore based on the 82% of users that live within Exeter. Full Mosaic Profile is 
provided Appendix 1 and an age profile provided in Appendix 2. 

 
2.1.5 The report shows that 2,518 users live within Exeter. The total population in this same 

area is 135,911. This means that 1.85% of the Exeter population currently use Wonford 
Sports Centre.  

 
2.1.6 766 Wonford users live within the Priory ward which is 25% of the total (so 75% live 

outside the ward). 
 

 

Page 74



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   5 
 

  Under-Represented Mosaic Groups 
 

3.1 The table below shows the Mosaic group breakdown of Wonford Sports Centre users 
and the total population, sorted by the % of users’ column; the groups generating the 
highest proportion of users are shown at the top. Five Mosaic groups are over-
performing, meaning that the proportion of users is higher than the proportion of the 
population. These five groups have an index score over 100 and are highlighted in 
Figure 2 below. 

 

Figure 2 – Wonford Sports Centre: Users & Population  

 

 
3.2 The groups that are under-represented are:  

 Rental Hubs is the most prominent Mosaic group in Exeter; it accounts for 
almost 26% of the total population (over 35k people), but it only generates 
10.6% of the users (266 people). It is therefore one of most under-represented 
groups within Exeter.  Many will have other fitness and sports options which 
are closer to home.  

 Older low-income groups 

 65+ groups. 

Page 75



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   6 
 

 
 Latent Demand for Health and Fitness 

 
4.1 Full details can be found in Appendix 3. 
 
4.2 Based on the catchment demographics and competition it is estimated that the total 

demand for health & fitness membership of 657 and estimate latent demand for fitness 
members is 157. 
 

 Competition Analysis 
 

5.1 Competition analysis of commercial facilities has been undertaken and is provided in 
Appendix 4. 

 
5.2 There is a reduced need for commercial activity e.g. soft play / tenpin bowling etc due 

to local competition. However, there are no TAG Active facilities within a 2-hour drive 
of Exeter. 

 
5.3 According to the Council’s strategy (see 1.1) swimming demand will be provided 

through a new community pool on the Exeter Arena site to replace the aging facility at 
Northbrook alongside the new city centre St Sidwell’s Swimming Pool and Leisure 
Centre due to open in 2021 and a refurbished swimming pool within the Riverside 
Centre. These facilities will meet the need of local demand including the current 
provision deficit. 
 

 Health and Fitness Competition 
 

6.1 There are two fitness options in the catchment; David Lloyd and the Exeter Golf & 
Country Club. These are the premium options in Exeter. David Lloyd is located next to 
the Exeter Chiefs Rugby Stadium on Sandy Park Way. The club opened in 2010 and 
monthly membership costs over £100, the highest membership fee in the city. Facilities 
include a large gym, two pools (indoor & outdoor), studios, tennis courts (indoor & 
outdoor) and a spa.   

 
6.2 Exeter Golf & Country Club in Countess Wear offers similar facilities (on a smaller scale) 

to David Lloyd including a gym, pools and tennis courts but it also has squash courts, 
an 18-hole golf course and a 10-bay driving range. Membership is £74 per month 
(reduced to £58 for off-peak gym use). Across the two clubs, there are over 6,000 
members.   

 
6.3 Just outside the catchment area, towards the city centre, is St Luke’s Sports Centre, a 

University of Exeter facility. It has a 30-station gym, swimming pool sports hall & studio 
which are available to the public. The summary map is shown in Figure 3 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   7 
 

 

Figure 3 – Health & Fitness Competition Map 

 

 

 
 Sport England and National Governing Bodies 

 
7.1 There is a significant strategic opportunity to work with Sport England through the 

Council’s Local Delivery Pilot Programme and undertake the Strategic Outcomes 
Planning Model process to access expertise and potential future facility funding. 

 
7.2 There is identified strategic intent from large National Governing Bodies of Sport: 
 

 British Cycling - local family trail / pump track cycling provision within the 
Exeter Arena site and an invitation to develop a partnership bid for the 
‘Places to Ride’ facilities investment programme 

 Football Foundation / Devon County Football Association – Wonford is a 
priority within the Exeter Local Football Facility Plan.  There is an opportunity 
to align local resources with national Football Foundation investment for 
improved grass pitches, changing rooms and small sided facility at Wonford.  
Potential to undertake formal feasibility to identify a business case for a 3G 
Football Turf Pitch. 

 

Page 77



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   8 
 

 Recreational Cycling Provision in Wonford1 
 

8.1 Including improved recreational cycling facilities within the redevelopment of this 
site offers the council a great opportunity to inspire and enable more residents of 
Wonford to walk and cycle from their neighbourhood to the playing fields and 
Ludwell Valley Park. 
 

8.2 The current cycling infrastructure and connections in Wonford have a strong 
foundation via the north-south cycling route running through Wonford Playing 
Fields.  This off-road cycling route is adjacent to the existing Wonford Sports Centre 
and Community Centre and connects across Topsham Road to the Riverside Valley 
Park and wider Exe Estuary Trail.  This off-road route is geared primarily towards 
commuter and school journeys. The route is an accessible shared use path mainly 
used by pedestrians and dog walkers.  It forms part of the Green Circle citywide 
13mile walking route. 
 

8.3 However, there are some barriers and missed opportunities which inhibit its use.  It 
is unlit, with limited places to stop and dwell, minimising the potential for year round 
recreational usage and new cycle users. Access points to the cycle route from 
Wonford are unsurfaced and the access via the Wonford Sports Centre and playing 
fields is narrow, poorly lit and is perceived to be unsafe by local residents. 
 

8.4 Further access points to the cycle route through the playing fields at Woodwater 
Lane (north) and Topsham Road (south) are poorly signposted, unattractive and 
there are physical barriers to prevent unauthorised access which also makes the 
routes unattractive for potential recreational users.   
 

8.5 There is an unpopular, unused cycle skills area and an overgrown historic pump 
track within Wonford Playing Fields. There is no cycle access from Wonford Playing 
Fields and the wider community through Ludwell Valley for recreational use or 
onward travel to Pynes Hill and the Eastern side of the city. 
 

8.6 There is also an absence of fit for purpose cycle storage within the site of the Sports 
Centre and Community Centre with the majority of users currently arriving by car. 
 

8.7 It is therefore recommended that the Council uses this opportunity to consider 
working with stakeholders including Devon County Council, British Cycling, Sport 
England and Devon Wildlife Trust to identify investment and support for these 
opportunities:  

 

 Improvements to the existing environment through lighting, signage, 

benches and gateway features in response to poor perceptions of personal 

safety and accessibility 

 The potential of a family friendly circular route around the boundary of the 

Wonford Playing Fields. This could extend into and through Ludwell Valley 

Park helping to increasing usage, broaden the diversity of users and the 

types of activities they take part in. 

 Young people and families leading the design of new recreational cycling 

activities by relocating and regenerating the existing cycle skills area and 

pump track to connect the community of Wonford with Ludwell Valley Park  

                                                           
1 This section has been provided by James Bogue, Active & Healthy People Programme Lead, Exeter City 

Council 

 

Page 78



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   9 
 

 Develop and enhance secure cycle storage provision for local residents & 

employees visiting and working in the area.  Explore the opportunity of 

developing a bike share scheme located in the hub for residents, patients 

and employees to hire bikes on their doorstep. 

 Work with local cycling providers and charities to develop an all ability 

cycling hub in Wonford (e.g. the Bikebank / Ride On Cycling model)  

 Improved links between Wonford Playing Fields and Riverside Valley Park 

(via Northbrook Approach) for onward active travel to the west of the city. 

 
  

Page 79



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   10 
 

 Proposed facility mix 
 

9.1 On the basis of the information and evidence shown above and detailed in the 
Appendices, it is proposed that the following facility mix is taken forward for full business 
case feasibility and further engagement with the local community and stakeholders: 

 

Facility  Comments 

Re-provision of a sports 

hall, group exercise space 

and fitness 

4 courts, this should be constructed as flexible spaces 

to allow different activities and classes to be delivered, 

including health related programmes. 

Group exercise space and 

fitness 

Gym – 40 stations 

1 x studio 

1 x spin studio 

Flexible Community Space Community rooms – to be available for hire to local 

groups and businesses, can also be used for health 

consultations and one to one sessions. 

Flexible activity room with community kitchen facilities 

– suitable for hire by community groups for sports and 

non-sporting activities, can be used to deliver health 

initiatives and programmes. 

Wider use other than sport and leisure should also be 

encouraged. There are opportunities for the local 

community to use of community spaces for making 

music, facilitating arts events and cultural activities for 

a range of ages. 

Soft Play Soft play provision for early years children which 

would be support by the catering offer. 

Cycling provision As detailed in 8.7 above, there is the opportunity to 

develop new recreational cycling activities and an all 

ability cycling hub – to be developed further with the 

local community. 

Playing pitches Retain existing and refresh (if required) Artificial Grass 

Pitch (AGP)  

Reconfigure and enhance pitches and pavilion 

facilities for multi club use. 

  

Page 80



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   11 
 

Facility  Comments 

Other activities There is an opportunity to discuss further with the 

local community other activities to engage young 

people – for example: 

 Virtual climbing and trampolining 

 Interactive cardio exercises classes 

using the best of technology to provide 

alternative ways of using fitness 

equipment. 

 Outdoor adventure tower.  

 
9.2 Our understanding is that other site/centre provision should/will include: 
 

 A new primary care centre in partnership with Wonford Green GP Practice. 
 

 A new design which connects the centre to the adjacent green space including 
playing pitches, play areas, walking & cycling networks and Ludwell Valley Park 

 

 Enhancement of the playing pitch provision through existing specific Section 106 
funding for Wonford Playing Fields. 

 
9.3 It is essential that the Council continues to provide engagement opportunities for 

residents, communities and stakeholders to input into future built facility development 
plans, to ensure that the local community is appropriately represented and the facility 
meets the needs of all sections of the community to encourage them to participate; in 
particular those who do not currently use the existing facility. 

 
9.4 The uses for the community spaces, in particular, identified within the facility mix should 

be worked up through further engagement with the local community and stakeholders. 

 
9.5 The delivery model for this facility must not replicate the traditional sport and leisure 

centre environment.  
 

9.6 The city centre is well catered for, providing a range of facilities (particularly with the 
construction of SSP and the potential facility developments at Exeter Arena as 
proposed in the facility strategy.  
 

9.7 Wonford Community Health and Well-being Centre must therefore be focussed upon: 

 
 Providing relevant, accessible and appropriate provision for the local community 

 Meeting the need for integration with health partners 

 Developing the opportunity for wider local community arts, music and cultural 

provision 

 Not “competing” with city centre public and private (commercial) sport and leisure 

facilities. 

Page 81



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   12 
 

 Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Model 
 

10.1 As stated above there is an opportunity to work with Sport England and undertake the 
Strategic Outcomes Planning Model. There is the opportunity for a bid to Sport England 
for Strategic Facilities Funding, a grant of which is available up to a maximum of £2m. 

 
10.2 We have set out, in Appendix 5, the approach and methodology based on meeting the 

new Sport England guidance for funding similar schemes. Key features which 
applications will be expected to demonstrate are:  

 

 A clear strategic vision and planned approach focused on local outcomes (cross-
sector collaboration, health, leisure, social services, libraries, crime prevention 
etc);  

 Utilisation of local insight to identify the target audiences, the behaviour change 
required and how to achieve this;  

 Clarity on how sport and physical activity can impact on achieving the outcomes;  

 A facility mix which has been developed through a thorough understanding of the 
target audience and behaviour change;  

 A cost effective build and financially sustainable operating model;  

 Integrated service facility offer (co-location where appropriate);  

 A facility that provides the potential to deliver the identified outcomes;  

 An operating contract that can deliver the desired outcomes; and,  

 An effective data analysis system to evaluate performance and assess 
achievement of outcomes 

 
The overall model is shown in Figure 4 below 
 

Figure 4 – Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Model  

 

 

Page 82



Wonford Community Health & Wellbeing Hub 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential   13 
 

 
Disclaimer 

Although the information in this report has been prepared in good faith, with the best intentions, 

on the basis of professional research and information made available to us at the time of the 

study, it is not possible to guarantee the financial estimates or forecasts contained within this 

report. 

Max Associates cannot be held liable to any party for any direct or indirect losses, financial or 

otherwise, associated with any information provided within this report.  We have relied in a 

number of areas on information provided by the client and have not undertaken additional 

independent verification of this data. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Primary Care Centre in the 

Wonford Health and Wellbeing 

Hub 
End of stage report (Final version 1.0) 
 

13th November 2019 

 

  

 

Page 85



 

  1  

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 
NOTE: This is a CONTROLLED Document. Any documents appearing in paper form are not controlled 

and should be checked against the server file version prior to use. 

 

Version record 
 

Version 
No 

Revision Date Version history Initials 

Draft 1.0 08/11/19 
First draft issue to Exeter City Council (ECC) client 
project team. 

PB 

Final 1.0 13/11/19 
Final version issue incorporating ECC client 
comments (12/11/19) on draft version 1.0. 

PB 

 

  

The accommodation requirements set out in this document are in draft form. They are subject to 

further refinement as well as a subsequent viability assessment and business case process prior to 

finalisation. 

Page 86



 

  2  

Contents 
Version record ..................................................................................................................................... 1 

Part A: overview of the Health and Wellbeing Hub and Primary Care Centre ......................................... 5 

1| Introduction to the Health and Wellbeing Hub ............................................................................... 5 

1.1 The Primary Care Centre (PCC) ................................................................................................ 5 

2| Health and Wellbeing hub service philosophy ................................................................................ 7 

2.1 Consultation area principles .................................................................................................... 8 

3| Scope of service ............................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Exclusions ................................................................................................................................ 9 

Part B: PCC service description .............................................................................................................. 10 

4| General Practice ............................................................................................................................ 10 

4.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 10 

4.2 Service Parameters ................................................................................................................ 11 

4.3 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 13 

4.4 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 14 

4.5 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.6 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 20 

Part C: 25 year business plan model...................................................................................................... 23 

5| Projected annual incomes and expenditures ................................................................................ 23 

5.1 Activity and functional content requirements ....................................................................... 23 

5.2 Income from patient activity ................................................................................................. 24 

5.3 Expenditure ........................................................................................................................... 24 

5.4 Summary – income and expenditure projections.................................................................. 25 

5.5 Potential funding options for the facility ............................................................................... 25 

Part D: Conclusions and recommendations .......................................................................................... 26 

6| Views of the Wonford Green Surgery partners ............................................................................. 26 

7| Definition of the PCC element of the hub ..................................................................................... 27 

8| Business plan modelling appears favourable ................................................................................ 27 

9| Recommendations/next steps ....................................................................................................... 27 

Appendix 1 – Other services for consideration ..................................................................................... 28 

10| Mental Health............................................................................................................................ 28 

10.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 28 

10.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 29 

Page 87



 

  3  

10.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 29 

10.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 30 

10.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 32 

11| Maternity Services ..................................................................................................................... 32 

11.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 32 

11.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 33 

11.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 34 

11.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 35 

11.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 36 

12| Community Integrated Team (CIT) and Ambulatory Nursing Team (ANT) ................................ 37 

12.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 37 

12.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 37 

12.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 38 

12.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 38 

12.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 39 

13| Musculoskeletal and Physiotherapy .......................................................................................... 39 

13.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 39 

13.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 41 

13.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 41 

13.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 42 

13.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 43 

14| Bladder and Bowel Service ........................................................................................................ 44 

14.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 44 

14.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 45 

14.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 45 

14.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 46 

14.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 47 

15| Health and Wellbeing Community Suite .................................................................................... 47 

15.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 47 

15.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 49 

15.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 49 

15.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 50 

15.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 51 

16| Main Entrance, Retail and Pharmacy......................................................................................... 52 

Page 88



 

  4  

16.1 Scope of Service .................................................................................................................... 52 

16.2 Functional Content ................................................................................................................ 53 

16.3 Functional Relationships........................................................................................................ 53 

16.4 Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 53 

16.5 Design Requirements ............................................................................................................ 55 

17| FM and Support Services ........................................................................................................... 57 

17.1 Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 57 

17.2 FM flows ................................................................................................................................ 58 

18| Design requirements ................................................................................................................. 58 

18.1 Whole Primary Care Centre Policies ...................................................................................... 59 

19| Sexual health (C-card scheme) .................................................................................................. 59 

19.1 Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 59 

20| Potential additional services ...................................................................................................... 59 

Appendix 2 – Stakeholder consultation ................................................................................................. 60 

 

  

Page 89



 

  5  

Part A: overview of the Health and Wellbeing 

Hub and Primary Care Centre  

1| Introduction to the Health and Wellbeing Hub 
Exeter City Council is investigating the feasibility of developing an innovative, new integrated 

community health and wellbeing hub at the site of the existing Wonford sports and community 

centres in Wonford, Exeter – to be called the “Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub”.  

Engagement, by ETL and KYMA Consulting, with a range of stakeholders (including commissioners and 

providers - see Appendix 2) across the local health and care economy indicates that there is 

considerable support, in principle, for the proposed development of a Wonford Health and Wellbeing 

Hub. 

The aspiration of the new hub is “to help positively promote access to and participation in the health 

and wellbeing services provided within the locality”.   

The Health and Wellbeing Hub could include the following elements: 

 Community Leisure centre with sports hall and exercise studios, and outdoor facilities 

 Primary Care Centre (PCC) in partnership with the local NHS and other providers 

 Flexible community spaces linking indoor and outdoor spaces to promote healthy, active lifestyles 
such as community kitchen, gardens, allotments, etc 

 Potentially a range of residential facilities  

The Health and Wellbeing Hub could provide the opportunity to co-locate primary and community 

physical and mental health services alongside a wider wellbeing offer that supports the ‘prevention’ 

agenda, through leisure, community and advice and support services, recognising that many patients 

presenting with health related issues have non-health causes at the root of their condition (e.g. 

anxiety about debt and finances leading to depression or stress). 

1.1 The Primary Care Centre (PCC) 
A requirement of this commission was to test and confirm the existing Wonford Green GP Practice 

partners’ desire and intention to relocate from their existing premises to new facility (the Wonford 

Health and Wellbeing Hub) and determine a schedule of their needs for this relocation. 

The Wonford Green Surgery partners are strongly committed to addressing the health and wellbeing 

needs of their community through a social model of health, recognising the importance of addressing 

the wider determinants of health and supporting opportunities to enable them to flourish.   They are 

therefore very enthusiastic about the potential redevelopment of Wonford Community and Leisure 

centre as an integrated Community Wellbeing centre, bringing together leisure provision, community-

led programmes and activities with their GP-led wider health and wellbeing provision. 

For some time, the GP partners have been considering engaging with the wider range of community 

health services which would complement and support their Primary Care+ provision and better meet 

the needs of local people, such as health visitors, school nurses, maternity etc as well as a wider 

provision of services such as financial and debt management. Partners referenced the Exeter COLAB 

(https://www.colabexeter.org.uk)  as an exemplar approach they would like to see implemented, and 

Page 90



 

  6  

indicated that they would be pleased to potentially be colocated in a new facility with services such as 

the following: 

 Dentistry 

 Podiatry 

 Dietetics 

 Gym 

 Benefits/housing/Citizens Advice Bureau assistance 

 Community café/Food Bank 

 Social prescribing and community groups 

 Health Visiting/Public Health Nursing/Children's social care/CAMHS 

 Adult social care 

GP partners would also consider co-location of Out of Hours GP services within the new facility. 

1.1.1 Potential GP partner concerns 
However, the partners expressed their considerable concern at the potential relocation of services 

(e.g. bariatric or Urgent Treatment Centre) from the Royal Devon and Exeter site into a proposed 

Wonford Health and Wellbeing hub. Partners are concerned that: 

 This would give the community and patients more widely the impression that it was an off-shoot 
of the hospital, rather than a community health and wellbeing asset 

 This would reinforce a medical and deficit model of health (‘treatment of illness’) rather than their 
social model, incorporating activities that support wellbeing, address the wider determinants of 
health to enable people to flourish, as well as supporting them at times of vulnerability and illness 

 Patients may then view the Practice as a route to fast-track access to acute services; this may skew 
their patient list and undermine their current ability to ‘provide 80% same-day appointments’. 

The Wonford Surgery GP partners also expressed the following financial concerns that would require 

a favourable resolution before further consideration of a potential relocation to a new Wonford 

Health and Wellbeing Hub. 

Partners would require a suitable capital receipt for the current Wonford Green Surgery site that 

would be sufficient to cover exiting expenses such as mortgage costs and loan costs for the previous 

expansion work. 

As Exeter City Council (ECC) currently holds the freehold to the Wonford Green Surgery site, the 

Partners’ preference would be an acceptable buy-out by ECC rather than the Partners having to sell 

the practice premises on the open market. 

In terms of revenue affordability, the partners have an obligation to ensure the longevity of the 

practice so it can continue to meet the needs of its patients and community. As such, partners would 

require a long-term commitment from NHSE regarding future rent reimbursement, and a long-term 

affordable rent commitment from the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub landlord. 

1.1.2 Purpose of this document 
This report sets out the early vision and model of care for the PCC within the Health and Wellbeing 

Hub. This document could be used to inform the development of design proposals for the new 

building and to provide a basis for future development of operational policies for the services and 

facilities. t sets out an overview of the potential scope of services, patient and service user pathways 

and functional content for the PCC, based on feedback to date.  

Page 91



 

  7  

2| Health and Wellbeing hub service philosophy 
In line with the Integrated Care for Exeter (ICE) ambition1, the aim is to deliver an integrated care hub 

for the community which: 

 Enables people to improve and promote their own health and well-being 

 Delivers a better experience of care 

 Achieves improved health and social care outcomes 

 Provides care more cost effectively  

Services will be connected, deliver quality outcomes and use resources efficiently and effectively so 

that: 

 Services are easy to explain; access and navigate through and will be provided on the basis of 
individual need 

 Health and wellbeing is actively promoted, and health inequalities reduced through concerted 
community action focussed on early intervention and prevention 

 Only people who clinically need to be are admitted or treated in a hospital and they will only be 
there as long as is clinically necessary. 

 People experience quality services wrapped around their needs 

 Public and voluntary sector resources are more effectively used by combining budgets, skills, staff 
and data. 

Figure 1: Model of Care diagram 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 Integrated Care for Exeter (2017). https://www.wellbeingexeter.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/HSJ2017-Service-Redesign-
Integrated-Care-for-Exeter-Review-June-2017-Final-draft.pdf 

Page 92



 

  8  

2.1 Consultation area principles 

 Consultation areas (C/E rooms, Treatment rooms, etc.) should be configured to make patient 
navigation easy, so that patients can find the correct room quickly 

 All Consult/Exam and Treatment rooms should follow a generic pattern and design, to enable 
them to be used by a range of clinicians; there will be no dedicated rooms, instead rooms will be 
allocated based on need and demand 

 The configuration should be flexible to allow consultation areas to be expanded or changed in line 
with future needs 

 For out of hours and less busy periods, there should be an ability to ‘close down’ areas of the 
consultation suite which are not in use  

 All Consult/Exam and Treatment rooms should have a handwash sink, clinical couch, desk and 
relevant IT points and screening for patient privacy when changed/undressed 

 As a minimum, Consult/Exam rooms should have dual-sided access to the patient couch 

 The Consult/Exam rooms used for clinical training will be slightly larger, to potentially 
accommodate both the trainee and a qualified member of staff as well as the patient(s) and 
escorts 

 All treatment rooms should have appropriate air changes, in line with current NHS standards 

 The staff WCs should be located to allow access from the consultation suite  

 Clean and dirty utility rooms should be easily accessible to the consultation suite; both rooms will 
be strictly staff-only and will therefore have restricted access 

 Pharmacy products will be stored in the clean utility. 

3| Scope of service  
As mentioned in section 1.1, a key requirement of this commission was to test and confirm the 

existing Wonford Green GP Practice partners’ desire and intention to relocate from their existing 

premises to new facility (the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub) and determine a schedule of their 

needs for this relocation. 

Section 1.1. documents the Wonford Green Surgery partners desire and enthusiasm for a potential 

relocation to the new Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub. It also addresses their concerns regarding 

the potential services that may be included within the Hub, and the practice’s financial concerns that 

would need to be favourably addressed before partners could commit to relocating to a new Wonford 

Health and Wellbeing Hub. Based on positive engagement to date with the Wonford Green Surgery 

partners, the scope of service within the proposed Primary Care Centre consists of the relocated 

Wonford Green Surgery practice. 

In addition, more widespread engagement with local commissioner and provider stakeholders has 

identified significant current levels of interest levels regarding other services that could potentially be 

delivered from the Primary Care Centre of a new hub. As the focus of this commission is not to 

Page 93



 

  9  

develop a detailed brief for services other than the Wonford Green GP practice, we have provided a 

high level overview of these health and care services within the appendix. These services include: 

 Health and wellbeing community suite 

 Mental health: Integrated physical and mental health service for adults and children (provided by 
Devon Partnership NHS Trust) 

 Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust (RDE) services: 

 Maternity locality teams (Central and Beacon)  

 Community Integrated Health and Care teams (East and Central) 

 Ambulatory Nursing Team base 

 Musculoskeletal community services  

 Bladder and bowel services: Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust 

 Sexual Health (C-card scheme) 

 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) 

 Health Visitor Team 

 Bariatric Services 

3.1 Exclusions 
The following specific services have been addressed by stakeholders and discounted for potential 

inclusion within the primary care centre. 

3.1.1 Other GP practice(s) 
At this stage, there has not been any other GP practice which has expressed an interest in co-locating 

in the PCC.   

Similarly, at this stage the Eastern Exeter Primary Care Network (PCN) has not indicated that it would 

wish to use the PCC as a base for their Directed Enhanced Service (DES).  However, there is potential 

for this requirement to change, therefore the facility should be sufficiently flexible to incorporate the 

PCN’s requirements. 

3.1.2 Community dentistry 
Stakeholders are of the view that although there is generally under provision of community dentistry 
in Exeter, there would not be a requirement for additional capacity within the PCC. 

3.1.3 Sexual health services 
Apart from the C-card service considered to be incorporated within General Practice, specific sexual 
health services will not be provided from the PCC. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 

  10  

Part B: PCC service description 
This section sets out the key service requirements for the main PCC services (the relocated Wonford 

Green Surgery General Practice). 

4| General Practice 
4.1 Scope of Service 
4.1.1 Introduction 
The Wonford Green Practice is a member of Exeter Primary Care. The Practice aims to: 

 Maintain and develop high quality primary care services for the people of Exeter 

 Help the local community to improve their health and wellbeing and to support patients when 
they are ill 

 Encourage people to use the wider health and social care system as efficiently and effectively as 
possible. 

The Wonford Green GP partners are strongly committed to addressing the health and wellbeing 

needs of their community through a social model of health, recognising the importance of addressing 

the wider determinants of health and supporting opportunities to enable them to flourish.  They are 

therefore very enthusiastic about the potential that co-location with the Health Hub might bring. 

4.1.2 Service Scope 
The Wonford Green practice provides General Practice services to approximately 6,000 patients 

(estimate as of August 2019) from the Wonford, St Loyes, Heavitree, and parts of Whipton areas of 

the city of Exeter.  The services offered include: 

 GP and nurse clinic consultations: supported by Health Care Assistant and Phlebotomist clinics 

 Community services: the practice has a dedicated team, including experienced district nurses, 
health visitors, midwives and physiotherapists 

 District Nurses2: associated with the practice provide nursing care at home for those patients who 
are too ill to attend the surgery or are bedridden. They are experts in the treatment of leg ulcers. 

 Community midwifery team: this team provide weekly antenatal clinics at the surgery. They work 
closely with the GPs to care for women during pregnancy and provide post-delivery community 
postnatal care 

 Physiotherapy: a twice weekly 'drop in' clinic is provided; patients require a GP referral to attend 
this clinic  

 Secondary care: the GPs have good relationships with colleagues at the Royal Devon and Exeter 
Hospital (RDE), enabling them to effectively manage referrals 

 Practice Nursing Team: nurses provide a comprehensive range of services at the practice, 
including: 

                                                           
2 The practice shares District Nurses with the Isca Medial Practice 

Page 95



 

  11  

 Cervical smear testing 

 Blood tests 

 ECGs 

 Dressings 

 Childhood immunisations 

 Asthma (respiratory disease) 

 Diabetes and Coronary Heart 
Disease advice 

 Travel vaccinations 

 Smoking cessation 

 Contraceptive advice 

 Ear syringing 

 Diet advice 

 Travel vaccinations 

 Immunisations and blood 
pressure. 

 

 Community services: the services offered at Wonford Green practice currently include: 

 Community midwifery (2x maternity clinics 
per week) 

 Talkworks (a free, confidential, NHS talking 
therapy service for adults, offering 
effective treatments and therapies, 
including Cognitive Behavioural Therapy) 

 C card scheme (to be confirmed) 

 Community physiotherapy 

 Family support worker 

 Diabetic retinopathy and abdominal aortic 
aneurysm screening (Ultrasound) 

The practice is also a training practice and as such offers teaching appointments. 

4.2 Service Parameters 
4.2.1 Activity 
The practice list currently consists of around 6,000 patients. These patients are from the Wonford, St 

Loyes, Heavitree and parts of Whipton. 

The practice patient list has experienced considerable recent growth; around 1,000 additional 

patients were registered over the 18 month period from c. Feb 2018 to August 2019.  

This growth predominantly was a result of the practice offering same day appointments, which has 

resulted in an inflow of patients moving their registration to Wonford from Cranbrook, due to being 

unable to get appointments in Cranbrook.   

Future activity projections 

High level income and expenditure modelling for the Primary Care Centre has been undertaken as 

part of this commission (refer to Part C of this document). This modelling indicates the following 

growth in Wonford Green Surgery practice activity (shown predominantly in 5 year increments) from 

2019 to 2045 (c. 25 years post commissioning of the new Wonford Health and Wellbeing facility). 

 

 Year (predominantly 5 year increments) 

 2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 2044 2045 

Practice patient list size 6059 6260 6508 
 

6700 
 

6849 
 

6989 
 

7017 
 

Total consultations/year 31,871 32,929 
 

34,235 
 

35,243 
 

36,027 
 

36,764 
 

36,911 
 

 

Page 96



 

  12  

Year on year growth in practice patient list size is based on population growth projections for Exeter. 

Activity is determined by patient list size, and the assumption that the average access rate per patient 

is 5.26 attendances per annum (as per Health Building Note 11-01). 

High level modelling indicates that, from 2019 to 2045, the Wonford Green Surgery list size and 

patient activity each grow by c.16%. These activity numbers have been used to determine key 

functional content requirements. The activity numbers and assumptions underpinning this high level 

modelling will require further review and amendment at later stages of the project. 

4.2.2 Hours of operation 
Core practice hours are indicated below. The practice also provides some out of hours appointments 

on some evenings and Saturday mornings on a rota basis. This equates to approximately 40 hours per 

week of available patient consultation time per consulting room. Outside of these times, out of hours 

medical cover will be provided by Devon Doctors On Call (DDOC).  Home visits by GPs may be 

provided based on acuity and GP availability. 

Role Hours available 

Practice opening times Monday – Friday, 08:30 – 18:00 

GP consultation times Monday – Friday, 08:30 – 12:30 and 14:30 – 17:30 

Nurses Monday – Friday, 09:00 – 17:30 

Healthcare Assistants Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Thursdays, 09.00 – 16:30 

Phlebotomist Mondays 09:00 – 12:00 and Fridays 10:45 – 12:45 

Practice Nurse clinics Monday – Friday, 09:00 – 17:30 

Health Care Assistant Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Thursdays, 09:00 – 16:30 

 

It is possible that in the future, the GP and general opening hours could be extended, for example to 

08:00 – 20:00, 7-days per week  

GP appointments 

The surgery operates a ‘phone on the day’ appointment system for doctor appointments. A small 

number of pre-bookable appointments are available up to 2 weeks in advance for those who may find 

these more convenient. 

Nurse and phlebotomist appointments 

The appointments are booked in advance, not on the same day.  

4.2.3 Staffing 
The Practice has a full community team with experienced district nurses, health visitors, midwives and 

physiotherapists. 

Role Headcount FTE 

GPs   

Nurses   

Healthcare Assistants   

Phlebotomist   

Health Visitors   

Midwifes   

 

ETL: Staffing numbers to be provided by the Practice at a later stage of the project 

Page 97



 

  13  

4.3 Functional Content 
The proposed key functional content for the GP practice (projected to the year 2045) is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Consult/Exam room (standard) 3 

Consult/Exam room (large) 2 

Treatment room 2 

 

The above functional content is based on best practice primary care operational assumptions, which 

likely do not align with those currently utilised by the Wonford Green Surgery practice. 

Further refinement of the functional content modelling will be required at later stages of the project 

when there is a firm commitment from the Wonford Green Surgery practice to relocate following 

confirmation, by Exeter City Council, of the progression of the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub 

scheme. 

A detailed schedule of accommodation for the GP practice requirements within the new facility is 

shown below. It provides and indicative spatial requirement (m²), based on projected stakeholder 

need.   

Page 98



 

  14  

 

 

4.4 Functional Relationships 
4.4.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intra-departmental relationships are set out in the diagram below. This model splits the 

facility into the following zones: 

 Arrival and Waiting: the area where patients arrive, are logged and wait for their appointment; this 
may include some self-diagnostic facilities such as height, weight, BMI etc 

 Face-to-Face Consultation: a suite of flexible-use consulting and treatment rooms, with shared 
interview/counselling rooms (also accessible from arrival and waiting zone)  

Page 99



 

  15  

 Virtual Consultations and Triage, Admin and Management: a flexible office environment for staff 
only (no patient access) – primarily open-plan desking, including a virtual consultation area for 
remote consultation (e.g. telephone triage, diagnosis and advice). This area also includes the staff 
facilities such as staff rest area 

 FM and Clinical Support: support areas such as the clean and dirty utilities, etc. (no patient access) 
– shared with other services. 

There are opportunities for whole spaces within the practice to be shared with other services (e.g. 

mental health). 

The diagram below shows the indicative internal relationships: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

  16  

4.5 Flows 
4.5.1 Patient/ service user 
The patient flows are as set out below. 

 

The description below is based on a current typical primary care model. At later stages of the project, 

further input from Wonford Green Surgery partners will be required to define and agree the required 

model of care projected for c. 2045.  

Booking and Triage 

It is anticipated that in the future, many patients may be triaged remotely; the exact model of care 

has not been determined at this stage, therefore an indicative model is outlined below. 

The surgery primarily operates a ‘phone on the day’ appointment system for doctor appointments. A 

small number of pre-bookable appointments are available up to 2 weeks in advance for those who 

may find these more convenient. 

Patients will be able to book appointments either by calling and speaking to practice reception staff, 

or remotely, using either online access (including an App), or via phone.  Some patients may be 

referred via NHS 111. 

The typical pre-consultation process will be a two-stage contact: 

 Stage 1 – initial call: Routine requests (e.g. repeat prescriptions) will be dealt with by the admin 
staff, without needing a clinical input; however, where a more complex clinical assessment is 
required, patients will be arranged a call-back by a clinician, after answering a few questions about 
their condition 

 Stage 2 – Clinical Triage: patients whose condition warrants clinical consultation will be called back 
as arranged by a member of the clinical team, from the Triage/Remote Consultation area in the 
practice.  Many patients will be able to be treated remotely, with prescriptions (etc.) sent 

Page 101



 

  17  

electronically.  However, a proportion of patients will require a face-to-face appointment, which 
will be booked at the time of the call, typically the same day. (see below) 

Arrival and reception  

Patients attending for face-to-face consultation will arrive via the main entrance, and their arrival will 

be logged either by self-check-in booths or by reception.  The reception will be staffed but will 

provide a ‘proactive’ model, which will assist patients with the use of self-check-in and advise with 

specific queries.  However, patients will be encouraged to use the self-check-in screens. 

Patients with a booked appointment will confirm their arrival, with this information advising the 

relevant clinician that they have arrived.  A very small number may arrive who do not have an 

appointment; these will be logged and seen when staff are available (as appropriate) or redirected to 

an urgent care facility.   

Patients may be asked to check their height and weight (and potentially blood pressure) in the 

adjacent facilities, with results being taken through to the consultation.   

Patients may use a number of the ancillary adjacent facilities whilst waiting, including the multifaith 

room, WCs, infant feeding and baby change.  They will also access the health information screens to 

find out more about treatments and services.   

In some cases, patients may only need a short consultation with a GP or other clinician, or a private 

discussion (e.g. about medication), rather than a full consultation.  These will take place in the 

interview/counselling rooms, which will be accessible from the reception and waiting area.   

The interview/counselling rooms can also be used for patients presenting with a potentially infectious 

condition (although these will not be full isolation rooms with relevant air changes).   

Clinical Triage and Remote consultation  

Clinical Triage and Remote consultation will be delivered from a dedicated area, located within the 

admin staff area.  Consultations are typically held by phone (although could be using video links e.g. 

Skype).  This process will involve history taking and details of the patient’s condition by the relevant 

clinician, followed by any questions. Clinicians will discuss care options with each other during the call, 

with the following outcomes possible: 

 The patient may be advised on self-treatment and/or offered a prescription, or directed to another 
service  

 The patient is booked in for a face-to-face consultation (no patient is seen without an initial triage) 

 Occasionally, patients may be directed to attend the nearest Emergency Department (ED), with 
the practice forewarning the ED to expect them. 

Face-to-Face Consultation 

Patients who are given an appointment for a formal face-to-face consultation or treatment are 

typically seen by one of the clinical team (GP, nurse etc.).  A trainee may be present.  The 

appointment may include treatment, examination and/or prescribing. 

The patient will be called through at the time of their appointment (system for calling to be 

confirmed) and will proceed to the relevant room. 

Referrals for further treatment will be made during the consultation; this may include onward 

referrals to a hospital or other healthcare service, or a repeat appointment for the patient to come 

back to the practice for care. 

Page 102



 

  18  

ETL: stakeholders to confirm how follow-up appointments may be booked – in the consultation or at 

reception? 

Note that some clinics and consultations may be delivered by outside parties, e.g. specialist nurses, 

mental health practitioners, etc. These will be delivered in the main consultation suite; there will not 

be dedicated rooms for these services.   

Group consultation or group advisory sessions (e.g. parentcraft) will be held in the Group/MDT Room.  

This will typically include groups of up to 15-20 people. 

Consultations may include education and public health sessions, such as smoking cessation, Midwifery 

and Health Visitor clinics, and Mental Health clinics. 

Once the appointment is complete, the patient will depart via reception. 

ACTION: stakeholders to advise if special accommodation for MH services needs to be provided (e.g. C/E 

room with slightly different décor) 

Social Prescribing 

Social Prescribing will also be provided, when appropriate, within the GP practice. Social prescribing 

provides non-clinical treatment offerings for patients to manage the underlying health and/or 

wellbeing condition or need – for example, someone presenting with chest pain may have issues with 

exercise, stress, etc. which are non-medical in nature.  Social prescribing seeks to manage these issues 

by offering non-clinical interventions, such as classes, support groups, coping strategies, etc., as well 

as formal, practical support such as professional advice and pathfinding (e.g. on housing support, 

benefits, etc.)  

4.5.2 Staff 
Staff will be distributed throughout the practice; typically, their roles and flows will be: 

 Arrival and waiting: this is the area where the reception and care navigation staff work; these staff 
will manage initial contact from patients seeking care, carry out initial triage and log patient 
arrivals – although the latter will increasingly be carried out via self-check-in.  The reception and 
front-of-house staff will act as first point of contact for most patients, whether contacting the 
practice on the ‘phone or attending in person; these staff will deliver the initial ‘Triage’ of the 
patient, to identify whether they need to contact a clinician  

 Consultation (face-to-face): The Consultation and Treatment zone is where patients will have their 
face-to-face consultation and treatment with clinical staff. Clinical staff will split their time 
between here and the remote consultation and Admin and Management  

 Clinical Triage and Remote consultation: The consultation area will be used by staff for triage and 
remote consultation with patients, typically by phone; this will use a combination of one-to-one 
discussion and consultation between the clinical team on the best approach (e.g. GP querying the 
dosage for a drug or its interaction with existing patient medications)  

 Admin and Management: this zone will be for activities to support clinical care, which may involve 
clinical and non-clinical staff; this will include internal management roles, such as HR and finance. 

Staff will also use the clinical and non-clinical support areas, as well as the staff facilities such as the 

staff rest and meeting rooms. These should be easily accessible to all zones used by staff. 

Page 103



 

  19  

4.5.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external clinicians 

and trainee staff, as well as external professionals such as Pharmaceutical reps.  All visitors will report 

to reception on arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area of the practice; visitors will always be escorted by a 

member of staff.   

4.5.4 FM 
Flows  

Goods may arrive either through the main entrance or via the separate staff/FM entrance, depending 

on which is more appropriate. Larger deliveries will be expected (e.g. bulk stationary supplies), 

however some smaller deliveries (e.g. small parcels) may be less predictable. 

Waste will be held in rooms and moved to the central waste areas at regular intervals. The disposal 

hold will store main repositories of waste, ready for collection and disposal.  This waste will be 

removed through the relevant exit, adjacent to the disposal hold.   

General 

 The FM and clinical support areas will not be accessible to the public; there will be a system of 
swipe cards to control access 

 The clean and dirty utility rooms should be easily accessible to the consultation suite; both rooms 
will be strictly staff-only and will therefore have restricted access 

 Pharmacy products will be stored in the clean utility. 

Consumables and Sterile Supplies 

Consumables and sterile supplies will be delivered directly to the allocated store room. 

Waste 

Used consumables, soiled linen and clinical waste will be disposed of within the dirty utility attached 

to each service where relevant before being taken to the disposal hold in time for collection. Disposal 

holds will therefore be located with easy access to dirty utilities to support efficient and timely 

collection.  

ICT 

All patient and other clinical and non-clinical records will be held electronically; there will be no paper 

records either historic or current.  Therefore, the IM&T provision needs to be sufficiently robust to 

manage this volume of data. 

The key information flows will be: 

 Arrival zone to relevant service suite: notification of arrival of patients who have appointments  

 Arrival zone to clinical system: any data provided and alerts of key additional needs (e.g. ‘flu jabs, 
asthma check-ups, etc.)  

 Relevant clinical service to relevant Admin and Management: updates to patient records during 
and following consultation  

 Patients to practitioners: for remote consultation and Triage 

 Patients to reception: for appointments and booking, as well as queries 

The IM&T provision will allow interconnectivity between various systems, allowing (for example) the 

machines at arrival to communicate with the main clinical system (e.g. to alert patients of the need to 

get certain treatments or check-ups, e.g. ‘flu jabs).  Other data including health information and 

Page 104



 

  20  

relevant websites may be suggested; therefore, the systems should allow this flexibility within their 

programming. 

All areas where IM&T are used should provide appropriate safeguards of this data, including design to 

prevent patient details being overheard (e.g. at reception). 

Note that literacy may be an issue for some patients; it would be an advantage if the machines could 

‘talk’ to patients as well as display data.   

There should be Wi-Fi throughout the whole building, including a separate open channel for patients 

and visitors to the secure network for handling clinical and non-clinical data.  

Equipment 

The majority of equipment used will be mobile equipment, which will either remain in the relevant 

rooms or will be stored as appropriate. 

4.6 Design Requirements 
4.6.1 General 
 The configuration of the practice should allow easy access for patients to the wider wellbeing 

services (e.g. non-healthcare services) 

 Natural light is essential in the arrival zone, the consultation rooms and all staff working areas; 
however, it is not needed in WCs, utilities and stores 

 The meeting/MDT room should be accessible to both the patients and staff areas, as it will be used 
for larger patient-facing sessions (e.g. antenatal classes) and staff purposes (e.g. practice meetings 
and training)  

 There should be Wi-Fi throughout the building, with separate channels available for patients and 
staff (the latter being secure as it will hold clinical records, etc.)  

 Wherever possible, the environment should be configured to minimise the sense of being in a 
clinical environment, both in terms of décor and the fittings (although this should not compromise 
either clinical service delivery or infection control) 

 The signposting and wayfinding throughout the unit should be simple and clear, and suitable for 
non-English speakers – potentially, symbols and colours/shading for different areas will be more 
appropriate than written signs. 

4.6.2 Specific requirements 
Arrival and Waiting 

 All patients should have to attend via the machines in the arrival zone, with a Care/Wellbeing 
Navigator helping as required  

 The arrival zone should be non-threatening and should not present a barrier to interaction with 
staff; it should be easily identifiable but encourage patients to use the screens 

 There should be a separate children’s play and wait area in the main waiting area, with 
appropriate décor and toys, etc. This should be clearly identifiable and allow parents and carers to 
supervise their children at all times  

 Patient ancillary facilities such as WCs, infant feeding and baby change should all be located 
adjacent to the main waiting area, clearly identifiable.  These areas should also be accessible from 
the consultation rooms suite 

 The baby feeding room should contain soft furnishings, with a domestic-like ambience, a nursing 
chair and a handwash sink (this will be a ‘breast feeding friendly’ facility in line with the UNICEF 
Breast Feeding Initiative) 

Page 105



 

  21  

 There should be information screens available to patients to access information about services 
both within the practice and offered elsewhere (e.g. Local Authority, etc.).  these should be readily 
identifiable and easy to use 

 The waiting area should offer a welcoming and calming ambience, with a range of furniture types 
including some designed for bariatric patients. Audio-Visual equipment will be provided for patient 
distraction e.g. news channels, etc.  

 Any audio-visual, patient information or other interactive facility should not interfere with the 
patient calling system, which will call patients to their appointment 

 The patient call system will take into account all user abilities, including those with hearing and/or 
visual impairment  

 There should be interview/counselling rooms located close to the main wait, which allow access to 
the consultation suite also. These will be used not just for short interviews but also for quick 
consultations with patients, and also as isolation rooms for potentially infectious patients. 
Therefore, these rooms should be equipped with handwash sinks 

 Patients may come with one or more escorts (e.g. family members, relatives, friend/colleague) 

 Health information should be displayed in the waiting area using screens, rather than leaflets (this 
makes it easier to update and maintain).  This could be integrated with any display for patient 
entertainment such as rolling news, etc. etc. 

 There will be direct access from the waiting area to the interview rooms and group rooms. 

Face-to-face consultation  

 The Consultation suite should be configured to make patient navigation easy, so that patients can 
find the correct room quickly 

 All Consult/Exam and Treatment rooms should follow a generic pattern and design, to enable 
them to be used by a range of clinicians; there will be no dedicated rooms, instead rooms will be 
allocated based on need and demand 

 The configuration should be flexible to allow consultation areas to be expanded or changed in line 
with future needs 

 For out of hours and less busy periods, there should be an ability to ‘close down’ areas of the 
consultation suite which are not in use  

 All Consult/Exam and Treatment rooms should have a handwash sink, clinical couch, desk and 
relevant IT points and screening for patient privacy when changed/undressed 

 As a minimum, Consult/Exam rooms should have dual-sided access to the patient couch 

 The Consult/Exam rooms used for clinical training will be slightly larger, to potentially 
accommodate both the trainee and a qualified member of staff as well as the patient(s) and 
escorts 

 All treatment rooms should have appropriate air changes, in line with current NHS standards 

 The staff WCs should be located to allow access from the consultation suite 

 Patients should be able to exit the practice discreetly, without passing through the waiting area, 
for example should they have had bad news and are distressed.   

Virtual consultation and triage  

 The virtual consultation and triage space will be located with the workstation areas; this area will 
not be accessible to the public; there will be a system of swipe cards to control access 

Page 106



 

  22  

 The virtual consultation and triage space should have direct access (horizontal or vertical) to the 
reception staff in the arrival zone, to allow staff to assist with any queries from patients at 
reception 

 The area should be configured so that it could be converted to clinical use in the future and create 
a seamless, expanded clinical zone.  Therefore, this area should have a close adjacency to the 
consultation suite – this increases flexibility of service delivery and allows for scaling up and down 
of capacity in the future 

 This space should give each clinician using it auditory and visual privacy, so that they cannot be 
easily overheard/overlooked – this also ensures patient privacy; however, the design should also 
enable staff to interact and discuss treatment options with colleagues 

 Each clinical space should be equipped with appropriate headset, two large computer screens and 
relevant IT equipment (keyboard, mouse, etc.) 

 The facility will be used by a number of different user types (Nurses, GPs, Pharmacists, etc.) 
therefore the interfaces should be flexible to allow various types of IT equipment (laptops, tablets, 
etc.) 

 Consideration should be given to the use of ‘egg-pods’ for video consultation (e.g. KPMG offices) 

Admin and Management 

 The Admin and Management areas will not be accessible to the public; there will be a system of 
swipe cards to control access 

 These areas should allow direct access to the Group/MDT room, which will be used for meetings  

 The accommodation for staff will include mostly open plan desking, with appropriate offices for 
Practice Manager staff – these will also be used for more private conversations (one to ones, etc.) 

 The Triage/Remote Consultation zone should be directly adjacent   

 There will be a central accessible area for IT and printing needs, used by all staff 

 The area should have access to the Interview rooms (adjacent to reception) 

 The Group room should have an adjacent store for equipment, and access to the WCs and Baby 
Change and Feeding rooms; the Group room may require a moveable partition (to be confirmed) 

 The Staff WCs should be located to allow access from the consultation suite 

 The staff rest and kitchen will be a focal point for the practice, and a key part of its ethos. This area 
will include a full, domestic style kitchen (including cooking and food storage facilities). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



 

  23  

Part C: 25 year business plan model  

5| Projected annual incomes and expenditures 
High level modelling has been undertaken to estimate annual incomes and expenditures for the 

Primary Care Centre (the relocated Wonford Green GP Surgery service) element of the Wonford 

Health and Wellbeing Hub. 

Projections have been forecast over a 25 year period following anticipated commissioning (c. 2021) of 

a new Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub. 

The key sections of the model are described below. 

5.1 Activity and functional content requirements 
GP activity (patient consultations) has been projected over the period 2019-2045 using the following 

methodology. 

5.1.1 Practice list size 
 The 2019 Wonford Green GP surgery patient list size (baseline) was obtained from reported NHS 

Digital sources 

 Growth in patient list size from 2019-2045 was modelled using Office for National Statistics 

assumptions on population growth rates for Exeter over that period of time 

(https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationpr

ojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandz1) 

 Year on year growth rates (across all ages) over this period range from 0.4 - 0.8% per annum 

 As ONS population projections for Exeter only extend to 2041, the 2040 – 2041 growth rate 

(0.4%) has been applied for the remaining years of the model (2042 - 2045) 

 These growth rates were applied to the practice list size to project list size from 2019 - 2045 

5.1.2 Activity (patient consultations) 
The total number of patient consultations per year were modelled as follows: 

 Patient access rate (number of occasions each patient receives GP consultation services per year): 

this assumption is as per Health Building Note 11-01 Facilities for primary and community care 

services – an access rate of 5.26 consultations per year for each patient 

 Total patient consultations per year were derived from the above access rate and the patient list 

size over the 2019 – 2045 period 

5.1.3 Key functional content (consult/exam rooms) 
The following best practice primary care service assumptions (commencing from year 1 (2021) of the 

scheme) have been applied to determine consult/exam room requirements: 

 Average patient appointment time (hours) – 0.25 (15 mins) 

 Working weeks per year - 50 

 Working hours per week - 60 (includes evening and weekend clinic sessions) 

 Target room utilisation (for patient facing activity) - 75%  

Page 108



 

  24  

Based on these assumptions and the corresponding level of projected GP activity, the key functional 

content (consult/exam room) requirement ranges from 4 – 5 rooms, from 2021 to 2045. 

It is our understanding that these assumptions do not currently align with current operational 

parameters employed by the Wonford Green Surgery practice, and likely explain the current 

requirement for 6 consult/exam rooms within the Wonford Green Surgery. Some key differences 

being: 

 Working hours per week – typically 40 hours per week (includes some evening and weekend clinics 

on an ad hoc basis) 

 Actual room utilisation (for patient facing activity) - 63%  

These assumptions above (based on current practice) are used within the model for years 2019/2020 

(prior to commissioning of the new facility) to demonstrate how the key functional content 

(consult/exam room) requirement is reduced (currently from 6.1 rooms to 4 rooms) upon 

implementation of more clinic sessions and increased utilisation of consult/exam rooms for patient 

facing clinical activity.  

Should the scheme progress, further discussion with Wonford Surgery GP partners would be required 

to validate and agree the assumptions around models of care, hours of operation for the GP service, 

and the potential workforce and lifestyle implications associated with this model. 

5.2 Income from patient activity 
Baseline patient activity income data for the Wonford Green Surgery practice was obtained from NHS 

Direct (NHS Payments to General Practices – England, 2018/19) (https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-

information/publications/statistical/nhs-payments-to-general-practice/england-2018-19). 

The average payment per registered patient (minus deductions for Pensions, Levies and Prescription 

Charge Income) (£124.50 for the Wonford Green Surgery practice) was used as a baseline for year on 

year income projections. 

An annual growth in payment per registered payment of 1% has been applied to determine year on 

year income payments up to 2045; this assumption will require review and validation at later stages 

of the project. 

The above payment, and the practice list size, have been used to determine the ‘Total NHS Payments 

to General Practice (minus deductions for Pensions, Levies and Prescription Charge Income)’ from 

2018 (baseline of £714,381) to 2045 (projected total income of £1,142,912). 

5.3 Expenditure 
The following assumptions have been made to inform expenditure (up to 2045) for the primary care 

element of the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub. These assumptions will require review and 

validation at later stages of the scheme. 

 The new facility will be fully operational in 2021 

 The Gross Internal Area (GIA) for the Primary Care Centre is 634 m2 

 This GIA reflects the number of consult/exam rooms and treatment rooms required for 

modelled patient activity in 2045 

 Modelling indicates a relatively small growth (from 4 – 5 in key rooms and area required from 

year 1 to 2045; consequently, we assume that all consult exam rooms would be built from year 

Page 109



 

  25  

1, however an alternative option would be to provide shell space for these rooms that could be 

fitted out when required due to increases in patient activity 

 For year 1 (2021) of the scheme, the following expenditure £/m2 values have been assumed: 

 The rent value is estimated at £200/m2 

 Business rates are estimated at £75/m2 

 Service charge is estimated at £50/m2 

 Utilities charge is estimated at £14/m2 

 The above equate to a total expenditure of £339/m2 

 As an indication of expenditure inflation, we have applied a year on year inflation rate of 2.4% 

(based on the current Retail Price Index growth rate) to the total yearly £/m2 value  

5.4 Summary – income and expenditure projections 
Twenty five year summary income and expenditure projections for the Primary Care Centre element 
of the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub are shown below. 

 

 
 

Based on current assumptions and a Primary Care Centre scheme of c. 634 m2 GIA, the modelling 
indicates that the Wonford Green Surgery tenants would generate enough revenue to service the 
building costs and provide a surplus of between £572,138 (year 1) and £763,170 (year 25 – 2045). 
These figures do not consider any rent reimbursement scenarios. 

5.5 Potential funding options for the facility 
An overview of potential funding options for a new Primary Care element of the Wonford Health and 

Wellbeing Centre is provided below. 

5.5.1 Conventional NHS capital 
The NHS Long Term Plan emphasises increasing the focus and spend on primary and community 

healthcare provision (as a proportion of the whole), which implies that more capital funding will be 

allocated to projects such as the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub, rather than to acute schemes.                              

While the current political uncertainty means there is nothing explicit in relation to future NHS 

YEAR Year 2019 2020 2021 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045

Practice list size 6059 6100 6136 6309 6555 6731 6878 7017

Total number consultations per year 31,871        32,088        32,275        33,186        34,477        35,405        36,179        36,911           

Consult/Exam rooms required 7.0           7.0           4.0           4.0           4.0           4.0           5.0           5.0             

Average payments per registered patient 

(minus deductions for Pensions, Levies and 

Prescription Charge Income) 125.7 127.0 128.3 133.5 140.3 147.4 155.0 162.9

Annual growth in payment 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

Total NHS Payments to General Practice 

Minus Deductions 761,889     774,759     787,064     842,133     919,535     992,435     1,065,857   1,142,912     

Year new facility is operational Year 1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15 Year 20 Year 25

Total £/m2 (inlation adjusted) 373 420 472 532 599

Total m2 (GIA) 634 634 634 634 634 634

Total expenditure (£) 214,926   236,314   266,066   299,564   337,279   379,742     

Year 1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15 Year 20 Year 25

Total income (£) 787,064     842,133     919,535     992,435     1,065,857   1,142,912     

Total expenditure (£) 214,926     236,314     266,066     299,564     337,279      379,742        

Balance (£) 572,138   605,819   653,469   692,871   728,578   763,170     

ACTIVITY

INCOME

EXPENDITURE

Summary

Page 110



 

  26  

funding, the health elements of an integrated health and wellbeing hub (with a range of social 

interventions, community and mental health services wrapped with primary care serving both the 

Wonford community and wider eastern Exeter) might be prioritised for: 

 Primary Care capital funding (i.e. whatever successor there may be to the Estate and Technology 

Transformation Fund programme) 

 NHS general capital (i.e. whatever the appropriate successor would be to the 2018 Wave 4 STP 

capital funding.  

5.5.2 Local authority borrowing 
Local authority borrowing, while significantly impacted by the recent increases in interest rates, is 

significantly cheaper than alternative borrowing options, such as debt funding. If a long-term lease 

can be negotiated with the health system/integrated care system, the rent to be charged on that may 

more than meet the council’s cost of borrowing capital. 

5.5.3 Joint venture development site 
The proposed development site may provide opportunities for a multi-use development, including the 

provision of housing. Exeter City Council might consider entering into a Joint Venture arrangement 

with a developer for the whole site, using capital secured from the developer for housing provision to 

mitigate the capital costs associated with development of the Health and Wellbeing hub.  

Part D: Conclusions and recommendations  

6| Views of the Wonford Green Surgery partners 
A key requirement of this commission was to test and confirm the existing Wonford Green GP 

Practice partners’ desire and intention to relocate from their existing premises to the new facility (the 

Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub). Stakeholder engagement to date indicates that the partners are 

strongly committed to addressing the health and wellbeing needs of their community through a social 

model of health, recognising the importance of addressing the wider determinants of health and 

supporting opportunities to enable them to flourish.   They are therefore very enthusiastic about the 

potential redevelopment of Wonford Community and Leisure centre as an integrated Community 

Wellbeing centre, bringing together leisure provision, community-led programmes and activities with 

their GP-led wider health and wellbeing provision. 

However, the partners have several concerns relating to the financial elements of such a move that 

would require a favourable resolution before further consideration of and commitment to relocation 

to a new hub. These include: 

 Partners obtaining a suitable capital receipt for the current Wonford Green Surgery site that would 

be sufficient to cover exiting expenses (e.g. mortgage costs and loan costs for the previous 

expansion) 

 An acceptable buy-out by ECC rather than the Partners having to sell the practice premises on the 

open market 

 A long-term commitment from NHSE regarding future rent reimbursement, and a long-term 

affordable rent commitment from the Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub landlord. 

 

Page 111



 

  27  

7| Definition of the PCC element of the hub 
High level demand and capacity modelling (projected 25 years from potential commissioning of the 

facility), supported by ETL and KYMA Consulting’s experience of best practice in primary care 

provision, indicates that reprovision of the Wonford Green Surgery to a new Primary Care Centre 

would require c. 634 m2 GIA. A detailed schedule of accommodation and brief for the future Primary 

Care Centre is provided within this document.  

8| Business plan modelling appears favourable  
High level modelling has been undertaken to estimate annual incomes and expenditures for the 

Primary Care Centre (the relocated Wonford Green GP Surgery service) element of the Wonford 

Health and Wellbeing Hub. 

Based on current assumptions and a Primary Care Centre scheme of c. 634 m2 GIA, the modelling 

indicates that the Wonford Green Surgery tenants would generate enough revenue to service the 

building costs and provide a surplus of between £572,138 (year 1) and £763,170 (year 25 – 2045). 

These figures do not consider any rent reimbursement scenarios. 

9| Recommendations/next steps 
Should the scheme progress, further discussion with Wonford Surgery GP partners would be required 

to validate and agree the assumptions around future activity projections, models of care, hours of 

operation for the GP service, and the potential workforce and lifestyle implications associated with 

this model. 

Further detailed engagement with GP partners will also be required to review modelling assumptions 

for income and expenditure, and to discuss in further detail the financial concerns related to a 

potential relocation (as discussed in section 4.8 above). 

Consideration may also be given to the potential inclusion of additional services (as detailed in the 

appendix) which would augment the Primary Car Centre, consistent with the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

  28  

Appendix 1 – Other services for consideration 
This appendix provides a high level overview of the following: 

 Other health and care services that providers/commissioners have expressed a firm interest in 

being included within a new Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub 

 Key support services/zones that are required within a new facility e.g. Main entrance, FM and 

support services 

 Other services (e.g. Urgent Treatment Centre) that have been proposed by some stakeholders as 

worthy of consideration for inclusion in a new Wonford Health and Wellbeing Hub, but where 

interest/commitment for inclusion currently remains low 

The services within this appendix include: 

 Mental health 

 Maternity 

 Community Integrated Team (CIT) and Ambulatory Nursing Team (ANT): admin team bases 

 Musculoskeletal and physiotherapy 

 Bladder and bowel services 

 Health and wellbeing community suite 

 Main entrance, retail and pharmacy 

 FM and support services 

 Sexual health (C-card scheme) 

 Urgent Treatment Centre 

10| Mental Health 
10.1 Scope of Service 
10.1.1 Introduction 
Devon Partnership Trust have shown interest in relocating some of their community-based services to 

the PCC.  Many of the existing community-based approached (such as CMHTs and CAMHS) are 

fragmented due to inadequate funding and too few suitably qualified staff. However, the NHS Long 

Term Plan has brought increased funding for IAPT services (Improving Access to Psychological 

Therapies), which is currently expanding in Devon.  Therefore, the PCC could be a centre for patient 

care (primarily IAPT) and also a base for MH staff to provide a wider service to the local population.   

Devon Partnership Trust has an ethos to:  

 Promote good mental health and wellbeing in those diagnosed with a mental health problem and 
through prevention by promoting and supporting mental health and wellbeing to the wider 
community 

 Deliver consistently high quality, recovery-focused care and treatment and to ensure services are 
driven by the voices of the people who use them 

 Challenge discrimination and stigma and champion recovery, inclusion and wellbeing 

 Strive for mental health and learning disability services to be understood and valued in the same 
way as physical health services 

Page 113



 

  29  

 Use the expertise and resources within their organisation, and through partnerships, to deliver 
high quality services that are both safe and focused on people’s recovery and prevention. 

Their mission is to become a centre of excellence and expertise in the field of mental health and 

learning disability by 2021. 

10.1.2 Service Scope 
The service will be a pilot for an integrated model of mental and physical health, for adults and 

children, provided by a multidisciplinary team of mental health specialists covering both primary and 

secondary care.  

The service will be integrated within the GP practice in the PCC but will also work with voluntary 

community service partners (such as Alzheimer’s Society, Pete’s Dragons etc). There also is a drive to 

have a high involvement in Exeter’s Social Prescribing Model. 

The services likely to be offered by Devon Partnership Trust are as follows: 

 Community and urgent care mental health services 

 Perinatal services 

 Liaison psychiatry 

 Talking health for long-term health conditions 

 TALKWORKS for individuals with depression and anxiety 

 Services for older people with organic mental illness or functional mental health problems 

 Liaison and diversion, street triage and prisons for police, prisons and criminal justice 

 Adult talking therapies and psychology services 

Those services which would be delivered in the primary care centre would involve an integrated 

service between mental health and physical health, through close interaction with general practice. 

10.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Clinic room 3 

Therapy room 2 

Workstations 4 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 160 m2. 

10.3 Functional Relationships 
10.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intradepartmental relationships are set out in the diagram below: 

Page 114



 

  30  

 

10.4 Flows 
10.4.1 Service users 
The flows for individuals using the service are set out below: 

Service Users attending for a face-to-face appointment will first attend the arrival zone, shared with 

General Practice. At this point they will ‘check-in’; they may require assistance.   

Page 115



 

  31  

Some Service Users may come with one or more escorts (this may include family members (including 

children) or other relatives, or a friend/colleague). 

Service Users may use a number of the ancillary facilities whilst waiting, including the WCs, infant 

feeding and baby change. They will also access health information to find out more about treatments 

and services.  

Service Users who have an appointment for a face-to-face consultation are typically seen by one of 

the Mental Health Team (doctor, psychologist, nurse). A trainee may be present. The appointment 

may include a one-to-one consultation in a clinic room or a therapy service in the therapy room, such 

as group wellbeing sessions. Consultations may include education and public health sessions. 

Referrals for further treatment will be made during the consultation; this may include onward 

referrals to a hospital or other healthcare service, such as General Practice, or a repeat appointment 

for the Service User to come back for further care. 

Note that some clinics and consultations may be delivered by outside parties, e.g. social workers, 

psychologists, etc.  

Group consultation or group advisory sessions will be held in either the therapy rooms or there will be 

access to the meeting room, depending on numbers: these sessions may include groups of up to 15-

20 people. 

10.4.2 Staff 
Typically, staff roles and flows will be: 

 Arrival and waiting: this is the area where the reception and greeting staff work, whose primary 
roles are to manage and log patient arrivals – which will increasingly be via self-check-in. The 
reception and front-of-house staff will act as first point of contact for most patients, whether 
contacting the practice on the phone or attending in person 

 Community mental health staff base: The workstation area will be used by staff involved in 
community based mental health work. As these staff members will be using the space on an ad 
hoc basis, this will function as a hot-desk area for space efficiencies to maximise utilisation 

 Clinic rooms (face-to-face): The clinic room space is where patients will have their face-to-face 
consultation with clinical staff and will only be accessible for patients with appointments 

 Therapy rooms: this zone will be for activities to promote mental health, it may involve group 
therapy sessions, which may involve a multidisciplinary team who may be based in the other 
services within the primary care centre. 

Staff will also use the clinical and non-clinical support areas, as well as the staff facilities such as the 

staff rest and meeting rooms. These should be easily accessible to all zones used by staff. 

10.4.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external professionals 

such as psychotherapists, psychologists and also trainee staff. All visitors will report to reception on 

arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area of the practice; visitors will be escorted by a 

member of staff at all times.   

10.4.4 FM 
See separate section (below) 

Page 116



 

  32  

10.5 Design Requirements 
10.5.1 General 

 The configuration should allow easy access for patients to the wider wellbeing services (e.g. non-
healthcare services) 

 Natural light is essential in the arrival zone, clinic and therapy rooms and all staff working areas; 
however, it is not needed in WCs 

 Wherever possible, the environment should be configured to minimise the sense of being in a 
clinical environment, both in terms of décor and the fittings (although this should not compromise 
either clinical service delivery) 

 The signposting and wayfinding throughout the unit should be simple and clear, and suitable for 
non-English speakers – potentially, symbols and colours/shading for different areas will be more 
appropriate than written signs. 

10.5.2 Specific 
Arrival and Waiting 

See relevant section (below) 

Consultation suite  

 Familiar and non-institutional materials should be used, with varied colours and textures 

 The consultation rooms should provide adequate separation and sound insulation to prevent 
confidential but loud conversation from traveling beyond clinic rooms and group therapy rooms 

 The rooms should be suitable for a variety of uses, maximising the flexibility of the unit by allowing 
them to be also used for physical or other health and wellbeing services. 

11| Maternity Services 
11.1 Scope of Service 
11.1.1 Introduction 
The ‘Better Births’ strategy proposes that services should be provided in the community where 

possible, rather than in hospital settings3. The guidance suggests a model of community hubs, where 

ante- and post-natal maternity services are provided alongside other family-orientated health and 

social services.  The hubs will of course also work closely with their local obstetric and neonatal 

unit(s). 

11.1.2 Philosophy of Care 
The maternity service will follow a model of care in line with Better Births4, and offer: 

 Personalised care, centred on the woman, her baby (babies) and her family, based around their 
needs and their decisions, where they have genuine choice, informed by unbiased information 

                                                           
3 National Maternity Review https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf 
4 ibid 

Page 117



 

  33  

 Safe care, with professionals working together across boundaries to ensure rapid referral, and 
access to the right care in the right place 

 Better postnatal and perinatal mental health care, to address the historic underfunding and 
provision in these two vital areas, which can have a significant impact on the life chances and 
wellbeing of the woman, baby (babies) and family 

 Multi-professional working, breaking down barriers between midwives, obstetricians and other 
professionals to deliver safe and personalised care for women and their babies 

 Working across boundaries to provide and commission maternity services to support 
personalisation, safety and choice, with access to specialist care whenever needed 

 Support for commissioners to commission for personalisation, safety and choice. 

The historical model involved midwife co-location with health visitors, which was a successful model 

as it enabled a joined-up approach and affective handover between the midwife and health visitor. 

This is now not the case and health visitors are based elsewhere (Franklin House). There is a local 

drive to reinforce this integrated model. 

11.1.3 Service Scope 
Maternity services from in Exeter are establishing a network of hubs to provide maternity services in a 

community setting. Currently there are three maternity locality teams covering Exeter: Central 

(Wonford Hospital), Beacon (Heavitree Hospital) and West Exe (West Exe Children’s Centre), who 

ideally would be located in a hub for each area.  

It has been proposed that the Central Team from Wonford Hospital could relocate to the PCC. 

Additionally, given the unfavourable current accommodation for the Beacon Team, there is a 

possibility that they may also move into the primary care centre. 

The service will focus on ante- and postnatal care. In the antenatal period, a pregnant woman usually 

attends for care and screening tests at a local site, rather than a hospital. She may also attend for 

parenthood and health education sessions. If she requires more specialist antenatal care (e.g. for a 

high-risk birth), she will be referred from the community to a consultant led unit. 

11.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows (based on both the Beacon and Central Team moving): 

Room type Number 

Consult exam rooms 6 

Ultrasound room 3 

Phlebotomy 1 

Interview room 2 

Workstations 10 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 390 m2. 

 

 

Page 118



 

  34  

11.3 Functional Relationships 
11.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intradepartmental relationships are set out in the diagram below.  

 

 

Page 119



 

  35  

11.4 Flows 
11.4.1 Patients/ service users 
The flow for women using the service are as set out below. 

Women attending for an appointment will first attend the arrival zone, checking in as for other 

patients and then will be directed to the maternity zone  

Some women may come with one or more escorts, most probably a partner but may also include 

family members (including children) or other relatives, or a friend/colleague. 

Women are typically seen by a midwife, and a trainee may be present. The appointment may include 

a consultation in a consult exam room, or a scan in the ultrasound room. Consultations may also 

include education and public health sessions. 

Referrals for further appointments will be made during the consultation; this may include onward 

referrals to a hospital or other healthcare service, such as General Practice, or a repeat appointment 

for the patient to come back for further care. 

Group consultation or group advisory sessions will be held in other rooms within the primary care 

centre, meaning there will be access to therapy rooms or meeting room, depending on numbers: 

these sessions may include groups of up to 15-20 people; for post-natal groups, this may also include 

babies. 

11.4.2 Staff 
Typically, staff roles and flows will be: 

 Arrival and waiting: this is the area where the reception and greeting staff work, whose primary 
roles are to manage and log patient arrivals – which will increasingly be via self-check-in. The 
reception and front-of-house staff will act as first point of contact for most women, whether 
contacting the practice on the phone or attending in person 

Page 120



 

  36  

 Community midwife staff base: The workstation area will be used by staff involved in community 
based maternity work. As these staff members will be using the space on an ad hoc basis, this will 
function as a hot-desk area for space efficiencies to maximise utilisation 

 Consult exam rooms (face-to-face): The clinic room space is where women will have their face-to-
face consultation with midwives and will only be accessible for patients with appointments 

 Ultrasound: Ultrasound examinations are an important element of most antenatal screening and 
monitoring. Some women may require more than the routine two ultrasound examinations to 
assist in the diagnosis and management of complications of pregnancy, whereas others may 
require procedures under ultrasound guidance – for example amniocentesis  

Staff will also use the clinical and non-clinical support areas, as well as the staff facilities such as the 

staff rest and meeting rooms. These should be easily accessible to all zones used by staff. 

11.4.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external professionals 

and also trainee staff. All visitors will report to reception on arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area of the practice; visitors will always be escorted by a 

member of staff.   

11.4.4 FM 
See relevant section (below)  

11.5 Design Requirements 
11.5.1 General 

 Wherever possible, the environment should be configured to minimise the sense of being in a 
clinical environment, both in terms of décor and the fittings (although this should not compromise 
either clinical service delivery or infection control) 

11.5.2 Specific 

 The waiting area should have a welcoming and informal atmosphere.  Pregnant women may be 
accompanied by a partner, friend or relative and may have small children with them. The area 
should be planned so that it can be subdivided into separate waiting spaces 

 Within or adjacent to the waiting area, an information/resource space should be provided. This is 
likely to include a combination of printed and electronic media 

 The C/E rooms should be large enough to accommodate electronic monitoring and diagnostic 
equipment; however, otherwise they may be as for generic rooms 

 The design and layout of C/E rooms should ensure that the privacy and dignity of the woman is 
protected, and acoustic privacy is also important 

 The locations of rooms used for counselling should be discreet and exit routes from them should 
not pass through public or waiting areas. These rooms should provide a non-clinical environment 
for discussion with people who may be distressed 

 Ultrasound rooms should have a black-out and a dimmable lighting system for the procedures 
carried out. An examination light should be provided 

Page 121



 

  37  

 WC facilities should be provided immediately adjacent to ultrasound rooms. One WC is required 
per scanning room; one should be an accessible WC 

 Privacy in ultrasound rooms for women dressing and undressing is essential. Seating is required for 
the sonographer and the woman’s escorts (etc.) 

 Interview rooms for counselling should be located adjacent to the ultrasound rooms to avoid 
families having to walk through busy circulation areas 

 The location should allow mothers-to-be to exit without passing through the waiting area (in the 
event of bad news). 

12| Community Integrated Team (CIT) and 

Ambulatory Nursing Team (ANT) 
12.1 Scope of Service 
12.1.1 Introduction 
This section covers two, co-located administrative areas for community teams that would like to be 

based out of the PCC. 

The first is the East and Central Community Integrated Team (CIT), a joint adult Health and Social Care 

service team.  This is currently located at Whipton Hospital; the CIT has expressed interest in 

relocating to the PCC.  

For both services, the majority of their patient-facing work takes place in the home or community 

settings, meaning that the requirement in the PCC is for workspace only.  

12.1.2 Workspace model  
Workspace accommodation will be provided in line with the PCC policy (see above), which is based on 

current national guidelines and best practice.  

12.1.3 Service Scope 
The workspaces will be used for admin duties by the Therapy Team, Social Team and Nursing Team, 

currently based at Whipton Hospital (Exeter).  The team are under pressure to vacate by the end of 

the 2019/20 financial year. Whilst the PCC is not an immediate solution, an interim solution could be 

sought in the meantime.  

The service requires accommodation for up to 80 staff, assuming a workstation to staff ratio of 1:3 for 

those working in the community. There will also be dedicated workstations for administration staff 

permanently located at the facility. The teams will also require access to MDT group rooms; however, 

these need not be dedicated, and could be shared across the PCC. 

12.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Team Room type Number 

Therapy Team Dedicated workstations  2 

Hotdesks 6 

Social Care Team Dedicated workstations  2 

Page 122



 

  38  

Team Room type Number 

Hotdesks 4 

Nurses Dedicated workstations  5 

Hotdesks 13 

ANT Hotdesks 3 

Large storage room 1 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 250 m2. 

12.3 Functional Relationships 
12.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intradepartmental relationships are set out below: 

 

12.4 Flows 
12.4.1 Service users 
This is not applicable as service users will not be onsite. 

12.4.2 Staff 
Staff will arrive through either the main entrance or dedicated staff entrance and will then enter the 

access-controlled workspace areas. Staff may also access central staff amenities such as staff rest and 

change areas. Meeting and breakout spaces are also frequently used by staff, these will be located 

nearby to the workspace area. 

12.4.3 Visitors 
Any visitor to the community integrated team workspace will be required to report to the main 

reception on arrival and will always be escorted by staff whilst in the department. 

Page 123



 

  39  

12.4.4 FM 
See whole site section, below. 

12.5 Design Requirements 
12.5.1 General 
The workstation accommodation should be standardised to enable mobile working and flexible use by 

staff. The workstations should be laid out in an open plan office environment and designed to be 

impersonal and convenient for any staff member to use, and flexible working from home or 

community locations should be encouraged where possible. 

12.5.2 Specific 
ICT services 

 Each workstation should have a laptop docking port which can connect to staff devices and a 
monitor screen to reduce staff need to look at a smaller laptop screen. Both offices should have 
stable access to Trust Wi-Fi and easy access to IT support in the event of an issue. 

Access 

Entry and access control should be achieved by appropriate layout and security measures, mainly 

controlled access via swipe card at main entry points. 

Architecture, interiors and evidence-based design 

 Lighting design will suit the uses of each area, support the activities therein and the requirements 
and healthy, productive working environments. Access to natural lighting should be provided in all 
working spaces, and to the extent possible, views and access to nature 

 Acoustics will be designed in line with evidence-based design for working environments and to 
prevent noise from the adjacent meeting rooms or breakout area disrupting the workstation areas 

 Ergonomics will likewise support good health and safety 

 Spaces will achieve the maximum possible inclusiveness, accessibility to all staff and visitors, with 
safety and dignity. 

 Each workstation should have a laptop docking port which can connect to staff devices and a 
monitor screen to reduce staff need to look at a smaller laptop screen. Both offices should have 
stable access to Trust Wi-Fi and easy access to IT support in the event of an issue 

 Entry and access control should be achieved by appropriate layout and security measures, mainly 
controlled access via swipe card at main entry points. 

13| Musculoskeletal and Physiotherapy 
13.1 Scope of Service 
13.1.1 Introduction 
The RDE Musculoskeletal (MSK) and Physiotherapy Team have expressed interest in relocating into 

the PCC. The service uses a multi-disciplinary approach to help people recover from, or manage, their 

health condition in order to improve their quality of life, safety and independence. 

Page 124



 

  40  

13.1.2 Model of Care 
The model of involves an integrated, collaborative GP–physiotherapist model of MSK service delivery.  

The service uses patient-centred support for self-management, and a stratification tool that allows for 

matching of treatment to the level of risk of persistent, disabling pain.  

Those at low risk are supported with a self-management plan and those at medium and high risk are 

referred for physiotherapy, with those at high risk being offered enhanced physiotherapy, combined 

with a psychologically-informed intervention. 

13.1.3 Service Scope 
MSK conditions account for 30 per cent of GP consultations in England. Low back and neck pain are 

the greatest cause of years lost to disability in the UK, with chronic joint pain or osteoarthritis 

affecting more than 8.75 million people in the UK5.  

Some of the common MSK disorders include: 

 Rheumatism (pain in the joints caused by a variety of factors) 

 Osteoporosis (weakening of the bones) 

 Arthritis (disease of the joints) 

 Back and neck pain 

 Ligament injuries (the soft tissue which connects bones to each other) 

 Sprains, strains and over-use injuries 

 Chronic and persistent pain 

The team aims to address the high-prevalence of MSK conditions through the following services: 

 Carrying out assessments on individual needs and agree treatment goals and collaborative plans 

 Advising on strategies and techniques to help achieve daily tasks and encourage self-management 
and build confidence 

 Offering advice on equipment and home adaptations, such as grab rails and walking aids 

 Offering advice and support for carers and families 

 Constructing rehabilitation plans - this may involve the support workers or other members of the 
team 

 Providing advice, education and information on conditions  

 Providing equipment to help patients manage their condition or advice as to where patients may 
purchase this. 

When goals have been achieved or reviewed, patients are discharged from the service. To achieve 

some goals, some patients may need to be referred on to other services to continue working to 

achieve these goals - patients can be referred back to the service by their GP or another health or 

social care professional, or by self-referral. 

                                                           
5 https://www.england.nhs.uk/elective-care-transformation/best-practice-solutions/musculoskeletal/ 

Page 125



 

  41  

The team aim to: 

 Triage all clinic referrals within 30 minutes of receipt 

 Assess 95% of urgent referrals within 10 working days of receipt of referral 

 Assess 95% of routine referrals within 8 weeks of receipt of referral.  

The average waiting time to see a physiotherapist in outpatients was 15 days. 

13.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Examination / Therapy room 4 

Splint room 1 

Physiotherapy activity area 1 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 225 m2. 

13.3 Functional Relationships 
13.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships  

The key intradepartmental relationships are between the therapy area and the gym/activity area.  

 

Page 126



 

  42  

13.3.2 Interdepartmental Relationships 
The key interdepartmental relationships are: 

 Main reception  

 Pharmacy (if on site) 

 Car Park and drop off area. 

13.4 Flows 
13.4.1 Patients/ service users 
The flow for individuals using the service are as set out below. 

Patients attending for an appointment will enter through the main entrance. At this point they may 

receive assistance from a Care/Wellbeing Navigator who may direct them to the MSK and 

Physiotherapy waiting space. Once here they will ‘check-in’ on self-check-in screens; they may require 

assistance.   

Some patients may come with one or more escorts (this may include family members (including 

children) or other relatives, or a friend/colleague). 

Patients may use a number of the ancillary facilities whilst waiting, including the WCs, infant feeding 

and baby change. They will also access health information to find out more about treatments and 

services.  

Patients who have an appointment are seen by a Physiotherapist within the department; a trainee 

may be present. The appointment may involve: 

 A one-to-one consultation and/or treatment in the examination/therapy room 

 Split fitting in the splint room 

 Group or one-to-one session in the physiotherapy activity space  

Page 127



 

  43  

 Consultations may also include patient education sessions. 

Referrals for further treatment will be made during the consultation; this may include onward 

referrals to a hospital or other healthcare service, or a repeat appointment for the patient to come 

back for further care. 

Following their appointment, patients may access other amenities in the main entrance such as the 

café or pharmacy, before leaving the building. 

13.4.2 Staff 
Staff will generally enter the building either through the main entrance or dedicated staff entrance. 

They may then use the centralised staff changing facilities where they will have exchanged their 

normal clothes for clean uniform. Lockers for storage of personal effects and toilets will be provided 

within the central staff areas. 

Staff will work with patients in examination rooms, the splint room and the physiotherapy gym. Staff 

will also require access to hot desk administration space and meeting rooms, which will be shared 

with other departments and used on an ad hoc, bookable basis. 

13.4.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external professionals 

and also trainee staff. All visitors will report to reception on arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area of the practice; visitors will always be escorted by a 

member of staff.   

13.4.4 FM 
See relevant section (below).   

13.5 Design Requirements 
13.5.1 General 

 The configuration of the unit should allow easy access for patients to the wider wellbeing services 
(e.g. Mental Health, non-healthcare services) 

 The MSK patients may well be suffering from temporary or permanent mobility difficulties; 
therefore, a location that is easy to access and close to the drop off is preferable. 

 Natural light is essential in the arrival zone, the consultation rooms, the therapy area (gym) and all 
staff working areas; however, it is not needed in WCs, utilities and stores. 

13.5.2 Specific 

 The physical limitations of many people may impose special demands on internal design and 
fittings; all spaces must be suitable for non-ambulatory patients 

 The design should take into account the relevant activities undertaken; this is particularly relevant 
for ceiling height; larger spaces such as the group activity area may need higher ceilings, in order 
to allow for some therapy activities. 

 The design must allow good ventilation without draughts 

 The design must allow good observation but allow for patient privacy 

Page 128



 

  44  

 The design must provide adequate space to allow occasional re-positioning of equipment 

 In view of the mobility issues of patients, the department should be located at ground level. 

14| Bladder and Bowel Service 
14.1 Scope of Service 
14.1.1 Introduction 
Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust provides the current Bladder and Bowel Care Service, which 

may move to the PCC. This is a multi-disciplinary team of Nurses and Physiotherapists who assess and 

treat a variety of complex bladder, bowel and pelvic floor problems.  The service also provides 

education, support and advice to other healthcare professionals. The service is also responsible for 

the continence pad service for Devon. 

There are three teams across Devon and Exeter: 

 Exeter and East - based in Franklyn Hospital (likely to relocate) 

 Teignbridge/Torbay/South Devon Healthcare Trust - based in Newton Abbot Hospital 

 North Devon - based in Crown Yealm House, Pathfields Business Park 

14.1.2 Model of Care 
The Bladder and Bowel Care Service have an ethos to:  

 Provide a service that is accessible to all patients, which patients know how to access 

 Provide timely care  

 Provide a high-quality and patient-centred service  

 Provide a service that is based on best practice and evidence-based guidelines. 

14.1.3 Service Scope 
Housebound patients with bladder and bowel problems have their needs assessed by the Community 

Nursing Team from their local surgery; mobile patients are seen in outpatient clinics. 

The services provided by the service include: 

 Bladder retaining (fluid adjustment and taking control) 

 Enhanced recovery programme following bowel surgery 

 Faecal incontinence and loose stools 

 Lower urinary tract symptoms in men 

 Nocturia and nocturnal polyuria 

 Nurse-led follow up clinic for colorectal cancer  

 Pelvic floor muscles 

 Recurrent urinary tract infections 

Page 129



 

  45  

 Vulval care. 

14.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Consult Exam 2 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 75 m2. 

14.3 Functional Relationships 
14.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intradepartmental relationships are set out below: 

 

14.3.2 Interdepartmental Relationships 
The key interdepartmental relationships are with the main entrance and the car park, recognising that 

many of the patients may be older people and/or have potentially limited mobility. 

Page 130



 

  46  

14.4 Flows 
14.4.1 Service users 
The flow for individuals using the service are as set out below. 

Before their initial appointment, patients will be sent a questionnaire and a bladder or bowel diary to 

be completed and returned. Once the completed questionnaire is received by the service the patient 

is invited to make an appointment. 

Initial appointments can either be face-to-face in the clinic or by telephone. Initial face-to-face 

consultations can take up to 45 minutes and telephone consultations 20 minutes. 

During the clinic appointment the clinician will: 

 Discuss bladder or bowel problems and look at the patients’ bladder or bowel diary 

 Assess symptoms 

 Carry out a bladder scan (to indicate how much urine is in the bladder) or test urine if necessary 

 Perform an internal vaginal or rectal examination if necessary (the clinician will ask for consent 
beforehand) 

 Discuss information about the patients’ condition and a treatment plan (tailored to your individual 
needs) 

14.4.2 Staff 
Typically, staff roles and flows will be: 

 Arrival and waiting: this is the area where the reception and greeting staff work, whose primary 
roles are to manage and log patient arrivals – which will increasingly be via self-check-in.  The 
reception and front-of-house staff will act as first point of contact for most patients 

Page 131



 

  47  

 Remote consultation: The consultation area will be used by staff for remote consultation with 
patients, typically by phone; this will use a combination of one-to-one discussion and consultation 
between the clinical team on the best approach. Typically, clinical staff will use hotdesk space for 
remote consultation 

 Consultation (face-to-face): The consult exam rooms are where patients will have their face-to-face 
treatment and consultation with clinical staff, and will only be accessible for patients with 
appointments  

Staff will also use the clinical and non-clinical support areas, as well as the staff facilities such as the 

staff rest and meeting rooms. These should be easily accessible to all zones used by staff. 

14.4.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external professionals 

and also trainee staff. All visitors will report to reception on arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area of the practice; visitors will always be escorted by a 

member of staff.   

14.4.4 FM 
See relevant section (below)  

14.5 Design Requirements 
14.5.1 General 

 The configuration of the practice should allow easy access for patients to the wider wellbeing 
services (e.g. non-healthcare services) – many of the patients will have co-morbidities and may 
attend for more than one of these conditions to be treated. 

14.5.2 Specific 

 All WCs need to be wheelchair accessible 

 The rapid response team will require wheelchair accessible space for when they are seeing 
patients in the PCC. 

15| Health and Wellbeing Community Suite 
15.1 Scope of Service 
15.1.1  Introduction 
The Health and Wellbeing community suite will be a flexible area for opportunities for patients and 

visitors to learn more about self-care and to undertake personal development; it will focus on 

wellbeing and maintaining health, rather than treatment for a specific condition. By broadening care 

boundaries, this will hopefully engage people in their own care. The sense of a healing environment 

will be enhanced by the integration of art within the design and as part of the therapy offering. 

A range of services and classes will be offered, accessible to all – both those who are ill and also the 

healthy, including PCC staff.  Classes (etc.) will be offered by a range of providers, including both 

Page 132



 

  48  

statutory and voluntary organisations.  The department will also offer workstations for various groups 

to base themselves in, either on a permanent or temporary basis.   

The aim for the Health and Wellbeing community suite is to engender a sense of ‘community’, of the 

people having a set of facilities for them to use as they wish, rather than just receive care within.  

Therefore, in time the community may take leadership on some of the service delivery, e.g. running 

various classes, befriending services etc.   

15.1.2 Model of Care 
The Health and Wellbeing community suite will provide a flexible, modern and interconnected 

environment, from which to deliver responsive, patient-focused and accessible services, which 

respond to individual need, but which coordinate to offer a range of care solutions in one place. The 

aim will be for services to cross-support and cross-refer, to provide a single point of contact for 

patients to address a range of care and support needs.   

The Care/Wellbeing Navigators and Social Prescribing will have a strong involvement in this area as 

multi-disciplinary treatment and care will form a cornerstone of the care provided. This will enable 

patients’ needs to be assessed and the root causes treated, not just the physical symptoms.  These 

causes may not be health related, for example they may be due to employment issues or housing 

problems.   

The services provided in the Health and Wellbeing community suite will both support and to some 

extent replace the more traditional models of primary and community services, following an ethos of 

caring for the whole person, not just treating their symptoms. This may involve, for example, a patient 

who presents with respiratory problems being able to be directed by Care/Wellbeing Navigators to 

the resident housing advisor for support in improving their own home to treat damp (which may be 

causing the respiratory issues), as well as seeking medical treatment for the actual clinical condition. 

In order to provide holistic care, the suite will have strong relationships with various services and 

charities so that service-users can be directed to the most suitable partner to receive advice. 

For example, whilst not related to the proposed SoA, the model of care for the PCC should include 

developing strong links with Isca school, around a range of issues including Sexual and Reproductive 

health.  

15.1.3  Service Scope 
The suite will offer holistic and integrated services targeted at the community, this will include: 

 Voluntary services 

 An information hub 

 to provide a wide range of information and advice on-line etc 

 to provide sexual assault referral centres (SARC) help (this is important particularly for young 

people in the area) 

 Socialisation and food provision: opportunity for older people and other isolated and vulnerable 
adults to meet and eat together will be really important for this population, including things like 
Dementia café, etc. 

 Drop in services for students away from the potential stigmatisation of accessing such services in 
school. 

Page 133



 

  49  

15.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Workstations (community team) 10 

Workstations (voluntary organisations) 5 

Group room 1 

Kitchen: education and group room 1 

Interview room 2 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 350 m2. 

15.3 Functional Relationships 
15.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
The key intradepartmental relationships are set out below: 

 

15.3.2 Interdepartmental Relationships 
All staff, patients, visitors and escorts within the PCC may use the Health and Wellbeing Community 

Suite; in addition, it may attract people to the PCC simply to take advantage of the services on offer.  

Page 134



 

  50  

Therefore, convenient access is required to reception and the car park, plus access to all community 

and patient facing services within the centre. 

15.4 Flows 
15.4.1 Service users 
The care provided in the Health and Wellbeing community suite will be a mix of one-to-one 

consultation and group sessions, either run by a professional or by/oh behalf of the patients and 

service users themselves (e.g. teacher in an exercise class). 

Individuals arriving will have access to the patient information zone located in the waiting space. 

One-to-one  

For one-to-one appointments, patients and users may not have a prior booking, or may have a 

booked appointment. In either case, they will need to ‘check-in’ to confirm attendance. Those 

without appointments may be directed to the Care/Wellbeing Navigators for support and advice, who 

will then book them into an appointment (which may be within the same visit).   

Having checked-in, patients and users will attend their appointment with the relevant service, which 

may typically be up to an hour in duration. This may take place an interview room.  

Referrals for further appointments may be made during the consultation; this may include onward 

referrals to another healthcare or wellbeing service, or a repeat appointment for the patient to come 

to the Health and Wellbeing services. 

Group consultations/sessions 

Group consultation or group advisory sessions will typically be held in a meeting room or the Group 

Room or MDT room, depending on numbers: these sessions will normally involve groups of 10-20 

people, but may be larger. They may often involve activities and equipment, which those attending 

may bring themselves (e.g. exercise mats). 

Typically, sessions are booked in advance, therefore those attending will arrive and go directly to their 

session; their attendance may be recorded by the organiser (e.g. for billing for paid sessions).  

However, some sessions may be ‘ad hoc’, with no prior registration required; in these cases, those 

attending will again present directly to the session, although they may require wayfinding advice, 

typically this will be provided by the Care/Wellbeing Navigator team.  

The Group consultation sessions may also be an opportunity to introduce innovation in the form of 

‘Collaborative Practice’6: this invites local people to gift their time to a local GP practice or health 

service, working alongside people who deliver health services in a new, collaborative relationship. 

15.4.2 Staff 
There are a number of areas within which staff in the Health and Wellbeing community suite will 

work:  

 Interview rooms: the interview rooms are where service users will have their face-to-face 
appointments and consultations, and will only be accessible for those with appointments; these 
appointments can also take place over the phone from the workspace area 

 Group rooms/MDT rooms/Kitchen for education and group room: used on a sessional basis as 
appropriate either by staff based in the Health and Wellbeing community suite or by visiting staff 

                                                           
6 For more details, see https://www.altogetherbetter.org.uk/what-is-collaborative-practice 

Page 135



 

  51  

 Admin and Management: this zone includes workstations for the community team and voluntary 
organisations, it will involve activities to support care delivery; this may include remote 
consultation by phone or video with service users. 

15.4.3 Visitors 
There will be a limited number of visitors to the facility; this may include visiting external professionals 

and trainee staff, as well as those delivering some classes and services and those working for 

charities. All visitors will report to the main entrance reception on arrival and be logged in.   

Visitors will then be admitted to the relevant area and will always be escorted by a member of staff.   

15.4.4 FM 
The majority of equipment used for the Health and Wellbeing community suite will be mobile, which 

will either remain in the relevant room or will be stored as appropriate. 

15.5 Design Requirements 
15.5.1 General  

 The environment should be calming and relaxed in décor. Art and artworks should be integral to 
the environment and built into the planning process; ideally, this should be locally sourced and 
created   

 The design should allow for flexibility in use 

 The Care/Wellbeing Navigation point should be easily identifiable for patients and users 

 The configuration should allow easy access for patients of all abilities and language groups; this will 
include any wayfinding/signposting 

 The Group Rooms/ meeting/ MDT rooms should be accessible to both the service users/patients 
and staff, as it will be used for larger patient-facing sessions and staff (e.g. team meetings)  

 The area should feel like a cohesive ‘whole’, despite the disparate service mix and types of 
accommodation. The area should be inviting and open, to attract people; a location close to or in 
the main entrance would be beneficial. 

15.5.2 Specific 
Community suite  

 The Community suite should have a public face in which the interview rooms are located, as well 
as a staff area (not accessible to service users and patients) 

 The interview rooms should follow a generic pattern and design, to enable them to be used by a 
range of services; there will be no dedicated rooms, instead rooms will be allocated based on need 
and demand 

 The workstation areas will not be accessible to the public; there will be a system of swipe cards to 
control access 

 These areas should allow direct access to the meeting/MDT room, which will be used for meetings  

 The accommodation for staff will include mostly open plan desking, with a central accessible area 
for IT and printing needs, used by all staff 

Page 136



 

  52  

 The group room should have an adjacent store for equipment, and access to the WCs and Baby 
Change and Feeding rooms; the Group room may require a moveable partition (to be confirmed) 

 The kitchen will be associated with the Group Room and may be used in conjunction with it.  
Therefore, access between these facilities and a hatch from Kitchen to Group Room is required.  
However, both should be capable of also operating as independent units.  

16| Main Entrance, Retail and Pharmacy 
16.1 Scope of Service 
16.1.1 Introduction 
The main entrance will be the first point of entry for all patients and visitors to the primary care 

centre. It will be an attractive space which welcomes everyone to the PCC. The main entrance will act 

as the central space when people are not having direct contact with relevant services, where patients 

and visitors can access retail offerings such as the café and (if provided) pharmacy.  

16.1.2 Model of Care 
The main entrance will be designed to support the patient and visitor experience and to make the 

primary care centre seem a safe and welcoming environment, prioritising comfort and a relaxing 

atmosphere.  

The main entrance can achieve these through aesthetic changes and a focus on layout such as: 

 Open plan design with available services (e.g. Care Navigators) being visible and prominent  

 Plenty of natural light and views of the outside 

 Design for intuitive wayfinding 

 Large signs and maps to enable easy navigation 

 Relaxing and interesting artwork on walls of circulation routes 

 Comfortable and spacious seating to accommodate patients, visitors and staff. 

ETL: how will café relate to and / or compete with café in the leisure centre (assuming there will be one)?  

Shared facility?   

16.1.3 Service Scope 
The main entrance’s primary focus will be to enable patients, service users and escorts to access the 

relevant services in the PCC.  This should be via electronic interface or a ‘soft reception’, using 

greeting staff, rather than a traditional desk area.  Therefore, self-check-in will support the growing 

focus on digital technology in healthcare services; this technology is becoming more embedded and 

common in people’s lives (e.g. check outs at supermarkets). 

The reception desk should be visible, have space for staff and provide suitable space to enable easy 

access for ambulant and wheelchair bound patients. 

Care/Wellbeing Navigators will be available in the main entrance to assist patients and visitors in 

locating their relevant service, should they require this. 

Café facilities will be provided in the new main entrance with sufficient comfortable seating to 

encourage use by patients and visitors.  

Page 137



 

  53  

While there is an existing pharmacy immediately adjacent to the leisure centre, they would welcome 

the reallocation of the licence to the primary care centre. This could also support the financial 

sustainability of the proposed primary care centre. 

16.2 Functional Content 
The proposed functional content is as follows: 

Room type Number 

Office (2 person) 1 

Interview room 1 

Waiting space 30 

Care Navigators’ desk 5 

Multifaith room 2 

Café with seating for 20 1 

 

An indicative net internal area requirement for this service is c. 330 m2. 

16.3 Functional Relationships 
16.3.1 Intradepartmental Relationships 
This is by nature an entry and egress zone, both of which should occur safely in all circumstances. It is 

centred on an open plan area.  

The reception functions should be clearly viewed and easily accessed from the main entry doors. Self-

check in kiosks will be near the main entrance, and just as clearly visible from the entry. From here, 

access to concourses and lifts will be clearly identifiable and access will not be unduly obstructed. 

16.3.2 Interdepartmental Relationships 
This main entrance is the gateway to all areas of the PCC, accessed by members of the public and 

potentially staff. Therefore, there are relevant interdepartmental relationships with all services which 

will locate in the PCC. It would however be a priority for those services where footfall is the highest to 

be located closest to the main entrance, or for example if those using the service are likely to have 

mobility issues. These may include: 

 General Practice 

 Musculoskeletal and Physiotherapy 

 Maternity 

Mental Health services may also benefit from close adjacency to main entrance.  

For services which are predominantly community based and therefore only require workspace in the 

primary care centre, such as the CIT and ANT (see above) being located near to the main entrance is 

less necessary as they are likely to have separate routes out of the building. 

16.4 Flows 
16.4.1 Service users 
Arrival 

Access will be primarily from the car park or vehicle drop off, with some patients arriving via those 

arriving on foot, some via public transport.  Those entering the PCC will enter and depart through the 

Page 138



 

  54  

main entrance and may use the self-check-in or reception functions, either for directions or to inquire 

about checking in.  

Care Navigators 

Potentially, the Care/Wellbeing Navigation service could act as the first point of contact for service 

users and patients. This function could even take the place of a traditional reception, replacing this 

reactive function with a more dynamic, supportive model which begins the care process at the very 

first point of contact.   

The role of the Care/Wellbeing Navigator in any particular episode of care or visit may be to simply 

guide or direct someone to their appointment, extending through to working with them using 

interactive screens to understand their care and wellbeing needs, including discussing them and 

recommending next steps.   

Generally, patients and service users attending the services fall into two categories: 

 Enquirers: people accessing the services who have a care or wellbeing need, but require help or 
guidance to access the correct service(s)  

 Directed: people accessing services who know which service(s) to access and can self-direct 

It is more likely that Enquirers will use the Care/Wellbeing Navigator service as their first point of call, 

although Directed service users and patients may also use the services to understand more about 

their own or other conditions. However, typically the Directed users will proceed directly to the 

relevant service(s).   

Therefore, the Care/Wellbeing Navigator zone will be a technology-enabled area where patients and 

users can consult with Care/Wellbeing Navigators or use the online terminals (with or without 

Care/Wellbeing Navigator support) to answer a structured questionnaire, which will enable their 

needs to be identified and help to direct them to the appropriate services. However, although most 

people will use the terminals, some may prefer more formal support and will prefer to present to the 

physical reception. 

The terminals will allow the patient or user to identify their needs, and (where appropriate) book 

appointments.  They may wish to discuss their needs with one of the Care/Wellbeing Navigators, 

potentially in an interview room. 

Note that when appointments are booked, systems and processes will take account of patient 

preferences and cultural sensitivities (e.g. female patients may only want to discuss their needs with 

another female). 

The outcomes of the contact with the Care/Wellbeing Navigator may include:  

 Advice for self-care or agreement of care plan and next steps, which may include a further 
attendance, booked classes (e.g. art therapy, exercise, diet) – see ‘Social Prescribing’ section, 
below 

 Redirection to another service within the primary care centre (e.g. Physiotherapy, Pharmacy) 

 Appointment booked with another service e.g. GP. 

 

 

 

Page 139



 

  55  

Next steps 

Typically following arrival and check-in, patients and service users will proceed to the relevant service 

area or wait; however, if early they may use the café or retail areas.  Typically, their escorts will 

accompany them, although they may use the services independently. 

16.4.2 Staff 
Clinical and non-clinical staff will enter through either separate dedicated entries or the main 

entrance and will go to the main changing area or their relevant department via general concourse. 

Staff will have access to the café area throughout their working hours and will be encouraged to enjoy 

their breaks in public amenity areas, outside their own services. 

Staff will be able to access the reception area during main working hours to make inquiries and to pick 

up access cards. 

16.4.3 Visitors 
Visitors will enter through the main entrance and be directed to the relevant department. They will 

have access to the café facilities and waiting space in the main entrance or can be directed from 

reception to the Multi-faith area. 

16.4.4 FM 
For general policies, see relevant section (below). 

Waste bins will be located within the main entrance areas and emptied frequently to deal with the 

high numbers of people passing through. Waste will be taken out via a discrete entrance to reduce 

disruption of the main concourse. 

16.5 Design Requirements 
16.5.1 General 

 The main entrance will be open and welcoming. It will be made ‘safe by design.’ Safety and 
security will be prioritised in design and guided by the relevant standards and policies. The main 
entrance will provide ample and intuitive access to other concourses 

 Public areas will be fully accessible. Disabled access and accommodation are required, including 
provision for the visually and hearing impaired, as well as provision for bariatric patients 

 The main entrance and concourse should be designed for intuitive wayfinding to all departments 
and public realm accommodation. The design must provide for appropriate vehicular, pedestrian 
and disabled ramp access to the main entrance, ensuring that arrival is simple, safe and efficient 

 The design must be flexible, with the ability to adapt to changes in operational, technological and 
administrative practices over the life of the facility 

 The design must have disabled access and wayfinding signage strategies 

 Public spaces must have access to natural light where possible, with clear views of the outside and 
key landmarks and vantage points. Clear signage must be provided for public amenities, such as: 
infant feeding rooms, nappy change facilities, disabled changing rooms and Wi-Fi facilities 

 Furniture, fixtures and equipment (FF&E) in the main entrance zone should be exceptionally 
hardwearing, of good quality and durable. It should be selected and installed to support ease of 

Page 140



 

  56  

maintenance, with life cycle costs in mind. The café seating area and entry area seating should 
offer comfortable chairs to accommodate waiting. The layout must provide for wheelchair users 

 Fixed position electronic message boards or screens should be available for providing updated 
information at strategic points throughout the entrance. 

16.5.2 Specific 
Arrival and waiting 

 All patients should have to attend via the machines in the arrival zone, with a Care/Wellbeing 
Navigator helping as required  

 The arrival zone should be non-threatening and should not present a barrier to interaction with 
staff; it should be easily identifiable but encourage patients to use the screens 

 Patient ancillary facilities such as WCs, infant feeding and baby change should all be located 
adjacent to the main waiting area, clearly identifiable.  These areas should also be accessible from 
the clinic and therapy rooms 

 The baby feeding room should contain soft furnishings, with a domestic-like ambience, a nursing 
chair and a handwash sink (this will be a ‘breast feeding friendly’ facility in line with the UNICEF 
Breast Feeding Initiative) 

 There should be information screens available to patients to access information about services 
both within the practice and offered elsewhere (e.g. Local Authority, etc.).  these should be readily 
identifiable and easy to use 

 The waiting area should offer a welcoming and calming ambience, with a range of furniture types 
including some designed for bariatric patients. Audio-Visual equipment will be provided for patient 
distraction e.g. news channels, etc.  

 Any audio-visual, patient information or other interactive facility should not interfere with the 
patient calling system, which will call patients to their appointment 

 The patient call system will take into account all user abilities, including those with hearing and/or 
visual impairment  

 There will be direct access from the waiting area to the clinic and therapy rooms. 

 The design should naturally encourage patients to head towards the Arrival Zone, where a 
Care/Wellbeing Navigator will help as required  

 The Arrival zone screens should be able to present information in all relevant languages 

 The Arrival zone should be non-threatening and should not present a barrier to interaction with 
staff; it should be easily identifiable but encourage patients to use the screens and to explore their 
own care needs – patients and visitors will be able to freely access information using the screens, 
with or without input from the Care/Wellbeing Navigator(s) 

 The waiting area(s) should be small and informal, as the aim of this service model is to encourage 
interaction with the services – therefore waiting areas should be combined with other facilities e.g. 
the café 

Page 141



 

  57  

 Any waiting area should include a separate children’s play and wait area in the main waiting area, 
with appropriate décor and toys, etc. This should be clearly identifiable and allow parents (etc.) to 
supervise their children at all times  

 Ancillary facilities such as the WCs, infant feeding and baby change should all be located adjacent 
to the main waiting area, clearly identifiable.  

 The Baby Feeding room should contain soft furnishings, with a domestic-like ambience, a nursing 
chair and a handwash sink (this will be a ‘breast feeding friendly’ facility in line with the UNICEF 
Breast Feeding Initiative) 

 There should be information screens available to patients to access information about services, 
these should be readily identifiable and easy to use 

 The waiting area should offer a welcoming and calming ambience, with a range of furniture types 
including some designed for bariatric patients.  Audio-Visual equipment will be provided for 
patient distraction e.g. news channels, etc.  

Data and privacy 

 All areas where IM&T are used should provide appropriate safeguards of this data, including 
design to prevent patient details being overheard (e.g. at reception) 

 Note that literacy may be an issue for some patients; it would be an advantage if the machines 
could ‘talk’ to patients as well as display data 

 There should be Wi-Fi throughout the whole unit, including a separate open channel for patients 
and visitors to the secure network for handling clinical data.  

Infection control 

 Alcohol hand sanitiser dispensers should be provided near the main doors to encourage use as 
patients, visitors and staff enter or exit the premises. Containers should also be located on the 
concourse towards the main departments, particularly those leading to clinical services. 

17| FM and Support Services  
17.1 Requirements  
General 

 The FM and clinical support areas will not be accessible to the public; there will be a system of 
swipe cards to control access 

 The clean and dirty utility rooms should be easily accessible to the consultation suite; both rooms 
will be strictly staff-only and will therefore have restricted access 

 Pharmacy products will be stored in the clean utility. 

Consumables and Sterile Supplies 

Consumables and sterile supplies will be delivered directly to the allocated store room. 

Waste 

Used consumables, soiled linen and clinical waste will be disposed of within the dirty utility attached 

to each service where relevant before being taken to the disposal hold in time for collection. Disposal 

Page 142



 

  58  

holds will therefore be located with easy access to dirty utilities to support efficient and timely 

collection.  

ICT 

All patient and other clinical and non-clinical records will be held electronically; there will be no paper 

records either historic or current.  Therefore, the IM&T provision needs to be sufficiently robust to 

manage this volume of data. 

The key information flows will be: 

 Arrival zone to relevant service suite: notification of arrival of patients who have appointments  

 Arrival zone to clinical system: any data provided and alerts of key additional needs (e.g. ‘flu jabs, 
asthma check-ups, etc.)  

 Relevant clinical service to relevant Admin and Management: updates to patient records during 
and following consultation  

 Patients to practitioners: for remote consultation and Triage 

 Patients to reception: for appointments and booking, as well as queries 

The IM&T provision will allow interconnectivity between various systems, allowing (for example) the 

machines at arrival to communicate with the main clinical system (e.g. to alert patients of the need to 

get certain treatments or check-ups, e.g. ‘flu jabs).  Other data including health information and 

relevant websites may be suggested; therefore, the systems should allow this flexibility within their 

programming. 

All areas where IM&T are used should provide appropriate safeguards of this data, including design to 

prevent patient details being overheard (e.g. at reception). 

Note that literacy may be an issue for some patients; it would be an advantage if the machines could 

‘talk’ to patients as well as display data.   

There should be Wi-Fi throughout the whole building, including a separate open channel for patients 

and visitors to the secure network for handling clinical and non-clinical data.  

Equipment 

The majority of equipment used will be mobile equipment, which will either remain in the relevant 

rooms or will be stored as appropriate. 

17.2 FM flows 
Goods may arrive either through the main entrance or via the separate staff/FM entrance, depending 

on which is more appropriate. Larger deliveries will be expected (e.g. bulk stationary supplies), 

however some smaller deliveries (e.g. small parcels) may be less predictable. 

Waste will be held in rooms and moved to the central waste areas at regular intervals. The disposal 

hold will store main repositories of waste, ready for collection and disposal.  This waste will be 

removed through the relevant exit, adjacent to the disposal hold.   

18| Design requirements 
The following planning and design principles aligned to best practice, will be applied: 

 Standardisation in processes and departmental layouts 

Page 143



 

  59  

 Generic rooms where possible, tailored to specific needs where necessary 

 Evidence-based healing and supportive working environments 

 Efficient use of site and footprint 

 Best practice in patient safety, privacy, dignity and choice 

 Lean solutions for effective use of resources 

 Clear zoning of facilities (staff/patient, in/out of hours, clinical/non-clinical) 

 Separation of flows (patients, staff, materials, medicines) 

 High visibility of patients and visitors 

 Legible, intuitive way-finding from point of access to the site 

 Clutter free corridors and adequate equipment bays for storage of loose equipment 

 Space will enable flexibility of use and expansion opportunities 

 Modern, shared workspace to support agile working. 

18.1 Whole Primary Care Centre Policies 
CCG and Exeter City Council policies on Infection and control, Safety and Security and HR will apply in 

the PCC.   

19| Sexual health (C-card scheme)  
19.1 Requirements  
The PCC could potentially be the base for the C-card scheme.  

The C Card scheme is a free condom issuing scheme for anyone aged 13 to 24 (either having sex, 

thinking about having sex, or just curious about condoms) in Devon and Torbay. 

A C-Card is a card similar to a membership card that allows individuals to get free condoms from 

participating venues such as pharmacies, youth clubs, sexual health clinics and schools. 

With a C Card, individuals can collect free condoms for their own use from any of the participating 

venues. The C Card can be used a maximum of 10 times, after which it must be renewed. 

20| Potential additional services  
Other potential services indicated by stakeholders could include: 

 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) 

 Health Visitor Team 

 Bariatric Services 

 

 

 

Page 144



 

  60  

Appendix 2 – Stakeholder consultation 
The table below provides an overview of the stakeholders consulted with during this commission. 

Name Job title Organisation Email Service/specialty represented 

Simon Kerr Clinical Lead NHS Devon CCG simon.kerr@nhs.net  Clinical services 

Sharon 
Matson 
 

Head of Commissioning for 
Women and Children 

NHS Devon CCG 
 

sharon.matson@nhs.net  Maternity services 

Rebecca 
Harty 
 

Head of Integrated Care for 
Northern and Eastern Devon 

NHS Devon CCG 
 

rebecca.harty1@nhs.net  Integrated health 

Sarah Hughes 
 

Assistant Director of Strategy Devon Partnership NHS 
Trust 
 

sarah.hughes19@nhs.net  Mental health  

Simon Ogilvie 
 

Primary Care Network Clinical 
Director 

Eastern Exeter PCN 
 

simonogilvie@nhs.net  Primary Care 
 

Anne 
Cameron  

Assistant Director of 
Community Hospitals and 
Specialist Services 

Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust 
 

annecameron@nhs.net  Community and Specialist services  
 

Stephen 
Spratling 

Community Services Manager 
Health and Social Care Exeter 
(Central & East) 

Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust 
 

s.spratling@nhs.net  Community and Specialist services  
 

Zita Martinez   
 

Head of Midwifery and 
Assistant Director of Nursing 

Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust 

zita.martinez@nhs.net Midwifery and Maternity services  
 

Melanie 
Dorrington 

Senior Midwife for Integrated 
Services 
and Birth Centres 

Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust 

melanie.dorrington@nhs.net  Midwifery and Maternity services  
 

Dr Emma 
Hoerning 

GP Partner Wonford Green GP 
Practice  
 

emma@hoerning.co.uk  General practice 

Dr Ben 
Hoban 

GP Partner Wonford Green GP 
Practice  
 

benhoban@nhs.net  General practice 

Dr Martyn 
Richards 

GP Partner Wonford Green GP 
Practice  
 

martyn.richards1@nhs.net  General practice 

Lyn Drew 
 

Practice Manager Wonford Green GP 
Practice  
 

lyn.drew@nhs.net General practice 

Hayley Back  Senior Manager Specialist 
Services 

Northern Devon 
Healthcare NHS Trust  
 

hayley.back@nhs.net  Specialist services 
 

Sue Smith 
 

Senior Manager Specialist 
Services 

Northern Devon 
Healthcare NHS Trust  
 

suej.smith@nhs.net  Specialist services 
 

Martin 
Greenslade 
 

MSK Clinical Lead Royal Devon and Exeter 
NHS Foundation Trust 
 

martin.greenslade@nhs.net  MSK Community services 
 

Gill Munday 
 

Head of Primary Care for 
Northern and Eastern Devon 

NHS Devon CCG 
 

gill.munday@nhs.net  Primary care commissioning 
 

Clive Shore Devon STP Estates Advisor Devon STP clive.shore@nhs.net  Estates 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

1.1 There are Penetration (Pen) and Index columns on the penetration summary report; the 
penetration is the percentage of the catchment population who currently use Wonford 
Sports Centre (i.e. 26 users belong to group A this group accounts for 1,931 people in 
total – penetration is therefore 1.3%). The index column compares the percentage of 
users in each group or type to the percentage of the population in the same group or 
type. An index of 100 means the percentage of users is equal to the percentage of the 
population.   

1.2  An index below 100 means the percentage of users is lower than the population; so, 
the group / type is under-represented (not performing well). An index score above 100 
means the percentage of users is higher than the population. This means the group / 
type is over-represented (performs well). The bar chart shows the index score – all bars 
to the right of centre (centre being 100) are over-represented while all bars to the left of 
centre are under-represented.  

1.3 There are 5 Mosaic groups which stand out; each one accounts for more than 10% of 
users at Wonford Sports Centre – see table overleaf. In total, these groups generate 
65% of Wonford Sports Centre users (and over 70% of the Exeter population).   

1.4 Of these 5 groups, only G (Domestic Success) and I (Family Basics) over-perform (i.e. 
they generate a higher proportion of users than the proportion of people, so the index 
score is above 100).  

1.5  Group I generates the highest number of users at Wonford Sports Centre; 479 users 
(19%) are classified as such. However, it represents just 9.7% of the Exeter population, 
therefore giving a penetration rate of 3.6% (significantly higher than the average of 
1.85%). On the bar chart, Family Basics (with an index score of 195) is right of centre 
(i.e. above the average score of 100). 

 
 

1.6 Family Basics is one of the less affluent groups. Typically aged in their 30s and 40s, 
they are families with school age children who have limited budgets and struggle to 
make ends meet due to low incomes and the costs of raising their children. It has the 
highest penetration rate out of the top 5 groups and ranks 2nd overall. 

 

Page 147



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.7 Group H generates 14.7% of users at Wonford Sports Centre but 14.9% of the Exeter 
population; penetration is therefore lower at 1.8%. On the bar chart, Aspiring 
Homemakers (with an index score of 98) is just to the left of centre (i.e. below the 
average score of 100). Although some of these households are close to Wonford Sports 
Centre, in Countess Wear and Heavitree, the largest cluster of them is on the west side 
of the River Exe so it’s maybe no surprise that penetration is not higher.  

1.8 Aspiring Homemakers are typically young families, couples who are yet to have children, 
and singles in their 20s and 30s. A good number are setting up homes for the first time, 
which are likely to be semidetached and terraced properties. Of the 20,253 group H 
people living in Exeter, 369 are users of Wonford Sports Centre.   

1.9 Group G (Domestic Success) is the only other group (along with I – Family Basics) to 
over-perform (when comparing the proportion of users to the proportion of the 
population). 10.8% of users are classified as such and yet the group accounts for just 
7.2% of the population in Exeter. Penetration is much higher than average, at 2.8%. 

1.10 Those in Domestic Success tend to be high-earning families, typically headed by 
couples in their 30s and 40s, many of whom have school age children. They live affluent 
lifestyles in upmarket homes situated in sought after residential neighbourhoods. Their 
busy lives revolve around their children and successful careers in higher managerial and 
professional roles  

 
 

Page 148



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.11 Group O (Rental Hubs) is the most prominent group in the Exeter population; it accounts 
for over a quarter of all people (35k in total) and yet it generates just 10.6% of users at 
Wonford Sports Centre. Penetration is therefore low at 0.8%. There are perhaps a 
couple of reasons for this; firstly, most of the group O households are in the centre of 
Exeter, so they have many other fitness and sports options which are closer to home. 
Secondly, many of these will be students and graduates from the University of Exeter 
which does have its own sports facilities in the city.  

1.12 Those in group O are predominantly young, single people in their 20s and 30s who live 
in urban locations and rent their homes from private landlords. They represent an 
eclectic mix of students and young people with budding careers and more mundane 
starter roles. 

1.13 At the other end of the age spectrum is Senior Security (group E); as the name suggests, 
this is the most elderly group of all. Their average age is 75 and almost all are retired. 
Though few now have high incomes, most are still living independently in comfortable 
homes that they own. Group E generates 10% of users but it makes up 12.9% of the 
population; penetration is therefore 1.4%. This is one of the lowest penetration rates.  

Page 149



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.14 There are two other Mosaic groups which generate less than 10% of users at Wonford 
Sports Centre but have the highest penetration rates. Group K (Municipal Challenge) 
achieves the highest penetration of all at 4.5%. Of the 3,067 people in Exeter classified 
as such, 138 are users of Wonford. This group has the highest index score of 243. 
Municipal Challenge are long-term social renters living in low-value multi-storey flats in 
urban locations, or small terraces on outlying estates. They are challenged 
neighbourhoods with limited employment options and correspondingly low household 
incomes.  

1.15 Group M (Modest Traditions) also performs well. It makes up just 3% of the total 
population in Exeter (4,050 people) but generates 5.7% of all users (144 people). This 
group achieves the second highest penetration rate of 3.6%. Modest Traditions are older 
people, mostly aged between 45 and 65, living in inexpensive homes that they own, 
often with the mortgage nearly paid off. Both incomes and qualifications are modest, but 
most enjoy a reasonable standard of living. 

 

1.16 There are 5 Mosaic types that each generate more than 5% of Wonford Sports Centre 
users. Combined, over 36% of all users fall into these types (and 23% of the population). 
Four types in the table below are over-represented – all have an index score above 100 
and generate a higher proportion of users than catchment population. The only 
exception is type H30, with an index score of 94. 

Page 150



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.17 Solid Economy accounts for the largest share of Wonford Sports Centre users; it 
generates 10% of all users, but accounts for just 5.9% of the total population in Exeter. 
Penetration within this type is therefore high at 3.2%.   

1.18 Solid Economy are typically headed by adults in their mid-30s to mid-50s. Families are 
large, commonly with two or more children. Although overall educational attainment is 
below average, most adults are able to find work, but household incomes are below 
average. 

 

1.19 Of the five types, K47 (Streetwise Singles) has the highest penetration rate; 4.9% of the 
population within this type use Wonford Sports Centre. The penetration rate of the other 
4 ranges from 1.7% to 4.5%. Of the 5 types, this is the one with the lowest household 
incomes (although type I39 is not far behind).  

1.20 Those in type G27 are the oldest of the 5 types, but even so, they are only in their 30s 
and 40s. Those in type I39 tend to be the youngest, with a high proportion of people in 
their 20s and 30s.  

1.21 Many people in these 5 types have children; the only 2 types less likely to have children 
living with them are G27 and K47 

Page 151



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.22 There are a couple of other Mosaic types which achieve a high penetration rate and 
therefore perform well, but overall numbers are significantly lower as each represents 
less than 2% of the Exeter population. There is just one of these high performing types 
that generates over 50 users and this is I37 (Budget Generations). Out of the 1,443 
people in Exeter classified as type I37, 66 use Wonford Sports Centre. It has a 
penetration rate of 4.6%.   

1.23 Type J40 (Make Do & Move On) achieves the highest penetration rate of all – 11.3%. 
However, this is equivalent to just 7 users (from a total population in Exeter of 62).   

Under-Represented Mosaic Groups 

1.24 The table below shows the Mosaic group breakdown of Wonford Sports Centre users 
and the total population, sorted by the % of users’ column; the groups generating the 
highest proportion of users are shown at the top. Five Mosaic groups are over-
performing, meaning that the proportion of users is higher than the proportion of the 
population. These five groups have an index score over 100 and are highlighted below. 

Page 152



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

1.25 Rental Hubs is the most prominent Mosaic group in Exeter; it accounts for almost 26% 
of the total population (over 35k people), but it only generates 10.6% of the users (266 
people). It is therefore one of most under-represented groups within Exeter. Less than 
1% of group O people living in Exeter use Wonford Sports Centre.  

1.26 As mentioned earlier in the report, most of the group O households are in the centre of 
Exeter, so they have many other fitness and sports options which are closer to home. 
Many will also be students and graduates from the University of Exeter which does have 
its own sports facilities in the city. These factors could contribute to the low penetration 
rate.  

1.27 Groups H (Aspiring Homemakers) and E (Senior Security) each account for more than 
10% of the Exeter population and yet under-perform (the proportion of users is lower 
than the proportion of population). In the case of group H, this could be down to 
geography; the largest cluster of group H households is on the west side of the River 
Exe so it’s maybe no surprise that penetration is not higher. 

1.28 Those in group E tend to be in the older age brackets; many are retired, and some will 
have very low incomes. There may be issues with access as a lot of the group E 
households in Exeter are in Topsham (to the south), Pinhoe (to the north) and the area 
to the west of the River Exe.  

1.29 There are two other Mosaic groups which each account for more than 6,000 people in 
Exeter but don’t generate high numbers of sports centre users: L (Vintage Value) and J 
(Transient Renters). There can be many reasons for this including affluence (those in 
group L – Vintage Value – are retired and have very low incomes, for example) and age. 
Those in group L are also not likely to drive any more so access may be a problem.   

1.30 It could also be down to how the population within Exeter is split. For example, the 
largest cluster of group J households is on the other side of the River Exe; these are not 

Page 153



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

particularly close to Wonford Sports Centre and there will be other leisure facilities closer 
to home.  

1.31 It’s worth noting, however, that groups L and J, outlined above, DO still achieve 
penetration rates of 5.8% and 4.6% so they are generating sports centre users; they just 
don’t convert as many as the top groups. 

1.32 The Mosaic tables are provided below 

Page 154



Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

Target:

Base:

Mosaic Group Target % Base % Pen Index

A City Prosperity 26 1.0 1,931 1.4 1.3 73

B Prestige Positions 85 3.4 5,585 4.1 1.5 82

C Country Living 0 0.0 21 0.0 0.0 0

D Rural Reality 0 0.0 2 0.0 0.0 0

E Senior Security 252 10.0 17,570 12.9 1.4 77

F Suburban Stability 172 6.8 6,175 4.5 2.8 150

G Domestic Success 271 10.8 9,777 7.2 2.8 150

H Aspiring Homemakers 369 14.7 20,253 14.9 1.8 98

I Family Basics 479 19.0 13,239 9.7 3.6 195

J Transient Renters 103 4.1 6,298 4.6 1.6 88

K Municipal Challenge 138 5.5 3,067 2.3 4.5 243

L Vintage Value 138 5.5 7,819 5.8 1.8 95

M Modest Traditions 144 5.7 4,050 3.0 3.6 192

N Urban Cohesion 75 3.0 5,068 3.7 1.5 80

O Rental Hubs 266 10.6 35,056 25.8 0.8 41

2,518  - - 135,911  - - 1.85  - -

Target:

Base:

Target % Base % Pen Index

A01 World-Class Wealth 0 0.0 11 0.0 0.0 0

A02 Uptown Elite 26 1.0 1,911 1.4 1.4 73

A03 Penthouse Chic 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

A04 Metro High-Flyers 0 0.0 9 0.0 0.0 0

B05 Premium Fortunes 1 0.0 367 0.3 0.3 15

B06 Diamond Days 20 0.8 1,846 1.4 1.1 58

B07 Alpha Families 8 0.3 432 0.3 1.9 100

B08 Bank of Mum and Dad 27 1.1 1,467 1.1 1.8 99

B09 Empty-Nest Adventure 29 1.2 1,473 1.1 2.0 106

C10 Wealthy Landowners 0 0.0 17 0.0 0.0 0

C11 Rural Vogue 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

C12 Scattered Homesteads 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

C13 Village Retirement 0 0.0 4 0.0 0.0 0

D14 Satellite Settlers 0 0.0 2 0.0 0.0 0

D15 Local Focus 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

D16 Outlying Seniors 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

D17 Far-Flung Outposts 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

E18 Legacy Elders 78 3.1 6,425 4.7 1.2 66

E19 Bungalow Haven 22 0.9 2,828 2.1 0.8 42

E20 Classic Grandparents 93 3.7 4,428 3.3 2.1 113

E21 Solo Retirees 59 2.3 3,889 2.9 1.5 82

F22 Boomerang Boarders 71 2.8 2,283 1.7 3.1 168

F23 Family Ties 59 2.3 1,819 1.3 3.2 175

F24 Fledgling Free 10 0.4 343 0.3 2.9 157

F25 Dependable Me 32 1.3 1,730 1.3 1.8 100

G26 Cafés and Catchments 56 2.2 1,848 1.4 3.0 164

G27 Thriving Independence 177 7.0 6,182 4.5 2.9 155

G28 Modern Parents 21 0.8 994 0.7 2.1 114

G29 Mid-Career Convention 17 0.7 753 0.6 2.3 122

H30 Primary Ambitions 191 7.6 10,931 8.0 1.7 94

H31 Affordable Fringe 35 1.4 1,503 1.1 2.3 126

H32 First-Rung Futures 29 1.2 1,634 1.2 1.8 96

H33 Contemporary Starts 86 3.4 4,486 3.3 1.9 103

H34 New Foundations 1 0.0 451 0.3 0.2 12

H35 Flying Solo 27 1.1 1,248 0.9 2.2 117

I36 Solid Economy 253 10.0 7,951 5.9 3.2 172

I37 Budget Generations 66 2.6 1,443 1.1 4.6 247

I38 Childcare Squeeze 5 0.2 418 0.3 1.2 65

I39 Families with Needs 155 6.2 3,427 2.5 4.5 244

J40 Make Do & Move On 7 0.3 62 0.0 11.3 609

J41 Disconnected Youth 36 1.4 1,329 1.0 2.7 146

J42 Midlife Stopgap 58 2.3 4,512 3.3 1.3 69

J43 Renting a Room 2 0.1 395 0.3 0.5 27

K44 Inner City Stalwarts 0 0.0 214 0.2 0.0 0

K45 Crowded Kaleidoscope 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

K46 High Rise Residents 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

K47 Streetwise Singles 135 5.4 2,780 2.0 4.9 262

K48 Low Income Workers 3 0.1 73 0.1 4.1 222

L49 Dependent Greys 4 0.2 1,430 1.1 0.3 15

L50 Pocket Pensions 2 0.1 571 0.4 0.4 19

L51 Aided Elderly 15 0.6 2,257 1.7 0.7 36

L52 Estate Veterans 103 4.1 3,075 2.3 3.3 181

L53 Seasoned Survivors 14 0.6 486 0.4 2.9 155

M54 Down-to-Earth Owners 10 0.4 311 0.2 3.2 174

M55 Offspring Overspill 99 3.9 2,920 2.1 3.4 183

M56 Self Supporters 35 1.4 819 0.6 4.3 231

N57 Community Elders 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

N58 Cultural Comfort 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

N59 Asian Heritage 0 0.0 0 0.0 0.0 0

N60 Ageing Access 75 3.0 5,068 3.7 1.5 80

O61 Career Builders 67 2.7 5,057 3.7 1.3 72

O62 Central Pulse 21 0.8 5,188 3.8 0.4 22

O63 Flexible Workforce 4 0.2 268 0.2 1.5 81

O64 Bus-Route Renters 56 2.2 3,899 2.9 1.4 78

O65 Learners & Earners 91 3.6 9,647 7.1 0.9 51

O66 Student Scene 27 1.1 10,997 8.1 0.2 13

2,518  - - 135,911  - - 1.85  - -

Mosaic Profile

Wonford Sports Centre: Users

All Wonford Sports Centre Users in Exeter

Total Population in Exeter

Total

Mosaic Type

Total

All Wonford Sports Centre Users in Exeter

Total Population in Exeter

0 50 100 150 200

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

%

Mosaic Group

Wonford Sports Centre: Users vs Population - Mosaic Groups

Users % Population %

0 50 100 150 200

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 Age Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

1.1 8.75.25 Age data was provided for the majority of Wonford Sports Centre users. Again, 
we have cut the data down to just those that live within the local authority area and 
compared it to the age profile of the total population.   

1.2 The largest share of the Exeter population is aged 15 to 24 years; almost 28k people fall 
into this age bracket, equivalent to over 20% of the total. This will no doubt be fuelled by 
the University in the city. 448 sports centre users are aged 15 to 24, equivalent to 19% 
of the total.   

1.3 The largest share of sports centre users is aged 25 to 34. 620 users fall into this age 
group, equivalent to over 26% of the total user base. This is the second most over-
represented age group with an index score of 162 (just 16% of the Exeter population is 
aged 25 to 34).   

1.4 The age group with the highest index score is 35 to 44 year olds. Just 11.8% of the 
Exeter population are classified as such, but 19.5% of users fall into this age group 
(giving it an index score of 165).   

1.5 45 to 54 year olds are also over-represented. 362 users in Exeter are classified as such 
(over 15% of the total), but this age group makes up just 11.5% of the population. Index 
score is therefore high at 133.   

 

 

Page 157



Appendix 2 Age Profile 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

 

Target:

Base:

Age Target % Base % Pen  Index 

Age 0 to 14 170 7.2 20,209 14.9 0.8 49

Age 15 to 24 448 19.0 27,747 20.4 1.6 93

Age 25 to 34 620 26.3 22,088 16.3 2.8 162

Age 35 to 44 459 19.5 16,014 11.8 2.9 165

Age 45 to 54 362 15.4 15,637 11.5 2.3 133

Age 55 to 64 157 6.7 12,871 9.5 1.2 70

Age 65 to 74 98 4.2 11,169 8.2 0.9 51

Age 75+ 43 1.8 10,176 7.5 0.4 24

Total 2,357  - - 135,911  - - 1.73  - -

Age Profile

Wonford Sports Centre: Users

All Wonford Sports Centre Users in Exeter

Total Population in Exeter

0 50 100 150 200

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Age 0 to 14 Age 15 to 24 Age 25 to 34 Age 35 to 44 Age 45 to 54 Age 55 to 64 Age 65 to 74 Age 75+

%

Age Bracket

Wonford Sports Centre: Users vs Population - Age

Users % Population %

Page 158



Appendix 3 Latent Demand For Fitness 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

ESTIMATE OF LATENT DEMAND FOR HEALTH & FITNESS 
WONFORD SPORTS CENTRE (EXETER) - Adjusted 1 mile radius (1.5 miles to the south 

east) 

MOSAIC UK Type 
Total Adult 

Population (15+) 

Total Health 
&  

Fitness 
Demand  

A01 World-Class Wealth 9 0 

A02 Uptown Elite 527 4 

A03 Penthouse Chic 0 0 

A04 Metro High-Flyers 0 0 

B05 Premium Fortunes 33 1 

B06 Diamond Days 412 11 

B07 Alpha Families 106 3 

B08 Bank of Mum and Dad 329 10 

B09 Empty-Nest Adventure 328 8 

C10 Wealthy Landowners 0 0 

C11 Rural Vogue 0 0 

C12 Scattered Homesteads 0 0 

C13 Village Retirement 0 0 

D14 Satellite Settlers 0 0 

D15 Local Focus 0 0 

D16 Outlying Seniors 0 0 

D17 Far-Flung Outposts 0 0 

E18 Legacy Elders 1,629 36 

E19 Bungalow Haven 388 6 

E20 Classic Grandparents 684 12 

E21 Solo Retirees 916 16 

F22 Boomerang Boarders 984 25 

F23 Family Ties 272 7 

F24 Fledgling Free 14 0 

F25 Dependable Me 258 5 

G26 Cafés and Catchments 1,099 21 

G27 Thriving Independence 2,223 52 

G28 Modern Parents 135 5 

G29 Mid-Career Convention 186 6 

H30 Primary Ambitions 1,401 30 

H31 Affordable Fringe 319 5 

H32 First-Rung Futures 356 7 

H33 Contemporary Starts 2,265 61 

H34 New Foundations 151 4 

H35 Flying Solo 239 6 

I36 Solid Economy 1,312 29 

I37 Budget Generations 475 6 

I38 Childcare Squeeze 136 2 

I39 Families with Needs 1,275 19 

J40 Make Do and Move On 30 0 

J41 Disconnected Youth 187 2 

Page 159



Appendix 3 Latent Demand For Fitness 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

ESTIMATE OF LATENT DEMAND FOR HEALTH & FITNESS 
WONFORD SPORTS CENTRE (EXETER) - Adjusted 1 mile radius (1.5 miles to the south 

east) 
J42 Midlife Stopgap 592 9 

J43 Renting a Room 107 1 

K44 Inner City Stalwarts 0 0 

K45 Crowded Kaleidoscope 0 0 

K46 High Rise Residents 0 0 

K47 Streetwise Singles 665 4 

K48 Low Income Workers 52 1 

L49 Dependent Greys 185 1 

L50 Pocket Pensions 51 0 

L51 Aided Elderly 690 5 

L52 Estate Veterans 967 13 

L53 Seasoned Survivors 60 1 

M54 Down-to-Earth Owners 106 2 

M55 Offspring Overspill 796 13 

M56 Self Supporters 242 3 

N57 Community Elders 0 0 

N58 Cultural Comfort 0 0 

N59 Asian Heritage 0 0 

N60 Ageing Access 1,153 11 

O61 Career Builders 1,415 23 

O62 Central Pulse 25 0 

O63 Flexible Workforce 0 0 

O64 Bus-Route Renters 490 6 

O65 Learners and Earners 395 3 

O66 Student Scene 32 0 

Sub Total 27,092 495 

Add consideration for 30% of Members from outside catchment 212 

Add consideration for workforce (@ 2% of additional 2,500 people within c. 10 min walk) 50 

Minus consideration for competition / decay on catchment fringes -100 

Estimate of Total Demand for Health & Fitness 657 
Minus current membership number (approx.) -500 

Estimate of Latent Demand for Health & Fitness 157 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



Appendix 4: Commercial Competition Analysis 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential 

1.1 Map of Commercial facilities: Soft Play, Indoor Climbing, High Ropes, Ten Pin 
Bowling, Trampoline Parks and Indoor Skate Parks within a 30 minute drive of 
Exeter Arena (EX4 8NT) and Wonford Sports Centre (EX2 6NF) 

 
1.2 The map below shows the eleven soft play areas, four indoor climbing, one outdoor 

high ropes (Go Ape Haldon Forest), one ten pin bowling (Tenpin Exeter) and one 
trampoline park within a 30 minute drive of Exeter Arena.  

 
1.3 It also illustrates the twelve soft play areas, three indoor climbing, one outdoor high 

ropes, one ten pin bowling, two trampoline parks and one indoor skate park that are 
within a 30 minute drive of Wonford Sports Centre.  

 
1.4 There are no TAG Active facilities within a 2 hour drive of Exeter. 

 

 Clip n Climb Exeter & The Quay climbing centre located at the same location 
     

                  
 
        

 

 

 

 

Page 161



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 
 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
  2 

     

Symbol Drive  

a. (Mins)  

Drive  

b. (Mins) 

Facility 

 
0 10 mins 

a) Exeter Arena 

 

10 mins 0 
b) Wonford Sports Centre 

 

10-15 10-15 
Clip n Climb Exeter 

 
10-15 10-15 The Quay Climbing Centre 

 
25-30 25-30 Vertexe Climbing, Exmouth 

Leisure Centre 

 
25-30 35-40 

Wall In The Hall, Tiverton 

 

15-20 15-20 
Go Ape Haldon Forest Park 

 
15-20 10-15 

Tenpin Exeter 

 
15-20 15-20 iBounce Trampoline Park - 

Exeter 

 
30-35 25-30 iBounce Trampoline Park - 

Newton Abbot 

 

30-35 25-30 
The Lodge 

 
20-25 25-30 

Planet Play 

 

15-20 10-15 
Bear Feet Exeter 

 

15-20 10-15 
Topsham Play Cafe 

 

10-15 10-15 
Riverside Leisure Centre 

 

15-20 10-15 
Cat & Fiddle Inn 

 

15-20 15-20 
The Twisted Oak 

 

20-25 25-30 
The Red Deer 

 
25-30 25-30 

Sam’s Funhouse 

 

20-25 20-25 
Tickety-Boo 

 
20-25 20-25 

Playdome 

 
30-35 25-30 

Tumbling Teds Playhouse 

 
25-30 25-30 

Monsters Mansion 

 
Full details of soft play, indoor climbing, high ropes, ten pin bowling, trampoline park and 
indoor skate park providers are contained below.  

Page 162



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 
 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
  3 

1. Summary 
 

The table below summarises the competitor commercial facilities within a 30 minute 
driving catchment of Exeter Arena and Wonford Sports Centre.   

 

Competition Catchment Area  Comments 

Soft Play  30 minute drive There are eleven soft play areas within a 30 minute drive of 
Exeter Arena and twelve soft play areas within a 30 minute 
drive of Wonford Sports Centre. 
 
These are mainly aimed at younger ages e.g. under 5s 
(Topsham Play Café), under 8s (Riverside Bumpers 
Backyard).  
 
Three of the soft play areas are located inside family friendly 
pubs offering very basic indoor soft play facilities i.e. a couple 
of small slides. It is worth noting that the Cat & Fiddle Pub is 
currently closed but has applied for planning permission to 
build an indoor play area.  
 
There are a couple of soft play areas that cater for up to 12 
years; Bear Feet, Exeter – Exeter Arena (25 minute drive, 
9.6 miles) Wonford Sports Centre (28 minute drive, 10.4 
miles) and Adventure Zone indoor play area which is the 
largest soft play in Devon and part of Crealy Adventure Park.  
 
To the East of Exeter Crealy Adventure Park - Exeter Arena 
(17 minutes, 5.3 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (15 
minutes, 4.7 miles) also has The Blue Lagoon and Buddy 
Bear’s Kingdom indoor play for younger children. These 
indoor play areas are open throughout the year, whereas the 
outdoor rides at Crealy Adventure Park close during the 
Winter months. 
 
There are also several soft play areas (see below) within a 
40 minute drive e.g. Ocean Exmouth, that potential 
customers may be prepared to travel that bit further to visit: 

 
South  

- Bear Feet, Newton Abbott - Exeter Arena (34 
minutes, 20.1 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (31 
minutes, 16.6 miles) 

- Funky Frogs, Dawlish - Exeter Arena (36 minutes, 
14.4 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (32 minutes, 
12.6 miles) 

- Ocean Exmouth - Exeter Arena (33 minutes, 11 
miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (31 minutes, 10.4 
miles) includes bowling alley and restaurant. Large 
three storey soft play aimed at Under 11s. 

- Play Café, Torquay - Exeter Arena (39 minutes, 25.3 
miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (36 minutes, 21.8 
miles) 

- Tumbling Teds, Newton Abbott - Exeter Arena (34 
minutes, 20.2 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (31 
minutes, 16.7 miles) 

Page 163



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 
 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
  4 

Competition Catchment Area  Comments 

South East 
- World of County Life, Exmouth – Exeter Arena (33 

minutes, 11.7), Wonford Sports Centre (31 minutes, 
11 miles) this family destination has trains, crazy golf 
and indoor soft play area for under 5s. 

 

Indoor Climbing 
/ Clip n Climb 

30 minute drive There are four indoor climbing centres within a 30 minute 
drive of Exeter Arena and three in a 30 minute catchment of 
Wonford Sports Centre. They are:  
 

 The Quay Climbing Centre is 12 minutes, 3.4 miles 
from Exeter Arena and 11 minutes, 2.5 miles from 
Wonford Sports Centre 

 Exeter Clip n Climb is 12 minutes, 3.4 miles from 
Exeter Arena and 11 minutes, 2.5 miles from Wonford 
Sports Centre. Located at the same location as The 
Quay Climbing Centre but offering different type of 
climbing experience. 

 Vertexe Climbing, Exmouth, part of Exmouth Leisure 
Centre is South of both centres. 27 minutes, 10.4 
miles South of Exeter Arena and 27 minutes, 9.8 
miles South of Wonford Sports Centre 

 Wall In The Hall, Tiverton is North of both centres. 30 
minutes, 14.2 miles from Exeter Arena and 37 
minutes, 15.3 miles from Wonford Sports Centre 

 
Within a 60 minute drive: 
 
South  

- The Boulder Bunker, Torquay – Exeter Arena (40 
minutes, 25.1 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (35 
minutes, 21.6 miles) 

 
- Dart Rocking Climbing Centre, Buckfastleigh - Exeter 

Arena (35 minutes, 26.8 miles) and Wonford Sports 
Centre (31 minutes, 23.3 miles) 

 
North West  

- Rock & Rapid Adventure Centre, South Molton - 
Exeter Arena (49 minutes, 40.7 miles) and Wonford 
Sports Centre (47 minutes, 40.6 miles) 

 

High Ropes 30 minute drive There is one outdoor high ropes course within a 30 minute 
drive of both centres: 
 

 Go Ape Haldon Forest is South of Exeter: 20 minutes, 
12.4 miles from Exeter Arena and 18 minutes, 8.7 
miles from Wonford Sports Centre  

 
Also, within a 60 minute drive there is: 
 
 
 

Page 164



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 
 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
  5 

Competition Catchment Area  Comments 

 
North 

- Vivary Adventure Centre, Taunton - made up of a 5m 
course, 9m outdoor course, Climbing wall, Power Fan 
Descender, Gladiator Challenge, Totem Pole, Caving 
Ladder, Mini Golf and Footgolf - Exeter Arena (44 
minutes, 31.1 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (43 
minutes, 31 miles) 

 

Ten Pin 
Bowling 

30 minute drive There is one ten pin bowling facility within a 30 minute drive 
of Exeter Arena and Wonford Sports Centre:   
 

 Tenpin Exeter  - Exeter Arena (16 minutes, 3.5 miles) 
and Wonford Sports Centre (12 minutes, 2.5 miles) 

 
There are several other ten pin bowling facilities within a 60 
minute drive of Exeter: 
 
South  

- Ocean Exmouth - Exeter Arena (33 minutes, 11 
miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (31 minutes, 10.4 
miles) 

 
- AMF Bowling, Torquay - Exeter Arena (50 minutes, 

26.4 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (46 minutes, 
22.9 miles) 

 
North 

- Hollywood Bowl, Taunton - Exeter Arena (38 
minutes, 32.4 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (38 
minutes, 32.2 miles) 

 

TAG Active 30 minute drive There are no TAG Active facilities within a two hour drive of 
either centres. The nearest one is at Flip Out Basingstoke 
which is 2hrs 15 minute drive away.  

Trampoline 
Parks 

30 minute drive There is one trampoline park within a 30 minute drive of both 
centres and two trampoline parks within a 30 minute drive of 
Wonford Sports Centre: 
 

 iBounce Trampoline Park - Exeter Arena (20 minutes, 
6.2 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (16 minutes, 
4.3 miles) 

 iBounce Trampoline Park, Newton Abbot (South) - 
Exeter Arena (34 minutes, 20.6 miles) and Wonford 
Sports Centre (30 minutes, 17.1 miles)  

 

Indoor Skate 
Parks 

30 minute drive There is one indoor skate park within a 30 minute drive of 
Wonford Sports Centre and none within a 30 minute drive of 
Exeter Arena although The Lodge is in close proximity only 
34 minutes away:   
 

Page 165



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 
 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
  6 

Competition Catchment Area  Comments 

 The Lodge, Newton Abbot (South) - Exeter Arena 
(34 minutes, 20.2 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre 
(30 minutes, 16.8 miles)  

 
There are three notable skate parks within a 60 minute drive, 
two indoor and one outdoor: 
 
West 

- The Unit Skate Park, Bridge Community Centre, 
Launceston - Exeter Arena (54 minutes, 49.5 miles) 
and Wonford Sports Centre (52 minutes, 45 miles) 

 
South West 

- Prime Skatepark, Plymouth - Exeter Arena (60 
minutes, 47.3 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (56 
minutes, 43.8 miles) 

 
South 

- Parkfield Torbay, Paignton - Exeter Arena (47 
minutes, 27.5 miles) and Wonford Sports Centre (43 
minutes, 24 miles). This skatepark is outdoor, free 
and run alongside a BMX track so likely to appeal to 
skateboard users in the area 

   

Page 166



Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   7 

Soft Play Analysis 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
 
Bear Feet 
Exeter, Exeter  
 
https://www.bearf
eetexeter.net/ 

EX2 8LN 
 
 

01392 
953039 

 
16 mins 4 miles  Multi-level soft play 

frame with ball 
pools, slides and ball 
volcano 

 Parties 

 Hot food & drink 

 Free Wi-Fi 

 On-site parking 

 Wheelchair & 
pushchair accessible 
 

Monday to 

Saturday 09:00 - 

18:00  

 
Sunday and 
Bank Holidays 
10:00 - 16:00 

Anytime 3 Month 
Membership 

From: £35.00 every 3 
months with 1 month 
free trial and a £10.00 
sign-up fee 
 
Normal Day Entry - 
£5.50 

Parent and Toddler - 
£4.00 

After 3pm Monday to 
Wednesday - Entry 
comes with a free Kids 
Meal. Play and eat entry 
£5.00 

Suitable for 12's 
and under with 
dedicated frames 
for the different 
ages 

Part of a small 
chain of play areas 
based in Devon. 
The other Bear 
Feet centre is 
located at Newton 
Abbott (40 minute 
drive, 25.3 miles) 

 

 
12 mins 3 miles 

Cat and Fiddle 
Pub Clyst St 
Mary, Exeter 

EX5 1QQ 01392 873 
317 

 
15 mins 4.4 miles tbc tbc tbc Currently closed 

for renovations  

Proposed plans 
include an indoor 
children’s play 
area. 

 
13 mins 3.8 miles 

EX5 1DR 
 

17 mins 5.3 miles 

P
age 167

https://www.bearfeetexeter.net/
https://www.bearfeetexeter.net/
https://www.bearfeetexeter.net/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   8 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
Crealy 
Adventure Park  
https://www.creal
y.co.uk/ 
 

01395 
233200 

 
15 mins 4.7 miles  3 separate indoor 

soft play areas 

 Adventure Zone 
75,000sq indoor soft 
play for older kids 
featuring bumpy 
slide, slides, three 
drop slides, aerial 
walkways, climbing 
nets, and rope 
swings. 

 Lost Atlantis 
featuring Blue 
Lagoon with four 
bumpy slides, ball 
pools and Dolphin 
drop 

 Buddy Bear’s 
Kingdom for Under 
5s 

 Cabins / Camping 

 Birthday parties 

 Food Courts 

 Zoo 

 60 rides & 
attractions 

 Water rides 

Opening times vary 
per month 
https://www.crealy.c
o.uk/useful-
information/opening
-times  
 
In general during 
the peak times the 
park is open:  
 
10 – 5pm and, 10 – 
5.30pm during 
school holidays 
 

During peak season 
(Summer, school 
holidays and some 
weekends) when the 
outdoor rides are open 
ticket prices are: 

Guest 100cm and over 
£20.95 p/p 

92cm – 100cm £15.95 

Senior 65+ £14.95 

Infant under 92cm – 
Free 

When outdoor rides are 
closed admission prices 
for indoor play areas 
only are:  

£7.95 p/p  

Under 92cm - Free 

With 60 rides and 
attractions, Crealy 
Adventure Park 
has a wide 
selection of 
outdoor rides and 
large indoor soft & 
adventure play 
areas. In addition, 
there are over 200 
farm and Zoo 
animals. 

Lost World of 
Atlantis and 
Adventure Zone 
are open 
throughout the 
year. 

The outdoor rides 
close during the 
Winter months. 

 
Monsters 
Mansion, 
Tiverton  

EX16 4DB 01884 
255692 
 

 
28 mins 22.3 miles  2 tier indoor soft 

play area 

 Café 

 Birthday parties 

 On-site parking 

Monday to Friday 
10:00am-4.00pm 

 
Saturday - 
10.00am-4.00pm 

 
Sunday -  Closed 

Under 1’s - £2 
 
1’s and over - £4  

 

 

 
27 mins 22.2 miles 

P
age 168

https://www.crealy.co.uk/
https://www.crealy.co.uk/
https://www.crealy.co.uk/useful-information/opening-times
https://www.crealy.co.uk/useful-information/opening-times
https://www.crealy.co.uk/useful-information/opening-times
https://www.crealy.co.uk/useful-information/opening-times
https://www.facebook.com/172194812801059/photos/1433282020025659/
https://www.monstersmansion.com/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   9 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

https://www.mons
tersmansion.com/ 
 

 
Planet Play, 
Crediton  

EX17 1HB 01363 
774626 

 
25 mins 9.6 miles  2 tiered indoor 

soft play area with 
space theme 

 Café 

 Birthday parties 

Monday to 
Thursday 
9:00am – 5:30pm 
 
Friday 
9:00am – 6.00pm 
 
Saturday 
9:30am – 5:30pm 
 
Sunday 
9:30am – 5:00pm 

0-12 months: Free 

1 year – 9 years: £4.00  

Adults: Free 

Planet Play is 
suitable for 
children aged 0 – 
9 
 
Opened October 
2016 

 
28 mins 10.4 miles 

 
Playdome,  
Honiton  
 
http://www.thepla
ydome.com/  

EX14 1DB 01404 
47007 

 
24 mins 15.5 miles  3 tiered indoor 

play area with 
slides, ball pools, 
climbing nets and 
look outs 

 Drop slide 

 Separate toddler 
area 

 Café 

 Air conditioned 

 Partial supervision 
by play 
professionals 

 On-site shop 

Monday -  Closed 
 
Tuesday to 
Thursday  
10.00am – 3.15pm  
 
Friday – Sunday 
10.00am – 6.00pm  
 
Bank Holidays  
10.30am – 5.00pm  
 
School Holidays – 
Open 7 days a 
week. 

Adults – First adult free, 
thereafter £1.00  

Babies Under 6 months 
Free  

Babies 6 months-1year  
£1.60  

1-2 years  £3.90  

Over 3 years  £5.30 

 

 
23 mins 15.4 miles 

EX4 1AF 
 

14 mins 3.5 miles 

P
age 169

https://www.monstersmansion.com/
https://www.monstersmansion.com/
http://www.theplaydome.com/
http://www.theplaydome.com/
http://www.planet-play.co.uk/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   10 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
Riverside 
Leisure Centre  
Bumpers 
Backyard  
Soft play area 
https://www.leisur
ecentre.com/river
side-leisure-
centre/Facilities  

01392 
221771 

 
11 mins 2.4 miles  Multi-level soft play 

area 

 Separate toddler 
area 

 Crèche 

 Birthday parties 

 100 station gym  

 Café 

 Squash courts 

 Sports hall 

 Fitness studio 

Bumpers Backyard 
(Children's Play 
Area) 
 
Monday 08:00 am - 
08:00 pm  
 
Tuesday 08:00 am - 
08:00 pm  
 
Wednesday 08:00 
am - 08:00 pm  
 
Thursday 08:00 am 
- 08:00 pm  
 
Friday 08:00 am - 
08:00 pm  
 
Saturday 08:00 am 
- 08:00 pm  
Sunday 08:00 am - 
08:00 pm 

Bumpers £2.50 per child 

Creche £2.50 per child 
per hour 

Bumpers Party £65 

 

Suited to children 
8 years and under 

 
Sam’s 
Funhouse,  
Exmouth  
http://www.samsf
unhouse.co.uk/ 
 

EX8 1AP 01395 
264387 

 
29 mins 10.5 miles  3 tier indoor play 

area with giant slide 

 Separate toddler soft 
play area 

 Café 

 Seating area 

 Parties & private hire 

Monday to Friday                
9.30am to 6pm 
 
Saturday & Sunday               
10am to 6pm 
 
Open all year round 
except for 
Christmas Day & 
New Years Day 

Term Time: 
Monday to Friday 9.30 to 
6pm 
Under 5s - £3.75 
Over 5s £4.25 
 
Under 12 months – free 
 
Adults free when 
accompanied by a child. 
Extra adults 50p 
 

Suitable for 
children 0-12 year 
olds  

27 mins 9.9 miles 

P
age 170

https://www.leisurecentre.com/riverside-leisure-centre/Facilities
https://www.leisurecentre.com/riverside-leisure-centre/Facilities
https://www.leisurecentre.com/riverside-leisure-centre/Facilities
https://www.leisurecentre.com/riverside-leisure-centre/Facilities
http://www.samsfunhouse.co.uk/
http://www.samsfunhouse.co.uk/
https://www.facebook.com/433772440021708/photos/433841560014796/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   11 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

Weekends & School 
holidays – Over 12 
months £4.75 

 
 
The Red Deer, 
Crediton  
 
https://www.redde
erpubcrediton.co.
uk/our-pub/  

EX17 3PH 01363 
774248 

 
24 mins 8.8 miles  Outdoor play area 

 Small indoor kids 
zone 

 Free Wi-fi 

Open 12pm 
onwards 
 
Last orders 11pm 

Free usage with 
meal/drink 

Family friendly pub 

 
28 mins 9.6 miles 

 
Tickety-Boo, 
Ottery Saint Mary  
https://www.ticket
yboocafe.co.uk/ 
 

EX11 1AD 01404 812 
559 

 
22 mins 11.1 miles  Indoor play area with 

castle, slides and 
treehouse, slides, 
and rope bridges 

 Separate Under 5s 
play area 

 Coffee shop 

 Reading area 

Monday to Saturday 
08.30 to 17.30 and 
Sunday 09.00 to 
17.00 

1 - 5 years: £2.50 
 
6 - 11 years: £3.00 
 
Under 12 months: 
free 

Community 
minded play 
centre and 
coffee shop 
selling local 
produce, 
showcasing local 
school art and 
working with local 
book shop to stock 
reading area. 
 
Soft play area for 
Under 11s only 

 
20 mins 11 miles 

Topsham Play 
Cafe, Topsham 
Rugby Club, 
Exeter  

EX3 0LY 07961 
703858 

 
16 mins 4.8 miles  Foam blocks, ride 

ons and toys 

 Café food  

 Free Wi-Fi 

 Baby changing 

Monday to Friday 
9.30 – 3pm 

£3 per child to play, 
babies are free 

Small play café 
based in Topsham 
Rugby Club aimed 
at younger 

 
11 mins 2.9 miles 

P
age 171

https://www.reddeerpubcrediton.co.uk/our-pub/
https://www.reddeerpubcrediton.co.uk/our-pub/
https://www.reddeerpubcrediton.co.uk/our-pub/
https://www.ticketyboocafe.co.uk/
https://www.ticketyboocafe.co.uk/
https://www.facebook.com/204906809550530/photos/1881892725185255/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   12 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

https://www.faceb
ook.com/pages/T
opsham-Play-
Cafe/3942549607
43368 

Free parking children – Under 
5s 

 
 
Balls Farm Rd, 
Exeter  
http://yourfriendly
pubco.co.uk/TheT
wistedOak/web/ki
ds.html  

EX2 9RG 01392 
273666 

 
18 mins 4.6 miles  Basic indoor play 

area with couple of 
slides and tables 

 Outdoor play area 

 Indoor & Outdoor 
kids play area 

 Family friendly 

 Free Wi-Fi 

 Free Parking 
Toddler mornings 

Pub hours free Basic toddler play 
area within a 
family friendly pub  

15 mins 3.6 miles 

 
Tumbling Teds 
Newton Abbot 
 
https://tumblingte
ds.co.uk/  

TQ12 2DA 01626 
335678 

 
32 mins 20.2 miles  Indoor play area 

for under 6s with 
ball pool, 
playhouse, slides, 
fun bus and 
climbing frames 

 Free parking 

 Café 

 Birthday parties 

Monday to Friday: 
9am – 4pm 
 
Saturday: 9am – 
2pm 

£3 per child 

Adults free 

Indoor play area 
for 0-6 year olds 

 
29 mins 16.7 miles 

 

 

 
  

P
age 172

https://www.facebook.com/pages/Topsham-Play-Cafe/394254960743368
https://www.facebook.com/pages/Topsham-Play-Cafe/394254960743368
https://www.facebook.com/pages/Topsham-Play-Cafe/394254960743368
https://www.facebook.com/pages/Topsham-Play-Cafe/394254960743368
https://www.facebook.com/pages/Topsham-Play-Cafe/394254960743368
http://yourfriendlypubco.co.uk/TheTwistedOak/web/kids.html
http://yourfriendlypubco.co.uk/TheTwistedOak/web/kids.html
http://yourfriendlypubco.co.uk/TheTwistedOak/web/kids.html
http://yourfriendlypubco.co.uk/TheTwistedOak/web/kids.html
https://tumblingteds.co.uk/
https://tumblingteds.co.uk/
http://yourfriendlypubco.co.uk/TheTwistedOak/web/home.html


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   13 

 

Indoor Climbing / Clip N Climb Analysis 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
 
The Quay 
Climbing Centre, 
Haven Rd, 
Exeter  
https://www.qua
yclimbingcentre.
co.uk/ 

EX2 8AX 01392 
426 850 

 
a.12 mins 
 

a.3.4 
miles 

 Roped climbing 
area at the Quay, 
the South West’s 
largest indoor 
climbing wall 

 85 hangers each 
with up to 3 lines of 
climbing - over 200 
routes to try at any 
time.  

 14.5 metre lead 
wall, top roped walls 
from 7 to 11 metres, 
7 auto belays for 
solo climbers and a 
dedicated novice 
zone 

 Two boulder caves 

 Climbing training 
room 

 Workshop Café 

 Climbing clubs 

 Birthday parties 

 Therapy room – 
Physio, yoga 

 Outdoor instructor 
lead climbing & 
bouldering courses 

Open Daily 
 
Weekdays:   
10am to 10pm 
 
Weekends:   
10 am to 8pm 
 
Peak hours run 
from 4pm to 10pm 
weekdays, all day 
weekends and 
Bank Holidays. 
 
Off peak hours are 
10am to 4pm 
weekdays. 
Lunchtime rate 
applies from 
12noon to 2pm 
 

Taster session 
Sessions cost £12.50 
per person (1 hour) 
 
Inductions cost £30 
and include two 1 hour 
instructed sessions.  
 
Annual registration fee 
£7.50 per year 
 
Pay As You Go -
Climbing  
Registered member: 
(Peak -£8 /Off peak £6 
/Lunchtime rate £4.50) 
Climbing rate: (Peak -
£10 /Off peak £8 
/Lunchtime £5.50) 
Registered U18s 
/concessions: (Peak 
£6/Off peak £6 
/Lunchtime £4.50) 
Under 18s: (Peak £9/ 
Off peak £7 / 
Lunchtime £4.50) 
 
Bouldering 
Registered member: 
(Peak -£6 /Off peak £5 
/Lunchtime rate £4) 

The centre makes use 
of the huge atrium 
space built into one of 
Exeter’s largest and 
iconic industrial 
buildings – formerly 
the city’s electricity 
works.   
 
Within the arena the 
space is also used for 
Clip ‘n Climb Exeter, 
freelance osteopaths 
sports massage 
therapists and is also 
the HQ for Exeter 
Riverside’s 
weekly parkrun 

 
11 mins 2.5 miles 

P
age 173

https://www.quayclimbingcentre.co.uk/
https://www.quayclimbingcentre.co.uk/
https://www.quayclimbingcentre.co.uk/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   14 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

Climbing rate: (Peak -
£7 /Off peak £6 
/Lunchtime £5.50) 
 
Registered U18s 
/concessions: (Peak 
£6.50/Off peak £5 
/Lunchtime £4) 
 
Under 18s: (Peak 
£5.80/ Off peak £4.50 / 
Lunchtime £4) 

 
 
Clip n Climb 
Exeter, The 
Quay Climbing 
Centre, Haven 
Rd  
https://www.clipn
climbexeter.co.u
k/ 

EX2 8AX 01392 
422 559 

 
12 mins 
 

a.3.4 
miles 

 26 climbing wall 
challenges e.g. 
aliens, astroball, 
stairway to heaven 

 Leap of faith 

 Auto belay system 
ensures that you 
can climb safely 
without assistance 

 Birthday parties 

 School & Youth 
Group bookings 

 Corporate packages 

 Gift cards 
 

10am - 8pm 
Monday - Friday  
 
 9am - 7pm 
Weekends, school 
holidays & bank 
holidays 

£12.50 per Clip ‘n 
Climb session (1.5 
hours) 

Clip n climb rockstars 
(4-10 years) Sessions 
every Tuesday, 
Wednesday and 
Thursday from 4.30pm 
to 5.30pm - £8 a week.  

Exclusive use for £260 
on week nights during 
term time & school 
holidays. Weekends 
after 4.30pm 

Clip n Climb section of 
the Quay Climbing 
Centre 

Minimum age is 4 
years 

Participants have to be 
120cm or taller to use 
Leap of Faith 

 
11 mins 2.5 miles 

 

 
 

EX8 1EN 01395 
266381 

 
27 mins 10.4 miles  11 climbing walls 

which are 6 metres 
high 

 Indoor ‘clip n climb’ 
style climbing area 

 25m swimming pool 

 Teacher pool 

Holidays and 
weekends 10am 
to 4pm  
 
Term time 
weekdays 5pm 
to 7pm 

Non Members adult 
£10, Child (4-17 years) 
£7.00  

Unlimited Members 
£6.30  

Exmouth Leisure 
Centre has recently 
been redeveloped 
including a new 
climbing wall 

 
27 mins 9.8 miles 

P
age 174

https://www.clipnclimbexeter.co.uk/
https://www.clipnclimbexeter.co.uk/
https://www.clipnclimbexeter.co.uk/
https://www.clipnclimbexeter.co.uk/
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   15 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

Vertexe 
Climbing  
LED Exmouth 
Leisure Centre, , 
Exmouth  
https://www.ledl
eisure.co.uk/acti
vities/exmouth-
leisure-
centre/all-about-
vertexe 

 Gym (50 stations) 

 Sports Hall (2 
badminton courts) 

 3 squash courts 

 Studios x5 

 Cycle park 

 PTL Members £5.25 
Each climbing session 
runs for an hour and 
includes briefing 

Vertexe is an indoor 
clip n climb climbing 
area 

 

 
Wall In The Hall 
Tiverton 
http://www.thew
allinthehall.co.uk
/ 
 

EX16 5JJ 01884 
251830 

 
30 mins 14.2 miles  Routes range from 3 

to 8A+ 

 Birthday parties 

 Climbing lessons 

 Old School Café 

 On-site parking 

Mondays & 
Tuesday: 
Advanced 
Bookings only 
 
Wednesday - 
Friday: 
9 am - 4 pm 
Advanced 
Bookings Only 
 
4 pm - 9 pm  
 
Saturday: 
12.00-5.00pm  
 
Sunday:  
Advanced 
Bookings Only 
 
Kids Clubs  
Little Climbers (5-
7 years) 
 

Non-member prices 

Session: £9 
 
Induction: £30 (2 
hours) 
 
1:1 (or 1:2 )tuition:  
£25 p/h  
 
Beginners Course: £75 
 
Parties: From £10 per 
person 
 
Member Prices: 
Adult Entry: £5  
 
Child + Adult 
Belayer: £5 
 
Guest Entry: £3  
 

The Wall in the Hall is 
a community climbing 
centre  

37 
mins 

15.3 miles 

P
age 175

https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
https://www.ledleisure.co.uk/activities/exmouth-leisure-centre/all-about-vertexe
http://www.thewallinthehall.co.uk/
http://www.thewallinthehall.co.uk/
http://www.thewallinthehall.co.uk/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   16 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

Wednesday 4-
5.30pm 
Kids Club (age 8+) 
Thursday 4.30 pm 
- 6.30 pm 
 
Friday 4-6 pm  
 
Advanced Youth 
Climbers. 
Saturday: 12-2 pm  

Teen Climb (Requires 
Student ID) : £3  

  
Gold membership: £25 
per month   
(Unlimited access 
during opening hours)  

 
Kids Clubs: £25 per 
month 
 

 
 

High Ropes Analys 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
Go Ape Haldon 
Forest Park, 
Exeter  
 
https://goape.co.
uk/days-
out/south-
west/haldon  
 

EX6 7XR 01603 
895500 

 
20 mins 12.4 miles  High ropes course 

with zip wires, 
stepping stones, log 
balance and button 
bridge 

 New tree top junior 

 Gift vouchers 

 Groups  

 Birthday parties 

Closed in 
December 
 
Times vary. In 
general: 
 
Weekdays 10am – 
3pm 
 
Weekends 9am – 
4pm 

Go Ape 
10-15 years - £25 
16+ - £33 
 
Tree top junior 
All ages (over 1m, 
6years+) £18 
 
 
 
 

Outdoor high ropes 
course situated in 
3,500 acres of 
woodland, 15 minutes 
from Exeter 

 
18 mins 8.7 miles 

 

 

 

P
age 176

https://goape.co.uk/days-out/south-west/haldon
https://goape.co.uk/days-out/south-west/haldon
https://goape.co.uk/days-out/south-west/haldon
https://goape.co.uk/days-out/south-west/haldon
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiXlraonJXdAhUDzKQKHeDCCK0QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.cspretail.com/client/adventure-forest-group-goape/go-ape-logo/&psig=AOvVaw1fpVZ4Gz2eLutk-zkZ7cAT&ust=1535733771281208


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   17 

Ten Pin Bowling Analysis 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
 
Tenpin Exeter,  
https://www.tenpi
n.co.uk/our-
locations/exeter/ 
 

EX2 8BY 0871 222 
3675  

16 min 3.5 miles 
 

 Bowling lanes 

 UK pool tables 

 Fully Licensed Bar 

 Disabled access 

 Food and drink 

 Cosmic bowling 

 Sky sports 

 Amusements 

Arcade 

 Paid parking 

 Birthday parties 
 

Monday to Friday 
12am – 12pm 
 
Saturday & Sunday 
10am – 12pm 
 
School Holidays 
10am to 12 every 
day 
 
 

Adult 
1 game - £7.95 
2 games - £13.70 
3 games - £19.45 
 
Junior 
1 game - £6.45 
2 games - £11.20 
3 games - £15.95 
 
Family (4 people) 
1 game - £27.90 
2 games - £44.99 
Add extra person 
1 game - £6.45  
2 games - £11.20 

 

 
12 min 2.5 miles 

 

 
Trampoline Parks Analysis 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
iBounce 
Trampoline Park 
- Exeter  
https://www.i-
bounce.co.uk/exe
ter-trampoline-
park 
 

EX2 8PN 01392 
537333 

 
20 mins 6.2 miles  Giant airbag  

 Stunt zones 

 Foam pits 

 Limited parking at 
busy times 

 Open bounce zone 

 Dodgeball court 

 Light chaser games 

 Fitness classes 

Off Peak  
Monday to Friday 
10am – 7pm 
 
Peak (school 
holidays & 
weekends) 
 
Monday to Friday  

Standard Admission 
£9.95  
 
Weekday Bounce £6  
 
Evening Bounce £7.50  
 
Fitness /HIIT /Circuits £6  
 

Opened in 2017 

  
16 mins 4.3 miles 

P
age 177

https://www.tenpin.co.uk/our-locations/exeter/
https://www.tenpin.co.uk/our-locations/exeter/
https://www.tenpin.co.uk/our-locations/exeter/
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/exeter-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/exeter-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/exeter-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/exeter-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/index


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   18 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 Toddler sessions 

 Disco nights 

 Additional needs 
sessions 

 Free WiFi 

 Café & viewing 
area  

9am – 7pm 
 
Saturday 9am – 
7pm 
 
Sunday 9am – 6pm 

Additional Needs 
Sessions £6  
 
Disco £7.50  
 
Parent & toddler £3 each  
 
After School Bounce 
£7.50  
 
Sibling Sessions £5  
 
Pocket Money Bounce 
£7.50   

 
 
iBounce 
Trampoline Park - 
Newton Abbot  
https://www.i-
bounce.co.uk/dev
on-trampoline-
park 

TQ12 4SG 01626 
332241 

 
34 mins 20.6 miles  Giant Airbag with 

1.5m launch platform 

 Open bounce zone 

 Dodgeball court 

 Fitness classes 

 Disco nights 

 Dodgeball 
tournaments 

 Parent & toddler 
Sessions 

 Additional needs 
sessions 

 Free WiFi 

 Private party room 

 

Off Peak  
Monday to Friday 
10am – 7pm 
 
Peak (school 
holidays & 
weekends) 
 
Monday to Friday  
9am – 7pm 
 
Saturday 9am – 
7pm 
 
Sunday 9am – 6pm 

Standard Admission 
£9.95  

Weekday Bounce £6  

Evening Bounce £6 / 
After School Bounce £6  

Fitness £6 / Disco £6  

Additional Needs 
Sessions £6  

Parent & toddler £3 each  

 

Newton Abbot i 
bounce was the 
first trampoline 
park in Devon. 

 
30 mins 17.1 miles 

 

 

  

P
age 178

https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/devon-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/devon-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/devon-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/devon-trampoline-park
https://www.i-bounce.co.uk/index


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   19 

Indoor Skate Parks Analysis 

 
Name Postcode Contact 

Details 
Site Drive 

Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

 
The Lodge, 
Newton Abbot  
http://www.thelod
geskatepark.uk/ 

TQ12 2DA 01626 
438353 

 
34 mins 20.2 miles  Skatepark for 

scooters, 
skateboards and 
BMX bikes 

 Coaching facilities 

 Birthday parties 

 Group bookings 

 Gift vouchers 

 Equipment hire 

 Shop 

Monday 9:15am - 
9.00pm 
 
Tuesday 9:15am - 
9.00pm 
 
.00pm 
Saturday 9:15am - 
5.30pm 
 
Sunday Skatepark 
Bookings / Birthday 
Parties Wednesday 
9:15am - 9.00pm 
 
Thursday 9:15am - 
9.00pm 
 
Friday 9:15am – 
9pm 

Monday - All wheels pay 
and ride all day 9.15am-
5.30pm (£3.50 per hr/£6 
for 2hrs) 
 
Tuesday - All wheels 
pay and ride 9.15am - 
5.30pm (£3.50 per hr/£6 
for 2hrs) 
 
Tuesday - Skateboard 
Coaching 5.00pm-
6.00pm and 6.00pm-
7.00pm (£5 per session) 
Tuesday - Skateboard 
Night 7pm-10pm (£6.00) 
 
Wednesday - All wheels 
pay and ride all day 
9.15-5.30pm (£3.50 per 
hr/£6 for 2hrs) 
Wednesday - Scooter 
Night 6pm-9pm (£5.00) 
Thursday - All wheels 
pay and ride all day 
9.15-5.30pm (£3.50 per 
hr/£6 for 2hrs) 
       
Thursday - Bike and 
Board night over 
13s 6pm-9pm (£6.00) 
Friday - All wheels pay 
and ride all day 9.15am - 

The Lodge is 
Devon's newest 
indoor Skatepark, 
and the only 
indoor Skatepark 
in Devon aside 
from Plymouth. 

It shares the 
premises with the 
Pro Cycle Centre 
at Newton Abbot. 

100% volunteer 
led and has 
recently become a 
Charitable 
Incorporated 
Organisation, the 
facility is currently 
being upgraded to 
offer a Youth Café. 

 

 
30 mins 16.8 miles 

P
age 179

http://www.thelodgeskatepark.uk/
http://www.thelodgeskatepark.uk/
http://www.thelodgeskatepark.uk/


Appendix 4. Commercial Competition Analysis 

 Max Associates – Private & Confidential   20 

Name Postcode Contact 
Details 

Site Drive 
Time 
(mins)  

Distance 
(miles) 

Facility Mix Opening Hours Core Prices Other comments 

5.30pm  (£3.50 per hr/£6 
for 2hrs) 
Friday - Scooter 
Coaching Sessions 
5.15pm-6.00pm (£5) 
Fri Nights - Under 13's 
Skate and Scoot 6pm-
9pm (£6.00 entry) 
 
Saturday All wheels pay 
and ride all day 9.15-
5.30pm (£3.50 per hr/£6 
for 2hrs)        
(Birthday Parties after 
5.30pm) 
Special day rate is just 
£10.00 from 11.00am-
4.00pm 
 
Sundays - Birthday 
Parties and Group 
Bookings (Exclusive Use 
of the Skatepark for 
1.5hrs @ £100.00)  
*Special Day Passes* 
now available for just 
£10.00 per person to 
use the Skatepark from 
11.00am-4.00pm any 
weekday & Saturdays. 

 
 
 

 

P
age 180



Appendix 5 Exeter City Council Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning 
Model Proposal 

 

 

 
 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL  
 

Strategic Outcomes Planning Model  
Guidance 

 
A strategic approach to sport and physical activity that supports local 

priorities 

 

 

September 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 181



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

 

1. Introduction  

 
1.1. Max Associates is delighted to provide guidance to develop a Sport England 

Strategic Outcomes Planning Model and strategic options appraisal / framework 
to drive and inform decisions required by Exeter City Council to deliver longer-
term sustainable investment to Wonford Sports Centre.  
 

2. Methodology  
 

2.1. To develop the Strategic Outcomes Delivery Model, we have set out an overview of the 
methodology with further detail in the following pages.  
  

2.2. Our approach and methodology has been based on meeting the new Sport England 
guidance for funding such schemes. Key features which applications will be expected to 
demonstrate are:  

 A clear strategic vision and planned approach focused on local outcomes 
(cross-sector collaboration, health, leisure, social services, libraries, crime 
prevention etc);  

 Utilisation of local insight to identify the target audiences, the behaviour 
change required and how to achieve this;  

 Clarity on how sport and physical activity can impact on achieving the 
outcomes;  

 A facility mix which has been developed through a thorough understanding 
of the target audience and behaviour change;  

 A cost effective build and financially sustainable operating model;  

 Integrated service facility offer (co-location where appropriate);  

 A facility that provides the potential to deliver the identified outcomes;  

 An operating contract that can deliver the desired outcomes; and,  

 An effective data analysis system to evaluate performance and assess 
achievement of outcomes 

 

Page 182



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

Figure 1 – Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Model 

Stage  

 

2.3. This approach is systematic and evidenced based for any investment in new facilities or 
services and builds in opportunities to ensure ‘buy-in’ from senior officers and elected 
members. It will provide both options of new facility investment and also key service 
interventions that can be built into the new leisure specification. Finally, the approach 
will be aligned to SE strategy and will support any strategic funding applications. 

Page 183



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

 
 

2.4. Stage 1 – Project Inception 
 

2.4.1. Our starting point for this project will be for a project inception meeting with officers from 
the Council to fully agree the scope of stakeholders and to explore further the existing 
strategies currently in place and to agree timelines for actions.  
 

2.4.2. The team will take the opportunity to visit the proposed sites and identify all the 
background information that is available in respect to the services.  Contacts and key 
stakeholders will be agreed, along with the approach to any public consultation that is 
required.   
 

2.5. Stage 2 – Outcomes 

 

2.5.1. We understand that much of the work below has been completed by the Council 
and we will simply review the information and identify the gaps: 
 

Page 184



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

2.5.2. Review of existing strategies - review of the relevant existing strategies, e.g. Exeter 
Move More Strategy and analysis of data available on health and participation and 
demographics to understand local community needs and priorities.  
 

2.5.3. Council and key stakeholder priorities – review of existing strategic documents to 
identify the main shared priorities and opportunities for shared services. 
 

2.5.4. Demographic review - Analyse the demographics of the catchment of the facilities. We 
will undertake a desktop review of data regarding future population increases and any 
planned housing developments within the catchment area and apply good practice 
standards as applicable.  We will utilise the Sport England Insight Data to inform the 
demographic review and produce relevant population maps, an example is shown 
below, demonstrating the % of the population that is aged 0-15 years and how this 
compares to surrounding council areas. 

 

Figure 2 - Sport England Insight Tool Examples 

 
 

 

 
2.5.5. Latent demand reports – Will be commissioned from Leisure Database Company to 

understand the total demand for fitness across the existing leisure centres, it will identify 

Page 185



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

opportunities for growth in fitness membership.  As part of this process existing members 
will be mapped to demonstrate where members live in relation to the centres. 
 

2.5.6. Review of health and participation data – We will review available health profiles to 
identify health inequalities and issues in the borough.  We will also review rates of 
participation in physical activity utilising Sport England data such as the Active Lives 
survey results.  We will also utilise the mapping available on Sport England Insight tool 
to demonstrate rates of inactivity/activity and health factors against neighbouring local 
authorities as shown in the examples below. 

 
Figure 3 - Sport England Insight Tool - Health & Participation Maps 

 
 

 
 

2.5.7. Competition analysis – We will undertake a review of all traditional and commercial 
leisure provision in the area to identify any opportunities for additional facilities that will 
increase participation in physical activity but are not already provided in the borough. 
 

Page 186



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

2.5.8. Understanding local need: stakeholder and public consultation –During this stage, 
we will: 

 Consult with National Governing Bodies of Sport and local sports clubs;  

 Engage with local stakeholders and partners, existing facility user groups, 

health professionals; 

 Review the level of physical activity for residents of Exeter; 

 Consider the health indicators of people in Exeter; 

 Undertake non-user consultation to understand why people do not use current 
facilities. 
 

2.6. The findings from the public consultation along with the feedback from local 
sports clubs and the data available from public health will collectively inform the 
local need for facilities and services related to sport and physical activity.  
 

2.6.1. If however, further community / non-user consultation is required, we would work with 
Leisure-net Solutions a leading leisure consultation company to deliver the following 
consultation. (This is costed for separately depending on whether the Council chooses 
to go ahead with this). 
 

2.6.2. Online “have your say” resident survey  
 

2.6.3. An online survey for members of the community to complete, (target of 400-500 
completions), asking questions about awareness, barriers, encouragement factors etc. 
Client to help promote through local papers, websites etc. and it would be useful if the 
local Citizens Panel could also be involved. There is the opportunity to add in specific 
questions to meet local priorities into the survey questionnaire. 
 

2.6.4. Face to face community/non-user survey  
 

2.6.5. A 500-sample face to face street survey, carried out by Market Research Society 
Guidelines and trained staff. Can cover the whole community or focus on particular 
groups or geographical areas. Results can be benchmarked against our national 
benchmarks. Questions will allow us to identify different groups of people at different 
stages of the Sport England Behavioural Change model. It will also be informed by the 
online survey and the analysis of user postcodes. 
 

2.6.6. 10 in depth Focus groups 
 

2.6.7. To be carried out after the surveys above, in order to drill down further on the results 
from the surveys. They will target particular target/hard to reach groups, such as older 
people, BME groups, people with disabilities, Inactive young women etc, and will be 
recruited from the survey respondents or through local community groups 

 

2.6.8. This element of consultation has been costed separately so the council can choose what 
is needed given the work that has already been undertaken. 

 

2.6.9. The findings from public consultation along with the feedback from local sports clubs 
and the data available from public health will collectively inform the local need for 
facilities and services related to sport and physical activity.  

 
 

Page 187



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

2.7. Stage 3 – Insight 
 

2.7.1. Using the data and research collated in Stage 2 we will research specific local barriers 
by target groups and communities and identify opportunities that will support behaviour 
change. 
 

2.7.2. From the consultation we will identify existing stakeholders who have an interest in the 
local active environment. 
 

2.7.3. We will consolidate all of the data and research to date to produce a needs analysis, 
which will identify the key strategic objectives to be addressed. 
 

2.8. Stage 4 – Interventions  
 

2.8.1. Identify service and facility interventions - We will identify facility and service 
interventions required to meet the strategic objectives.  For each of the interventions we 
will outline resources required. 
 

2.8.2. The facility and service requirements will then be developed based on the local need, 
the opportunities for wider partnership working and collaboration. 
 

2.8.3. During this stage, we will: 
 

 Set out the core sports facility requirements  

 Assess how the facility mix reflects current and future demand 

 Highlight a long list of potential facility options 

 Identify any service delivery needs and partnership opportunities  

 Set out other facility and site requirements including: 
o Size and layout of activity spaces 
o Spectator requirements 
o National and regional competition requirements 
o Innovative physical activity and commercial facilities 
o Ancillary – changing and catering  

 Agree with the Council which options to progress. 
 

2.8.4. Feasibility Studies and Revenue Business Plan Projections - For each of the agreed 
intervention options Max associates will produce a feasibility study, including outline 
financial projections and the population impact.   
 

2.8.5. Max Associates has a robust financial model template which is used for comparative 
purposes.  
 

2.8.6. The business plans will be tested against industry benchmarks and take in consideration 
local pricing requirements, staffing levels and programming.  
 

2.8.7. Max Associates has the benefit of both our own internal database of financial 
performance of sport and leisure facilities from across the UK, and access to information 
from benchmarking clubs that provide data for similar facilities. 

 

2.8.8. In addition to this we will also produce a sensitivity analysis.  This will highlight how any 
changes to the income or expenditure will impact the net surplus/deficit position.  For 
example, if health and fitness income per station reduces by £1,000 or utility costs 

Page 188



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

increase by 10%.  This enables the business plan to be tested against a number of 
scenarios. 
 

2.8.9. It is anticipated that the Council will require an indication of total capital costs, therefore 
as set out above, we have included a PC sum to present high level capital costs for each 
capital intervention project.  

 

2.8.10. Management Options – We will provide the Council with an overview of the alternative 
management options along with the strengths and weaknesses of each option.  This will 
include evaluation of the continuation of the existing operator against other options such 
as an external contractor and in-house management. 

 

2.8.11. The report will set out the key differences between each option including financial 
differences.  We will evaluate the management options against an agreed criterion which 
is based on the Council’s outcomes.  
 

2.8.12. The management options evaluation will identify the preferred management option.  A 
workshop at this point is included to review the management options and agree the 
preferred option. 
 

2.8.13. Key Performance Indicators – KPIs will be developed for each of the interventions to 
monitor and measure performance.  These will be presented to and agreed with the 
project team. 
 

2.9. Stage 4 - Commitment 
 

2.9.1. SOPM Report - We will write up the full report, with concise information in the main body 
and technical information set out in detail in the appendices. The report will be presented 
in a user-friendly format for review and comment by the Council.   
 

2.9.2. We will present the findings to officers and take into account comment and feedback for 
the final report.  
 

2.9.3. A resource plan will be produced to implement the recommendations. 
 

2.10. Expression of Interest (EOI) 
 

2.10.1. Max Associates will work closely with Sport England’s Capital Projects team through 
this process. At an appropriate stage, Sport England can identify whether a project is 
suitable for the Strategic Facilities Fund and request for an Expression of Interest (EOI) 
to be submitted. We will draft and submit an EOI demonstrating the project’s ability to 
address the five key criteria of the fund; then Sport England will consider soliciting an 
application for funding (this will require Sport England’s Investment Committee 
approval).  
 

2.10.2. If approval is given, Sport England will formally solicit an application and an online 
application form will need to be completed. At an agreed development stage, the 
applicant will formally submit their lottery application (with detailed plans) for assessment 
by Sport England against the key criteria of the Strategic Facilities Fund. 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



Appendix 5 Max Associates Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal 

2.11. Relevant Experience 
 

2.12. Max Associates is working with Trafford, South Holland, Chiltern, North Devon, 
Bradford, Hillingdon, Reading and Carlisle Councils to assist in the development of 
similar schemes and assisting with applications to Sport England for funding. 

 

2.13. In addition, we are current scoping similar projects for Westminster City Council, 
Waltham Forest Council, Hyndburn and Stoke Councils, in partnership with Sport 
England. 

 

2.14. Using the outcomes of the new Sport England Strategy, our approach has been to create 
an offer that outlines the strategic priorities for the area with a particular focus on how 
new or redeveloped indoor facilities can meet the wider physical activity and health 
outcomes.  

 

2.15. While the trigger for starting these projects has been the assumption that a new facility 
is required, the process we have followed is underpinned by local priorities, opportunities 
and local need before we consider the facility requirements.  

 

2.16. For the project examples above we have been commissioned to write the Strategic 
Outcomes Planning Model Report, liaise with Sport England and submit the expression 
of interest (EOI) to Sport England for Strategic Facilities Funding. The EOI has been 
successful in North Devon, Chiltern, Carlisle and Tameside Councils, where Sport 
England has ring-fenced funding and invited these authorities to progress to Stage 2 
funding submissions.  In Bradford work is currently progressing forward to EOI stage. 
For Reading public consultations are presently taking place to inform the strategic 
outcomes planning model and identify barriers to being active and participating in sport.  

 

2.17. In Hillingdon, Sport England has recently signed off the Strategic Outcomes Planning 
Model report, Emma Bernstein, Capital Projects, Sport England commented, “This 
report has gone into more detail that I expected from our initial brief so I am 
pleased with the content and I am happy to sign off from a Sport England 
perspective.”  

 

2.18. On the following pages are three case studies, the first two are recent SOPM reports 
recently completed and the final case study is a management options appraisal 
example. 

Page 190



Appendix 5 Exeter City Council Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal  
 

 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential  11 

Figure 4 – Case Studies   

P
age 191



Appendix 5 Exeter City Council Strategic Outcomes Planning Model Proposal  
 

 

Max Associates – Private & Confidential  12 

 

Page 192



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 10th December 2019
REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 17th December 2019

Report of: Director, Communities, Health, Wellbeing Sport and Leisure 

Title: Exeter Grants Programme Changes to the Scheme of Delegation

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

1. What is the report about?

Council agreed a new Grants Programme in July 2019 and the scheme of delegation 
now need to be amended to reflect the new policy.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That the Executive recommend to Council to approve the following:  

a) amend the scheme of delegation to delegate approval of grants to the Director for 
Communities in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Communities; 

b) the Terms of Reference for the operation of the Grants Panel with delegated 
authority to the proper officer to review and amend the terms of reference as 
necessary; and

c) the decision to open an ad-hoc Strategic Grant Fund is delegated to the Director 
for Communities in consultation with the Council Leader and the Portfolio-holder for 
Communities

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 The delegated authority is required to allow the Grants Panel to operate under the 
proposed terms of reference.

3.2 The proposed terms of reference and supporting operating procedures may need 
adjustments following an initial pilot phase given the process is new and improvement 
may be identified in the early implementation phase.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

4.1 There are no resource implications.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no financial implications for Council to consider.  The section 151 Officer is 
supportive of the changes proposed in the report.

Page 193

Agenda Item 7



 
6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 The proposed delegation of powers is necessary under the Council Constitution to 
enable the effective operation of the new Grants Panel within the context of the Terms 
of Reference under development.  

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

Amending the Council’s schme of delegation in this way should enable speedy 
decision making relating to applications for grant support.

8. Report details:

8.1 In July 2019 Council agreed to implement a new Exeter Grant Programme. This 
followed extensive engagement and consultation with community groups and other 
stakeholders. The agree mobilisation plan requires a new Grants Panel to be set up 
that recognises the specific accountability of elected members but enables the Council 
and community to decide on priorities together. 

8.2 The overall purpose of the Exeter Grants Panel (the Panel) is to provide strategic 
direction for the Exeter Grant Programme and to ensure that grant awards are made in 
line with Council priorities and requirements.  

8.3 The panel membership will reflect the political make–up of the Council and will include 
community representatives and advisers. Advisory members of the panel will be non-
voting. The chair of the Panel will be the Portfolio Holder for Communities.

8.4 The Panel Chair is accountable for ensuring that decisions and recommendations 
made by the Panel are fair and transparent and that the underpinning system and 
processes are proportionate to the funding required but that they also recognise the 
accountability of elected members.

8.5 The Portfolio Holder for Communities will be supported in this role by the relevant 
Director.  The proposed delegated powers are necessary allow the Panel to act in 
accordance with the proposed Terms of Reference attached to this report. 

8.6 The Panel Terms of Reference require that all grant requests in excess of £3,000 will 
be considered by the Grants Panel and that grants under £3,000 will be considered by 
a sub-group of the Panel.

 
8.7 The Grants programme allows for an ad-hoc Strategic Grant Fund to be offered when 

funding allows.  This report requests decision to open such a fund to be delegated to 
the Director for Communities in consultation with the Council Leader and the Portfolio-
holder for Communities. This is to ensure that the available fund for grants are utilised 
in the most open,  flexible, transparent way to meet the needs of local communities. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 This recommendation responds to the Corporate Priority of a well-run Council

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1   The recommendation in itself is a risk mitigation measure in that its implementation 
ensures that the Council is meeting the requirements of its Constitution.

Page 194



 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider 
the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 
equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the 
authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing 
proposals that consider the impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant 
women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in 
coming to a decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because the 
recommendations are technical relating to effective governance under the Council’s 
Constitution and in this context are administrative only. 

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 An alternative option is to amend the Council’s Constitution and create the Grants 
panel as a formal committee.  This is not being recommended as it would enforce 
additional bureaucracy into the grant programme creating considerable delays in 
awarding grants.  

Jo Yelland, Director

Author: Jo Yelland

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services 
01392 265477

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Exeter City Council Grants Programme

Exeter Grants Panel

WORKING DRAFT Terms of Reference VS4 21/10/2019

Introduction

The Exeter Grants Programme will support community groups and organisations to use their 
passion, skills, experience and knowledge to focus efforts on working sustainably to make a 
difference and create change. Its purpose is to: 

 Help people to help themselves and each other
 Build on the strengths of people and communities
 Connect people and organisations within and across communities 

Intended long term outcomes are: 
 Reducing disadvantage and inequality
 Improving health and wellbeing
 Increasing individual and community resilience (the ability to manage) 

Key priorities are to:
1. Address inequalities 
2. Improve health and wellbeing
3. Get people active 
4. Support communities working together to address local needs 
5. Encourage volunteering  
6. Improve where we live

Purpose of the Grants Panel

The overall purpose of the Exeter Grants Panel (the Panel) is to provide strategic direction 
for the Exeter Grant Programme and to ensure that grant awards are made in line with 
Council priorities and requirements.  

Panel Membership 

The panel membership will reflect the political make–up of the Council and will include 
community representatives and advisers. Advisory members of the panel will be non-voting
The chair of the Panel will be the Portfolio Holder for Communities.

Composition of the Panel

The voting members of the panel are:

 Chair of Panel - Portfolio Holder for Communities
 Seven other councillors reflecting the political make–up of the Council
 Two Community Representatives

Non-voting Advisory members will be invited to support the work of the Panel are:  

 Exeter City Council Director with responsibility for Communities
 Chief Executive Officer, Devon Community Foundation
 Chief Executive Officer, Exeter Voluntary and Community Sector Support Service.

Page 197



2

Panel Roles and Responsibilities

The Panel Chair is accountable for ensuring that decisions and recommendations made by 
the Panel are fair and transparent and that the underpinning system and processes are 
proportionate to the funding required but that they also recognise the accountability of 
elected members.  

Voting Councillor Panel members are responsible for encouraging groups and organisations 
to submit grant applications and ensuring that grants are awarded in line with Council 
priorities and procedures. 

The role of Voting Community Representatives is to represent the range of community 
networks in the city taking into account the need to include those that may be disadvantaged 
or who may not have the confidence to participate in community networks.   

Panel members will be encouraged to visit successful applicants to see the benefits and 
impacts of the projects and events supported by Council grants.

The role of advisory (non-voting) members

Advisers are appointed to provide strategic advice and guidance to the Panel, particularly in 
relation to the securing of strategic partners to invest in the fund and the impact 
measurement of the funded projects. The Exeter Voluntary and Community Sector Support 
Service Advisor will be required to advise on and support the selection of the Community 
Representatives. 

Transparency and accountability

All Panel members must declare conflicts of interest when reviewing applications and 
attending panel meetings.  (Where there is a conflict of interest the panel member will not 
have a vote, following guidance from the Chair).

The Panel will ensure that application processes and Panel decision making are transparent 
therefore:

1. Grant application guidelines will be publicly available.
2. Notes will be taken at all Panel meetings, and will include a brief statement of the 

reasons for any decision taken on a grant application.
3. Meeting Notes will be published on the grants website page.

Decisions of the panel will be made fairly in line with criteria set out for each specific grant. 

Panel process and operating procedures

The grant process will be administered by Exeter City Council under the direction of the 
Director responsible for Communities.  Payments of Grants awarded by the Panel will be 
authorised by the Director through the powers set out in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.

Officers will decide what is potentially fundable in line with the fund purpose, outcomes and 
eligibility criteria.  All applications and officer recommendations will be presented to the 
Panel for decision-making.

The Panel will meet bi-monthly and will agree a rolling 12 month schedule of Panel dates at 
its inaugural meeting.

 All Grant Applications will need to be submitted on the Council website 

Page 198



3

 Information on where to go for help and advice in completing your application will be 
clearly shown on the Council website.  To ensure equality of access to all groups this 
support will include practical help from named Council officers to complete on-line 
forms as well contact details for Community Builders and the Exeter Voluntary Sector 
Support Service.

 Grant applications will be received on a rolling basis to avoid the pressure of last 
minute deadlines and processing. 

 Panel members will receive summary information on all applications and officer 
recommendations 5 working dates before a Panel. Panel members will have access 
to a shared folder containing full information on all applications.

 Grant Applicants will be notified of the outcomes by email within 7 working days of 
panel decision and this will include constructive feedback and or sign-posting to 
further support or other sources of funding. Applicants for large grants will have the 
opportunity to present their applications directly to the Panel. These grants are 
defined as large grants:

 Exeter Community Buildings Fund (max £5,000 for 3 years with 50% match)
 Exeter Large Grants Fund (max £30,000 one-off with 50% match)

Small Grants Funding Sub-Committee

So that grants can be processed quickly and that processes are proportionate to the amount 
awarded, decisions on smaller grant funds will be made via a Small Grants funding sub-
committee. In the mobilisation/training phase the Small Grants sub-committee will meet face 
to face and be supported to ensure consistency in decision making but will eventually 
become a virtual, continuous on-line activity.   This will ensure that grant applications are 
processed in a timely and proportionate way.

The Small Grants Panel will consist of a sub-committee agreed by the Panel on an annual 
basis made up of 4 voting members:

 2 Controlling Group Councillor members
 1 Opposition group Councillor member
 1 Community Representative

The Small Grants sub-committee will be supported by 1 non-voting advisory member who 
will be an officer nominated by the Director.  If the Small Grants panel are unable to reach a 
consensus on a decision to award a grant this will be referred to the Exeter Grants Panel 
Chair who will have a casting vote.

These grants are defined as small grants:

 Exeter Small Grants Fund (max £3,000 one off with 20% match) Volunteering 
hours may count as the match funding

 Exeter Ward Grants (max £500 one -off)

Ward Grants 

Ward Grants are also designated as Small Grants however decisions on the awarding of 
Ward Grants will remain with the 3 local Ward Councillors. All applications for Ward Grants 
will need to apply on-line and complete an application check list as well as an Impact 
Evaluation Framework Form.  All 3 Ward Councillors will need to agree to the awarding of a 

Page 199



4

ward grant as they do now.  Maximum grant available is £500 and each ward will have an 
annual £5,000 fund to draw from.

The Panel will receive a bi-monthly report on Ward Grants. 

The Strategic Grant Fund

The Grants programme allows for an ad-hoc Strategic Grant Fund to be offered when 
funding allows.  The decision to open such a fund is delegated to the Director for 
Communities in consultation with the Council Leader and the Portfolio-holder for 
Communities. When such a fund is agreed, eligibility criteria and details will be placed on the 
Council website and promoted through social media and community networks.  Applications 
will be on-line and the Exeter Fund conditions will apply and final decisions will be made by 
the Panel. Depending on the amount of awards possible under this Strategic Fund additional 
conditions may apply. These will be set out alongside the eligibility criteria.       

There is no right of appeal against Panel decisions.

Move More Small Grants (Max £300 one-off)

The funding for this grant comes from the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot and is subject 
to the conditions of the National Lottery contract with Sport England.   Therefore decisions 
on the awarding of grants under this fund will be made by the Active and Healthy People 
Programme Lead and formally report to the Delivery Pilot Executive.   However to ensure 
consistency in approach and alignment with the Council’s Grant Programme all applications 
will be made and processed through the Council website.  Reports of the activity within this 
fund will be included in the routine reporting to the Panel to ensure that the Panel is able to 
have an overview of all grant giving.

Exeter Fund Conditions

All grant applications will: 

 Be made online through the Council’s new Exeter Fund webpage: the application 
process will be easy to access. 

 Only be accepted from groups with bank accounts in the name of the 
organisation/group. (Applicants from groups without bank accounts will be directed to 
their Community Builder and/or the Exeter Voluntary Sector Support Service who can 
assist in managing funds on their behalf.)

 Be supported by copies of appropriate policies if required for example Safeguarding 
Policy.

 Show that the project ties in with one or more of the City council priorities and how it 
meets the demands of development across the City. 

 Show that at least 75% of people benefiting from the project live in Exeter
 Show that there is community support for the project: this can be established by 

asking local people to vote on-line in support of the project or to contribute to a 
crowdfund when there is a requirement for a grant to be joint or match funded. 

 Be required to provide feedback about how the grant has helped by supplying proof 
of how fund monies have been spent in the form of invoices, photos and a simple 
project summary and impact template within 2 months of project completion. Follow 
on reports may be requested for projects in receipt of large grants.

Page 200



5

 Acknowledge Exeter City Council support in project publicity material by using the 
logo provided. 

 Give Exeter City Council the right to share information you have provided in public 
reports and publicity material.

 Complete a checklist and provide examples of what the project has achieved in 
contributing to one or more of the key priorities 

All grant applicants will need to confirm that they understand: 

 Funds must only be spent as detailed in the project application.
 Funds cannot be allocated to individuals or private/for profit enterprises.
 Funds cannot be allocated retrospectively.
 Funds not spent must be returned to Exeter City Council.
 Repayment of the fund can be required at the sole discretion of Exeter City Fund if 

you supply false information or you do not spend funds within 12 months.
 Repeat funding will not be awarded if there are outstanding evaluation/impact reports  

Page 201



6

Appendix 1 

Application Framework (electronic on line form)

What needs to change and why: how 
does this change reduce the impacts of 
development?

Who does this affect? 

What issues are they/you facing?

What opportunities do you see?

Which of the 6 Council priorities would this 
change address?

What will you do to make this change? What will you do?

Who will you work with?

When and at what point/how many people 
will you work with?

How do you know this will create the 
change you want?

What evidence do you have that this will 
work?

Or what evidence makes you think this will 
work?

What will you look at and measure to see 
if your change has worked?

What 3 outcomes will you see if your 
change is successful?

How would you measure them?

How will the outcomes of your project 
contribute to the Council’s long term 
impacts? 

What are the links between your outcomes 
and the Council’s long term impacts? 

Notes

1. Funding applications should be led by community organisations. Collaboration might 
see groups working with statutory bodies but the application should be community led 

2. An Impact Evaluation Framework will be provided with the application guidance and 
form

Page 202



7

Appendix 2 

Impact Evaluation Framework (Electronic Form)

Project Purpose: 
What we set out to achieve
(drop down list linked to 
Council priorities and free 
text)

Outcomes: 
What happened as a result 
of our project what we 
achieved
(drop down list linked to 
Council outcomes and free 
text)

How we spent the money:
What we spent the money 
on
(facility to upload receipts)

What went well

What we would do 
differently next time

Top tips for other groups 
thinking about doing a 
similar project

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 DECEMBER 2019

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 
Date of Meeting: 17 DECEMBER 2019

Report of: Bindu Arjoon - Director 
Title: Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium for the 2020 and 2021 

financial years

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?
 
This report seeks members' views on increasing the current 100% Council Tax Long-Term 
Empty Premium applied to properties that are empty for more than 2 years.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That Executive supports an increase in the Council Tax Long-Term Empty Premium 
from 100% to 200% from 1 April 2020 for properties empty for 5 years or more, and 
from 200% to 300% from 1 April 2021 for properties empty for 10 years or more.

2.2 That Executive recommends to Council, the adoption of an increase in the Council 
Tax Long-Term Empty Premium from 100% to 200% from 1 April 2020 for properties 
empty for 5 years or more, and from 200% to 300% from 1 April 2021 for properties 
empty for 10 years or more.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 The Council is committed to reducing the number of empty homes. The 2019 – 2022 
Empty Homes Strategy's over-arching aim is to bring Exeter's empty homes back into 
use for Exeter residents. With approximately 1,000 householders registered on Devon 
Home Choice looking for accommodation in Exeter, the increases in the Premium 
could be an important tool in achieving the Strategy's aim by encouraging owners of 
empty homes to bring their properties back into use.

3.2 Through the New Homes Bonus scheme introduced in 2011, the Council can gain the 
same financial reward for bringing an empty home back into use as for building a new 
one.  

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

 4.1 Applying the increases could generate additional correspondence and telephone calls 
from those customers affected, and additional work in collecting and recovering the 
council tax due; however it is expected that this work would be absorbed within the 
general work of the Council Tax Section. 

Page 205

Agenda Item 8



 

4.2 There are currently 78 properties in Exeter that are subject to the current 100% 
Premium for being empty for more than 2 years, in the following bands:

 Band A - 17
 Band B - 27
 Band C - 22
 Band D - 5
 Band E - 1
 Band F - 2
 Band G - 1
 Band H – 3

Of those, 24 have been empty for 5 years or more (Band A = 5, Band B = 5, Band C = 
8, Band D = 2, Band E = 1, Band F = 1, Band G = 0 and Band H = 2)

Of those 24, 5 have been empty for 10 years or more (Band C = 3, Band D = 1, Band 
H = 1)

4.3 Should the proposals be agreed, in 2020, a band D property subject to the new 200% 
premium for being empty more than 5 years would pay £5,514 per year as opposed to 
the current £3,676.

In 2021, a band D property subject to the new 300% premium for being empty more 
than 10 years would pay £7,352 per year as opposed to £5,514 payable in 2020-21 
(an increase in £3,676 per year from the current 2019-20 annual charge).

4.4 The overall increase in income for 2020/21, based on council tax charges for the 
2019/20 financial year, would be approximately £52,693. This would increase by a 
further £42,277 in 2021/22.

4.5 As the Council's share of Council Tax income is only 8.44%, the increase in income to 
the Council, should the proposed increases to the Premium for the 2020/21 and 
2021/22 financial years be agreed, (based on the council tax charges for the 2019/20 
financial year) will be approximately as follows;.

- 2020/21 – £3,568
- 2021/22 -  £4,447

5. Section 151 Officer Comments:

5.1 Whilst the overall benefit to the Council in financial terms is small, there are many 
other benefits to bringing empty properties back into use. The section 151 Officer 
therefore supports the proposal.

6. What are the legal aspects?
         The administration and collection of Council Tax is a statutory function of the

Council. The legislation enabling these increases is contained within the Rating 
(Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 which 
received Royal Assent on the 1 November 2018.

7. Monitoring Officer's comments:

Page 206



 
The increases proposed may result in an increase in failure to pay the outstanding 
council task but this possibility should not discourage Members from pursuing the aim 
of bringing these empty homes back into use. 

8. Report details:

8.1 Since 1 April 2019, local authorities in England have been able to charge a Premium of 
up to 100% on long-term empty properties, which are defined as properties which have 
been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for over two years. The Premium is in 
addition to the usual council tax charge that applies to the property. The Premium was 
previously 50% and the report seeking members' views to increase from 50% to 100% 
from 1 April 2019 was presented to Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee on 22 
November 2018 and Executive on 11 December 2018. The increase was adopted by 
Council on 18 December 2018.

8.2 The purpose in enabling local authorities to charge a premium is to address the issues 
relating to: 

1. More than 200,000 properties standing empty in England.
2. Empty properties attracting squatters, vandalism and anti-social behaviour; being 

a blight on the local community; and affecting the value of the properties around 
them.

3. When 1.6 million households are on social housing waiting lists, long-term empty 
properties are a wasted resource.

8.3 The Premium is a discretionary discount, allowing local authorities to decide whether it 
is appropriate for their areas, and what level of premium should be charged.

8.4 The increases to the Premium allows local authorities to strengthen the incentive for 
owners of empty homes to bring them back into use. However guidance published in 
2013, reminds local authorities to take into account the reasons why a property is 
empty, making clear that the Premium should not be used to penalise owners of 
homes that are genuinely on the market for rent or sale.

8.5 The Government do not propose to change the qualifying period of two years believing 
it strikes a balance between providing a strong incentive for bringing empty homes 
back into use, and giving home-owners sufficient opportunity to sell or rent out their 
properties, or to complete any major renovations that might be required. 

8.6 The Council Tax system provides statutory exemptions for properties left empty for a 
specific purpose such as when a person goes into care. By law, the Premium cannot 
apply to homes that are empty due to the occupant being in the armed forces, 
accommodation for job-related purposes or to annexes being used as part of a main 
property. 

8.7 Local Authorities also have powers to apply discretionary discounts in cases where 
homes are empty due to special circumstances such as fire, flooding or hardship. 
When applying the Premium we will be mindful of any mitigating personal 
circumstances such as mental health issues or bereavement and use our discretion 
accordingly. Members may wish to consider whether there are other circumstances in 
which they would not wish to levy the Premium.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council's Corporate Plan?

Page 207



 
Through contributing to building great neighbourhoods. . This initiative contributes to 
achieving the Empty Homes Strategy of bringing back into use long-term empty 
properties. The intention of raising the Premium that can be applied to long-term empty 
homes, is to bring more empty homes back into use, which will have a positive impact 
on homes available for residents as well as on community safety and the environment.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 There is a risk that this approach does not bring any additional properties within scope 
of the Long-Term Empty Premium. The only change is that properties empty for more 
than 5 years and empty for more than 10 years will be subject to the increases in the 
Premium for the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years. The long-term empty qualifying 
period remains at two years.   

10.2 Only 78 properties are currently subject to a Long-Term Empty Premium. Of those 78, 
24 have been empty for more than 5 years and of those 5 have been empty for more 
than 10 years. It could reasonably be expected that some of those owners affected by 
the increases would contact the Council because of potential financial issues in paying 
the Council Tax due. However, this could be an opportunity to engage with them 
regarding how the property could be brought back into use.

10.3 Owners may move furniture in to avoid the premium, but the property would then count 
as a second home which then attracts New Homes Bonus.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

11.1 Under the Act's Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider 
the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people's needs; and

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 
equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the 
authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing 
proposals that consider the impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant 
women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in 
coming to a decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the proposed changes to 
the Premium only affects 78 properties spread throughout the City. Of the 78 
properties, 38 of them are owned by developers or other businesses, with the 
remainder owned by members of the public. The Council does not have data on the 

Page 208



 
characteristics of the owners or any evidence to suggest an impact on any particular 
group.

12. Are there any other options?

As the decision on whether to apply a Premium, and the exact rates to be charged, is 
for the Council to decide, the Long Term Empty Premium could remain at its current 
level of 100% irrespective of the length of time it has been empty.

Bindu Arjoon
Director 

Author: Laura Fricker, Service Lead Revenues, Benefits & Customer Access

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment: Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium for 2020/21 and 2021/22

The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the 
need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act. 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do 
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all 
members of the community.

Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular 
groups and worsen inequality. 

Committee name and 
date:

Report Title Decisions being 
recommended: 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made: 

Executive – 10 December 2019

Council – 25 February 2020

Council Tax Long Term Empty 
Premium for 2020-21 and 2021-
22

That Council adopts the 
increase in the Council 
Tax Long-Term Empty 
Premium from 100% to 
200% from 1 April 2020 
for properties empty for 5 
years or more, and from 
200% to 300% from 1 

None

P
age 211



April 2021 for properties 
empty for 10 years or 
more

Factors to consider in the assessment:  For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed 
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this 
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low 
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions 
planned to be carried out in future).

High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very 
little discretion

Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest

Positive 
or 
Negative 
Impact

High, 
Medium or 
Low 
Impact

Reason

Race and ethnicity (including 
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant 
workers; asylum seekers).

No 
impact

Disability: as defined by the Equality 
Act – a person has a disability if they 
have a physical or mental impairment 
that has a substantial and long-term 
adverse impact on their ability to carry 
out normal day-to-day activities.

No 
impact

Sex/Gender No 
impact

Gender reassignment No 
impact

Religion and belief (includes no 
belief, some philosophical beliefs such 

No 
impact

P
age 212



as Buddhism and sects within 
religions).
Sexual orientation (including 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).

No 
impact

Age (children and young people aged 
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger 
older people aged 51-75/80; older 
people 81+; frail older people; people 
living with age related conditions. The 
age categories are for illustration only 
as overriding consideration should be 
given to needs).

No 
impact

Pregnancy and maternity including 
new and breast feeding mothers

No 
impact

Marriage and civil partnership 
status

No 
impact

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion

None

Officer: Laura Fricker
Date: 12 November 2019

P
age 213



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 DECEMBER 2019

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 
Date of Meeting: 17 DECEMBER 2019

Report of: Bindu Arjoon - Director 
Title: Council Tax Support Scheme 2020-21

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

This report seeks members’ views on the local Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme for 
working age residents for 2020/21 and beyond. Members are required to agree 
scheme rules annually. 

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That Executive Recommends to Council that the scheme for the current year 
continues for 2020-21 without substantive changes.

2.2 That Members note the work being commenced by Officers to develop options for 
Members’ consideration for a simple banded scheme to be introduced from April 
2021 at the earliest.

 
3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 There are no reasons to recommend changes to the scheme this year for either 
financial reasons or to align with welfare changes.

3.2 The rollout of Universal Credit Full Service has been slow so far but as Universal 
Credit volumes increase there will be a need to consider a simpler, discount style 
scheme.

3.3 Other reasons for considering moving to a simpler banded scheme include:
o An expected reduction in administration funding
o Alignment with digital and self-service transformation
o Alignment with other Council Tax Discounts

3.4 A simple banded scheme would be a major change requiring new scheme rules, new 
software and new processes. The work that Officers will do for consideration by 
Members will include full impact assessments and intended mitigations for any 
negative impact, where possible. 

3.5 Member input would be sought through a Member Working Group to inform the 
design of the preferred option to be consulted on. Results from the public 

Page 215

Agenda Item 9



 
consultation would also be analysed with the Member Working Group to inform the 
final scheme.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.

To deliver an alternative, simpler scheme and achieve administrative efficiencies through 
self-serve and automation, will require both software developments and dedicated staff 
resources to carry out modelling of impacts, testing, writing new processes and training, 
as well as consulting on the new scheme with stakeholders and analysing the results.

Work undertaken so far has involved pooling resources from Exeter, East Devon and 
Teignbridge, including developing an application form using the Firmstep platform, and it 
is intended to continue with this approach.

A new scheme should consider if an increase to our maximum award of 80% is needed 
due to affordability and the erosion in value of state benefits since 2013. In principle this 
option is open to all Billing Authorities as the ones responsible for setting the working 
age CTS scheme. To do so would increase scheme costs, putting us in conflict with 
major preceptors including Devon County Council who have been clear that they 
expect schemes to remain cost neutral. So before recommending this option to 
Members the implications would have to be understood and agreed by senior 
management and Members responsible for finance.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation to adopt the 
proposed scheme for 2020-21. The section 151 Officer will support the team in 
assessing the proposals for moving to a simplified scheme going forward.

6. What are the legal aspects?

Paragraph 5 of Schedule 1B to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires 
billing authorities to adopt a Council Tax Support scheme each year, no later than 11 
March.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

         This report raises no issues for the Monitoring officer

8. Report details:

8.1 Exeter City Council’s local Council Tax Support scheme has been in place since 
national Council Tax Benefit was abolished in April 2013. Rules for pensioners are set 
nationally, leaving discretion for local rules for working age customers. The scheme 
agreed by Exeter City Council from April 2013 was based on the old Council Tax 
Benefit scheme with the following key changes:

 Maximum support limited to 80%
 Capital limit reduced to £6,000
 Introduction of an Exceptional Hardship policy

This scheme remained unchanged between April 2013 and April 2017.

8.2 In April 2017 the Council introduced a number of changes to the scheme for working 
age customers. These changes were intended to align with changes introduced in 

Page 216



 
nationally determined benefits such as Housing Benefit, Universal Credit, Employment 
and Support Allowance and Council Tax Support for pensioners. The changes 
introduced were:

1. Using a minimum income for self-employed earners after 1 year’s self-employment
2. Reducing backdating to 1 month and allowing claims from newly liable customers
3. Reducing the period for which a person can be absent from Great Britain and still 

receive Council Tax Support to 4 weeks 
4. Removing the Work Related Activity Component in the calculation of the 

entitlement for new applicants 
5. Removing entitlement to the Severe Disability Premium where another person is 

paid Universal Credit (Carers Element) for looking after them
6. Removing entitlement to the additional earnings disregard for Universal Credit 

customers in work

8.3 41% of households and 48% of expenditure for Council Tax Support is for pensioner 
cases. The scheme for pensioners is set by Central Government and we have no say 
over the level of support given.

8.4 Universal Credit entitlement is calculated each month based on the customer’s 
circumstances in the month just passed. Any changes in the customer’s financial or 
household circumstances in the previous month will result in a revised UC award. The 
details of this new award will be sent to us automatically. Our current working age CTS 
scheme requires that we reassess their CTS award based on this new income, even 
where the difference is minimal. This new assessment will result in a new Council Tax 
demand notice being issued and reset any recovery action in place on earlier bills.

8.5 As Universal Credit continues to rollout, the number of new/revised awards will 
increase each month for Universal Credit customers. The work generated by this new 
demand will mean the Benefits and Welfare team will be adjusting many more awards 
of Council Tax Support much more frequently. The Payments and Collection team will 
face a challenge in recovering Council Tax balances which change repeatedly, 
resetting payment arrangements and recovery action. The customer will be faced with 
uncertainty from one month to the next and will be much more likely to accrue Council 
Tax arrears through no fault of their own. 

8.6 We have been working with other authorities through the Devon Revenues and 
Benefits Officers Group to look at the best way to align Council Tax Support Scheme 
rules with Universal Credit. Any changes proposed will need to achieve a fair outcome 
for customers as well as achieving significant efficiency savings in the administration of 
the scheme and maximising recovery.

8.7 The preferred option for a new scheme from an administrative view point is an 
earnings only scheme. Modelling undertaken so far is highlighting areas which need to 
be investigated more fully in order to understand the complete picture of impact. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

The Council Tax Support scheme supports Exeter’s communities and neighbourhoods 
by helping low income residents meet their Council Tax liability. The Exceptional 
Hardship policy strengthens this support by ensuring that the scheme rules do not 
cause inadvertent hardship in individual cases. 

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

Page 217



 

Maintaining the scheme unchanged for another year will mean continuing with a CTS 
scheme which does not work well with Universal Credit and carries a risk that the 
collection rate for these customers will be adversely affected. However changing the 
scheme before we understand the best way to align with UC risks causing far more 
disruption to households and to current recovery work.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider 
the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 
equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the 
authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing 
proposals that consider the impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant 
women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in 
coming to a decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the proposal is not to 
change the scheme, therefore protections already built into the scheme still apply. An 
Equality Impact Assessment accompanies this report and Members are requested to 
have read this assessment.

12. Are there any other options?

Council can choose to make changes to the scheme from April each year. To comply 
with the legal requirements highlighted in section 6 above, any changes must be 
subject to consultation with precepting authorities and the public before 
implementation. 

Bindu Arjoon
Director 

Author: Laura Fricker, Service Lead Revenues, Benefits & Customer Access

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)

Page 218



 
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Council Tax Support

Equality Impact Assessment

November 2019

Page 221



Version 5.1 
Page 2 of 13

Contents

Version history..............................................................................................................2
Background ..................................................................................................................3

Timescale .................................................................................................................3
Financial impact – Exeter City Council & Council Tax preceptors............................3
Data used in this report.............................................................................................3
Financial impact – Claimants....................................................................................4

Protection of vulnerable customers ..............................................................................4
Protections in the previous CTB scheme..................................................................4
Exceptional Hardship policy......................................................................................5

Changes to the scheme from April 2017......................................................................5
Minimum Income Floor (MIF) for self-employed claimants.......................................5
Additional earnings disregard in Universal Credit.....................................................6
Backdating ................................................................................................................6
Absence outside GB.................................................................................................6

Effect of the scheme on particular groups....................................................................7
Primary benefit..........................................................................................................7
Family characteristic .................................................................................................7

Single parent households......................................................................................8
Single person households.....................................................................................8
Summary table – family characteristics.................................................................9

Gender......................................................................................................................9
Tenure type.............................................................................................................10
Disabilities and carers.............................................................................................10

Disability premiums.............................................................................................11
Carers .................................................................................................................11
Disability and carer premiums.............................................................................11
Summary table - disabilities ................................................................................12

Work status.............................................................................................................12
Other protected characteristics...............................................................................13

Version history

1 June 2013 To accompany new scheme
2 October 2016 Major revision to incorporate proposed changes
3 October 2017 Revised for adopted changes April 2017 and updated 

caseload demographics
4 October 2018 Updated caseload
5 November 2019 Updated caseload and expenditure for 2019

Page 222



Version 5.1 
Page 3 of 13

Background

Exeter City Council introduced a local Council Tax Support scheme in April 2013 to 
replace the national Council Tax Benefit. Since then the scheme has been updated 
annually to reflect changes in benefit rates. More significant changes were made to 
the working age scheme from April 2017 to help align areas of the scheme with 
changes in Housing Benefit and Universal Credit.

In preparing this assessment regard has been had to the policy paper issued by 
DCLG in 2014, “Localising Support for Council Tax. Vulnerable people – key local 
authority duties.”1

The scheme for pensioners continues to be prescribed nationally with entitlement 
protected at current levels. No changes are proposed to the working age scheme for 
2020/21.

Timescale
Schemes for working age customers must be set each year by a meeting of the full 
Council. The agreed scheme comes into force on 1 April and must be agreed before 
11 March of that year. If changes to the scheme are proposed then a period of public 
consultation must be held prior to the decision being made. 

Financial impact – Exeter City Council & Council Tax preceptors
The grant allocation for Council Tax Support is no longer identified separately; 
funding is included within the Formula Grant. It is for Billing Authorities to determine 
their working age schemes and calculate the cost of providing support at the chosen 
level. To make financial savings from the scheme, reductions would need to be made 
to the support for working age claimants.

Maintaining support at a higher level means less money is charged to Council Tax 
payers receiving Council Tax Support. This means less money can be collected to be 
spent on services by Devon County Council, Exeter City Council, Devon & Cornwall 
Police and Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service.

Reducing support for low income households increases the amount of Council Tax 
charged. This only translates into increased income for the authority and preceptors 
once it has been collected. 

Data used in this report
Apart from the data in the section labelled Financial Impact – Claimants, which is 
current as at November 2019, the figures within this report are based on an extract 
from the Council Tax Support processing system on 16 October 2018. Caseload and 
expenditure fluctuates throughout the year  

Not all characteristics are recorded (and therefore available for analysis) in every 
individual case; for example a disability characteristic does not always affect the 
amount of a CTS passported award.

This impact assessment will be reviewed when the scheme for the following year is 
agreed, to ensure that any changes to equality issues within the scheme are 
addressed effectively. The data used may also change to reflect the caseload 
fluctuations as stated above. 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/localising-council-tax-support

Page 223



Version 5.1 
Page 4 of 13

Financial impact – Claimants
Exeter currently has 7,324 households receiving Council Tax Support from Exeter 
City Council (down from 7,484 in October 2018), at a total cost of £6.4m. Of this total, 
41% of households and 48% of expenditure is for pensioner cases. The locally 
determined scheme only affects claimants in the working age group. Working age 
caseload is 4,321, a reduction from 4,392 in October 2018.

Age Cases % of CTS 
caseload

Working age 4321 59%
Pensioner age 3003 41%
Total 7324 100%

Overall caseload numbers have declined steadily since the introduction of Council 
Tax Support in April 2013. The mix between working age and pension age customers 
has remained fairly stable throughout.

April 2013 Cases % of CTS 
caseload

Working age 5398 57%
Pensioner age 4101 43%
Total 9499 100%

Protection of vulnerable customers

Central Government does not prescribe any specific groups within the working age 
caseload who must be given particular protection in a local scheme. They do 
however highlight our existing duties in relation to1:

 The public sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010)
 The duty to mitigate effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty Act 2010)
 The duty to prevent homelessness (Housing Act 1996 & Homelessness Act 

2002)
 The Armed Forces covenant

Additionally Government expect local schemes to support the operation of work 
incentives in the wider welfare reform agenda.2

Protections in the previous CTB scheme
Council Tax Benefit existed as a national scheme to provide assistance to low-
income taxpayers since the introduction of Council Tax in 1993 until April 2013. It 
was a mature, robust and complex legislative system with protections for vulnerable 
groups built in. It has been subject to repeated legal challenge ensuring it generally 
satisfies equality duties.

The structure of the means test ensured that vulnerable groups were recognised and 
protected. Specifically, this worked in the following ways:

 Personal allowances were increased for families and all additional children
 Additional premiums for disabled household members and carers

2 Localising Support for Council Tax. Taking work incentives into account; DCLG, May 2012

Page 224



Version 5.1 
Page 5 of 13

 Income disregards for certain disability benefits, child benefit and child 
maintenance

 Earned income disregards; higher rates applied for full time work, disabled 
workers, certain part-time emergency workers and lone parent workers

 Childcare costs disregarded for workers with children
 Local disregard of War Pension income

Preserving the CTB means test in our local CTS scheme since 2013 has maintained 
the protections and work incentives that have been refined over many years. At its 
meeting of 13 December 20163 Exeter City Council rejected proposals to introduce 
changes from April 2017 which would have undermined the protections for families 
with dependent children.

Exceptional Hardship policy
Since the introduction of our local Council Tax Support scheme in April 2013 we have 
operated an Exceptional Hardship policy. This flexible scheme allows us to provide 
additional support to vulnerable customers who find themselves unable to afford their 
liability under the rules of the CTS scheme. An award of Exceptional Hardship can 
reduce a customer’s liability to nil. The policy was revised from April 2017 to ensure it 
can assist vulnerable customers adversely impacted by changes made to the CTS 
scheme. 

It is a sensible approach to use Exceptional Hardship to deal with complex situations 
and recognise extra need in individual cases. Inserting legally complex exemptions 
into the main CTS scheme for groups which are hard to define risks not helping the 
right people. If clearly defined groups can be identified then a more reasonable 
approach may be to introduce an exemption into the scheme rules. By reviewing 
those who are applying for extra help or are identified as struggling to pay we 
continue to build this picture.

Changes to the scheme from April 2017

A number of changes were made to the scheme for working age customers 

Minimum Income Floor (MIF) for self-employed claimants

Working ageMinimum Income Floor (MIF) for self-
employed claimants
 

Total Count 
(Affected)

Percentage

Affected by MIF 4292 300 7.0%
Dependent children 1773 219 12.4%
Lone parent 1302 120 9.2%
Carers premium 288 5 1.7%
Disability premium, disabled child  or Severe 
Disability Premium 2259 25 1.1%

Carers and disability premiums 395 18 4.6%

From April 2017 a change to the local scheme was introduced for self-employed 
claimants, mirroring rules already in place in Universal Credit. This assumes a 

3 https://exeter.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-meetings/meetings-agenda-
and-minutes/

Page 225



Version 5.1 
Page 6 of 13

notional income after one year of trading, where affected customers are treated as 
having an income equal to 35 hours work at the National Living Wage (National 
Minimum Wage for under 25s). 

It is possible that parents may find the extra flexibility afforded by running their own 
business preferable to taking up employment. Similarly those with caring 
responsibilities or a disability may find self-employment more sustainable than paid 
work. It is important that the limitations these groups may face in working the 
assumed number of hours is recognised. This is achieved by the granting of extra 
help through the Exceptional Hardship scheme where individual circumstances show 
there is a need.

Additional earnings disregard in Universal Credit
From April 2017 the additional earnings disregard was removed for customers who 
are working while in receipt of Universal Credit. The disregard is worth up to £3.42 
CTS weekly. The average affected household would have to pay an extra £2.60 
weekly towards their Council Tax bill. Once a customer is earning sufficient to not be 
entitled to Universal Credit, the additional disregard can be applied as currently.

The additional hours disregard is linked to the number of hours a customer works 
and was tied to the equivalent addition in Working Tax Credit. The disregard / 
addition does not form part of Universal Credit calculation. When the assessment of 
earned income is undertaken by the local authority, the number of hours worked is 
available and relevant to the calculation of Housing Benefit or CTS. For Universal 
Credit cases the assessment of earnings is undertaken by DWP staff. The basis of 
this calculation is not always identifiable and is generally based on a past period. 
Obtaining reliable information on the number of hours worked for the relevant period 
is not often possible and applying these from a monthly award of Universal Credit to 
a weekly calculation of CTS results in inconsistent treatment of income and 
disregards. 

Although there is the potential for this change to weaken work incentives, it is 
considered likely to have a minimal impact against the incentives to increase earning 
under Universal Credit.

Backdating
The maximum period a claim can be backdated was reduced from six months to one 
month in April 2017. At the same time a new rule was introduced allowing a new 
claim for CTS to be linked to the date a first bill was issued. In 2015/16 the reduced 
backdating period would have affected 24 claims. Backdating is allowed for a number 
of reasons and can apply to claimants in any of the groups discussed in this impact 
assessment. The change aligned rules with Housing Benefit. With such low numbers 
affected any difficult cases are managed through the Exceptional Hardship policy. In 
the first 6 months of this change there were no cases referred for consideration of 
exceptional help.

Absence outside GB
The period a claimant can be away from their home has been limited to four weeks 
where this absence is outside Great Britain. No data is recorded on length of 
absences or destination so it is impossible to say how many people have been 
affected by this change. It is likely that the effects of this change will be felt more by 
non UK nationals and those with family outside the country (and therefore a greater 
need to travel abroad) than those with no links outside the country. It follows that 
there may therefore be a higher than average impact on minority ethnic groups. No 
data is held on these characteristics and therefore the scale of this impact cannot be 
confirmed. Aligning rules with those already in place in Housing Benefit includes the 

Page 226



Version 5.1 
Page 7 of 13

easements for the deaths of close relatives. The change is likely to affect very few 
people overall and any difficult cases can be well managed through Exceptional 
Hardship awards.

Effect of the scheme on particular groups – data as at 
October 2018

Primary benefit
Council Tax Support largely retains the means-test calculation from Council Tax 
Benefit. Entitlement to certain primary benefits, awarded by Department for Work and 
Pensions, passports the customer through the CTS means test. In these cases, as a 
full means test is not required, we do not necessarily hold detailed income and 
household information. Customers will normally be entitled to receive the maximum 
award of CTS. This may be reduced for other adults living in the property.

Overall more than 67% of CTS customers are in receipt of a primary benefit; this 
rises to nearly 72% of working age customers. Since the introduction of Universal 
Credit, new claims for JSA have instead been claims for UC. These customers are 
not passported to full CTS under the local scheme so are not included in the figures 
below.

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner
Primary benefit

Count % Count % Count %
Income Support 652 8.7% 652 14.8% N/A N/A
Jobseekers Allowance 
Income Based 282 3.8% 282 6.6% N/A N/A

Employment and 
Support Allowance 
Income Related

2210 29.5% 2210 51.5% N/A N/A

Pension Credit 
Guarantee Element 1885 25.2% N/A N/A 1885 58.1%

Universal Credit 97 1.3% 97 2.2% N/A N/A
Standard (no primary 
benefit) 2358 31.5% 1151 26.9% 1207 37.2%

Total 7484 4392 3092

Family characteristic
Local Authorities are under a duty to reduce and mitigate the effects of child poverty 
in their area. The proportion of cases where a child is present in a household subject 
to the local scheme rules is higher than within the overall CTS caseload. This is to be 
expected as generally more children in the CTS caseload are resident in working age 
households than pensioner households and pensioner households are protected by 
national rules. 

All CTS cases Working age PensionerFamily 
characteristic

Count % Count % Count %
Single 4871 65.1% 2343 53.3% 2528 81.8%
Couple with no 
children 874 11.7% 296 6.7% 548 17.7%

Lone parent 1259 16.8% 1257 28.6% 2 0%
Couple with 
children 480 6.4% 496 11.3% 14 0.5%

Total 7484 4392 3092

Page 227



Version 5.1 
Page 8 of 13

The means test in CTS ensures that households with children keep more income 
before their awards are affected than a similar household with no children. 

Single parent households

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner

Single 
parent 
household Count % of CTS 

claimants Count

% of total 
working 

age 
claimants

Count

% of 
total 

pension 
age 

claimants
Female 1198 16% 1197 27.3% 1 0%
Male 61 0.8% 60 1.4% 1 0%

Total 1259 16.8% 1257 28.6% 2 0%

As would be expected the proportion of lone parent households subject to the local 
scheme is higher than the overall caseload of lone parent cases. This is because the 
majority of lone parent claimants are working age.  Female lone parents account for 
nearly 95% of our lone parent claimants. This group is highlighted in The Fawcett 
Society briefing paper as being “a group more likely to live below the poverty line”. 4  

It is likely that this group is further disadvantaged in the employment market because 
of their caring responsibilities dictating the hours & type of work they can reasonably 
undertake. The added difficulties this group may face increasing their income is taken 
into account when considering Exceptional Hardship claims. 

Single person households

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner

Single 
person 
household Count % of CTS 

claimants Count

% of total 
working 

age 
claimants

Count

% of 
total 

pension 
age 

claimants
Female 2889 38.6% 1119 25.5% 1770 57.2%
Male 1982 26.5% 1224 27.9% 758 24.5%

Total 4871 65.1% 2343 53.3% 2528 81.7%

Single person households may also face a greater challenge increasing their income 
or managing additional expenditure than households with more members who can 
contribute. The proportion of single person households subject to the local scheme 
rules is lower than in the overall CTS population. 

4 http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-
%2019th%20March%202012.pdf

Page 228

http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-%2019th%20March%202012.pdf
http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-%2019th%20March%202012.pdf


Version 5.1 
Page 9 of 13

Summary table – family characteristics

Age

Neutral 
impact - it 
does not 
affect

Negative 
impact - it 
could 
disadvantage

Reason

Older people 
(born before 
6 July 1953)

  
Older people cannot be affected by the local CTS 
scheme. Their rules continue to be set by Central 
Government.

Younger 
people (born 
from 6 July 
1953)

 

All of the current 4,292 working age claim households 
are asked to pay more towards their Council Tax under 
local scheme rules than the national benefit it 
replaced. 

Under 18s   Will not be liable for Council Tax and therefore 
unaffected.

Single people 
under 25  

The local scheme does not distinguish on claimant age 
within the working age claimant group. However all 
working age claimants are expected to pay at least 
20% of their liability.

Dependent 
children in 
household

 

The means test allows additional amounts for each 
child in the household. Households with children are 
subject to the same minimum payment as all working 
age households.

Gender

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner 
Gender

Count % Count % Count %
Male 2043 27.3% 1284 29.2% 759 24.5%
Female 4087 54.6% 2316 52.7% 1771 57.3%

Couples 1354 18.1% 792 18% 562 18.2%

Total 7484 4392 3092

No gender group is treated differently by the local scheme. However, as there are 
relatively more in the caseload, a larger number of single females in Exeter are 
subject to the locally determined Council Tax Support scheme.

Independent research also highlights the effect that the wider welfare reform changes 
will have on women:

“The Fawcett Society is extremely concerned about the impact of austerity on 
women’s equality in the UK. Our analysis - and the conclusions of 
independent research bodies and academics - has highlighted that the 
cumulative effect of fiscal measures taken to reduce net public spending will 

Page 229



Version 5.1 
Page 10 of 13

have a disproportionate effect on women, making many women poorer and 
less financially autonomous. The knock-on effects of this will be to turn back 
time on a range of indicators of women’s rights and equality.

The Fawcett Society has highlighted that women face a triple jeopardy: women 
are being hit in three key ways a result of the deficit-reduction measures: 

1. Women are being hit hardest by cuts to public sector jobs, wages and 
pensions. 

2. Women are being hit hardest as the services and benefits they use more are 
cut. 

3. Women will be left ‘filling the gaps’ as state services are withdrawn.” 5

The report shows the current position of economic indicators highlighting that equality 
for women still falls below equivalent measures for men in areas such as full time 
pay, low paid work, ethnicity & poverty, personal pensions, lone parents and 
childcare.  

Tenure type

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner
Tenure type

Count % Count % Count %
Council Tenant 2629 35.1% 1651 37.6% 978 31.6%
Private Rented 3445 46% 2446 55.7% 999 32.3%

Owner Occupier 1410 18.8% 295 6.7% 1115 36.1%

Total 7484 4392 3092

Tenants in both the private and social sectors may have also seen reductions in the 
amount of Housing Benefit available to them as a result of other welfare reforms. 
This includes the social sector size restriction, household benefit cap (reduced further 
from November 2016), freezes to Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates. Still to come 
are the restriction of new social tenancies to the LHA rate and the replacement of 
Housing Benefit with Universal Credit Housing Costs. These households could 
therefore face multiple pressures on their budgets. 93% of those subject to local 
scheme rules also have a rent liability. This compares to 81% of the total CTS 
caseload as proportionally more pensioner CTS claimants own their home.

Disabilities and carers

Within the means test in CTS extra amounts are given for disabilities or caring 
responsibilities of a household member. This recognises the extra expense that can 
be involved in these circumstances. The scheme also operates a number of 
disregards where the extra benefits paid for disability are not taken into account in 
the means test.

Awards of the extra amounts in the CTS calculation (referred to as “premiums”) is 
based on set criteria and is often tied to receipt of a qualifying benefit. Figures below 
include households receiving any of the following premiums:

 Disability Premium
 Enhanced Disability Premium
 Severe Disability Premium

5http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-
%2019th%20March%202012.pdf

Page 230

http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-%2019th%20March%202012.pdf
http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-%2019th%20March%202012.pdf
http://fawcettsociety.org.uk/documents/The%20Impact%20of%20Austerity%20on%20Women%20-%2019th%20March%202012.pdf


Version 5.1 
Page 11 of 13

 Disabled Child Premium
 Carers Premium

In cases where the household receives a passported benefit (Income Support, 
Income Based Jobseekers Allowance, Income Related Employment and Support 
Allowance, Guarantee Pension Credit) we do not necessarily hold information on 
disability or carer status. The figures below should therefore be taken to indicate “at 
least” this many households.

More than one of the disability premiums can be awarded to the same household 
where applicable. The tables below also highlight households receiving one or more 
of the Disability Premium and the Carers Premium together. These households are 
also included in the appropriate Disability premiums or Carers Premium figures.

Disability premiums

All CTS cases Working age Pensioner

Disability 
premiums Count % of CTS 

claimants Count

% of total 
with a 

disability 
premium

Count

% of total 
with a 

disability 
premium

Couple 507 24.8% 466 58.8% 41 5.4%
Female 1432 35% 1007 43.5% 425 24%
Male 916 44.8% 728 56.7% 188 24.8%

Total 2855 38.1% 2201 50.1% 654 21.2%

Carers

All CTB cases Working age Pensioner

Carers
Count % of CTS 

claimants Count % of total 
carers Count % of total 

carers

Couple 450 33.2% 313 39.5% 137 24.3%
Female 255 6.2% 229 9.9% 26 1.5%
Male 42 2% 36 2.8% 6 0.8%

Total 747 9.9% 512 11.7% 169 5.5%

Disability and carer premiums

All CTB cases Working age Pensioner
Disability 
and carer 
premiums Count % of CTS 

claimants Count % of total 
with Count % of total 

with 

Couple 311 15.2% 290 36.6% 21 3.7%
Female 141 3.4% 134 5.8% 7 0.4%
Male 16 0.8% 15 1.2% 1 0%

Total 468 6.3% 439 10% 29 1%

Page 231



Version 5.1 
Page 12 of 13

Summary table - disabilities

 

Neutral 
impact - 
it will not 
affect

Negative 
impact - it 
could 
affect

Reason

Physical  

Ability to travel to make payments. Potentially less 
able to use online or telephone methods for 
payment and advice.  Potential inability to 
increase income.

Sensory  
Potential difficulties accessing Council in person or 
by online / telephony routes for payments and 
advice. Potential inability to increase income.

Learning  

Ability to access and understand information 
advising of the charge. Potential difficulties 
accessing Council in person or by online / 
telephony routes for payments and advice. 
Potential inability to increase income.

Mental health  

Ability to access and understand initial 
information advising of the charge. Potential 
difficulties accessing Council in person or by online 
/ telephony routes for payments and advice. 
Potential inability to increase income.

Work status

All CTB cases Working age Pensioner
Work status

Count % Count % Count %
Working 837 11.2% 802 18.3% 35 1.1%

Not working 6647 88.8% 3590 81.7% 3057 98.9%

Total 7484 4392 3092

Local schemes are expected not to discourage claimants from taking up employment 
or increasing hours of work. A higher proportion of households subject to the local 
scheme rules are in work compared to the overall CTS population. This is to be 
expected if most working households are in the working age population rather than 
the pension age population (who are protected by national rules). 

Page 232



Version 5.1 
Page 13 of 13

Other protected characteristics

ECC Benefits Service do not hold data for race, sexual orientation, religion or belief.  
The scheme is designed to treat all claimants equally based on their household and 
financial circumstances without discrimination. As we do not hold data on 
characteristics which are not relevant to the calculation of support, it is impossible to 
say whether scheme rules may unintentionally have disproportionate impacts on 
these groups. 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019

Report of: Service Lead – Commercial and Procurement, Chanelle Busby

TITLE: Approval of Procurement Strategy

Is this a Key Decision? 

No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1. To get approval for the Council to adopt the proposed Procurement Strategy.

2. Recommendations: 

2.1 That Executive recommends to Council the adoption of the Devon District Procurement 
Strategy (DDPS) 2019-2022.

2.2 That the Executive establish any council specific priorities or objectives which need to 
be incorporated into the strategy (jointly or individually).

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 To further embed a corporate approach to procurement within the Council

3.2 To enhance the collaboration opportunities available to the Council through this joint 
approach to procurement.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources?

4.1 The strategy largely sets out work that is already being undertaken as part of routine 
operational arrangements. There are no specific resource implications.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The Council has previously adopted the joint procurement strategy.  However, with the 
Procurement team now in place, there is an opportunity to take advantage of potential 
future collaboration opportunities that may arise out of having a coordinated strategy.

5.2 The Executive have the opportunity to identify any specific issues that they may wish to 
incorporate into the Council’s strategy to support the delivery of their own priorities.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 All Procurement activity will be compliant with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 
any other governing law (on a contract by contract basis).

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

Page 235

Agenda Item 10



The strategy is ambitious and will require commitment and ambition to implement and 
deliver.

8. Background:

8.1 The Devon District Procurement Authorities (DDPA) of Exeter City Council, Mid-Devon 
District Council, North Devon District Council, South Hams District Council, Teignbridge 
District Council, Torridge District Council and West Devon Borough Council have been 
working collaboratively to draft the third iteration of a joint DDPS.

8.2 In 2018 the Local Government Association (LGA) published the second version of the 
National Procurement Strategy (NPS) which built on councils’ achievements under the 
previous Strategy.

8.3 Councils have assessed their own progress under that strategy.  The new DDPS seeks 
to align with the identified themes of the NPS 2018, which have been identified as a 
priority by the DDPA.

9. Themes

9.1 The four key themes contained within the DDPS are:

 Contract Management
 Social Values
 Engagement with SMEs and Local Businesses
 Behaving Commercially

9.2 The DDPA have included an action plan, which breaks each of the headings down into 
actions and outcomes to be achieved in the period 2019 - 2022 based on their priority 
setting.

9.3 Each council is responsible for implementing and monitoring their own outcomes. 
Progress against the action plan will be reviewed quarterly by the DDPA.  It is the 
intention that as new actions and outcomes are identified, they will be added to the 
action plan as part of the annual review.

10. DDPS 2014 - 2018

10.1 The final review of the action plan from the DDPS 2014-18 is attached at Appendix B.  
Key outcomes which were the result of this strategy are as follows:

 Implementation of a contract management toolkit
 Contract clauses clearly state payment terms and will ensure timely payment of 

monies owing.
 Responsible Procurement Strategy with supporting policies
 Appointment of a Member Champion for Procurement.

Page 236



11. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

11.1 This DDPS supports the achievement of all the council’s corporate objectives through 
the delivery of contracts which support them and more specifically in:

 Provide value-for-money services despite continuing central government budget 
reductions

 Lead a well-run council

12. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

Risk Description Mitigating Actions What is required

Insufficient resource 
to deliver the 

outcomes set out 
within the strategy

The Service Lead Procurement 
& Commercial will manage 

resources to ensure an 
optimum delivery of operational 

and strategic outcomes.

Outcomes have been 
prioritised low, medium and 

high to reflect that not all 
participating Councils will be in 
a position to deliver all of them, 

due to differing levels of 
Procurement resource.

Support from SMB and 
Members and understanding of 
the need to balance priorities 

and that some things will have to 
wait.

Sharing of templates and 
approaches across the districts 
will mean that the same work is 

not being duplicated by all.

Purchasing 
Departments 

continue to avoid 
compliance with 
procurement and 

contract 
management 

guidance provided in 
strategy roll out

Training will be provided in the 
roll out of Contract 

Management model toolkit. All 
relevant Officers to be trained 
to ensure their understanding 

of the importance of 
compliance 

An appropriate training package.
Support from SMB and OMB in 

encouraging relevant staff to 
attend training.

13. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

13.1 There is no direct impact on these things as a result of approving the strategy with the 
exception of the environment, as the strategy encourages the inclusion of a minimum 
weighting of 5% sustainability within all tender evaluation criteria. However the 
remainder of all these factors are picked up and considered in the context of the tender 
in hand during the commercial endorsement stage of any procurement within the 
Commercial Assurance Summary. 

Page 237



14. Are there any other options?

14.1 Exeter City Council could develop their own individual Procurement Strategy, however 
it is felt that not only would this lead to more work for the Procurement team, but would 
also fail to deliver the benefits of collaboration and shared working across the County.

Chanelle Busby
Service Lead – Commercial and Procurement

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

6. Appendices

 Appendix A – DDPS 2019-2022 draft
 Appendix B – Final review of the Action Plan from the DDPS 2014-2018

Page 238



 

1 
 

Devon Districts 

Procurement Strategy 

2019-2022 

  

 

Page 239



 

2 
 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

Introduction 

Background 

Outcomes 

Action Plan 

Contacts 

  

Page 240



 

3 
 

Introduction 

This is the third iteration of the Devon District Procurement Strategy.  The strategy sets out 

our vision and our priorities for the next four years to 2022 incorporating the latest 

government procurement legislation and initiatives. We aim to provide quality services that 

are responsive to the needs of our communities and deliver optimum value for money.  

The strategy sets out how we aim to achieve this over the longer term and includes an action 

plan for the forthcoming year which will be regularly reviewed and a new action plan 

produced each year. 

By taking a collaborative approach we can improve the quality of the goods, services and 

works which we purchase whilst still seeking to achieve value for money and make the 

savings necessary to support the austerity measures. 

The Devon Districts who will be adopting this strategy are: 

 Exeter City Council 

 Mid Devon District Council 

 North Devon District Council 

 South Hams District Council 

 Teignbridge District Council 

 Torridge District Council 

 West Devon Borough Council. 

It is the intention of the majority of Districts that this will be the sole procurement strategy for 

their council. 

What is procurement? 

Procurement is concerned with securing goods, works and services. The process spans the 

whole cycle, from identification of needs through to the end of a service or the end of the 

useful life of an asset and its disposal. It is concerned with securing goods and services that 

best meet the needs of users and the local community in order to help achieve our key 

priorities. It supports the commissioning of services and supports work on developing 

markets where appropriate. 

Benefits of Procurement 

The status and importance of procurement in the public sector continues to grow and there 

is increasing pressure to improve procurement performance for a number of reasons. 

Most importantly: 

 procurement has a critical role to play in delivering strategic objectives and improving 

the quality of services delivered to the public 

 savings realised through improved procurement can be channelled into priority 

services or reducing each partners net capital and/or revenue expenditure 

 local authorities are open to legal challenge under public procurement regulations 

(based on EU directives) and are accountable for achieving value for money. 

Page 241



 

4 
 

 Local government is under increasing pressure to deliver services in the face of 

reduced funding from central government. Effective procurement is one of the key 

ways to achieve “more with less” 

Background 

The Local Government Association (LGA) published the National Procurement Strategy 

(NPS) in 2018.   The NPS builds on councils’ achievements under the National Procurement 

Strategy for Local Government in England 2014 – the first strategy developed by and for 

English councils. 

In 2018 councils assessed their own progress under that strategy.  This District strategy 

seeks to align with those themes which have been set out within the NPS 2018 and which 

have been identified as a priority by the Districts. 

In addition, the economic environment, both nationally and locally, continues to require us to 

focus on obtaining value for money and ‘doing more for less’.  Therefore, it is the intention 

that this strategy supports the achievement of the Corporate Objectives of each District 

authority. 

Although this strategy is specific to the District authorities, they will continue to work 

collaboratively with other members of the Devon & Cornwall Procurement Partnership to 

maximise the benefits of all partners spend with external suppliers.   

The Districts will also continue to support the work of the South West Procurement Board 

which provides a representative group of Partner Organisations (local authorities and public 

bodies) to support delivery and provide a forum for supporting collaboration at a regional and 

sub-regional level.  

 

 

  

Devon 
Districts 

Procurement 
Strategy 

2019-2022

Corporate 
Objectives

Devon & 
Cornwall 

Procurement 
Partnershp

South West 
procurement 

Board

National 
Procurement 

Strategy

Page 242



 

5 
 

Spend Analysis 

In the financial year 2018-19 the District authorities (named above) spend over £131 million 

a year buying goods, works and services.  

Analysis of each District’s spend reflects the percentage which is spent locally within that 

District’s geographic boundary. 

Authority Total Spend per 
annum 

Local Spend per 
annum 

Percentage of 
local spend 

Exeter City Council £45m £12m 26% 

Mid Devon District 
Council 

£21.6m £2.9m 14% 

North Devon Council £11.1m £4.1m 37% 

South Hams District 
Council 

£14.4m £3.8m 26% 

Teignbridge District 
Council 

£21.4m £2.4m 11% 

Torridge District 
Council 

£10.77m £4.25m 39% 

West Devon Borough 
Council 

£7.2m £240k 2% 

 

  

Page 243



 

6 
 

Outcomes 

From the 2018 assessment the District authorities have identified three key areas for 

improvement and in addition to these themes the District Authorities have identified a 

number of authority specific objectives.  As a result the following topics will be the focus of 

this strategy: 

Contract Management 

This will cover the following key areas identified in the NPS 2018: 

 Engaging Strategic Suppliers - refers to the process of identifying strategic 

suppliers and engaging with them to improve performance, reduce cost, mitigate risk 

and harness innovation. 

 Managing contracts and relationships - refers to the effective management and 

control of all contracts from their planned inception until their completion by the 

appointed contractor(s) 

Sustainable Procurement 

This will cover the following key area identified in the NPS 2018: 

 Obtaining social value - refers to wider financial and non-financial impacts of 

programmes, organisations and interventions, including the wellbeing of individuals 

and communities, social capital and the environment. 

Engagement with SMEs/VCSE 

This will cover the following key areas identified in the NPS 2018: 

 Engaging local small medium enterprises (SMEs) and micro-businesses - 

SMEs play a major role in creating jobs and generating income for those on low 

incomes; they help foster economic growth, social stability, are a source of innovation 

and contribute to the development of a dynamic private sector. 

 Enabling voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) engagement - 

VCSE organisations can play a critical and integral role in health and social care, 

including as providers of services; advocates; and representing the voice of service 

users, patients and carers. 

Central government has a target of 33% of all contracts to be delivered or sub-contracted to 

SMEs by 2020. 

  

Page 244



 

7 
 

DDPS 2019-2022 Action Plan 

The action plan is divided into four priorities and will be updated annually to reflect progress 

and emerging priorities and new objectives: 

 high –these tasks, some of which require immediate action, should all be achieved 

within six to nine months of the launch of the strategy. 

 medium – to be achieved within two years 

 low –to be completed within the four year period of the plan, and 

 annual / ongoing – reviewed annually or ongoing continuous process  

Progress by the Districts against the Action Plan will be reviewed quarterly by the Devon 

District Procurement Group (DDPG). 

 
Contract Management 
 

 
Contract management is concerned with the continuous review and management of the 
contractual terms and / or service level agreement secured through the procurement 
process to ensure the outcomes agreed are actually delivered by suppliers or partners.  
 
Managing the contracts and relationships is imperative to ensure that: 
• the strategic priorities agreed at the outset are delivered in a cost effective and timely    

manner 
• non-compliance or variation is identified early for escalation and resolution 
• risks and costs are managed 
• reviews are undertaken and lessons learnt inform the commissioning and procurement       

process to ensure continuous improvement 
 

Outcome Actions Priority 

CM guidance & toolkit 

 
Guidance and toolkit in place, however 
South West Procurement Board (SWPB) 
working on regional guidance and toolkit 
 

 
Med 

 
Senior leadership adoption of CM 
guidance and toolkit 
 

 
Med 

 
Roll out of CM guidance and toolkit across 
the organisation 
 

 
Med 

 
Contract management 
training for all key staff 
responsible for CM 

 
Consider requirement of each organisation 
and where applicable provide/arrange 
contract management training for key 
stakeholders 
 

 
Med 

 
Performance indicators 
and measures included in 
all tenders. 

 
Provide guidance and examples in 
procurement guidance and/or specification 
template 

 
Low 

Page 245



 

8 
 

 

  

 
Establish methodology for 
reporting on strategic/ key 
contracts where 
appropriate and include in 
toolkit 
 

 
Incorporated in toolkit 

 
Low 

Page 246



 

9 
 

  

 
Sustainable Procurement 
 

 
In line with our commitment to delivering The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 
and our own sustainable procurement policies we will make consideration of social 
value and sustainability in all tender processes, which will be defined by the corporate 
priorities of each District authority.  The DDPA will use this definition to promote the 
positive social, economic and environmental benefits from the goods, works and 
services we purchase whilst also minimising any adverse impacts. 
 

Outcome Actions Priority 

 
Adopt National TOMs 
(Themes, Outcomes and 
Measures) Framework   
2019 for social value 
measurement 
 

 
Include guidance and examples in 
standard procurement guidance and/or 
tender templates 

 
Med 

 
Adopt Sustainability 
Assessment matrix 

 
Include guidance and examples in 
standard procurement guidance and/or 
tender templates 
 

 
High 

 
All tenders include 
minimum 5% weighting on 
social value 
 

 
Include social value criteria in all tenders. 

 
Med 

 
All tenders include 
minimum 5% weighting on 
sustainability 
 

 
Include social value criteria in all tenders. 

 
Med 

Page 247



 

10 
 

  

 
Engaging with SMEs and Local Businesses 
 

 
The District authorities will maximise opportunities for local Small, Medium Enterprises 
(SME’s), voluntary and community sector organisations and social enterprises to 
become our suppliers. 
 

Outcome Actions Priority 

Improve engagement with 
SMEs and local business 

 
Widen the advertising of contract 
opportunities through such means as the 
Councils communication networks and 
social media 
 

 
Low 

 
Increase/ maintain percentage of local 
suppliers delivering our contracts 
 

 
Annual 

 
Continue to support and attend annual 
Meet the Buyer event 
 

 
Annual 

Page 248



 

11 
 

 
 

 
Behaving Commercially 
 

 
Procurement will support the realisation of income generation through the creation of 
commercial activities, exploitation of co-operative and collaborative working and 
encourage innovation through its tendering practices. 
 

Outcome Actions Priority 

 
Commercial Endorsement 
for all new tender activity 

 
Include criteria in business case for 
commercial elements/activity to be 
considered 
 

 
Medium 

 
Pre procurement 
engagement guidance 

 
Provide guidance and examples of soft 
market testing / pre-procurement 
engagement to inform procurement activity 
and supply chain engagement 
 

 
Low 

 
Innovation in provision of 
goods, works and services 

 
Encourage innovation in all tender activity 
and provide guidance to stakeholders. 
 

 
Low 

Page 249



 

12 
 

Approved in 2019 by:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

For more information about this strategy or procurement in general, please contact: 

District authority Contact 
name 

Tel Email 

Exeter City Council Chanelle 
Busby 
 

01392 
265262 
 

chanelle.busby@exeter.gov.uk 

Mid Devon District 
Council 

Christopher 
Davey 
 

01884 
234228 
 

procurementoffice@middevon.gov.uk 

North Devon Council Lucy 
Wheeler 
 

01271 
388273 

lucinda.wheeler@northdevon.gov.uk 

South Hams & 
Teignbridge District 
Councils & West 
Devon Borough 
Council 

Rosanna 
Wilson 
 

01626 
215120 

rosanna.wilson@teignbridge.gov.uk 

Torridge District 
Council 

Luan 
Stapley 
 

01237 
428741 

luan.stapley@torridge.gov.uk 

 

Page 250

mailto:procurementoffice@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:lucinda.wheeler@northdevon.gov.uk
mailto:rosanna.wilson@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:luan.stapley@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.northdevon.gov.uk/index.ht


Appendix – B Final Outcomes from 2015-2018 District Procurement Strategy 

Theme A – Making Savings 

With growing pressure on Councils projected budgets, achieving value for money and making savings will play a key role in addressing the deficits which are faced in the 
medium term financial plans of each Council. 

Ref Council Outputs Outcomes One Year on Final Review 

Use of Frameworks 

1 

Investigate suitability of existing 
contract and framework 
opportunities to meet Procurement 
needs before commencing own 
local tendering/ buying process. 

Both maximum value for 
money and efficient use of 

resources are achieved 
through utilising existing 

procurement options where 
they are appropriate and 
meet the required need. 

One year on:  Achieved. This is in place where 
procurement activity across the Councils is referred 
to Corporate Procurement across all Districts. 
Further action required: None.  

  

2 

Details of frameworks available 
through Professional Buying 
Organisations (PBO’s) continue to 
be held on a central register on 
Huddle as a quick reference tools 
for procurement officers. Crown 
Commercial Services frameworks 
are accessed via 
http://ccs.cabinetoffice.gov.uk 

One year on: A central register of framework 
agreements is held and maintained by the Devon 
and Cornwall Procurement Partnership on a shared 
workspace to which Corporate Procurement has 
access. Some Districts have also made this accessible 
to their internal stakeholders and have registered 
with framework providers to receive direct updates.  
Further action required: For all Districts to 
consolidate good practice in this area and share 
information.  

This register is managed by Mid 
Devon DC and is available on a 
shared work space. All councils are 
committed to feeding into this work 
to ensure the integrity of the 
register. 

Collaboration/ Partnering 

3 

Councils will engage with and 
support the work of the Devon & 
Cornwall Procurement Partnership. 

The partnership will 
continue to flourish and to 
provide benefits for all 
members as set out in their 
mission statement. 

One year on:  All Districts, with the exception of 
Exeter City Council, are active participants at DCPP 
meetings. Mid Devon District Council’s Procurement 
Manager and South Hams, Teignbridge and West 
Devon’s Corporate Procurement Officer are the 
Chair and Deputy Chair respectively. All Districts 
receive the minutes of meetings. All Districts, with 
the exception of Exeter City Council, actively 
participate during collaborative procurement 
exercise, group events and training.   Further action 
required: To continue to actively participate and 
encourage the future participation of Exeter City 
Council. 

All councils continue to actively 
participate in the progression of the 
work of the DCPP.  Exeter CC now 
have a full procurement team in 
place and are attending meetings. 

P
age 251



4 

Opportunities for sharing resources 
and developing contractual 
arrangements with neighbouring 
partner organisations are 
considered both in the 
management of the Procurement 
function and in the procurement of 
goods and services where 
appropriate. 

Savings and efficiencies will 
be delivered through shared 
resources, alignment of 
contracts and economies of 
purchasing power. 

One year on: South Hams, West Devon and 
Teignbridge Councils continue to run a have shared 
procurement resource and actively participate in 
and run collaborative procurement exercises. Mid 
Devon District Council is providing procurement 
resource to Torridge District Council to improve 
procurement best practice across the organisation. A 
range of networking activities has taken place over 
the last year during which the majority of Districts 
have participated. The Districts’ Corporate 
Procurement departments have access to a shared 
workspace, which is used to share best practice and 
network with colleagues. Examples of collaborative 
procurements run by or participated in by Districts 
include: Temporary Agency Staff, Private Water 
Sampling, Civil Enforcement, Stationery and Stairlifts 
and Associated Equipment.   Further action 
required: Look for further collaborative 
opportunities, particularly in relation to the wider 
DCPP group.  

Torridge now have their own 
resource in place and support is no 
longer provided by Mid Devon.  East 
Devon procurement support is 
currently provided by Devon County 
Council.  The councils continue to 
explore opportunities for sharing 
resources and procuring 
collaboratively.   Most recent 
examples of collaborative 
procurement are: Insurance, 
Adaptations,  
Stationary, Parking Enforcement 
System  

Contract Management 

5 

Implement a consistent approach 
to contract management which will 
allow contracts across the partner 
organisations to be monitored. 

Reporting available on 
contract outputs and key 
performance indicators. 

One year on: Outstanding. Further action required: 
Teignbridge District Council is working on developing 
a contract management toolkit, which will be shared 
with the Districts once completed in the 4th quarter 
2016.   

Teignbridge DC completed the work 
on the contract management toolkit 
and it was rolled out to the other 
councils. 

6 

Use Contract Monitor module on 
ProContract to support this process 
electronically. 

Effective use of 
eProcurement tools. 

One year on: Outstanding. Further action required: 
Continue to review the standard functionality 
offered by the current electronic tendering system.  

No system implemented to date.  
However, another memberl of the 
DCPP is currently researching 
contract management systems and 
their research will be shared with 
the DCPP group.  Group will review 
accordingly. 

P
age 252



7 

Frameworks and collaborative 
contracts are monitored by the lead 
authority on behalf of or in 
conjunction with the participating 
authorities. Participating 
organisations will support this 
process through collection of data 
or provision of information to the 
lead authority upon request. 

Streamline tender and 
contract management 
process for suppliers on how 
to do business with the 
Council. 

One year on: Achieved. Examples of this include 
Temporary Agency Staff, Stairlift and Associated 
Equipment and Abandoned Vehicles, which are lead 
and managed by Teignbridge District Council, Water 
Sampling, which is led and managed by Mid Devon 
District Council and Grounds Maintenance, which is 
a collaboration between North Devon District 
Council and Torridge District Council. Further action 
required: None.  

  

8 

Use contract clauses to improve 
payment terms for suppliers and 
improve working conditions 
throughout the supply chain. 

Effective use of contract 
clauses.  

One year on: Achieved.  Further action required: 
None.  

  

Supplier Relationship Management 

9 

Contracts clearly state payment 
terms and will ensure timely 
payment of monies owing. 

Ensure that smaller 
contractors are not dis-
advantaged due to cash flow 
issues. 

One year on: Achieved.  Further action required: 
None.  

  

10 

Tender criteria will consider supply 
chain management where it is 
applicable to the contract. 

Contractors will act fairly 
within the supply chain. 

One year on: Achieved.  Further action required: 
None.  

  

11 

Risk is integrated into the 
procurement process and 
monitored regularly. Risk 
management is not risk averse. 

Risk management approach 
allows suppliers and 
procurers to take advantage 
of opportunities. 

One year on: where this in place it is managed 
through the Whistleblowing policy, regular audits 
and the District’s corporate risk management 
procedure.   Further action required: Those Districts 
where this is in progress or that have not yet started 
can consider the equivalent actions or how this can 
be incorporated in to the contract management 
toolkit to make a more holistic tool.  

South Hams and West Devon 
Councils are working on a supplier 
criticality matrix which they will 
share with the group to support the 
management of risk 

12 

Procurement risks are recorded and 
reported in line with this strategy 
and actions to mitigate risks are 
identified. 

Clear audit trail 
demonstrated to back up the 
decision making process.  
Fraudulent procurement 
practices are mitigated 
against. 

One year on: Work is in place to develop risk and 
key performance indicators in each of the Districts’ 
corporate risk management systems or through 
using project management tools.  Further action 
required: Share best practice in this area.  

  

 

P
age 253



 

Theme B – Supporting Local Economies 

All public sector organisations have an opportunity and responsibility to contribute towards the regeneration and enhancement of their local economy through their 
purchasing arrangements. 

Two key pieces of legislation support this approach; The Localism Act 2011 and The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. Both set out to encourage Councils to 
provide the maximum benefit to localism and their communities from every taxpayer pound which is spent. 

Ref Council Outputs Outcomes One Year on Final Review 

Social Value Clauses 

13 

The DDPG will establish a suite of 
clauses giving consideration as to 
how social, community and 
environmental value can be 
obtained will be defined and 
agreed. 

Streamline approach for 
suppliers on how to do 
business with the Council. 

One year on: the majority of the Districts attended a 
Social Value workshop in Tiverton to gain a better 
understanding of the issues. South Hams, 
Teignbridge and West Devon Councils have 
produced a toolkit, which can be rolled out for use 
by all Districts as required.  Further action required: 
South Hams, Teignbridge and West Devon Councils 
to roll out the toolkit to all Districts.  

Since this action was identified, 
additional work has been done by a 
number of councils on developing 
social value tookits.  This group will 
adopt the use of the National TOMs 
Framework (which stands for 
themes, outcomes and measures) 
which aims to provide a minimum 
reporting standard to help buyers 
measure and justify the pursuit of 
social value outcomes in their 
contracts. 

14 

Where the contract value is in 
excess of the EU threshold, or in 
the case of lower value contracts 
which have a direct impact on the 
community, the clauses from 13 
(above) will be included in all 
contracts. 

Maximum value is obtained 
in terms of economic, social 
value and environmental 
criteria. 

One year on: This is included within South Hams, 
Teignbridge and West Devon Council’s toolkit, which 
can be rolled out for use by all Districts as required.  
Further action required: South Hams, Teignbridge 
and West Devon Councils to roll out the toolkit to all 
Districts. 

The group will use the guidance 
provided in the National TOMs 
framework  

Sustainability 

15 

A sustainable procurement policy 
and guidance will be agreed 
between the partner authorities. 

Streamline approach for 
suppliers on how to do 
business with the Council. 

One year on: This is included within South Hams, 
Teignbridge and West Devon Council’s toolkit, which 
can be rolled out for use by all Districts as required. 
Exeter City Council also has its own policy in place. 
Further action required: South Hams, Teignbridge 
and West Devon Councils to roll out the toolkit to all 
Districts. 

South Hams, Teignbridge and West 
Devon Council’s created a 
Responsible Procurement Strategy 
with supporting policies which was 
shared with the group. 

P
age 254



16 

Formal procurement processes will 
give timely consideration to 
identify the need of the contract in 
terms of sustainability. 

Reduction of waste by 
making sustainable choices. 

One year on: This is now included within South 
Hams, Teignbridge and West Devon Council’s toolkit, 
which can be rolled out for use by all Districts as 
required. Exeter City Council also has its own policy 
in place. 
Further action required: South Hams, Teignbridge 
and West Devon Councils to roll out the toolkit to all 
Districts. 

South Hams, Teignbridge and West 
Devon Council’s created a 
Responsible Procurement Strategy 
with supporting policies which was 
shared with the group which 
contains guidance during the 
procurement process. 

Local Supplier Engagement 

17 

Partner authorities will use the 
ProContract eTendering software 
to advertise all contract 
opportunities over £10,000 or in 
line with their own contract 
standing orders. 

Access to contracts is 
simplified for all suppliers. 

One year on: All Districts, with the exception of 
Exeter City Council, are using an electronic tendering 
system to manage their procurement activities.  
Further action required: Exeter City Council to move 
over to electronic tendering before 2018.  

The group continue to use the 
ProContract eTendering portal and 
Exeter City Council have now signed 
up to use the same system. 

18 

Agree a suite of questions and 
utilise ProQuest module of 
ProContract to manage the 
evaluation of suppliers 
electronically. 

Removal of duplication and 
simplification of bureaucratic 
processes for suppliers. 

One year on: Outstanding.  
Further action required: Work on this matter will be 
progressed on a regional basis by the South West 
ProContract (electronic tendering system) User 
Group.  

Exeter CC will be utilising the online 
evaluation aspect of the system, 
however the other members of the 
group have no plans to use this at 
this time. 

19 

Partners will work together and 
with the wider Devon & Cornwall 
Procurement Partnership to 
communicate to suppliers a better 
understanding of the way in which 
they do business. 

Streamline approach for 
suppliers on how to do 
business with the Council. 

One year on: This is in place and the fifth annual 
Going Local event will be held on 14 November 
2016, hosted by Teignbridge District Council.  
Further action required: The DCPP is considering 
running two events annually: Going Local and a 
second, more practical workshop-style event aimed 
at improving small and medium sized businesses’ 
tendering skills. 

The DCPP continue to run this event 
annually.  The 2018 event was 
hosted in Honiton by East Devon 
District Council. 

 

  

P
age 255



Theme C– Leadership 

In this changing social and economic landscape, Councils need to be at the forefront of demonstrating initiative and resourcefulness to rise to the challenges that all 
businesses are facing. 

Ref Council Outputs Outcomes One Year on Final Review 

Buy in from the top 

20 

Procurement will be discussed and 
considered at a Senior Level eg. 
SMT through the appropriate 
reporting mechanisms 

Procurement is recognised 
as strategically important by 
Senior Officers and 
Members. 

One year on: This is being achieved to varying 
degrees across the Districts, depending upon Council 
structures. Corporate Procurement reports directly 
to the Chief Executive at Teignbridge District Council 
and is therefore represented at a senior level. North 
Devon District Council has a procurement champion 
at a senior level and North Devon, Mid Devon  South 
Hams and West Devon Councils have all supported 
procurement training through their middle manager 
forums. A letter from the South West Procurement 
Board highlighting the achievements made over 
recent years was circulated to Chief Executives of all 
of the Districts.  
Further action required: This report and subsequent 
reports against this Strategy to be circulated to 
senior leadership teams.  

Changes within the senior 
management structure at 
Teignbridge, now see Corporate 
Procurement report into senior 
management rather than directly 
into the Director.  The final review of 
the action plans of the 2014-2018 
strategy will be circulated to Senior 
Officers. 

21 

Appointment of a Member 
Champion for Procurement. 

Procurement is recognised 
as strategically important by 
Senior Officers and 
Members. 

One year on: All Districts, with the exception of 
Exeter City Council and Torridge District Council have 
achieved this objective.  
Further action required: Exeter City Council and 
Torridge District Council to ensure that they appoint 
a Member Champion for Procurement.  

Exeter City Council now have this in 
place and have regular meetings 
with the Member. 

  

P
age 256



Training 

22 

Within their resource and 
budgetary constraints, each 
Council will invest in development 
and training of staff across the 
organisation in relation to both 
Procurement and other key 
commercial skills such as 
negotiation, market awareness and 
costs and profit. 

Councils will take a more 
commercial approach to 
procurement. 

One year on: Teignbridge District Council offers 
training on procurement through its Learning and 
Development Partnership, which officers from East 
Devon District Council, South Hams District Council, 
Teignbridge District Council and West Devon 
Borough Council and have attended. The remainder 
of the Districts, with the exception of Exeter City 
Council, run training on procurement internally.  
Further action required: Districts to share their 
internal training materials.  

The Learning and Development 
Partnership is no longer in place, 
however the group have worked 
collaboratively to share access to a 
number of training events such as; 
EU Academy through Achilles.  Mid 
Devon DC have hosted a number of 
training events run by Achilles 
running courses, such as; 
Specification writing, awarding 
frameworks, commercial awareness 
and Category management.  The 
DCPP facilitated courses on contract 
management and social values.  The 
group also share information on 
accessing procurement apprentices 
and CIPS courses. 

23 

Working collaboratively, (see item 
3) Councils will derive value for 
money through joined up training 
opportunities and sharing of 
procurement related expertise, 
knowledge and best practice  

Procurement competencies 
across the organisations are 
improved. 

One year on: All Districts, with the exception of 
Exeter City Council, are active participants of the 
DDPG and DCPP groups at which procurement best 
practice is shared and discussed. Mid Devon District 
Council takes an active role in coordinating training 
events to which all DCPP members are invited. 
Examples include the Pre Procurement Engagement 
and Contract Management training event held on 19 
January 2016 and the Training on the lesser used 
procurement routes event held on 21 July 2016.  
Further action required: Encourage participation 
from Exeter City Council.  

Embedding Legislation 

24 

Councils will publish data in line 
with the Transparency Code. 

New opportunities are 
opened up for local 
businesses, voluntary and 
community sectors and 
social enterprises in relation 
to bidding for running public 
sector contracts. 

One year on: Achieved.  
Further action required: None.  

  

P
age 257



25 

Ensure that procurement policies 
and procedures encompass current 
legislative requirements and that 
staff are kept up to date of any 
changes. 

Modernisation of 
procurement processes and 
improved flexibility ensuring 
legal compliance. 

One year on: Achieved.  
Further action required: None.  

  

 

Theme D– Modernising Procurement 

The development of a more innovative approach to Procurement will help to ensure that the Councils deliver their own contribution to the government’s modernisation 
agenda, the advantages of which will be seen locally and nationally. 

Ref Council Outputs Outcomes One Year on Final Review 

Commercialism 

26 

When developing contracts, 
Councils will seek to identify 
opportunities to ‘do things 
differently’ or to generate income. 

Drive down costs in service 
provision and develop 
improved ways of working. 

One year on: All Districts are actively seeking 
opportunities to do things differently. Examples of 
projects that have or will result in a change of 
contractual structure or business process include 
East Devon District Council, Exeter City Council and 
Teignbridge District Council’s contract for Hybrid 
Mail, which  has assisted the Councils in their move 
to the paperless office, and Teignbridge District 
Council’s project on office building and public 
conveniences cleaning and maintenance, which will 
consider ways of generating income through 
charging to use the public conveniences. The 
Districts have also attended Commercial Awareness 
training to improve their skills in this area.  
Further action required: To share best practice in 
this area and continue to seek relevant 
opportunities.  

The group continue to review 
opportunities to improve, obtain 
efficiencies, consider alternative 
delivery models as part of any pre-
procurement activity. 

27 

Flexibilities set out in the new EU 
Directives will be maximised. 

Removal of bureaucratic 
processes and barriers in 
Procurement. 

One year on: Achieved. Districts apply the de 
minimus timescales during their procurement 
activities as appropriate and will continue to do so.  
Further action required: None. 

  

  

P
age 258



Supplier Innovation 

28 

Time allowed for early supplier 
engagement to ensure that 
innovative approaches can be 
considered. 

Supplier innovation 
demonstrated and benefits 
harnessed. 

One year on: Achieved. Districts engage with 
supplier at the pre-procurement stage as relevant, 
and will continue to do so. Examples of projects on 
which this has been done include North Devon 
District Council’s replacement bus station 
development project, South Hams and West Devon’s 
health and wellbeing (leisure operator) service and 
Teignbridge District Council’s office building and 
public convenience cleaning service.  
Further action required: None. 

  

Use of technology 

29 

Through the Pro Contract User 
Group, Councils will support the 
ongoing contract management and 
system development in relation to 
the eTendering software. 

Increased efficiency and 
productivity for both Council 
staff and suppliers. 

One year on: Mid Devon District Council, North 
Devon District Council, South Hams District Council, 
Teignbridge District Council and West Devon Borough 
Council are active participants of the South West 
ProContract User Group; attending and representing 
the remainder of the Districts that use the electronic 
tendering system and participating in User 
Acceptance Testing activities when required. Exeter 
City Council does not use the electronic tendering 
system.  
Further action required: Encourage participation 
from Exeter City Council.  

Exeter now have a  team in place and 
are fully engaged in attending and 
supporting the ProContract User 
Group 

30 

Councils will encourage suppliers in 
the use of electronic systems for all 
transactions as appropriate to their 
own organisation (p-cards, e-
invoicing, eTendering). 

Increased efficiency and 
productivity for both Council 
staff and suppliers. 

One year on: All Districts have adopted electronic 
procurement systems in their procedures to varying 
degrees; either by using electronic tendering systems, 
procurement cards, electronic invoices or electronic 
marketplaces. 
Further action required: To continue to share best 
practice in this area and consider additional 
electronic tools where relevant. Encourage 
participation from Exeter City Council in the use of an 
electronic tendering system.  

Exeter have now signed up to the 
ProContract eTendering system.  The 
group are committed to investigating 
ways to make the buying process 
more efficient in each council. 

 

P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019
REPORT TO COUNCIL

Date of Meeting: 17 December 2019
Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Title: 2019/20 General Fund Capital Monitoring Statement – Quarter 2

Is this a Key Decision?
No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a key 
decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To report the current position in respect of the Council’s revised annual capital programme 
and to advise Members of the anticipated level of deferred expenditure into future years.

The report seeks Member approval to amend the annual capital programme in order to 
reflect the reported variations.

2. Recommendations:

2.1 It is recommended the Executive recommends to Council to approve:

(i) The revision of the annual capital programme to reflect the reported variations 
detailed in 9.1 and Appendix 1.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 Local authorities are required to estimate the total of capital expenditure that it plans to 
incur during the financial year when it sets the prudential indicators for capital expenditure.  
This shows that its asset management and capital investment strategies are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable.

Capital expenditure is a significant source of risk and uncertainty since cost variations, 
delays and changing specifications are often features of large and complex capital projects.

In order to manage the risks associated with capital programming the annual capital 
programme is updated every three months to reflect any cost variations, slippage or 
acceleration of projects.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources

4.1 The financial resources required are set out in the body of this report.

Page 261

Agenda Item 11



5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 As stated in the quarter 1 report, the fact that the major schemes are now on site has 
meant that progress in delivering this year’s programme is significantly higher than previous 
years.  Members should note the scheme deferrals set out in section 8.5 and be satisfied 
with the reasons set out for deferral.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 The capital expenditure system is framed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report Details:

2019/20 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL MONITORING STATEMENT – QUARTER 2

8.1 REVISIONS TO THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

The 2019/20 Capital Programme, including commitments brought forward from 2018/19, 
was last reported to Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee on 26 September 2019.  Since 
that meeting the following changes have been made that have increased the programme:

Description £ Approval/Funding 

Capital Programme, 
as reported to Corporate Services 
Scrutiny Committee, 26 
September 2019

42,476,720

Budget Deferred to 2020/21 & 
Beyond at Quarter 1 (1,288,310)

Overspends/(Underspends) reported 
at Quarter 1 (200,100)

Approved by Council on 16 
October 2019

Purchase of Commercial Property 20,000,000

£10 million approved by 
Council on 13 June 2018 & a 
further £10 million approved by 
Council 23 July 2019

Agile & Flexible Rollout 600,000 Approved by Council on 16 
October 2019

Alphington Community Association 
Loan 50,000 Approved by Council on 16 

April 2019

RAMM Lift 128,220 Approved by Council 16 
October 2019

Revised Capital Programme 61,766,530

Page 262



8.2 PERFORMANCE

The revised capital programme for the current financial year is £61.767 million.  During the 
first six months of the year the Council spent £19.138 million on the programme, which 
equates to 30.98% of the revised programme.  This compares with £5.634 million (18.91%) 
being spent in the first six months of 2018/19.

The current programme is detailed in Appendix 1.  The Appendix shows a total forecast 
spend for 2019/20 of £59.354 million with £1.638 million of the programme being 
accelerated from 2020/21 and £3.995 million of the programme potentially being deferred to 
2020/21 and beyond.

Appendix 2 shows the approved budgets for 2020/21 with the proposed 2019/20 budget to 
be carried forward to 2020/21 and beyond for Executive and Council to consider for 
approval.

Appendix 3 shows the overall position for those schemes which span more than one 
financial year.

8.3 AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES

The available capital resources for the General Fund for 2019/20 are £12.225 million.  An 
estimated spend of £59.354 million is required of which £50.580 million will be funded from 
borrowing with £3.451 million capital receipts carried forward to 2020/21.  

Appendix 4 sets out the forecast use of the resources available for the General Fund and 
the likely amounts of borrowing that will be necessary to fund the capital programme over 
the next three years.  

The value of actual capital receipts received in 2019/20 to date in respect of the General 
Fund are:

General Fund
£

Balance as at 1 April 2019 5,374,625

New Receipts 69,155

Balance as at 30 September 2019 5,443,780

8.4 EXPENDITURE VARIANCES 

The main (greater than +/- £30k) variances and issues concerning expenditure are as 
follows:

Page 263



Scheme
Estimated Overspend / 

(Underspend)
£

Cabinet & Network Replacement (35,000)

Officer Responsible: Chief Executive & Growth Director

Three floors of Phase 1 of the Civic Centre have not been upgraded due to the rollout 
of agile and flexible working so fewer switches needed to be purchased. 

8.5 SCHEMES TO BE DEFERRED TO 2020/21 AND BEYOND
Schemes which have been identified as being wholly or partly deferred to 2020/21 and 
beyond are:

Scheme
Budget to be 

Deferred
£

Idox System for Planning 90,010

Officer Responsible: Chief Executive & Growth Director

Improvements will take place in the new financial year.

Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements 1,041,600

Officer Responsible: Category Contracts Manager

These works are on-going.

Leisure Complex - Build (1,638,070)

Bus Station Construction 415,560

Officer Responsible: Director Communities, Health, Well Being, Sport & 
Leisure

The budgets for St Sidwell’s Point and the new Bus Station have been re-profiled in 
accordance with the latest expenditure projections, the expected completion date 
remains unchanged.

Energy Saving Projects 1,945,380

Officer Responsible: City Surveyor

Planning consent for the European Regional Development Fund scheme has now 
been granted and it is expected that the formal grant agreement will be signed 
soon.  Although some work will commence this financial year most expenditure will 
occur in 2020/21.

Page 264



Outdoor Leisure Facilities 115,350

Replacement of Mallison Bridge (Exeter Quay) 317,600

Officer Responsible: Commercial Operations Manager, Public Realm

A multiple use games area is planned for the Omaha Drive site but we are still 
waiting for the agreement for Devon County Council to pass the site to Exeter City 
Council before work can commence.

The current Mallison Bridge has been identified as requiring replacement by DCC 
engineers with the opportunity to replace with a flatter, wider, 'fit for use' bridge to 
cater for heavy use.  Additional funding is being sought from external sources 
before the project can commence.

8.6 ACHIEVEMENTS

The following schemes have been completed during the second quarter of 2019/20:

 Pinhoe Station Road Play Area
The newly refurbished play area at Pinhoe Station Road was officially opened 
in September.  

The new play area provides a challenging and enjoyable mix of equipment for 
children of all ages and abilities. Along with the traditional favourites of swings 
and see-saws, there are two split-level play towers designed for toddlers and 
juniors, a challenging 4.1m high mizzenmast climbing net, buddy board rocker 
and giant rope swing designed for groups of children to use together.

There are also features designed specifically with accessibility in mind, 
including a roundabout installed to ground level with a designated wheelchair 
station, swing with face-to-face seats, play panels, musical panels and sensory 
areas.

 Purchase of Commercial Property
In July ECC purchased the long leasehold interest in Senate Court, an office 
building comprising some 33,000 square foot, situated in the heart of Exeter 
City Centre’s Business District.  Senate Court is a prime detached four-storey 
Grade A office building, with tenants including Foot Anstey, OTB Eveling, the 
Insolvency Service and Prydis Ltd.  The expected net annual income to the 
Council is £591,000 less financing costs of £335,000 per annum.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

The Capital Programme contributes to all of the key purposes, as set out in the Corporate 
Plan.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget 
monitoring updates.  

Page 265



11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider the 
need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking account 

of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of 
decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing 
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the 
impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 
decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because

11.4.1 The impact of each scheme is considered prior to approval.  Any significant deviation 
from this will be noted within the body of this report.

12. What other options are there, and why have they been dismissed?

There are no other options.

DAVE HODGSON 
Chief Finance Officer

Author:
Nicola Matthews-Morley

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None

Contact for enquiries:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
(01392) 265275

Page 266



APPENDIX 1

 Annual  Supplementary Revised Year End Variance

Budget

Budgets & 

Virements Annual Forecast
to Budget

Budget

£ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive & Growth Director 2,694,930 130,070 2,825,000 2,750,000 (75,000)

Communities Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure 5,118,705 524,010 5,642,715 5,628,865 (13,850)

Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, 

Customer Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates, 

Democratic Services 

5,674,040 135,000 5,809,040 5,745,462 (63,578)

Communiciations, Tourism & Culture 2,729,185 218,970 2,948,155 2,957,155 9,000

Environment and City Management (627,990) 1,400,120 772,130 838,430 66,300

Chief Finance Officer 2,166,980 2,570 2,169,550 2,233,499 63,949

City Solicitor & Head of HR 816,010 12,400 828,410 874,442 46,032

less Notional capital charges (5,874,930) 0 (5,874,930) (5,874,930) 0

Service Committee Net Expenditure 12,696,930 2,423,140 15,120,070 15,152,923 32,853

Net Interest 216,000 216,000 76,828 (139,172)

New Homes Bonus (2,517,780) (2,517,780) (2,517,780) 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital 0 0 1,665,000 1,665,000

Minimum Revenue Provision 738,020 738,020 582,442 (155,578)

Voluntary Revenue Provision 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 (1,000,000)

General Fund Expenditure 12,133,170 2,423,140 14,556,310 14,959,413 403,103

Transfer To/(From) Working Balance 250,530 (1,000,420) (749,890) (641,293) 108,597

Transfer To/(From) Earmarked Reserves (643,000) (1,422,720) (2,065,720) (2,577,420) (511,700)

General Fund Net Expenditure 11,740,700 0 11,740,700 11,740,700 (0)

Formula Grant (4,429,000) (4,429,000) (4,429,000) 0

Business Rates Growth / Pooling Gain (1,385,000) (1,385,000) (1,385,000) 0

CIL Admin (95,380) (95,380) (95,380) 0

Council Tax (5,831,320) (5,831,320) (5,831,320) 0

0 0 0 (0) (0)

Working Balance March 2018 4,395,024£         3,753,731£  March 2019

2019/20 GENERAL FUND BUDGET MONITORING - SUMMARY

QUARTER 2

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

10,764,030 9,231,369 (1,459,329) TOTAL GENERAL FUND NET EXPENDITURE 20,995,000 21,027,853 32,853 (120,500)

1,668,260 1,524,081 (144,179) IT SERVICES 1,742,430 1,654,430 (88,000) (88,000)

392,523 400,826 8,303 STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT 791,870 805,370 13,500 13,500 

136,535 145,076 8,540 CENTRAL SUPPORT 290,700 290,200 (500) 0 

2,197,318 2,069,983 (127,336) NET EXPENDITURE 2,825,000 2,750,000 (75,000) (74,500)

168,057 (36,414) (204,471) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 340,370 340,370 0 0 

108,448 128,235 19,787 LICENCING,FOOD,HEALTH & SAFETY 260,200 260,200 0 0 

50,830 45,192 (5,638) PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 142,780 114,780 (28,000) (34,000)

241,674 214,874 (26,800) LEISURE & SPORT 3,698,500 3,712,650 14,150 25,300 

249,905 238,113 (11,792) ACTIVE & HEALTHY PEOPLE 336,225 336,225 0 (1,500)

131,690 51,927 (79,763) ST SIDWELLS POINT 264,520 264,520 0 0 

481,040 477,580 (3,460) GRANTS/SOCIAL INCLUSION 600,120 600,120 0 0 

1,431,644 1,119,507 (312,137) NET EXPENDITURE 5,642,715 5,628,865 (13,850) (10,200)

(290,843) (297,482) (6,639) HOUSING NEEDS & HOMELESSNESS 1,090,880 1,090,880 0 0 

89,980 89,980 0 SUNDRY LANDS MAINTENANCE 89,980 89,980 0 0 

118,990 182,693 63,703 GF HOUSING - PROPERTY 195,340 270,340 75,000 0 

(22,612) (79,610) (56,998) BUILDING CONTROL 51,180 (49,584) (100,764) (94,600)

236,823 223,144 (13,679) PLANNING SERVICES 533,180 533,180 0 34,200 

1,221,406 1,233,607 12,201 REVENUES, BENEFITS & CUSTOMER ACCCESS 1,937,910 1,937,910 0 0 

235,370 228,279 (7,091) ELECTIONS & ELECTORAL REG 372,490 389,710 17,220 (18,000)

303,205 290,845 (12,360) DEMOCRATIC REPRESENTATION 595,100 571,998 (23,102) (17,500)

113,792 110,264 (3,528) CIVIC CEREMONIALS 267,090 269,053 1,963 57,100 

433,278 363,475 (69,803) CORPORATE SUPPORT 675,890 641,995 (33,895) (21,600)

2,439,388 2,345,194 (20,863) NET EXPENDITURE 5,809,040 5,745,462 (63,578) (60,400)

108,776 103,163 (5,613) CULTURE 172,640 172,640 0 0 

86,027 81,846 (4,181) TOURISM 168,490 168,490 0 0 

(254,836) (562,164) (307,328) MARKETS & HALLS (439,850) (446,850) (7,000) (3,000)

1,102,890 374,479 (728,411) MUSEUM SERVICE 2,345,080 2,345,080 0 0 

105,195 91,195 (14,000) VISITOR FACILITIES 189,330 205,330 16,000 0 

257,670 321,291 63,621 COMMUNICATIONS 512,465 512,465 0 0 

1,405,722 409,808 (995,913) NET EXPENDITURE 2,948,155 2,957,155 9,000 (3,000)

90,160 89,747 (413) PUBLIC SAFETY 260,320 257,320 (3,000) (3,000)

1,253,455 1,265,858 12,403 PARKS & GREEN SPACES 2,101,700 2,124,200 22,500 42,500 

35,777 62,742 26,965 CEMETERIES OPERATIONAL 72,400 102,400 30,000 0 

0 9,798 9,798 AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 0 9,800 9,800 9,800 

906,172 959,960 53,787 DOMESTIC REFUSE COLLECTION 2,062,340 2,062,340 0 0 

794,634 770,678 (23,956) STREET CLEANING 1,559,150 1,550,150 (9,000) (9,000)

95,894 97,941 2,047 PUBLIC CONVENIENCES 374,270 381,270 7,000 7,000 

(189,265) (175,861) 13,404 CLEANSING CHARGEABLE SERVICES (316,850) (316,850) 0 0 

119,425 147,024 27,600 EXTON ROAD OVERHEADS AND FLEET 205,850 205,850 0 0 

93,340 398,567 305,226 RECYCLING 141,970 141,970 0 0 

(1,604,546) (1,600,416) 4,130 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ESTATES (2,681,610) (2,681,610) 0 0 

0 (5,971) (5,971) TRANSPORTATION 0 0 0 0 

(2,524,102) (2,559,480) (35,378) PARKING SERVICES (6,076,810) (6,101,810) (25,000) (91,000)

154,339 47,448 (106,891) GROWTH & COMMERCIALISATION 320,580 320,580 0 0 

227,697 197,053 (30,643) ENGINEERING SERVICES 575,900 575,900 0 0 

323,660 54,801 (268,859) MAJOR PROJECTS 647,320 647,320 0 0 

143,728 168,453 24,725 WATERWAYS 356,500 390,500 34,000 34,000 

700,000 704,690 4,690 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ASSETS 1,050,700 1,050,700 0 0 

57,620 62,340 4,720 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ENERGY 118,400 118,400 0 0 

677,988 695,371 17,382 NET EXPENDITURE 772,130 838,430 66,300 (9,700)

85,590 88,576 2,986 CORPORATE (34,120) (34,120) 0 0 

1,495,078 1,461,706 (33,372) UNAPPORTIONABLE OVERHEADS 1,515,180 1,491,324 (23,856) (24,300)

334,656 321,243 (13,413) FINANCIAL SERVICES 568,830 531,785 (37,045) (63,000)

55,530 53,856 (1,674) INTERNAL AUDIT 96,930 96,780 (150) (2,500)

37,378 102,865 65,487 PROCUREMENT 22,730 147,730 125,000 129,800 

2,008,232 2,028,246 20,013 NET EXPENDITURE 2,169,550 2,233,499 63,949 40,000 

341,446 295,871 (45,574) HUMAN RESOURCES 613,060 637,652 24,592 0 

262,292 267,389 5,098 LEGAL SERVICES 215,350 236,790 21,440 (2,700)

603,738 563,261 (40,477) NET EXPENDITURE 828,410 874,442 46,032 (2,700)

2019/20 GENERAL FUND BUDGET MONITORING - DETAIL

QUARTER 2

ACTUAL TO DATE YEAR END FORECAST

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

CITY SOLICITOR & HEAD OF HR

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, Customer Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates, Democratic 

Services 

Communities, Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure

Environment and City Management

Communications, Tourism & Culture

APPROVED 

BUDGET

CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST

QTR 1 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

PROFILED 

BUDGET

ACTUAL TO 

DATE

VARIANCE 

TO DATE

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

Supplementary Budgets

Description £ Funded by:

Commercialisation - Columbarium 2,400 Transformation Fund

Commercialisation - Advanced Certification 10,300 Transformation Fund

Street Cleansing Optimisation 9,660 Transformation Fund

Housing Needs Survey 30,000 S106

Total 52,360

Budget Transfers

Transfer £241,460 National Portfolio Organisation Grants from Communities Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure to Communications, Tourism & Culture

PROPOSED SUPPLEMENTARY BUDGETS & BUDGET TRANSFERS

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE

Capital Receipts Brought Forward 5,374,625 5,374,625

GF Capital Receipts 69,155 0 0 0 69,155

Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay 1,665,000 837,900 697,900 553,900 3,754,700

Disabled Facility Grant 1,121,799 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,621,799

New Homes Bonus 90,967 0 0 0 90,967

Community Infrastructure Levy 2,957,205 0 0 0 2,957,205

Other - Grants/External Funding/Reserves/S106 946,361 848,705 0 0 1,795,066

Total Resources Available 12,225,112 2,186,605 1,197,900 1,053,900 16,663,517

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Capital Programme 61,766,530 24,347,740 1,256,900 1,053,900 88,425,070

Overspends/(Savings) (54,980) (54,980)

Slippage (2,357,470) 2,357,470 0

Total General Fund 59,354,080 26,705,210 1,256,900 1,053,900 88,370,090

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Capital Receipts Brought Forward 5,374,625 3,450,594 1,000,000 1,000,000 5,374,625

Resources in Year 6,850,487 2,186,605 1,197,900 1,053,900 11,288,892

Less Capital Receipts to carry forward (3,450,594) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (6,450,594)

Less Spend in Year (59,354,080) (26,705,210) (1,256,900) (1,053,900) (88,370,090)

Borrowing Requirement 50,579,562 22,068,011 59,000 0 72,706,573

GENERAL FUND AVAILABLE RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019
REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 17 December 2019
Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Title: OVERVIEW OF GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2019/20 – QUARTER 2

Is this a Key Decision? 

No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To advise Members of the overall projected financial position of the General Fund 
Revenue Budgets for the 2019/20 financial year after six months.

2. Recommendations:

2.1 It is recommended that Members of the Executive note the report and Council notes and 
approves (where applicable):

i. The General Fund forecast financial position for the 2019/20 financial year;

ii. The supplementary budgets of £52,360 and budget transfers as detailed in 
paragraph 9.10

iii. The outstanding Sundry Debt position as at September 2019.

iv. The creditors’ payments performance.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 To formally note the Council’s projected financial position and to approve additional 
expenditure required during the financial year. 

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 The impact on the General Fund working balance is set out in sections 9.9.

4.2 The financial position has stabilised and the General Fund Working Balance is projected 
to stand at £3.754 million at year end.  

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 Whilst there are a number of pressures across service budgets, many have been offset 
by projected underspends in other budget areas.  Savings in the repayment of debt have 
resulted in an improved position with less being required to be taken from the General 
Fund balance than projected.  The Balance therefore is projected to be above the 
minimum reserves level set by Council.

Page 275

Agenda Item 12



 
6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on the Council to 
monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income against the budget 
calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary situation has deteriorated, 
the Council must take such action as it considers necessary to deal with the situation. 
This might include, for instance, action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, or to 
increase income, or to finance the shortfall from reserves.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring officer.

8. Report details:

OVERVIEW OF GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2019/20 – QUARTER 2

8.1 Financial Summary

FUND Planned 
Transfer (to) / 
from Working 

Balance

Budget 
Variance        

Over / (under)

Outturn  
Transfer 
2019/20

£ £ £
General Fund 749,890 (108,597) 641,293

8.2 General Fund (Appendix 1 & Appendix 2)

The current forecasts show an overall projected overspend of £32,853 against a revised 
budget of £20,995,000.  This includes supplementary budgets of £2,423,140 already 
agreed by Council.  

Variances of more than +/- £30,000 are detailed below:

8.3 Chief Executive & Growth Director  

Budget Heading Over / (Underspend)

IT Services (£88,000)

Responsible Officer: Corporate Manager, Executive Support

The 2018/19 refund to shareholders was higher than anticipated and contract savings 
have been identified in 2019/20. 

Page 276



 
8.4 Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, Customer 

Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates and Democratic 
Services 

Budget Heading Over / (Underspend)

General Fund Housing - Property £75,000

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Housing Tenancy Services & Service Lead 
– Housing Assets

The Housing Needs team have reassessed and re-banded a large number of 
households in Private Sector Leased (PSL) properties in order to create some move-on 
out of temporary accommodation.  This provided an opportunity to handback some PSL 
properties with financially onerous lease agreements, which has led to a rise in 
handback costs in the first three months alongside a reduction in rental income.  
Although this represents an in-year overspend, it will achieve future revenue savings 
due to ending leases with favourable terms to the landlord.

Building Control (£100,764)

Responsible Officer:  City Development Manager

The self-financing Building Control and Land Charges functions are forecast to achieve 
a surplus which will be transferred to earmarked reserves held to balance these 
functions in years when they fail to achieve breakeven positions. The remaining function 
is anticipated to underspend by around £12,000.

Corporate Support (£33,895)

Responsible Officer: Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support

The Corporate Support budget is largely affected by the performance of the Civic 
Centre. The forecast saving is partly attributable to efficient use of electricity in the 
buildings. A review of rates has reduced the NNDR expenditure and rental income from 
Phase 1 has been more than planned with an extra tenant on the 4th floor.

8.5 Environment and City Management 

Budget Heading Over / (Underspend)

Waterways £34,000

Responsible Officer: Community Safety & Enforcement Service Manager

Long term sickness is expected to result in additional pay costs of £12,500.  

A consultancy contract has expired which will result in a saving of £3,500

Income from Canal Licences is expected to be £25,000 less than the budget.

Cemeteries Operational £30,000

Responsible Officer: Public & Green Space Operations Manager

Income for the first half of 2019-20 is £30,000 less than the same period last year. The 
winter period is unpredictable but may recover some of the shortfall.

Page 277



 

8.6 Chief Finance Officer

8.7 Other Financial Variations

Budget Heading Over / (Underspend)

Repayment of Debt (£155,580)

Responsible Officer: Chief Finance Officer

A lower than forecast need to borrow has resulted in a reduced repayment of debt 
calculation.

8.8 General Fund Balance

 In 2019/20 it is projected that there will be an overall net contribution from the General 
Fund Balance of £641,293. The minimum requirement for the General Fund working 
balance was approved by Council in February 2019 at £3 million and it is projected 
that the balance will be comfortably above this level.

Budget Heading Over / (Underspend)

Financial Services (£37,045)

Responsible Officer: Deputy Chief Finance Officer

Delays in recruiting to vacant posts following the restructure of the Financial Services 
Team will result in savings in employee costs.  The recharge to Exeter City Living Ltd 
for the provision of financial support services will also generate additional income.  
These are partially offset by the additional cost of agency staff covering vacant posts, 
additional recruitment costs and consultancy fees.

Procurement £125,000

Responsible Officer:  Service Lead - Commercial and Procurement

The procurement department is still undertaking work to improve and firm up the 
council’s procurement processes with a focus on making them legal and compliant. This 
work is designed to identify and achieve efficiency savings however, the current 
forecast position means that this is an area of uncertainty. At present, areas benefiting 
from the service’s work may reflect reduced costs in awarding contracts and the savings 
will be reflected in the department’s budgets where the contract sits. It is expected that 
savings by the department will not be reflected in the outturn position for the 2019/20 
year and this element of the budget will be removed for 2020-21.

Page 278



 

Movement 2019/20

Opening Balance £4,395,024 

Deficit  (£641,293)

Projected balance at year end £3,753,731

8.9 Supplementary Budgets and Virements

It is proposed that supplementary budgets totalling £52,360 identified in Appendix 3 are 
approved and added to the 2019/20 budget.  These will be financed from Earmarked 
Reserves (£22,360) and S106 agreements (£30,000).  

  
This will have no impact on the projected General Fund working balance.

Appendix 3 also lists proposed budget transfers which have been identified where 
budgets need to be transferred from one service area to another.

8.10 OUTSTANDING SUNDRY DEBT

An aged debt analysis of the Council’s sundry debts is shown in the table below. The 
latest data shown is to the end of September.

Age of Debt October
2018

March
2019

September
2019

Up to 29 days (current) £843,953 £1,356,559 £1,769,672
30 days – 1 Year £1,565,908 £1,613,514 £1,604,126
1 – 2 years £948,849 £647,966 £682,091
2 –3 years £379,750 £617,436 £326,570
3 – 4 years £613,242 £511,466 £297,720
4 – 5 years £229,027 £275,815 £475,275
5 + years £548,338 £583,089 £643,220

Total                     £5,129,067 £5,605,845 £5,798,674

8.11 DEBT WRITE-OFFS

The following amounts have been written-off during 2019/20:

2018/19 Total 2019/20 (Qtr 2)

 Council Tax £351,917
£73,387

£73,983         
£0

Page 279



 
 Business Rates
 Sundry Debt
 Housing Rents
 Non-HRA Rents
 HB Overpayments

£52,786
£65,824

£167,125
£195,758

£4,432
£34,851
£53,019
£52,702

8.12 CREDITOR PAYMENTS PERFORMANCE

Creditors’ payments continue to be monitored in spite of the withdrawal of statutory 
performance indicator BVPI8.  The percentage paid within 30 days was 94.86% for the first 
six months of 2019/20 compared with 96.53% for 2018/19.

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 This is a statement of the projected financial position to the end of the 2019/20.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The risks relate to overspending the Council budget and are mitigated by regular reporting 
to the Strategic Management Board and Members.  Members have a legal responsibility to 
take action where balances are projected to reach an unsustainable level and the Strategic 
Management Board are working to address the current projected shortfall in reserves.

Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted in this report.  The key areas of budgetary risks 
are attached as Appendix 4, for reference.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

11.1

11.2

11.3

Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider the 
need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking account 

of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding.

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of 
decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing 
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the 
impacts on all members of the community.

In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 
decision.

Page 280



 

11.4
In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: 

11.4.1 There are no significant equality and diversity impacts associated with this decision.

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 Not applicable

DAVE HODGSON
Chief Finance Officer

Authors:
Nicola Matthews-Morley, Michelle White, Sally Reeve, Adrian Rutter and Rajah Mukwiri

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

 Annual  Supplementary Revised Year End Variance

Budget

Budgets & 

Virements Annual Forecast
to Budget

Budget

£ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive & Growth Director 2,694,930 130,070 2,825,000 2,750,000 (75,000)

Communities Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure 5,118,705 524,010 5,642,715 5,628,865 (13,850)

Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, 

Customer Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates, 

Democratic Services 

5,674,040 135,000 5,809,040 5,745,462 (63,578)

Communiciations, Tourism & Culture 2,729,185 218,970 2,948,155 2,957,155 9,000

Environment and City Management (627,990) 1,400,120 772,130 838,430 66,300

Chief Finance Officer 2,166,980 2,570 2,169,550 2,233,499 63,949

City Solicitor & Head of HR 816,010 12,400 828,410 874,442 46,032

less Notional capital charges (5,874,930) 0 (5,874,930) (5,874,930) 0

Service Committee Net Expenditure 12,696,930 2,423,140 15,120,070 15,152,923 32,853

Net Interest 216,000 216,000 216,000 0

New Homes Bonus (2,517,780) (2,517,780) (2,517,780) 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital 0 0 1,665,000 1,665,000

Minimum Revenue Provision 738,020 738,020 582,442 (155,578)

Voluntary Revenue Provision 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 (1,000,000)

General Fund Expenditure 12,133,170 2,423,140 14,556,310 15,098,585 542,275

Transfer To/(From) Working Balance 250,530 (1,000,420) (749,890) (780,465) (30,575)

Transfer To/(From) Earmarked Reserves (643,000) (1,422,720) (2,065,720) (2,577,420) (511,700)

General Fund Net Expenditure 11,740,700 0 11,740,700 11,740,700 (0)

Formula Grant (4,429,000) (4,429,000) (4,429,000) 0

Business Rates Growth / Pooling Gain (1,385,000) (1,385,000) (1,385,000) 0

CIL Admin (95,380) (95,380) (95,380) 0

Council Tax (5,831,320) (5,831,320) (5,831,320) 0

0 0 0 (0) (0)

Working Balance March 2018 4,395,024£         3,614,559£  March 2019

2019/20 GENERAL FUND BUDGET MONITORING - SUMMARY

QUARTER 2

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

10,764,030 9,231,369 (1,459,329) TOTAL GENERAL FUND NET EXPENDITURE 20,995,000 21,027,853 32,853 (120,500)

1,668,260 1,524,081 (144,179) IT SERVICES 1,742,430 1,654,430 (88,000) (88,000)

392,523 400,826 8,303 STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT 791,870 805,370 13,500 13,500 

136,535 145,076 8,540 CENTRAL SUPPORT 290,700 290,200 (500) 0 

2,197,318 2,069,983 (127,336) NET EXPENDITURE 2,825,000 2,750,000 (75,000) (74,500)

168,057 (36,414) (204,471) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 340,370 340,370 0 0 

108,448 128,235 19,787 LICENCING,FOOD,HEALTH & SAFETY 260,200 260,200 0 0 

50,830 45,192 (5,638) PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 142,780 114,780 (28,000) (34,000)

241,674 214,874 (26,800) LEISURE & SPORT 3,698,500 3,712,650 14,150 25,300 

249,905 238,113 (11,792) ACTIVE & HEALTHY PEOPLE 336,225 336,225 0 (1,500)

131,690 51,927 (79,763) ST SIDWELLS POINT 264,520 264,520 0 0 

481,040 477,580 (3,460) GRANTS/SOCIAL INCLUSION 600,120 600,120 0 0 

1,431,644 1,119,507 (312,137) NET EXPENDITURE 5,642,715 5,628,865 (13,850) (10,200)

(290,843) (297,482) (6,639) HOUSING NEEDS & HOMELESSNESS 1,090,880 1,090,880 0 0 

89,980 89,980 0 SUNDRY LANDS MAINTENANCE 89,980 89,980 0 0 

118,990 182,693 63,703 GF HOUSING - PROPERTY 195,340 270,340 75,000 0 

(22,612) (79,610) (56,998) BUILDING CONTROL 51,180 (49,584) (100,764) (94,600)

236,823 223,144 (13,679) PLANNING SERVICES 533,180 533,180 0 34,200 

1,221,406 1,233,607 12,201 REVENUES, BENEFITS & CUSTOMER ACCCESS 1,937,910 1,937,910 0 0 

235,370 228,279 (7,091) ELECTIONS & ELECTORAL REG 372,490 389,710 17,220 (18,000)

303,205 290,845 (12,360) DEMOCRATIC REPRESENTATION 595,100 571,998 (23,102) (17,500)

113,792 110,264 (3,528) CIVIC CEREMONIALS 267,090 269,053 1,963 57,100 

433,278 363,475 (69,803) CORPORATE SUPPORT 675,890 641,995 (33,895) (21,600)

2,439,388 2,345,194 (20,863) NET EXPENDITURE 5,809,040 5,745,462 (63,578) (60,400)

108,776 103,163 (5,613) CULTURE 172,640 172,640 0 0 

86,027 81,846 (4,181) TOURISM 168,490 168,490 0 0 

(254,836) (562,164) (307,328) MARKETS & HALLS (439,850) (446,850) (7,000) (3,000)

1,102,890 374,479 (728,411) MUSEUM SERVICE 2,345,080 2,345,080 0 0 

105,195 91,195 (14,000) VISITOR FACILITIES 189,330 205,330 16,000 0 

257,670 321,291 63,621 COMMUNICATIONS 512,465 512,465 0 0 

1,405,722 409,808 (995,913) NET EXPENDITURE 2,948,155 2,957,155 9,000 (3,000)

90,160 89,747 (413) PUBLIC SAFETY 260,320 257,320 (3,000) (3,000)

1,253,455 1,265,858 12,403 PARKS & GREEN SPACES 2,101,700 2,124,200 22,500 42,500 

35,777 62,742 26,965 CEMETERIES OPERATIONAL 72,400 102,400 30,000 0 

0 9,798 9,798 AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 0 9,800 9,800 9,800 

906,172 959,960 53,787 DOMESTIC REFUSE COLLECTION 2,062,340 2,062,340 0 0 

794,634 770,678 (23,956) STREET CLEANING 1,559,150 1,550,150 (9,000) (9,000)

95,894 97,941 2,047 PUBLIC CONVENIENCES 374,270 381,270 7,000 7,000 

(189,265) (175,861) 13,404 CLEANSING CHARGEABLE SERVICES (316,850) (316,850) 0 0 

119,425 147,024 27,600 EXTON ROAD OVERHEADS AND FLEET 205,850 205,850 0 0 

93,340 398,567 305,226 RECYCLING 141,970 141,970 0 0 

(1,604,546) (1,600,416) 4,130 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ESTATES (2,681,610) (2,681,610) 0 0 

0 (5,971) (5,971) TRANSPORTATION 0 0 0 0 

(2,524,102) (2,559,480) (35,378) PARKING SERVICES (6,076,810) (6,101,810) (25,000) (91,000)

154,339 47,448 (106,891) GROWTH & COMMERCIALISATION 320,580 320,580 0 0 

227,697 197,053 (30,643) ENGINEERING SERVICES 575,900 575,900 0 0 

323,660 54,801 (268,859) MAJOR PROJECTS 647,320 647,320 0 0 

143,728 168,453 24,725 WATERWAYS 356,500 390,500 34,000 34,000 

700,000 704,690 4,690 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ASSETS 1,050,700 1,050,700 0 0 

57,620 62,340 4,720 CORPORATE PROPERTY - ENERGY 118,400 118,400 0 0 

677,988 695,371 17,382 NET EXPENDITURE 772,130 838,430 66,300 (9,700)

85,590 88,576 2,986 CORPORATE (34,120) (34,120) 0 0 

1,495,078 1,461,706 (33,372) UNAPPORTIONABLE OVERHEADS 1,515,180 1,491,324 (23,856) (24,300)

334,656 321,243 (13,413) FINANCIAL SERVICES 568,830 531,785 (37,045) (63,000)

55,530 53,856 (1,674) INTERNAL AUDIT 96,930 96,780 (150) (2,500)

37,378 102,865 65,487 PROCUREMENT 22,730 147,730 125,000 129,800 

2,008,232 2,028,246 20,013 NET EXPENDITURE 2,169,550 2,233,499 63,949 40,000 

341,446 295,871 (45,574) HUMAN RESOURCES 613,060 637,652 24,592 0 

262,292 267,389 5,098 LEGAL SERVICES 215,350 236,790 21,440 (2,700)

603,738 563,261 (40,477) NET EXPENDITURE 828,410 874,442 46,032 (2,700)

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

CITY SOLICITOR & HEAD OF HR

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, Customer Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates, Democratic 

Services 

Communities, Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure

Environment and City Management

Communications, Tourism & Culture

APPROVED 

BUDGET

CURRENT 

OUTTURN 

FORECAST

QTR 1 

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

PROFILED 

BUDGET

ACTUAL TO 

DATE

VARIANCE 

TO DATE

2019/20 GENERAL FUND BUDGET MONITORING - DETAIL

QUARTER 2

ACTUAL TO DATE YEAR END FORECAST

FORECAST 

VARIANCE

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

Supplementary Budgets

Description £ Funded by:

Commercialisation - Columbarium 2,400 Transformation Fund

Commercialisation - Advanced Certification 10,300 Transformation Fund

Street Cleansing Optimisation 9,660 Transformation Fund

Housing Needs Survey 30,000 S106

Total 52,360

Budget Transfers

Transfer £241,460 National Portfolio Organisation Grants from Communities Health, Well Being, Sport & Leisure to Communications, Tourism & Culture

PROPOSED SUPPLEMENTARY BUDGETS & BUDGET TRANSFERS

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4 

2019/20 BUDGET MONITORING 

AREAS OF BUDGETARY RISK 
 

The table below notes service-areas that, based on either experience last year or market factors 
this year, have been identified as having significant budgetary risk within the 2019/20 revenue 
budgets.   

 
The revenue budget areas of risk are: 

 

Service  
19/20 

Approved 
Budget 

Risk 
Rating 

Risk and mitigation 

Strategic Housing, City Development, Housing Needs & Homelessness, Customer 
Services, Welfare Reform, Revenues, Benefits & Business Rates, Democratic Services 

Planning 
Services 
Revenue  

£533,180   

 There has been a number of recent planning 
decisions which have been appealed.  This generally 
results in a need for external consultancy and legal 
advice.  Significant expenditure has been incurred in 
this area in previous financial years. 

Revenues and 
Benefits 
Housing Benefit 
Subsidy 

£36,123,870 

 
The Council currently administers over £36 million of 
Housing Benefit payments for rent allowances and 
rent rebates. Not all expenditure can be claimed back 
as subsidy. Certain supported and temporary 
accommodation costs are not eligible for full subsidy; 
these claim types will remain in Housing Benefit and 
not move to Universal Credit. As more Housing 
Benefit claims move onto Universal Credit the 
amount of unsubsidised expenditure will be an 
increased proportion of total expenditure. Errors 
made by ECC officers are not subsidised in full if they 
go over a set percentage of total expenditure. As total 
expenditure reduces due to Universal Credit rollout, 
the margins within which error payments are 
subsidised will reduce, increasing the risk of a 
subsidy loss in this area. 

Communications, Tourism & Culture 

Markets & 
Halls 
Revenue  

(£439,850) 

 
 
 
 

Income is from entrepreneurial activities at Matford 
and the Corn Exchange, and there is always a risk 
around individual activities. However, in each of the 
past 3 years the Service has successfully managed 
risk to the extent that is has brought in contributions 
of 11% to 16% (£47k to £80k) better than budgeted. 

Page 289



Areas Of Budgetary Risk       APPENDIX 4 

Service  
19/20 

Approved 
Budget 

Risk 
Rating 

Risk and mitigation 

Museum 
Service 
Revenue  

£2,281,630 

 
The Service is based in a distinctive Victorian 
building with some highly specialised environmental 
requirements, and much responsibility for its facilities 
management has recently been devolved from 
Corporate Property to the Service. The budget for all 
premises costs except business rates is £366,550 
and this is likely to come under significant pressure 
as (for example) specialised maintenance and 
servicing costs are identified and planned. 

Environment and City Management 

Cemeteries 
Revenue  

£282,960 

 
 
 
 

The income budgets include various sources such as 
interment fees, rights of burial and headstone fees.   
 
Historically the actual income has often been lower 
than the target, although it was slightly over target in 
2018/19.  Income levels will be monitored and the 
issue flagged to senior management if the trend of 
income continues as in previous years. 

Cleansing 
Chargeable 
Services 
Revenue  

(£316,850) 

 
The majority of the £1,051,045 income is subject to 
local and national markets with many competitors, 
which creates significant commercial unpredictability. 

Recycling 
Revenue  

£131,970 

 Recycling income is budgeted at £1,247,400. 
Although the service actively seeks to trade at the 
most advantageous price available, this is a global 
market and can be very volatile with even small 
changes in world prices having a material impact 
here. 
 
In July 2019 Executive supported a move to weekly 
kerbside-sort recycling collection, incorporating glass 
and food waste collection with three weekly rubbish 
collection, alongside an investment in appropriate 
material sorting technology to maximise commercial 
recycling opportunities. The Service reports that 
implementation may be delayed until 2021 because 
of long delivery times for specialist vehicles. 

Page 290



Areas Of Budgetary Risk       APPENDIX 4 

Service  
19/20 

Approved 
Budget 

Risk 
Rating 

Risk and mitigation 

Fleet 
Revenue  

Revenue 
£744,580 

 

 The contract approved by Executive in April 2019 and 
implemented across 2019-20 onwards provides the 
Council’s fleet at a fixed price for supply and 
maintenance and ensures all vehicles will be 
replaced at an affordable cost at the end of their 
working life. Although one expected benefit of the 
contract is therefore to significantly reduce 
unpredictable non-contract costs such as reactive 
repairs (which have averaged around £350k/year 
since 2010-11), with the size and complexity of a 
specialised fleet currently valued at £4.9m at cost, 
there will always be a risk of material overspends due 
to damage or breakdowns. The risk will reduce as the 
contract becomes fully implemented. 

Corporate 
Property – 
Estates Rental 
Income  

(£3,537,750) 

 
 
 

Current High Street conditions are impacting the 
ability of the service to keep all rental properties let at 
full market rent.   Income levels will be monitored and 
the issue flagged to senior management if material 
issues are identified.  

Car Parking 
Revenue  

(£8,252,970) 

 
 

 

Car Parking income can be volatile; a 3% shortfall in 
income would mean a shortfall of £250k against the 
budget. Income levels will be monitored and the issue 
flagged to senior management if a downturn is 
detected. 

 
Risk Rating Key: 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 

 
Current forecasts indicate either a favourable variance 
compared to the budget or no variance at all  

 
Current forecasts indicate an adverse budgetary variance of 
between 0% and 5% that will be kept under review 

 
Current forecasts indicate an adverse budgetary variance of 
more than 5% and will be monitored closely 

 

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019
REPORT TO: COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 17 December 2019
REPORT OF: Chief Finance Officer

TITLE: 2019/20 HRA Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter 2

Is this a Key Decision? 
No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a key 
decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To advise Members of the overall financial position of the HRA Revenue and Capital 
Budgets for the 2019/20 financial year after the first six months.

In addition to the budgetary over/under-spends reported to this committee, Appendix 1 also 
highlights further areas of risk, so that Members are aware that certain budgets have been 
identified as being vulnerable to factors beyond the control of the Council, which may result 
in potential deviations from budget, and are therefore subject to close monitoring, by 
officers.

2. Recommendations:

It is recommended the Executive note the report and Council notes and approves 
(where applicable):

2.1 The HRA forecast financial position for 2019/20 financial year;

2.2 The revision of the HRA Capital Programme to reflect the reported variations detailed 
in Appendix 4

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 To formally note the HRA’s projected financial position and to approve the reported 
variations to the HRA Capital Programme.

The Housing Revenue Account is a statutory account and local housing authorities have a 
duty to keep an HRA in accordance with proper accounting practices and to review the 
account throughout the year.  This is the second quarterly financial update in respect of the 
HRA for 2019/20

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources

4.1 The financial resources required to deliver both housing services to Council tenants and to 
invest in new and existing housing stock during 2019/20 are set out in the body of this 
report.

4.2 The impact on the HRA’s available financial resources are set out in Appendix 3.

Page 293

Agenda Item 13



5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The contents are noted.  There are no significant concerns to bring to the Councils attention 
at this stage.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 The Housing Revenue Account is framed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  
This Act created the ring-fence and the structure within which the HRA operates and covers 
the detailed operation of the HRA, including the credits (income) and debits (expenditure) 
which make up the account.

7. Monitoring Officer Comments:

The report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report Details:

HRA BUDGET MONITORING – QUARTER 2

8.1 Background to the HRA

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) records expenditure and income relating to council 
dwellings and the provision of services to tenants.  Housing authorities have a statutory 
duty to maintain a HRA account, which is primarily a landlord account, in order to account 
to their tenants for income and expenditure on council housing separately from other 
functions and services of the Council.  

8.2 Projected Surplus/Deficit

During this period the total budget variances indicate that there will be a net deficit of 
£417,315 in 2019/20.  This represents a movement of £919,100 compared to the revised 
budgeted deficit of £1,336,415 for 2019/20.  The key budget deviations are explained 
below.  Please also refer to Appendix 2.

Budget Heading Forecast Outturn Budget 
Variance at Quarter 1

(Under)/Overspend

Forecast Outturn Budget 
Variance at Quarter 2 

 
(Under)/Overspend

Budgeted Deficit £386,815
Supplementary budgets – 
Executive approved 10 July 
2018

£949,600

Revised Budgeted Deficit £1,336,415
Management Costs (£75,000) (£90,000)

Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Housing Tenancy Services & Service Lead – 
Housing Assets 

 (£45K) Forecast savings in employee costs, predominantly due to two vacant Older 
Person Property Services officers’ posts.  

 (£45k) Saving to be made in respect of general management consultancy costs, in order 
to offset the additional cost of consultants appointed to undertake asset management 
procurement options.

Housing Customers (£71,000) (£34,000)
Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Housing Tenancy Services

Page 294



 (£24k) Forecast savings in employee costs, predominantly due to vacant posts within the 
Lettings and Leasehold team.

 (£10k) Amalgamation of various minor forecast underspends.

Sundry Land Maintenance (£104,930) (£104,930)
Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Housing Tenancy Services & Service Lead – 
Housing Assets

 (£105k) A dedicated Tree Officer for Housing has been appointed and is due to start in 
November.  Officers within Public Realm oversee the delivery of works to HRA trees and 
the works identified by the surveys are currently being prioritised.  It is anticipated that 
slippage will occur in respect of works to HRA trees, whilst the programme of works are 
programmed and access issues resolved.  

Repair & Maintenance 
Programme

£0 (£802,170)

 (£275k) Originally budgeted £475k for site clearance costs in order to facilitate new build 
development sites.  Following the decision for the HRA development programme to 
progress the former ECL sites, the anticipated site clearance and enabling costs will be 
required at a later stage – 2020 and beyond.

 (£400k) Forecast underspend in respect of the low maintenance and painting programme 
due to issues with the mobilisation of the new contractor, for this reason a supplementary 
budget will be requested to carry forward the budget into 2020-21, with the expectation 
that the contractor will catch-up next year.

 (£120k) Forecast saving in respect of routine service and maintenance contracts, which 
predominantly relates to savings in the gas servicing contract following the appointment of 
a new contractor.

Capital Charges £329,000 £329,000
Officer Responsible: not applicable (statutory accounting charge)

 Depreciation charges are higher than budgeted due to a change in the assumed life 
expectancy of kitchens, from 30 years to 20 years, in line with Asset Management Plans.  

  Depreciation is a real cost to the HRA as it represents the amount of money which needs 
to be set aside in the Major Repairs Reserve to provide for future capital works or to repay 
debt.

Housing Assets £39,000 (£107,000)
Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Housing Assets

 £45k Forecast overspend predominantly relates to consultancy advice in respect of asset 
management procurement options, including the general maintenance and void 
maintenance contract arrangements.  The additional cost has been offset by savings 
within the HRA’s General Management consultancy budget, as reported above.

 £30k Forecast overspend in respect of additional agency staff costs covering vacant 
posts.  Recruitment is pending the outcomes of the proposed restructure of Housing 
Assets, as presented to Executive on 10 September 2019.  

 (£175k) Forecast spend for the financial year is now £75k comprising; production of an 

Page 295



Employers Requirements document by ECL for the HRA to standardise new build 
developments and work by ECL to investigate the feasibility of adding additional floors to 
some of the Council’s blocks of flats.

With the HRA development programme commencing with sites that were originally to be 
developed by ECL, the requirement for site investigation work was already completed. As 
such, site investigation work will be required for the second phase of the development 
activity during 2020 and following years.

Interest £0 (£110,000)
Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Housing Tenancy Services & Service Lead – 
Housing Assets

 Reflects additional interest receivable on HRA balances (Working Balance, Major Repairs 
Reserve and capital receipts).  Forecast underspends in both revenue and capital budgets 
are expected to result in higher than anticipated HRA balances and interest rates also 
increased.

Total budget variances £117,070 (£919,100)
Projected HRA deficit £417,315

8.3 Impact on HRA Working Balance

The HRA Working Balance represents amounts set aside to help facilitate service 
improvements, repay debt or to provide investment in the stock in future financial years.  

The forecast balance, as at 31 March 2020, is set out below:  

Movement 2019/20
Opening HRA Working Balance, as at 
1/4/19

£10,025,355

Forecast deficit for 2019/20 (£417,315)
Balance resolved to be retained (HRA 
contingency)

(£4,000,000)

Balance Available, as at 31/3/20 £5,608,040

8.4 HRA Available Resources over the Medium Term

The forecast HRA available resources for delivering both housing services and capital 
investment are set out in Appendix 3 for the period to 2021/22.

8.5 HRA Debt
In October 2018 the Government formally removed the HRA debt cap, which restricted the 
amount of borrowing stock-holding local authorities could have for the purposes of the HRA.  
The lifting of the ‘debt cap’ means that local authorities are now able to borrow for 
housebuilding in accordance with the Prudential Code.

As at 31 March 2019, the HRA’s borrowing remains at the former ‘debt cap’ level of 
£57,882,413, as no new borrowing has been undertaken.

Executive on 8 October 2019 approved the first Council House Building Programme, which 
will deliver 100 new homes into the HRA at a cost of £18 million.  It is expected that these 
schemes will be funded using the new freedoms to borrow in conjunction with potential 
grant from Homes England and retained Right to Buy receipts, which will be determined on 
a site by site basis.

Page 296



8.6      HRA Capital Programme

The 2019-20 HRA Capital Programme was last reported to Scrutiny Committee – People 
on 5 September.  Since that meeting the following changes have been made that have 
increased the programme.  

Description 2019/20 Approval / Funding
HRA Capital Programme £26,843,000
Budgets deferred to future 
financial years

(£4,060,635) Council 15 October 2019

Revised HRA Capital 
Programme

£22,782,365

8.7      Performance

The current HRA Capital Programme is detailed in Appendix 4.  The appendix shows a total 
forecast spend of £20,084,795 compared to the £22,782,365 revised programme; a 
reduction of £2,697,570.  

8.8 Capital Budget Variances

The details of key variances from budget are set out below.  

Scheme Budget to be 
deferred to 

2020/21
LAINGS Refurbishment £880,000
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 Issues with the drainage design and finalising agreements with South West 
Water has taken significantly longer than anticipated.  Full works have now 
recommenced on site and the budget has been re-profiled accordingly. 

Programmed Re-roofing - Flats £150,000
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 This work is predominantly lead by referrals from the Response Repairs team.  
We do not have a large scale re-roofing programme for blocks of flats due to 
delays in the Section 20 process relating to leaseholders.  Major works to flats 
are being staggered in order to spread the costs incurred by leaseholders, which 
may otherwise cause financial hardship.

Programmed Re-roofing - Houses £431,830
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 Slippage in the roofing programme in respect of houses is due to delays in the 
procurement of the contract, which is currently progressing with the 
Procurement Team.

Rennes House Structural Works £500,000
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 The lift works have been completed and signed off.  A full design team has been 
appointed for the rest of the refurbishment works and we are now in a period of 
survey and assessing design options prior to the appointment of a main 
contractor and cost finalisation.  The budget has been re-profiled to reflect the 

Page 297



deferral of significant works on site until 2020.

Soil Vent Pipe Replacement £115,950
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 Slippage in the soil and vent pipe replacements is due to this work being tied up 
with the kitchen and bathroom contract procurement, which has been delayed 
as previously reported.

Loft and Cavity Insulation £94,690
Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead

 Slippage of the loft and cavity insulation budget is due to this work being tied up 
with the re-roofing programmes, as reported above.

Extra Care Scheme £251,320
Officer Responsible – Service Lead Housing

 Works are progressing on site well on site with significant expenditure of £8.5m 
forecast for this financial year, however the latest cash-flow forecasts indicate 
some slippage into 2020/21 but with no impact on the overall contract length.  
The new scheme is expected to complete in September 2020.

Acquisition of Social Housing – Section 106 £240,000
Officer Responsible – Service Lead – Housing Assets

 The budget provision for acquiring homes at The Chase is no longer required.  
Heritage Homes refused to sell the properties to the Council because of 
technicality set out in the Section 106 requiring completion by 11 June 2019.  
The budget will be carried forward into 2020/21 whilst other opportunities are 
explored.

9. COUNCIL OWN BUILD BUDGET MONITORING – QUARTER 2

9.1 The Council’s own build properties at Rowan House and Knights Place form part of the 
overall Housing Revenue Account, but separate income and expenditure budgets are 
maintained in order to ensure that they are self-financing.

9.2    Projected Surplus/Deficit
A minor forecast variance of £3,000 is forecast at the end of Quarter 2.  The budgeted net 
surplus of £15,470 is therefore projected to be £18,470 during 2019/20, due savings in 
management costs.

10.      How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

The Housing Revenue Account contributes to two key purposes, as set out in the       
Corporate Plan; help me find somewhere suitable to live and maintain our property assets.

11.      What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget                       
monitoring updates.  Appendix 1 sets out the risks identified, at Quarter 2.

12. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

Page 298



12.1     Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider the 
need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking account of 

disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting understanding

12.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of 
decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing 
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the 
impacts on all members of the community.

12.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 
decision.

12.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: 

12.4.1 There are no significant equality and diversity impacts associated with this decision.

13. Are there any other options?

No

DAVE HODGSON
Chief Finance Officer

Author:
Michelle White

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None

Contact for enquiries:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
(01392) 265275

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



AREAS OF BUDGETARY RISK APPENDIX 1
A number of areas of budgetary risk have been identified within the HRA, as follows:

Budget Title 19/20 Approved 
Budget

Risk 
Rating Risk and mitigation

General 
Maintenance

£1,882,010 
(revenue)

The volatility of the level of reported 
faults due to factors beyond the control 
of the Council, for example adverse 
weather conditions represent a 
budgetary risk.  The impact of property 
inspections undertaken by the Housing 
Customer Team may also lead to the 
identification of additional repairs.

Repairs to 
Void 
Properties

£1,142,250 
(revenue)

Property turnover and the varying 
condition of properties when returned to 
the Council represent a budgetary risk.

Rental 
Income from 
Dwellings

£18,250,000 
(revenue)

Right to Buy sales, number of new 
tenancies set at convergence rent 
levels, number of days lost through 
major works, rent lost in respect of void 
properties and welfare reform changes 
(for which an increased bad debt 
provision has been made) all impact on 
the annual rental income.  However, 
rental income after the first 6 months is 
slightly behind profile, but payments 
made during the rent-free fortnights 
may mitigate.

Risk Rating:

Current forecasts indicate either a favourable variance 
compared to the budget or no variance at all 

Current forecasts indicate an adverse budgetary variance of 
between 0% and 5% that will be kept under review

Current forecasts indicate an adverse budgetary variance of 
more than 5% and will be monitored closely

Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNTS BUDGET MONITORING 2019-20 APPENDIX 2

QUARTER 2

ACTUAL TO DATE YEAR END FORECAST

PROFILED
BUDGET

ACTUAL
TO DATE

VARIANCE
TO DATE MANAGEMENT UNIT APPROVED

BUDGET

Qrt 1
FORECAST
VARIANCE

Qrt 2
FORECAST
VARIANCE

CURRENT
OUTTURN

FORECAST
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

457,221 361,043 (96,178) MANAGEMENT 1,325,405 (75,000) (90,000) 1,235,405
558,052 512,737 (45,315) HOUSING CUSTOMERS 1,371,670 (71,000) (34,000) 1,337,670
249,972 124,052 (125,920) SUNDRY LAND MAINTENANCE 634,430 (104,930) (104,930) 529,500

3,818,583 2,921,566 (897,017) REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 7,181,970 0 (802,170) 6,379,800
0 0 0 REVENUE CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL 2,500,000 0 0 2,500,000
0 0 0 CAPITAL CHARGES 3,224,210 329,000 329,000 3,553,210

861,956 750,347 (111,609) HOUSING ASSETS 2,002,100 39,000 (107,000) 1,895,100
(10,932,852) (10,785,556) 147,296 RENTS (18,718,700) 0 0 (18,718,700)

0 0 0 INTEREST 1,815,330 0 (110,000) 1,705,330
MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE (1,336,415) (117,070) 919,100 (417,315)

Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2019 10,025,355 31 March 2020 9,608,040

COUNCIL OWN BUILD SITES

PROFILED
BUDGET

ACTUAL
TO DATE

VARIANCE
TO DATE

APPROVED
BUDGET

Qrt 1
FORECAST
VARIANCE

Qrt 2
FORECAST
VARIANCE

CURRENT
OUTTURN

FORECAST
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

14,242 14,495 253 MANAGEMENT 33,510 0 0 33,510
(5,611) (6,900) (1,289) ROWAN HOUSE (10,230) 0 0 (10,230)

(30,890) (36,662) (5,772) KNIGHTS PLACE (59,040) 0 (3,000) (62,040)
0 0 0 INTEREST 5,740 0 0 5,740
0 0 0 CAPITAL CHARGES 14,550 0 0 14,550

MOVEMENT TO/(FROM) WORKING BALANCE 15,470 0 3,000 18,470

Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0

Working Balance        1 April 2019 274,855 31 March 2020 293,325

P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3
HRA AVAILABLE RESOURCES

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 TOTAL
£ £ £ £ £

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE
Usable Receipts Brought Forward 10,552,213
Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 14,255,232

Other HRA Sales 1,459,500 0 0 0 1,459,500
RTB sales 1,200,000 500,000 500,000 400,000 2,600,000
Surrender back to DCLG - pending investment in
replacement affordable housing (2,856,144) 0 0 0 (2,856,144)
Major Repairs Reserve 3,553,210 3,553,210 3,553,210 3,553,210 14,212,840
Revenue Contributions to Capital 2,500,000 5,246,550 4,500,000 3,400,000 15,646,550
External contributions 625,308 0 0 0 625,308
Grant funding - Estate Regeneration Funding 391,456 0 0 0 391,456
Grant funding - Zero Energy Buildings Project 216,000 0 0 0 216,000
Commuted sums 2,790,651 2,565,710 0 0 5,356,361

Total Resources available 9,879,981 11,865,470 8,553,210 7,353,210 62,459,316

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

HRA Capital Programme 22,782,365 18,776,527 10,498,856 8,920,408 60,978,156
Reported slippage - Quarter 2 (2,697,570) 3,197,570 (500,000) 0 0
Reported (under)overspends - Quarter 2 0

Total Housing Revenue Account 20,084,795 21,974,097 9,998,856 8,920,408 60,978,156

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:

Usable Receipts Brought Forward 10,552,213 4,825,655 2,426,065 2,526,065 10,552,213
Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward 14,255,232 9,776,976 2,067,939 522,293 14,255,232
Resources in Year 9,879,981 11,865,470 8,553,210 7,353,210 37,651,871
Less Estimated Spend (20,084,795) (21,974,097) (9,998,856) (8,920,408) (60,978,156)

Uncommitted Capital Resources 14,602,631 4,494,004 3,048,358 1,481,160 1,481,160

WORKING BALANCE RESOURCES:

Balance Brought Forward 10,025,355 9,608,040 6,513,206 4,951,177 10,025,355

HRA Balance Transfer - Surplus/(Deficit) (1,336,415) (2,698,264) (1,562,029) (303,326) (5,900,034)

Quarter 2 forecast underspend 919,100 919,100
Supplementary budget - Low Maint Programme (396,570) (396,570)

Balance Carried Forward 9,608,040 6,513,206 4,951,177 4,647,851 4,647,851
Balance Resolved to be Retained (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000) (4,000,000)
Uncommitted HRA Working Balance 5,608,040 2,513,206 951,177 647,851 647,851

TOTAL AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES 20,210,671 7,007,210 3,999,535 2,129,011 2,129,011

P
age 305



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

2019-20
CAPITAL MONITORING - QUARTER 2

2019-20
Capital

Programme

2019-20 Spend 2019-20
Forecast

Spend

2019-20 Budget
to be Carried
Forward to

Future Years

TO 2020-21 TO 2021-22 TO 2022-23 TO 2023-24 2019-20
Programme

Variances Under
()

£ £ £ £ £
HRA CAPITAL

EVERYONE HAS A HOME
Z4212 Adaptations 595,910 188,555 595,910 0
Z4703 Estate Improvements 64,290 35,877 64,290 0
Z4705 Programmed Re-roofing - Flats 312,060 0 162,060 150,000 150,000 0
Z4705 Programmed Re-roofing - Houses 631,830 101,979 200,000 431,830 431,830 0
Z4709 Energy Conservation 25,000 0 25,000 0
Z4713 Garage Upgrades 68,400 0 68,400 0
Z4718 LAINGS Refurbishments 2,000,000 382,642 1,120,000 880,000 880,000 0
Z4719 Kitchen Replacement Programme 897,795 118,135 897,795 0
Z4721 Balcony Walkway Improvements 323,000 32,533 323,000 0
Z4724 Bathroom Replacements Programme 564,140 167,849 564,140 0
Z4729 Door Replacements (including Outbuildings) 210,930 120,977 210,930 0
Z4743 Communal Area Improvements 118,210 0 118,210 0
Z4745 Structural Repairs 344,550 91,497 344,550 0
Z4755 Rennes House Structural Works 1,000,000 188,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 0
Z4758 Common Area Footpath/Wall Improvements 191,780 103,106 191,780 0
Z4763 Soil Vent Pipe Replacement 130,950 5,190 15,000 115,950 115,950 0
Z4764 Electrical Central Heating 19,240 0 19,240 0
Z4768 Fire Safety Storage Facilities 243,780 17,377 210,000 33,780 33,780 0
Z4802 Electrical Re-wiring - Domestic 328,670 81,116 328,670 0
Z4802 Electrical Re-wiring - Communal 296,920 48,667 296,920 0
Z4903 Central Heating and Boiler Replacement Programme 590,670 120,450 590,670 0
Z4906 Communal Door & Screens 388,780 24,518 388,780 0
Z4909 Fire Risk Assessment Works 505,770 56,564 505,770 0
Z4910 Loft and Cavity Insulation 97,690 0 3,000 94,690 94,690 0
Z4915 Window Replacements 1,513,750 363,957 1,513,750 0
Z4916 Replacement Housing Management System 92,190 67,187 92,190 0
Z4917 Porch Canopies 192,480 0 192,480 0
Z4918 Zebcat Project 446,080 249,363 446,080 0

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 12,194,865 2,565,539 9,988,615 2,206,250 2,206,250 0 0 0 0

COUNCIL OWN BUILD CAPITAL
Z3220 Extra Care Scheme 8,700,640 1,882,580 8,449,320 251,320 251,320 0
Z4751 Acquisition of Social Housing - Section 106 240,000 0 0 240,000 240,000 0
Z3201 Acquisition of Social Housing - Open Market 1,255,400 890,042 1,255,400 0
Z5101 Estate Regeneration - Heavitree 391,460 104,564 391,460 0

COUNCIL OWN BUILD TOTAL 10,587,500 2,877,186 10,096,180 491,320 491,320 0 0 0 0

OVERALL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 22,782,365 5,442,725 20,084,795 2,697,570 2,697,570 0 0 0 0

P
age 307



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019
REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 17 December 2019
Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Title: Treasury Management 2019/20 Half Year Update

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To report on the current Treasury Management performance for the 2019/20 financial year 
and the position regarding investments and borrowings at 30 September 2019.  The report 
is a statutory requirement and is for information only with no key decisions required.

2. Recommendations:

2.1 That Members of the Executive note the Treasury Management report in respect of 
the first six months of the 2019/20 financial year. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 It is a statutory requirement for the Council to publish regular reports on Treasury 
Management to Council.  This includes an annual Treasury Management Strategy and half 
yearly report and a year-end report as a minimum.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources

4.1 The report is an update on the overall performance in respect of Treasury Management for 
the first six months of the 2019/20 financial year. Therefore, there are no financial or non-
financial resource implications.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There is a significant, positive variance in respect of net interest for both the General Fund 
and the HRA. The decision to undertake the long term borrowing to underpin the Council’s 
Capital Financing Requirement has resulted in a reduction in the cost of interest payments, 
not only this year, but across the Medium Term Financial Plan.  The borrowing undertaken 
will allow the Council to deliver the existing capital programme without the need to borrow 
further.  However members will note that any further additions to the capital programme 
that depend on borrowing will have to meet a higher cost threshold when determining their 
affordability.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 In February 2012 the Council adopted the updated CIPFA Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice, which requires the Council to report on its performance 
at the end of each financial year.  Adoption of the Code is required by regulations laid under 
the Local Government Act 2003.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring officer.
Page 309

Agenda Item 14



8. Report Details:

8.1 Economic Context and Interest Rate Prospects

The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall as Brexit uncertainty took a toll. 
In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England was downbeat about the outlook for 
both the UK and major world economies.  It was therefore no surprise that the Monetary 
Policy Committee (MPC) left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% throughout 2019, so far, and is 
expected to hold off on changes until there is some clarity on what is going to happen over 
Brexit.

At the time of writing, the whole political situation in the UK over Brexit is highly fluid and 
could change radically by the day. At present, if the UK does soon achieve an agreed deal 
on Brexit, then it is possible that growth could recover quickly. The MPC could then need to 
address the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate when there is very little slack left in the 
labour market; this could cause wage inflation to accelerate which would then feed through 
into general inflation.  On the other hand, if there was a no deal Brexit and there was a 
significant level of disruption to the economy, then growth could falter and the MPC would be 
likely to cut Bank Rate in order to support growth.

The Authority’s treasury management advisors are currently forecasting that the MPC will 
increase Bank Rate in December 2020 to 1%.

8.2 Treasury Management Strategy

The Council approved the 2019/20 Treasury Management Strategy at its meeting on 26 
February 2019. The stated investment strategy was to continue to hold only small surplus 
funds and to seek to utilise its Call Accounts, Money Market Funds, use the Government’s 
Debt Management Office and use short dated deposits which would be placed with Local 
Authorities.  

The Strategy stated that the on-going borrowing requirement would be monitored and a 
decision of whether to take the planned borrowing would need to be made in light of need 
and current and forecast interest rates.  This decision was delegated to the Section 151 
Officer and the Leader of the Council.

To take advantage of current low borrowing rates the decision was taken to borrow £49.45 
million from the PWLB on 26 September 2019.  The Council now has a surplus of funds to 
invest in the short term until required.

The Council approved an amendment to the existing Treasury Management Strategy at its 
meeting on 15 October 2019. The Council requires the ability to hold the £49.45 million in 
short term investments that can be accessed relatively quickly, therefore the monetary limit 
of each of the money market funds rose from £5 million each to £10 million. A decision was 
also made to rise the monetary limit for Lower Tier Local Authorities from £3 million to £5 
million in-line with the Upper Tier Authority limit.

8.3 Net Interest Position
The General Fund shows an improvement against the estimate for net interest payable, the 
position is: 

      

Estimate
Actual to 30 
September 

2019
Estimated 

Outturn Variation 

 £ £ £ £

Page 310



Interest paid 911,000 102,040 602,509 (308,491)
 
Interest earned

Temporary investment interest (324,000) (212,958) (425,380) (101,380)
ECL Loan (466,000) (108,750) (216,348) 249,652
Other interest earned (9,300) (4,650) (9,300) 0
Science Park Loan (25,780) (12,890) (25,780) 0
CVS Loan (4,220) 0 0 4,220
Less
Interest to HRA 250,000 149,080 298,159 48,159
Interest to S106 agreements 104,400 43,559 87,118 (17,282)
Interest to Trust Funds 4,800 2,392 4,783 (17)
Lord Mayors Charity 100 42 84 (16)
 
GF interest (received) / paid out (470,000) (144,175) (286,664) 183,336
 
Net Interest 441,000 (42,135) 315,845 (125,155)

CCLA – LAPF Dividend (225,000) (119,508) (239,017) (14,017)

Investment Loss – General Fund 0 0 0 0

Net Interest 216,000 (161,643) 76,828 (139,172)

9. Investment Interest

9.1 The Council can use the Government’s Debt Management Office (DMO) account and a 
reserve account with Barclays, these accounts have been utilised in the period to provide a 
low-risk temporary arrangement to hold surplus funds raised through PWLB borrowings.  
Appendix A sets out the institutions that the Council can use for deposits, this is known as 
our Counterparty list.  

9.2 The Council has five Money Market Funds.  The money market funds allow immediate 
access to our funds and spreads risk as it is pooled with investments by other organisations 
and invested across a wide range of financial institutions. 

9.3 The Council made an investment in the CCLA’s LAMIT Property Fund in 2016.  It should be 
noted that investments in property funds are a long term commitment which means that 
there can been fluctuations on the return from the investment.  

9.4 The Council’s current investments are:

Money Market Funds

Amount Investment
Interest 

rate*
£10,000,000 Amundi Asset Management 0.72%
£10,000,000 Federated Investors 0.73%
£10,000,000 Aberdeen Standard Investments 0.73%
£10,000,000 CCLA - The Public Sector Deposit Fund 0.71%
 £2,000,000 Black Rock Asset Management 0.69%

Page 311



* Interest rate is variable (therefore this is based on past performance)

Fixed Term Deposits - Current

Amount Investment
Interest 

rate
Date 

Invested
Maturity 

Date
No. of 
Days

3,000,000 Cambridgeshire County Council 1.15% 10/12/18 09/12/19 364
5,000,000 Slough Borough Council 1.10% 03/04/19 01/04/20 364

3,000,000
Blaenau Gwent County Borough 
Council 0.90% 24/05/19 13/03/20 294

3,000,000 Blackpool Borough Council 0.95% 31/05/19 10/02/20 255
3,000,000 Thurrock Council 0.87% 31/07/19 30/06/20 335
3,000,000 Salford City Council 0.87% 13/08/19 11/08/20 364
3,000,000 Goldman Sachs 0.79% 21/08/19 02/12/19 103
5,000,000 London Borough of Southwark 0.67% 04/09/19 19/02/20 168
5,000,000 Warrington Borough Council 0.85% 01/10/19 29/09/20 364
2,000,000 Thurrock Council 0.88% 11/10/19 13/07/20 276

3,000,000
Standard Chartered – 
Sustainable deposit 0.85% 16/10/19 16/04/20 183

3,000,000
Barclays Green 95 day notice 
account 0.95% 18/10/19

95  days 
from notice 

date
Min: 
95 

5,000,000 Fife Council 0.85% 25/10/19 23/10/20 364

5,000,000
London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham 0.90% 25/10/19 27/04/20 185

The Barclays Green account is linked to projects in pursuit of the transition to a lower carbon 
economy and as such counts towards the Council’s Green agenda and can be included in a 
sustainability clause in the audited accounts.

The Standard Chartered Sustainable deposit guarantees that investment is referenced 
against sustainable assets aligned to the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs).

Fixed Term Deposits – Forward Deals

Amount Investment
Interest 

rate
Date 

Invested
Maturity 

Date
No. of 
Days

3,000,000 Lancashire County Council 0.95% 02/12/19 30/11/20 364

Property Funds

Amount Investment
Dividend 

Yield
£5,000,000 CCLA – LAMIT Property Fund 4.35%

10. Borrowings

10.1 The Council’s short term borrowing is £10 million and long term borrowing is £110.684 
million (£53.8 million General Fund and £56.884 HRA).  Details of current loans are set out 
in 11.5.  

Page 312



10.2 The PWLB long-term borrowing rates fell during the period, prompting the decision on 26 
September to borrow in readiness for the on-going capital programme. This was a timely 
decision as there was an announcement on 9 October to increase the interest rates offered 
on new PWLB loans by 1% with immediate effect.

10.3 The current General Fund capital programme as at Quarter 2 indicates total borrowing will 
need to increase to £72.707 million over the next 3 years.

10.4 The ongoing borrowing requirement will be monitored and a decision of whether to take 
further borrowing will be made in light of need and current and forecast interest rates. If 
additional borrowing is required advice will be sought from the treasury management 
advisors in order that the most cost effective form of borrowing can be secured.

10.5 Current Borrowing:

11. Future Position

11.1 The short-term cash surplus will be invested in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy and will ensure that funds are available to meet demands, whilst 
also maximising returns. 

11.2 The Council’s five Money Market Funds which are AAA rated, currently offer rates between 
0.68% and 0.73%, the rates are liable to fluctuation in the year. The short term investments 
that are made through the money market funds ensure cash can be accessed immediately.  
This has a slight impact on returns but increases the security of our cash.  

11.3 We will also lend, when possible, to institutions on the Council’s counterparty list which 
includes other Local Authorities, UK and Foreign owned banks, building societies and the 
Debt Management Office.  The rates received currently average around 0.85%. 

11.4 Officers have regular meetings with the Treasury Management advisors in order to seek 
advice on how to maximise investment returns and to minimise the need to borrow whilst 
taking into account investment risk.  

11.5 We continually explore the possibility of widening the investment options available to the 
Council.  If the options are proved to be of interest, and viable, they will be included in the 
Treasury Management strategy which is presented to committee for approval in February 
2020.

12. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
Treasury Management supports the Council in generating additional funds for investing in 
Services, whilst minimising the amount of interest paid on borrowings.  It does not in itself 
contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan.

13. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

Amount Lender Interest 
rate

Date of 
repayment

£10,000,000 London Borough of Wandsworth 0.90% 05/12/2019

£56,884,000 PWLB (HRA) 3.48% 28/03/2062

£2,200,000 PWLB 2.34% 11/01/2044

£2,150,000 PWLB 2.08% 04/04/2044

£4,650,000 PWLB 1.61% 26/09/2049

£8,800,000 PWLB 1.71% 26/09/2054

£36,000,000 PWLB 1.80% 26/09/2069

Page 313



The council uses Treasury Management advisors who continually provide updates on the 
economic situation, interest rates and credit ratings of financial institutions.  They also 
provide a counterparty list which details the financial institutions which meet the council’s 
Treasury Management strategy.

14. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

14.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider the 
need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding.

14.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of 
decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing 
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the 
impacts on all members of the community.

14.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 
decision.

14.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because

14.4.1 The report is for information only 

15. Are there any other options?
No.

David Hodgson, Chief Finance Officer

Author: Kayleigh Searle, Finance Manager - Corporate

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None

Contact for enquiries:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
(01392) 265275

Page 314



Appendix A

List of Approved Counterparties for Lending for Exeter City Council

Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings

Counterparty Long

Term

Short

Term

Long

Term

Short

Term

Band Name Monetary Limit Duration

Australia

AAA Aaa

Banks

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd. AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Commonwealth Bank of Australia AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

National Australia Bank Ltd. AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Westpac Banking Corp. AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Canada

AAA Aaa

Banks Bank of Montreal AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Bank of Nova Scotia AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Royal Bank of Canada AA F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Toronto-Dominion Bank AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Finland

AA+ Aa1

Banks Nordea Bank Abp AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

OP Corporate Bank plc WD WD Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Germany

AAA Aaa

Banks DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-

Genossenschaftsbank

AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Landesbank Berlin AG Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen Girozentrale A+ F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank AAA F1+ Aaa P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

NRW.BANK AAA F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Netherlands

AAA Aaa

Banks

Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten N.V. AAA F1+ Aaa P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

ING Bank N.V. AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V. Aaa P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Singapore

AAA Aaa

Banks DBS Bank Ltd. AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd. AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

United Overseas Bank Ltd. AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Sweden

AAA Aaa

Banks Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Svenska Handelsbanken AB AA F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Swedbank AB AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Switzerland

AAA Aaa

Banks UBS AG AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Page 315



United Kingdom

AA Aa2

AAA rated and

Government backed

securities

Debt Management Office DMO 12 Months

Banks

Abbey National Treasury Services PLC A F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) A+ F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB) A+ F1 A2 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) A+ F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Close Brothers Ltd A F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Goldman Sachs International Bank A F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Handelsbanken Plc AA F1+ UK High 4 Million 12 Months

HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB) AA- F1+ Aa3 P-1 UK High 4 Million 12 Months

HSBC UK Bank Plc (RFB) AA- F1+ UK High 4 Million 12 Months

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets Plc (NRFB) A F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) A+ F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Santander UK PLC A+ F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Standard Chartered Bank A+ F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe

Ltd

A F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Building Society Coventry Building Society A- F1 A2 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Nationwide Building Society A F1 Aa3 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

Nationalised and Part

Nationalised Banks National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB) A+ F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB) A+ F1 A1 P-1 UK Low 3 Million 6 Months

United States

AAA Aaa

Banks Bank of America N.A. AA- F1+ Aa2 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Bank of New York Mellon, The AA F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. AA F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Wells Fargo Bank, NA AA- F1+ Aa1 P-1 Non UK 3 Million 9 Months

Advisory notes:

Country Limits Maximum of £3 million

Counterparty Limits Maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £5 million. For
individual banks the limit is £4 million.

A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.

Money Market Funds and similar pooled vehicles holding the highest possible credit ratings (AAA) Monetary Limit: £10m each.

UK Local Authorities Monetary Limit: £5m for Upper Tier/£5m for Lower Tier, Time Limit: 12 months.

Property Funds £10 million per fund.

Fitch Ratings Moodys Ratings

Counterparty Long

Term

Short

Term

Long

Term

Short

Term

Band Name Monetary Limit Duration

Page 316



REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
Date of meeting: 10 December 2019
Report of: Service Lead - City Development 
Title: Revised Local Development Scheme

Is this a Key Decision?

Yes 

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

Executive

1. What is the report about?

This report updates Members on discussions that have taken place between the leaders of 
the partner authorities involved in the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) regarding the 
future scope and timetable for production of the GESP. The report seeks Member 
agreement for the scope and timetable, which if agreed by all partner authorities will form the 
basis for progressing work on the GESP.  The scope and timetable have been agreed by the 
Executives of East Devon District Council, Mid Devon District Council and Teignbridge 
District Council.

The report also sets out a revised timetable for the preparation of the Development Delivery 
Plan, plus timetables for the preparation of a Code for Sustainable Homes Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) and a Planning Obligations SPD by the City Council. 

2. Recommendations:

That Executive agree the proposed scope and timetable for the GESP, Development 
Delivery Plan, Code for Sustainable Homes SPD and Planning Obligations SPD as detailed 
in this report and summarised in Appendix A.  

3. Reasons for the recommendations:

The proposed scope and timetable are considered the best approach to deliver the GESP, 
Development Delivery Plan (which could be “upgraded” to a full Local Plan should, for any 
reason, the GESP fail to progress), Code for Sustainable Homes SPD and Planning 
Obligations SPD. Members’ endorsement is needed to ensure that work on the documents 
can move forward.  

The timetable will be published on the Council’s website.

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources?

In respect of the GESP, the financial implications were considered by Executive and Council 
on 12 July and 26 July 2016 respectively.  The agreed Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) 
evidence budget should not be affected by the new timescale.  However, the GESP team, 
consisting of staff members from each of the relevant authorities, will need to continue in 
place for the additional period.  

In respect of the Development Delivery Plan and SPDs, there is currently no available 
resource within City Development to prepare these documents, all existing policy staff 
having been seconded to GESP work. It is proposed therefore to establish a Local Plans 
Team to ensure that these documents are prepared in accordance with the timetable 

Page 317

Agenda Item 15



outlined in Appendix A.  The structure of this team is still being finalised but it is anticipated 
that it will be largely funded through unspent monies contained within the former Housing 
Enabling Team budget, an element of the ring fenced income resulting from last year’s 
increase in planning fees and funding from the Liveable Exeter Garden Communities 
programme.  

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

There are no additional financial commitments arising from the report.  The additional 
resources required for the Local Plans Team must be met from existing budgets otherwise 
an additional report to Council requesting additional funding will be required.

6. What are the legal aspects?

      None identified.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:
     
     This report raises no issues to concern the Monitoring Officer.  However, it is important to 

flag for information that the creation of a new Local Plan team refered to briefly in this 
report will have to be created in accordance with the Council’s Organisational Change 
Policy.

8. Report details

8.1 Background to the GESP

On various dates in 2016, the four councils of East Devon, Exeter, Mid Devon and 
Teignbridge agreed formally to prepare a statutory joint local plan to be known as the 
Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP).  A joint planning team has been set up and work has 
progressed on various aspects of the plan.

The reasons given for preparing a joint plan between the councils are still highly relevant 
today and are summarised below:

• The Greater Exeter area geography reflects economic, housing and transport patterns.  
Coordinated planning and infrastructure provision will be enhanced to the wider benefit 
of councils taking part.

• Related to this, the legal requirement on local plans to be prepared under the Duty to Co-
operate will be significantly easier than through the separate preparation of individual 
plans by the four councils on differing timetables.

• Strategic decisions taken previously by the Regional Spatial Strategy and Structure 
Plans have now been effectively completed, so a new vision and strategy for the area is 
needed.

• Joint working and planning gives the Greater Exeter authorities greater profile and 
weight when applying for national and regional infrastructure funding and in relationships 
with other bodies. 

8.2 Current GESP timetable 

The current Local Development Scheme (a statutory document that sets out the timetable for 
preparing the development plan) of each partner authority contains the following common 
section setting out the timetable and scope of the GESP:

Page 318



“The Greater Exeter Strategic Plan will cover the local planning authority areas of 
East Devon, Exeter, Mid Devon and Teignbridge (i.e. those Councils’ administrative 
areas excluding Dartmoor National Park). It will be prepared jointly by those four local 
planning authorities with the support of Devon County Council under Section 28 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act. It will:

• set an overall vision and strategy for the development of the area in the context of 
national and other high level policy;
• include overarching, cross-boundary and strategic targets, policies and proposals 
for development and conservation;
• guide the overall level and distribution of development;
• make strategic development and infrastructure proposals;
• contain other strategic policies necessary to implement the vision and strategy; 
and
• cover the period 2020 to 2040.

Once adopted it will supersede specified strategic parts of the East Devon Local
Plan, Exeter Core Strategy, Exeter Local Plan, Mid Devon Local Plan (once adopted), 
Teignbridge Local Plan and any other Development Plan Documents as necessary.  
The preparation timetable is as follows:

• February 2017 – Issues consultation
• June 2019 – consultation on draft plan
• September 2020 – Publication (Proposed Submission)
• March 2021 – Submission
• May 2021 – Inspector’s Hearings
• December 2021 – Adoption”

8.3 Revised GESP timetable

With changes in administration arising from the recent elections it has been necessary to 
ensure that the GESP proceeds in a way and to a timetable which continues to meet the 
objectives of the four councils.  Discussions between lead officers and members have taken 
place and the planned June 2019 consultation was put “on hold”.  At the recent first meeting 
of the GESP Leadership Group (see below), the councils’ leaderships confirmed their 
commitment to continuing GESP preparation but to a revised timetable.  It is necessary that 
the new timetable is formally inserted into the councils’ Local Development Schemes.
The following milestones are now proposed to replace those set out above, including an 
explanation of their role in the plan preparation process:

Stage Notes Date
Draft 
Policies and 
Site 
Options

Consultation on proposed strategic policies and a number of 
potential strategic site options.  There will be more options 
than are eventually contained in the GESP, giving 
communities and others the opportunity to respond in the light 
of a wide range of alternative sites.

June 2020

Full Draft 
Plan

Consultation on revised policies, taking account of the earlier 
consultation and any further work undertaken.  More 
controversially, this consultation will contain a final list of 
strategic allocations and will seek further comments on those.  
The “rejected” options will no longer be within the plan.

November 
2020

Proposed 
Submission

The form of the plan which the council wishes to submit, 
based on the full draft, but taking account of any comments 
received to the draft.  This is the last formal consultation on 

February 
2022

Page 319



the plan before it is submitted.  Also known as the 
“publication” stage.

Submit Plan The plan and all its evidence is sent to the Planning 
Inspectorate and the examination process starts.  

July 2022

Examine 
Plan

An Inspector leads an examination into the plan through a 
series of hearings.  The focus is on whether the plan is 
“sound”.  There may be further changes to the plan in the 
form of “Main Modifications” recommended by the Inspector.

September
2022

Adopt Plan The Plan can only be adopted with a positive recommendation 
from the Inspector, with any Main Modifications proposed by 
them.

April 2022

8.4 GESP scope revisited

The GESP, as its name indicates, is intended to provide an overarching strategy for the 
area, but not to include a full suite of policies and proposals.  Each council will continue to 
update their own individual local plan/plans covering issues not included in GESP.  In 
addition, Neighbourhood Plans will continue to be prepared by local communities.  The 
various plans, once adopted, will be read together to provide the “Development Plan” against 
which planning applications are to be assessed.  The diagram below helps to explain the 
relationship between the various plans:

Issues of interpretation can arise where planning policies overlap with different wording 
affecting the same application.  In order to avoid this, it is important that the distinction 

Page 320



between what goes in the GESP and what is expected to go into local plans (i.e. the scope 
of each plan) is sufficiently clear.  
The current LDS, quoted in section 10.2, describes the scope of the GESP in quite general 
terms.  The Leadership Group has considered the matter afresh with 3 options being 
presented.  These are summarised below, with a list of pros and cons: 

Scope 1 Strategic Allocations 

 GESP would allocate strategic sites of 500+ homes, plus strategic employment sites, 
with comprehensive policies setting out infrastructure and planning requirements for the 
sites.  

 Local Plans would not need to contain further policies on the Garden Communities and 
strategic sites, although there would be the option to do so if needed in a particular case. 

Pros

 Minimises re-working of currently produced documents as based on current scope.
 Quickest way to deliver the full suite of policies for the delivery of strategic allocations 

and enable their delivery.
 Gives greatest clarity to communities as early as possible.

Cons

 Includes the most detail of the options and therefore has the greatest scope for 
disagreements and delays.

 Could lead to a perception that detailed local level issues are being determined jointly 
at strategic level.

 Leads to a need for early decision making about how sites are to be delivered.

Scope 2 Strategic Locations

 GESP would show the location of strategic development proposals and strategic 
employment sites.  Comprehensive infrastructure and other policy requirements for these 
sites would not be included.  

 Therefore, the later Local Plans would include the full planning requirements for the 
garden communities and strategic sites.  

Pros

 Requires some stripping out of detail from the currently produced work and some 
reworking to align with new scope.

 The lesser detail would lead to fewer areas for potential disagreement and delay.
 Provides more scope for delivery options to be considered and mechanisms put in 

place before setting detailed requirements.

Cons

 Splits the policy framework for strategic sites between the GESP and Local Plans, 
making both documents relevant to them and a potentially confusing policy position.

 Would take longer than scope 1 to provide the full suite of policies required to deliver 
strategic sites.

 Less clarity for communities as would be consulting on proposed strategic allocations 
without details of how and what would be delivered.

Scope 3 New Communities only

Page 321



 GESP would show the location of the largest new settlements (such as Culm Garden 
Village).  However, comprehensive infrastructure and other policy requirements for the 
Garden Communities would not be included.

 Local Plans following on from GESP would therefore include the full planning 
requirements for the garden communities.

Pros

 Includes the least detail and therefore the least potential for disagreement and 
delays.

 Potentially quickest as less to consult on and potentially quicker turn around between 
consultations.

 Provides more scope for delivery options to be considered and mechanisms put in 
place before setting detailed requirements.

Cons

 Would require significant stripping out of details and reworking.
 Would leave greatest uncertainty for communities.
 Risks criticism for deferring the difficult decisions.
 Increase to local plan remainder figures.
 Splits the policy framework for strategic sites between the GESP and Local Plans, 

making both documents relevant to them and a potentially confusing policy position.
 Would take longer than scope 1 to provide the full suite of policies required to deliver 

strategic sites.

The Leadership Group has concluded that scopes 2 and 3 provide less certainty for 
communities and later delivery of the strategic sites.  This latter issue would lead to the need 
to allocate additional development sites either within GESP or within the later local plans.  

The Leadership Group has supported an updated and more clearly defined version of scope 
1, as follows:

The Greater Exeter Strategic Plan will cover the local planning authority areas of East 
Devon, Exeter, Mid Devon and Teignbridge (i.e. those Councils’ administrative areas 
excluding Dartmoor National Park). It will be prepared jointly by those four local 
planning authorities with the support of Devon County Council under Section 28 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act. It will:

• set an overall vision and strategy for the area in the context of national and other 
high level policy and in particular climate emergency declarations and the NPPF;

• contain policies and proposals for strategic and cross boundary issues where 
these are best dealt with at a larger-than-local scale;

• set the overall amount of growth for the period 2020 – 2040; 
• promote the Liveable Exeter vision by allocating urban regeneration sites in the 

city;
• implement the overall vision and strategy by allocating strategic sites of 500 or 

more homes which may include urban extensions and new settlements ; 
• provide districts’ local plans with targets for non-strategic development

This updated scope provides the following key benefits:

 It is legally “sound” because GESP will contain enough detail to be justified by evidence 
and, in comparison to other potential strategy approaches, the proposals will be worked 

Page 322



up in enough detail for their effectiveness to be tested and confirmed.  It will also deal 
with the strategic matters facing the area rather than deferring them.

 The policies can be applied as soon as GESP is adopted, rather than waiting for a later 
plan to add further detail.  This is highly beneficial in matters of urgent policy renewal like 
climate change.  At the same time the GESP will not be filled with policies which are 
better dealt with in district local plans.

 It means that communities will be aware of the detail of proposals early in the process, 
ensuring that they have the opportunity to comment on them with a good understanding 
of the plan and the potential alternatives.  Once the GESP is adopted, communities will 
have clarity and certainty about the policies and proposals.

 The allocated strategic development sites, including the “Liveable Exeter” brownfield 
sites and any strategic greenfield sites, could start to be developed earlier.  This reduces 
the number of other sites needed within GESP or the districts’ own local plans.  

8.5 Governance - how will GESP decisions be made?

Suggestions have been made that the GESP removes decision-making authority from the 
individual councils.  This is not the case, since despite being a joint plan, the GESP must be 
approved by all four of the participating councils at each stage.  However, it is clearly 
important that there is a co-ordinated approach to member involvement in plan decisions so 
that decision-making is effective.  The governance of the plan is set out below, for 
information:

 GESP Officer Team
Working on evidence development and plan preparation and making recommendations 
as necessary to the other bodies and to individual councils on GESP matters. The team 
consists of informally seconded officers from the partner authorities, with a Team 
Manager.  The team works out of Exeter Civic Centre and manages the joint GESP 
budget which has been agreed by the partner authorities.

 Project Assurance Group:
Provides a regular steer and decision making on detailed matters to the GESP team, 
including considering reports, evidence and plan drafts.  Gives advice to the Principals 
Group.  It generally meets monthly and consists of the Head of Planning or equivalent 
from each of the partner authorities.  

 Principals Group:
Acts as the main officer board for the project, providing high level corporate input and 
direction.  Considers reports, evidence and plan drafts including recommendations from 
the Project Assurance Group.  It generally meets monthly and consists of the Chief 
Executives or equivalent from each of the partner authorities.  

 GESP Leadership Group: 
Primary Member Group which provides political advice and a steer to the work of the 
GESP, oversees progress on the plan and secures political agreement and support for 
GESP proposals.  Considers advice and recommendations from the GESP Team, 
Project Assurance Group and Principals Group including reports and draft plans.  It will 
meet approximately six times per year, but this will vary to reflect GESP workload.  
Consists of the Leader and Planning Portfolio Holder (or equivalent) of each of the 
Partner Councils.  The first meeting has been held, and supported the timetable and 
scope as recommended by this report.

 Member Reference Forum:
Provides wider, informal councillor input to plan preparation through workshops, 
discussion and other appropriate methods.  Will support the preparation of plan policies 

Page 323



and proposals including discussion of draft plan proposals before they are formally 
considered by each council.  It will meet as and when it is needed.  Consists of 10 
councillors, politically balanced, from each of the four local planning authorities (total 40 
councillors).  Meetings are usually also attended by members of the Principals Group, 
Project Assurance Group and Leadership Group.  Meetings have been arranged starting 
in November through to March with invitations going out shortly.

 Local Planning Authorities:
The formal decisions on plan contents up to and including its adoption are made by the 
four local planning authorities through their own decision making structures.  The 
governance bodies referred to above are intended to ensure GESP progress through 
these formal processes without undue delay.  The councils will be considering the Draft 
Policies and Site Options consultation document in or around May 2020 in time for June 
consultation. In the case of EDDC it would be considered by Strategic Planning 
Committee and would need to be agreed by all partner authorities before consultation 
could commence. The same process would apply to further consultations and then any 
decision to submit the GESP for examination would need to be made by full council and 
then adoption would also have to be agreed by the council. 

8.6 Exeter Development Delivery Plan

Exeter has already made significant progress with the Development Delivery Plan.  Once the 
GESP has made sufficient progress, the Development Delivery Plan can be revised and 
updated by a new Local Plans Team and then moved forward towards adoption.

The proposed timetable and adoption date for the Development Delivery Plan is around 8 
months later than the timetable and adoption date for the GESP, as shown in Appendix A.  
This is for the following reasons:

 There are elements of the Development Delivery Plan which need to follow on from 
the GESP.  In particular, the number and broad distribution of new homes and some 
other forms of development will be a GESP strategic decision.  

 In order to take forward the Development Delivery DPD, it will first be necessary to 
appoint a Local Plans Team.  

Should the GESP fail to progress for any reason, the Development Delivery Plan could be 
upgraded to a full Local Plan for Exeter.  This could necessitate a revision to the Local 
Development Scheme.  Due to its wider scope, it is possible that the timetable and adoption 
date of a Local Plan would be later than the proposed timetable and adoption date of the 
Development Delivery Plan.  

8.7 Code for Sustainable Homes SPD

The Exeter Core Strategy contains policies CP13 (relating to decentralised energy 
networks), CP14 (relating to using renewable and low carbon energy in new development) 
and CP15 (relating to sustainable construction).  The proposed Code for Sustainable Homes 
SPD would give more detailed information about how the Council expects developers to 
meet the requirements of those policies.  

In particular, the SPD would include further details about how developers can design 
buildings’ internal heating systems to be compatible with, and ready to connect to, district 
energy networks.  It would also give information about the Council’s preferred approach to 
meeting the targets set out in the three policies and more detailed advice on how the 
identified technologies (photovoltaic cells, solar heating, small scale wind turbines, ground 
source heat pumps and biomass heating) could be incorporated in developments.  The SPD 

Page 324



would set out suggested approaches to achieving the performance standards for 
development set out in policy CP5.

8.8 Planning Obligations SPD

The City Council’s Executive has approved a review of the Council’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule.  There will be an associated need to review the April 
2014 Planning Obligations SPD.  

Along with other documents such as the Council’s Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement, 
the proposed new Planning Obligations SPD would provide the parameters for negotiating 
Section 106 Agreements.  The SPD would amplify policy CP18 of the Exeter Core Strategy.

8.10 Conclusion

The preparation of the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan has been placed on hold while the 
implications of new administrations in three of the councils have been absorbed.  The 
council leaders have now met and have discussed a preferred way forward for the plan, 
including an updated description of the plan and a new timetable.  Members are now asked 
to agree the scope and timetable for GESP. 

Members are also asked to agree the scope and timetable for the Development Delivery 
Plan, Code for Sustainable Homes SPD and Planning Obligations SPD, which are specific to 
Exeter City Council.

Planning Member Working Group has requested that Executive agree the proposed scope 
and timetable for the GESP, the Development Delivery Plan and the Code for Sustainable 
Homes SPD.  The Planning Obligations SPD has been added to the Local Development 
Scheme since this report was discussed by Planning Member Working Group.  

9.0 How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

The plan making referred to in the report is critical to ensure delivery of three corporate 
objectives viz “Building Great Neighbourhoods”, “Tackling Congestion and Accessibility” and 
“Promoting Active and Healthy Lifestyles”. 

10.0 What Risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

The Council’s statutory planning policy framework is critical in terms of delivering corporate 
objectives and resisting inappropriate development. The LDS process described in the report 
seeks to minimise risk of delay to (or at worse, abandonment) of the GESP process by 
referring to the substitution of the “Development Delivery Document” with a full Local Plan 
approach if deemed appropriate

In addition, a properly resourced Local Plans Team will have the capacity and flexibility to 
react to changed circumstances in plan preparation.  

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act) 

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 
consider the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited 
conduct;

Page 325



 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the 
authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing 
proposals that consider the impacts on all members of the community.

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), 
sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant 
women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in 
coming to a decision.

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the preparation of a local 
development scheme is a legislative requirement and does not directly address any 
equalities issues.   

 
12. Are there any other options?

No, the preparation of an LDS is a statutory requirement. The document can be 
updated to reflect changing circumstances  

Bindu Arjoon, Director 

Author: Andy Robbins, City Development Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-

Contact for enquiries:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392) 265275

Page 326



Appendix A

Local Development Scheme (December 2019)

Greater Exeter Strategic Plan

The Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (GESP) will cover the local planning authority 
areas of East Devon, Exeter, Mid Devon and Teignbridge (i.e. those Councils’ 
administrative areas excluding Dartmoor National Park). It will be prepared jointly by 
those four local planning authorities with the support of Devon County Council under 
Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act. It will:

• set an overall vision and strategy for the area in the context of national and other 
high level policy and in particular climate emergency declarations and the NPPF;

• contain policies and proposals for strategic and cross boundary issues where 
these are best dealt with at a larger-than-local scale;

• set the overall amount of growth for the period 2020 – 2040; 
• promote the Liveable Exeter vision by allocating urban regeneration sites in the 

city;
• implement the overall vision and strategy by allocating strategic sites of 500 or 

more homes which may include urban extensions and new settlements; and
• provide districts’ local plans with targets for non-strategic development.

Once adopted it will supersede specified strategic parts of the East Devon Local 
Plan, Exeter Core Strategy, Exeter Local Plan First Review, Mid Devon Local Plan 
(once adopted), Teignbridge Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 and any other Development 
Plan Documents as necessary.  

The preparation timetable is as follows:

 Site Options and Draft Policies – June 2020
 Draft Plan Consultation – November 2020
 Publication (Proposed Submission) – February 2022
 Submission – to the Secretary of State  July 2022
 Examination – September 2022
 Adoption – April 2023

Exeter Development Delivery Plan

Exeter City Council has already made significant progress with the Development 
Delivery Plan.  Once sufficient progress has been made with the GESP, the 
Development Delivery Plan can be revised, updated and moved forward to adoption.  
The Development Delivery Plan will be in general conformity with the GESP and will 
supplement its contents by:

 allocating land for new development;

Page 327



 designating land for protection or safeguarding and identifying land where 
specific policies apply;

 containing ‘development management’ policies that will be used to determine 
whether planning applications submitted to the Council should be granted 
planning permission; and

 including other policies and proposals as necessary.

Once adopted, the Development Delivery Plan will superseded specified policies and 
proposals in the Exeter Local Plan First Review.  The Exeter Core Strategy (adopted 
2012) and the Exeter Local Plan First Review (adopted 2005) are likely to be fully 
superseded by a combination of the GESP and Exeter Development Delivery Plan.

It is proposed to run the Development Delivery Plan timetable behind, but 
overlapping with, the GESP timetable.  The timetable for the Development Delivery 
Plan is as follows:

 Scoping/Issues consultation  – September 2020
 Draft Plan Consultation -  July 2021
 Publication (Proposed Submission) – October 2022
 Submission to the Secretary of State  – March 2023
 Examination – May 2023
 Adoption – January 2024

Code for Sustainable Homes Supplementary Planning Document

This SPD will amplify policies CP13, CP14 and CP15 of the Exeter Core Strategy, 
giving more detailed information about how the Council expects developers to meet 
the requirements of those policies.  

In particular, the SPD will include further details about:

 how developers can design buildings’ internal heating systems to be compatible 
with, and ready to connect to, district energy networks;

 the Council’s preferred approach to meeting the targets set out in the three 
policies;

 how identified technologies (photovoltaic cells, solar heating, small scale wind 
turbines, ground source heat pumps and biomass heating) can be incorporated 
in developments; and

 suggested approaches to achieving the performance standards for development 
set out in policy CP5.

The timetable for the SPD is as follows:

 Informal Consultation (during preparation)  – March 2020
 Draft Consultation  – July 2020
 Adoption – January 2021

Page 328



Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document

A new Planning Obligation SPD will be prepared to amplify policy CP18 of the Core 
Strategy.  The SPD will replace the existing 2014 Planning Obligations SPD.  Its 
preparation will take place alongside a review of the Councils’ Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule.

Along with other documents such as the Council’s Annual Infrastructure Funding 
Statement, the SPD will provide the parameters for negotiating Section 106 
Agreements.  

The timetable for the SPD is as follows:
   

 Draft Consultation – July 2020
 Adoption – March / April 2021

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 331

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 349

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 353

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 357

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 359

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 363

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 369

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 371

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 373

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 377

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Move More Physical Activity Strategy: Built Facilities Outline Business Case Wonford Health and Wellbeing Centre
	Appdendix 1 CAG Consultants Engagement Report October 2019
	Appendix 2 Max Associates Report November  2019
	Appendix 3 KYMA and ETL End of Stage Report November 2019
	MA Appendix 1 Mosaic Profile
	MA Appendix 2 Age Profile
	MA Appendix 3 Latent Demand for Fitness
	MA Appendix 4 Commercial Competition Analysis
	MA Appendix 5 Strategic Outcomes Planning Model

	7 Exeter Grants Programme Changes to the Scheme of Delegation
	Exeter City Council Grants Programme Draft Terms of Reference

	8 Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium 2020/21 and 2021/22
	Equality Impact Assessment Long Term Premium 2020

	9 Council Tax Support Scheme 2020-21
	CTS 2020 Appendix 1 EIA

	10 Approval of Procurement Strategy
	APPENDIX A - Devon Districts Procurement Strategy 2019-2022
	APPENDIX B Final Outcome of 2015-2018  Procurment Strategy

	11 General Fund Capital Monitoring
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4 GF

	12 Overview of Revenue Budget
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4 - Areas of Budgetary Risk

	13 HRA Budget Monitoring
	Appendix 1 HRA Areas of Budgetary Risk Qrt 2
	Appendix 2 HRA Qrt 2 Revenue Outturn
	Appendix 3 HRA Qrt 2 Available Resources
	Appendix 4 HRA Capital Monitoring Qrt 2

	14 Treasury Management
	Appendix A - 2019-20 Half Year Update

	15 Revised Local Development Scheme
	Appendix A

	16 Business Case for the Review of Staff Structure in Housing Assets
	Equality Impact Assessment Final Business Case
	HRA Dev post JDPS
	Planned Works Reactive Repairs and Asbestos Surveyor  JD- Feb 2017

	17 Exeter Science Park Guarantee
	18 Communications, Marketing & Culture Restructure
	2. Communications Tourism and Culture Structure - with FTE CURRENT- FINAL
	3. Communications Tourism and Culture Structure with FTE- PROPOSED- FINAL
	4. Principal Designer JD-PS-FINAL
	5. Project Officer JD-PS-FINAL


